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PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES OF 1972 
PHASE I: WATERGATE INVESTIGATION 

U.S. SENATE, 
,SELECT CoMMI'ITEE ON 

PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES, 
Washington, D.O. 

The Select Committee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 :10 a.m. in 
room 318, Russell Senate Office Building, Senator 1Sam J. Ervin, Jr. 
(chairman) , presiding . 

. Present: Senators Ervin, Talmadge, Inouye, Montoya, Baker, 
Gurney, and Weicker. · 

Also present: Samuel Dash, chief counsel ·and staff director; Fred 
D. Thompson, minority counsel; Rufus L. Edmisten, deputy chief 
counsel; Arthur S. Miller, chief consultant; Jed Johnson, consultant; 
David M. Dorsen, James Hamilton, and Terry F. Lenzner, assistant 
chief counsels; R. Phillip Haire, Marc Lackritz, William T. Mayton, 
Ronald D. Rotunda, and Barry Schochet, assistant majority counsels; 
Eugene Boyce, hearings record counsel; Donald G. Sanders, deputy 
minority counsel; Howard S. Liebengood, H. William Shure, and 
Robert Silverstein, assistant minority counsels; ,Pauline 0. Dement, 
research assistant; Eiler Ravnholt, office of Senator Inouye; Robert 
Baca, office of Senator Montoya; Ron McMahan, assistant to Senator 
Baker; A. Searle Field, assistant to Senator Weicker; Ray St. Armand, 
assistant publications clerk. 

Senator ERVIN. ,I am going to make another request to the audience 
that the audience refrain from expressing, in any manner, approval or 
disapproval of any person or any question or any ·answer. We are 
trying to conduct a dignified hearing which will be as fair as possible 
to everybody concerned, and the committee is going to have to give 
serious consideration to the question of excluding from the hearing 
room persons who audibly express their aipproval or disrupproval of 
any person or any question or ·any answer in an audible manner, and 
I hope that 'I will not have to repeat this request again. 

The committee has received, at least I have received, as chairman 
of the committee, a letter from the White House dated July 25, 1913: 

Dear Mr. Chairman: White House counsel have received on my behalf the two 
subpoenas issued by you, on behalf of the Select Committee, on July 23rd. 

One of these calls on me to furnish to the Select Committee recordings of 
five meetings 1be,tween Mr. John Dean and myself. ,For the reasons stated ,to you 
in my letters of July 6th and July 23rd, I must respecl&uHy refuse to produce 
those recordings. 

The other subpoena calls on me to furnish all records of any kind relating 
directly or indirectly to the "activities, participation, responsibilities or involve
ment" of 25 named individuals "in any alleged criminal acts related to the Presi
dential election of 1972." Some of the records that might arguably fit within that 
subpoena are Presidential ,papers that must be kept confidential for reasons stated 
in my letter of July 6th. It is quite possihle that there are other records in my 
custody that would be within >the ambit of that subpoena and that I could, con
sistent with the public interest and my Constitutional responsibilities, provide 
to the Select Committee. All specific requests from the ,Select Committee will be 

(2657) 
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carefully considered and my ,staff and I, as we have done in the past, will coop
erate with the Select Committee by making availa'l:>le any information and docu
ments that can· approp·riately be produced. You will understand, however, I am 
sure, that it would simply not be fea•sible for my staff and me to review thousands 
of documents to decide which do and which do not fit within the sweeping but 
vague terms of the subpoena. 

It continues to be true, as it wa,s when I wrote you on July 6th, that my staff 
is under instructions to cooperate fully with yours in furnishing -information 
pertinent to your inquiry. I have directed that executive privilege not be invoked 
with regard to testimony by present ·and former members of my staff concerning 
possible criminal conduct or discussions of possible criminal conduct. I have 
waived the attorney-client privilege with regard to my former counsel. In my 
July 6th letter I described these acts of cooperation with the Select Committee 
as "genuine, extensive and, in the history of such matters, extraordinary." That 
cooperation has continued and it will continue. Executive privilege is being 
invoked only with regard to documents and recordings that cannot be made pub
lic consistent with the confidentiality essential to the functioning of the Office 
of the President. 

I cannot and will not consent to giving any investigatory body private 'Presi
dential papers. To the extent that I have custody of other documents or informa
tion relevant to the work of the Select Committee and that can properly be made 
public, I will be glad to make these available in response to specific requests. 

Sincerely, 
RICHARD NIXON. 

The original letter will be made part of the record and given the 
appropriate exhibit number. 

[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 94A.*] 
Senator ERVIN. How the President expects this committee to specify 

each document that he says falls within the ambit of one of these 
subpenas is a very surprising thing. We are not clairvoyant. Since 
we have never seen the documents, and since even those of the White 
House aides who are willing to identify the documents are not •allowed 
to copy them or any parts of them, the President puts on the committee 
a manifest impossibility in receiving the documents. 

The way the Chair construes this letter, the President flatly refuses 
to give us the tapes that were identified in the subpena as recording 
conversations between the President and John 'Dean, and he lays down 
the second condition a:bout the written documents which is impossible 
of fulfillment by the committee because you cannot identify a docu
ment which you have never seen, and you have the restriction upon 
White House former aides that could go through these papers ,and 
identify these documents that they cannot copy them, much less carry 
them out. 

So the Chair finds it a little difficult to see where very much coopera
tion comes from the President in these matters. 

This is a serious affair that the committee is engaged in, and here is 
the President of the United States who has informed us that some of 
these recordings do have reference to the matters we are investigating 
but he cannot furnish them to us because we might misconstrue them. 
And then he tells us he will furnish us the documents that he does not 
consider to be Presidential papers if we can identify the specific docu
ments, which is an impossibility. 

I would just like to say I think the President could comply with 
the request of the committee in both of these respects, ,and that the 
Constitution would not collapse, and the heavens would not fall, but 
the committee might be aided by the President in determining the 
truth of his involvement. 

•see p. 2;907. 
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Senator Baker. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, :for those o:f us who are lawyers, and 

that is meant to be a term o:f ·approval rather than disapproval, I think 
the best way to summarize the present situation is to say thus, the 
issue was joined. 

It is important to note that this committee had cause to issue two sub
penas, rather than one. The first subpena specified with, I believe, great 
particularity the conversations, the dates, and the participants that we 
wanted access to on the allegation o:f the subpena that such conversa
tions might be concerned with allegedly legal or criminal activity. The 
second subpena dealt with a rather more general demand :for docu
ments. I am please~ Mr. Chairman, that we chose to issue our subpena 
in two parts rather than one because, as you pointed out, it is :far more 
difficult to specify with particularity the documents we seek i:f we do 
not know what the documents are. But it is fairly easy to specify the 
tapes or the portions of the tapes that we seek. 

In any event, we have arrived at the place now where it would appear 
that the issues •are in fact joined, and that the third branch of the 
Government now, the Judiciary, may, in :fact, be called on to resolv6 
a historic conflict between the remaining two branches. 

I think, as in all litigation in this country, it is our desire, all of us, 
to proceed, if we choose to pro~ed, to permit the court to make a calm, 
intellectually, and judicially sound judgment on the ·appropriateness 
of the request of this committee together with all of the significant 
and fundamental constitutional questions that are presented. 

I have only one remaining comment, Mr. Chairman, notwithstanding 
that the issues are joined. I would still hope that there is some way to 
ameliorate the situation. There have been a number of suggestions in 
the past, and I have made many suggestions, both public and in the 
privacy of our executive proceedings. Certain suggestions have been 
passed on, both formally and informally. But, notwithstanding that 
we have reached the point where the issues are joined, and litigation 
may, in fact ensue, I would still hope that we can find a way to permit 
this committee to have access to the relevant portions of the testimony 
or of the evidence that we require quickly and speedily, and without 
a prejudicial effect on our mandate to investigate nor on the appropri
ate functioning of the Presidency as an institution. 

I have suggested, for instance, that an informal panel of distin
guished Americans not now holding a position in Government may 
review these tapes at the request of both the executive and the legis
lative departments and recommend to both the President and the 
Congress what portions are relevant and what portions are not rele
vant. I am prepared to go even further, Mr. Chairman-I have not 
discussed this with you or my colleagues on the committee~and say 
that as an extension and elaboration of that suggestion, I would be 
willing to have one or two or three or a small group of distinguished 
nongovernmental officials review the tapes and the documents and 
recommend to the President and to the Congress that certain docu
ments or tapes ·are or are not relevant to this inquiry, and if they are 
so intermixed with other conversations or if they lend themselves to 
more than one interpretation, that such a panel give to us a finding 
of the net effect of that information. That may not end the contro
versy. It may be necessary for the committee to pursue the matter 
further and it may be necessary for the President to disagree but at 
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least it would move us one space forward. It is not idle optimism 
that impels me to once again urge that we find a way around this 
joinder of issue for the benefit of the Congress, of the Presidency, of 
the President, for the benefit of the courts, that they may be spared 
the business of defining 200 years after the draftin·g of the charter 
document implied, explicit, and overlapping apparent powers, and for 
the people of the country. So no matter how small the flicker of the 
flame of optimism may be, I continue to urge that we have an accom
modating spirit and that we continue to try to find a way, in this way 
or :iny other way, that seems :promising of result to produce that 
desired end. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Senator ERVIN. Any other member of the committee have any obser
vations they would like to make at this time i, 

Then if not, it will be my purpose to call the meeting of the com
mittee at an early time and let the committee decide what action it 
shall take. 

There is ·an order of ,the Senate which is set forth in pamgraph 77 
of the Senate 'Manual which confers upon this committee the power 
to bring any suit that the committee feels is necessary to enable it to 
perform duties it is required to perform by the Senate. ,It is a very 
unfortunate thing that the President claimed that he has custody and 
control of everything in the White House because for this committee 
taking a very summary proceeding against the actual custodian of 
these tapes, and the actual custodian of these paipers, I don't believe 
even the President would proclaim that he had custody of all of the 
things in E. Howard Hunt's locker, including the alleged telegrams 
that he is alleged to have in his custody. But if his claim ·be valid, that 
would have to be true, I would think. 

Senator W eicker will resume unless there is some comment by other 
members of the committee. 

Mr. WILSON. I would just like to say that-----, 
Senator BAKER. ·Mr. Wilson, before you proceed, I don't see-if my 

colleagues have any objection they might say so and I don't want to 
embarrass any one of them-but I don't see any point in having an 
executive session. I think we have discussed the matter and I think 
we are in a position to act and if you want to do that I am perfectly 
willing to make a motion, if a motion would be considered in order. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, it would be considered in order unless any 
member of the committee would rather go into executive session. 1I will 
leave that up to them, and they could communicate that to me openly 
or privately. 

Senator GURNEY. Speaking for myself, Mr. Chairman, 1I certainly 
have no objection to going ahead with a meeting. 

Senator INOUYE. Go ahead, call the roll. 
'Senator ERVIN. Senator Talmadge is absent but I guess we can 

let him reoord his vote when he gets here. It has been moved. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, let me state ,a motion, since there is 

no objection to proceeding. I move at this time that counsel for the 
committee be authorized under the appropriate laws and statutes of 
the United States including the Declaratory Judgments Act to present 
a justifiable issue to the ·appropriate court based on the subpena issued 
lawfully by this committee and on a letter declining the honoring of 
the subpena, dated July 25, 1973, signed by the Presidentofthe United 
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States, and to take such steps ·as may be necessary to present such issue 
for adjudication. 

Senator ERVIN. Is ,there any second to the motion? 
Senator INOUYE. I second the motion. 
Senator ERVIN. All f,avoring the motion let it be known by raising 

their right hand. [Raising of hands.] 
The six Senators present vote unanimously for the motion and 

Senator Talmadge will be given an opportunity to record his vote 
when he icomes ,in. 

The Ohair recognizes that there is no precedent for litigation of this 
nature but there originally was no precedent for any litigation, and I 
think this litigation is essential if we are to determine whether the 
President is above the law and whether the President ,is immune from 
all of the duties and responsibilities in matters of this kind which de
volve upon all the other mortals who dwell in this land. 

Mr. Wilson, do you want to say something? . 
Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, I have received information overnight 

that the oommittee or its staff possesses at least one document 1in rela
tion to the sequence of documents of August 3, 1971, which was identi
fied by Senator Weicker yesterday. Am I correctly informed, sir? 

Mr. DASH. I indicated there was no correspondence, Mr. Wilson, 
in sequence. H you are talking about a document in sequence, you have 
seen the document that might be considered in sequence and it was 
submitted to you which was the August 11 memorandum from Mr. 
Young, Mr. Krogh, and Mr. Ehrlichman. That is the only document 
that might be considered ,in sequence. 'Dhe question put yesterday to the 
committee which I responded to you was, ,were there any further cor
respondence, was there a reply to this letter or other correspondence in 
sequence? There is a document whiich may be considered to be in se
quence in that it followed that letter, and actually refers to that letter 
but you have seen that document. It was submitted to you, it was in 
August, a memorandum from Mr. Krogh and Mr. Young to Mr. Ehr
liichman. I know of no other document that we have in sequence. 

Mr. WILSON. Is that the one in which it ,is stated that Mr. Hoover 
said he would proceed with a full-scale investigation of the Pentagon 
Papers? 

Mr. DAsH. I think ,it ,is the one that says that they would give rit an 
FBI special, something of that nature. We have the document, you 
have seen it, it was submitted and it d.s a matter of record. 

Mr. WILsoN. I just asked you yesterday to produce it. 
'Mr. DASH. It was produced and when I was questioning Mr. Ehrlich

man you were given that document. 
Mr. WILSON. Is that the document that is referred to in the New 

York Times this morning? 
Mr. DASH. I did not see any document in the New York Times this 

morning. 
Mr. WILSON. Let me read you the sentence: 
Reportedly ·When rthe hearing resumes tomorrow he, that is, Senator :Weicker, 

plans to show Mr. Ehrlichman another letter, this one from Mr. Krogh to Mr. 
Ehrlic<hman, in which Mr. Krogh remarks that Mr. Hoover ,had promised a fuU 
investigation and knowing that the Bureau had interviewed Mr. Marx' wife. 

Is that an accurate report· of the document that you have just 
described to me? 
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Mr. DASH. We will get the document and we will see. 
Senator ERVIN. Mr. Wilson, I might state that it appears by impli

cation or intimation, ·at least from the President's letter that this 
committee does not have all the documents it ought to have. It has not 
been able to get them, and we do not have any Plumbers to go out 
and seek for them. 

Mr. WILSON. You have got a pretty good staff that seeks a lot of 
things. . 

Senator ERVIN. Yes, sir, but they do not believe in surreptitious 
activities. 

Mr. "'\)\TILSON. May I have this clarified before Senator Weicker 
begins-thrut the document shows the reference to Mr. Marx' wife? 

Mr. DASH. Just a minute. Yes, it is the August 11 memorandum, 
Mr. Wilson, which you examined thoroughly when ·I presented it to 
Mr. Ehrlichman for examination. It is the August 11 memorandum 
from Mr. Bud Krogh to'Mr. David Young to Mr. Ehrlichmanin which 
Mr. Ehrlichman was asked to approve a covert operation to be under
taken to examine all medical files. It included a list of names of 
persons that it says the Boston grand jury will meet next week, Justice 
has not made a final decision but it is considering subpenaing the nine 
following individuals and Mrs. Louis Marx is one. Then the memo
randum says that, "We have received a letter from Director Hoover 
confirming that the Ellsberg case and related matters will ·be handled 
on a Bureau special basis." 

And that is the only memorandum or document we have. 
Senator ERVIN. I believe Mr. "'\)\Tilson is asking for another letter 

that was offered in evidence here to the effect, from J. Edgar Hoover, 
stating that they had transmitted to someone all of the files they had 
and stating they would go ahead and investigate everybody and they 
said also including a statement of Ellsberg in which he stated in the 
closing paragrruph that they were prepared to interview all other 
people except Ellsberg. 

Mr. DASH. Mr. Wilson, do you have a copy of the transcript? 
Mr. WILSON. No. I remember your giving me a three- or four-page 

August 11 document which is exhibit what? 
Mr. DAsH. It is exhibit No. 90. * 
Mr. WILSON. No; I mean in this proceeding of Mr. Ehrlfohman. Did 

it not get a new number? 
Mr. DASH. We do not have new numbers, it was listed as exhibit No. 3 

of ,an executive session. 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you. Yes; I have that,one, I think before me . 

. Is that the one in which at says that they were continuing to press the 
FBI to determine some subjects <in paragraph 6? 

Mr. DASH. We are continuing to press the FBI, yes, to determine 
whether the report of a foot locker-

Mr. WILSON. Thankyou verymuch. 
Mr. DASH. And that was submitted to you. 
Senator ERVIN. I would like to state that the reason Senator Tal

madge is not here at this moment is the fact that he is chairman of a 
very important conference committee on a very crucial piece of legis
lation, and that the conference committee is highly desirable since 

•see Book 6, p. 2643. 
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this piece of legislation relates to agriculture. It is absolutely essential 
that the legislation be passed before the beginning of the next fiscal 
year so that the American people who are interested in agricultural 
pursuits can know wha,t they can do, and that jg the reason. he had to 
give that task priority over hiis task as :a member of this committee 
on this particular oocasion. 

Mr. Wilson, I would ask you the question-I want you to get any 
documents we have got. 

Mr. WILSON. 'Dhank you, Mr. Ohail"IIlan, I am sure you do. 
,Senator ERVIN. And those documents your attention has been called 

to, do they comport to the document you mentioned as being printed 
in the New York Times~ 

Mr. WILSON. Say that again, sir. 
Senator ERVIN: The two documents that your attention has been 

called to, do they refer to the documents reported to in the New York 
'Dimes~ 

Mr. WILSON. I think so. Senator Weicker will explain ,it if he cares 
to. I do not care to pursue it. 

Senator WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, I do not think I have ,any ex
plaining to do. You have raised ,a point, Mr. Wilson, saying there is a 
document outstanding that you have not received when, in fact, you 
had received it 2 days ago. As I understand ,it, that is the only point 
that has been made here, that you have had that very document in 
your hands for 2 qays. 

Mr. WILSON. Then, as far as you know, the New York Times is not 
talking about any other document~ 

Senator WEICKER. As far as I know, you have had the information 
that you requested today in your hands ,for 2 days. I have no other 
documents to go ahead and present to you. 

Mr. WILSON. Thank you, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. I have some questions for your client. 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you. 
Senator ERVIN. And you might proceed at this time ,with your inter

rog,ation of the witness. 
Senator WEICKER. Mr. Ehrlichman--
Senator ERVIN. Just 1 minute, Senator. Senator Talmadge has called 

and asked that he be recorded voting in favor of ·the motion which 
has been adopted by the vote of six other Senators and it is so ordered. 

Senator WEICKER. You stated yesterday, Mr. Ehrlichman, that the 
FBI, through its leadership of Mr. Hoover, was not pushing, was not 
pushing the Ellsberg investigation, allegedly because of a relationship 
Mr. Hoover had with Mr. Ellsberg's father-,in-law, Mr. Louis Marx. 
And that it was not until after September 20, 1971, that the FBI "was 
cliiclcing on ,all eight cylinders". Would that be correct~ 

TESTIMONY OF JOHN EHRLICHMAN, ACCOMPANIED BY IOHN 1. 
WILSON AND FRANK H. STRICKLER, COUNSE~ 

Mr. ERRLICHMAN. I do not think I said "after." If I said ,after I 
should have said by, Senator, and the reason that I picked that date 
is that on or about that date there was a meeting which the Attorney 
General had with the President where he gave the President a progress 
report on this matter, and that was the gist of his report at that time. 
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Now, when that commenced I do not need to testify to, because that 
is not something that I know of my own knowledge. 

•Senator WEICKER. But in any event, one of the difficulties apparently 
on the FBI investigation was the relationship between Mr. Hoover and 
Mr. Marx, is that correct? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is what the Attorney General reported to me. 
Senator WEICKER. Are you aware of the fact that Mr. Louis Marx 

was interviewed by the FBI in June 1971, before Mr. Krogh's memo
randum to you of August 11, which memorandum has been referred to 
here this morning, and before the September 3, 19'71, break-in by Hunt 
and Liddy, part of the covert operation you ·approved? Did you know 
tha;t Mr. Marx had been interviewed in June? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I-by the FBI, Senatod 
Senator W EICKER. That is correct. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not recall that fact. 
1Senator WEICKER. Well, then, how could you ascribe the reason of 

Louis Marx :for the failure of the FBI to get information from Louis 
Marx •as the reason for setting up this unit and for having this or 
more specifically, having the unit investigate Ellsberg as they did? 

1Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, what I ·attempted to testify to was the report 
that I had had from two people who were intimately familiar with the 
progress of this case. One was Mr. Krogh and the other was the At
torney General, Mr. Mitchell. They hoth reported to me what I have 
testified to here. 

Now, it may be, I do not know this, and I would ·be speculating in 
this answer, but it may be that the explanation is that that interview 
was either unsatisfactory or perfunctory or did not adduce the infor
mation that was desired or that that interview is what resulted in this 
disciplinary action that Mr. Hoover imposed. I just do not know. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, may we see that report, the FBI report? 
Senator WEICKER. What FBI report? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean the interview with Mr. Marx? 
Mr. WILSON. Yes. 
Senator WEICKER. Go ahead, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. We got FBI reports by permission of Attorney Gen

eral Kleindienst on condition that we would not release them to the 
public. If you get-

lSerrator WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, I think maybe I can be helpful 
here. My knowledge of the interview by the FBI and Mr. Marx comes 
from Mr. Marx ·and he was interviewed in June of 1971. 

Mr. WILSON. Well, I have now established that the committee is in 
possession of an FBI report. 

iSenator ERVIN. No; I am mistaken. 
Mr. Wn.soN. Is that so? 
iSenator ERVIN. We do not have the FBI reports. They were •allowed 

to inspect them and to make notes from them, that is all. 
Mr. WILSON. No summary? 
Senator ERVIN. They have staff summaries but we got those under 

g-reat difficulties and under an agreement that we would not release 
them to the public. If you can get all of those things with the Attorney 
General's consent, he had custody of them, or Director Kelly, I would 
be delighted for everything to come out that can be shown. ~It's all 
right with me. 
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Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, if I could say a word at this point, 
if Senator Weicker will yield for a second, we have been deeply 
involved in trying to get documents and making documents public. I 
can understand· Mr. Wilson's concern in this respect, but you and I, 
Mr. Chairman, were parties to the conversation with former Attorney 
General Kleindienst where very strict requirements were imposed on 
our access to those. Rather than ask the witness to be relieved of the 
obligation, we assumed at that time, for my part, I am willing to ask 
the committee to be relieved of that obligation so we can show that 
information to the witness and counsel; but since I was there and 
know the rather extraordinary lengths we went to to gain access to 
them in ·any form, I am also keenly aware of the promise and the 
commitment that we made with respect to the confidentiality of raw 
FBI data. But I would hope, if there is no objection on behalf of the 
committee, that the committee will formally request the Attorney 
General of the United States to relieve us of that obligation. 

Mr. WILSON. I would be grateful to you if you would do so. And I 
want to tell Senator Weicker I don't question for one moment, sir, the 
remark that you got some information from Mr. Marx, but it can't be 
as accurate, may I say, with all due respect, as the raw report would 
be itself, and I appreciate the suggestion of the offer of the vice chair
man on our behalf, perhaps on yours, too, to seek to have that docu
ment released to us. 

Senator ERVIN. To keep the record absolutely straight, as Senator 
Baker said, this agreement was made between him and myself ·and 
Attorney General Kleindienst, and we had to accept the terms under 
which we were offered access to summaries and the condition was, as 
we informed the Attorney General, we did not want the summaries or 
any FBI records for use as evidence. We merely wanted them to 
identify persons who could be summoned or subpenaed as witnesses 
because it was revealed by those summaries that they had some knowl
edge of the matters we were investigating, and we gave the Attorney 
General our solemn promise that the committee would not release 
these publicly. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I ask consent that counsel for the 
committee be authorized to request of the Attorney General the release 
from that commitment of secrecy so that a copy of the staff summary 
can be given to counsel for this witness. 

Mr. WILSON. Thank you Mr. Vice ,Chairman, and I ffi?SUme from 
what has been said and forgive me for pursuing this further because I 
am grateful for what just has been volunteered, members of the com
mittee or the staff did read either the summary or the mw report of the 
·FBI on this so-called interv,iew with Mr. Marx, and your committee 
does have knowledge of the contents of this report, and we don't 
have it. 

Senator WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, may I speak to this point for a 
minute, please? · 

Senator ERVIN, Yes. · 
Senator WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, may I address myself to this point. 

I think I should point out the piece of history, legislative history that 
at the time the chairman and the v,ice chairman made the determina
tion with the Attorney General that only they would be allowed access 
to ,tJh~ FBI :files, the junior Senator from Connecticut, excitable as he 
gets, Jumped up ,and down and objected. 



2666 

Senator ERVIN. I will certainly corroborate that. [Lamghter.] 
Mr. WILSON. Senator, maybe we are going to get it now you and 

myself. 
Senator WEICKER. And so, having an investigation to pursue, I went 

down other avenues. I have already told you, I have talked to Mr. 
Marx and I tell you now I have also talked to Mr. Brennan, the As
sistant Director of the FBI, head of Division 5 who ordered that the 
,investigations take place, so I can confivm to you from both the FBI, 
that did the investigating and from Mr. Marx who was investigated, 
that an investigation took place in June of 1971, and Mr. Chaivman, 
you have lived up to yorur agreement with the Attorney General of the 
United States and I have never seen any FBI file that has come into 
your possession or the possession of the vice chairman or any member 
of the staff, majority or minority counsel. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes, and to mruke the record even dearer, as a result 
of the position stated by the Senator from Connooticut, I called At
torney General Kleindienst and asked him to modify the agreement, 
and ,allow five other members of the committee to see these FBI files, 
and he declined my request, ,and then after he was succeeded by At
torney General Richardson, I wrote him a letter repeating the request, 
and he dool,ined the request to extend that privilege ,to the other five 
Senators. He did modify to allow one member of the staff designated 
by both the vice chairman and myself to go to look at some of the 
original FBI files but let me tell you, it hasn't been any bed of roses 
trying to get any information out of the executive branch of the 
Government that is ·germane to this investigation. I am going to sug
gest in the interest of time that you communicate to the staff the docu
ments t'hat you want instead of us. 

Mr. WILSON. Thank you. 
Senator ERVIN. And we will do the best we can. If they are within 

our power we will certainly try to give them to you. 
Mr. WILSON. 'Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. So I would suggest that Senator Weicker proceed 

with the interrogation. 
Senator BAKER. Before ,Senator W eicker does, if I may impose on 

his time one more moment. I hope it clearly ruppears from this record 
that I don't believe anyone on this committee wants to withhold any 
document or information from this witness or his counsel ; and we 
would not impose any restraint on that were it not for the condition 
imposed by former Attorney General Kleindienst. 

So that was the basis for my unanimous-consent request and I gather 
from the chairman's statement just now that, upon the request of 
counsel, we will proceed in the manner I outlined in my request. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you both. 
Senator WEICKER. You are a good lawyer, Mr. Wilson.~ have got 

to get my engines warmed up again. 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. All right, now, Mr. Ehrlichman, isn't it fair to 

say then that Mr. Krogh-do you have the August 11 memorandum 
before you there? Do you have the August 11 memorandum before 
you? Isn't it fair to say Mr. Krogh's August 11 memorandum asks 
for Mrs. Marx' interview because both you and he already knew 
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that he had been intervi~wed. There is no mention of '.Mr. Marx. This 
is August 11 now. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator WEICKER. But it asks for Mrs. Marx' interview. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Would you point out where it does that? I don't 

recall that. Yes, it does. 
Senator WEICKER. On the page where it says members. It says 

Boston grand jury will meet next week-and the first name on there is 
Mrs. Louis Marx. 

·1\fr. EHRLICHMAN. That does not say anything about the FBI inter
viewing here. It says they have not made a final decision ibut is con
sidering subpenaing her to •a grand jury, I don't see anything about 
interviewing her. 

Senator WEICKER; The memorandum to you says the FBI has placed 
the Ellsberg case on special FBI status. 

I am going to very definitely pin down one fact here today, and 
that is that you based the push on the FBI on the fact that there was 
some relationship between the Director and Louis Marx which made 
it necessary for you to go outside of normal law enforcement channels, 
and we have already established the fact that Mr. Marx was inter
viewed in June 1971. 

Did you ever ask any member·of the FBI if '.Mr. Marx had been 
interviewed in June 1971? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. ,vell, if I disassociate your question from your 
direct statement which I don't agree with. 

Senator WEICKER. What don't you agree with? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if I could explain: What I attempted to 

testify here to the committee was the total setting in which Mr. Krogh 
came to me and, in turn, the representation was made to the ·President 
that the special unit inaugurate investigation of Mr. Ellsberg and his 
associates. The total setting included the Attorney General's informa
tion to us with regard to the investigation of specifically Mr. Louis 
Marx but that was not the only problem. It was a general problem with 
regard to the FBI's approach to this whole case. That was the way 
Mr. Krogh reported it to us, it was corroborated by the Attorney Gen
eral, and it did not rest solely on the interview of any one witness, 
Mr. Marx, Mrs. Marx, or any one individual witness. 

So, I had no occasion to inquire of anyone that the FBI or for that 
matter anywhere else, about the specific interview of any one witness 
or any particular witnesses. Mr. Krogh described for us a set of cir
cumstances which was general. I did not then recommend to the 1Presi
derrt that Mr. Krogh's eventual suggestion be adopted. I talked to the 
Attorney General about it. The Attorney General corroborated Mr. 
Krogh's description of the FBI's general approach to the case. He was 
having his problems, and so that validated Mr. Krogh's report in gen
eral. The Attorney General cited this one instance as exemplary of the 
problem, and a particular problem for him at the time vis-a-vis the 
Director. And so then the recommendation was made that these two 
men Krogh was working with, be designated as investigators to go and 
do this following. This was very reluctantly entered into. It was not 
something, Senator, that the mite House wanted to do or at least 
that I personally wanted to see the mite House do, unless we had to 
in order to move this thing along. The President frankly was really 
keeping the pressure on to get results and that was the setting. 
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Senator WEICKER. Did the Attorney General know you were going 
to get into the covert number business? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The Attorney General knew. 
Senator WEICKER. So to solve this problem--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The Attorney General knew and the Director of 

the FBI knew that the White House was going to send investigators 
out ; yes, sir. 

Senator WEICKER. Let me read to you from the transcript of 
yesterday. 

Senator WEICKER. In other words, what I gather you are saying he was fixed 
in his views to the extenit-

this is Hoover-
that he would not agree to a break-in of Daniel Ellsberg's psychiatrist's office. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAli. That, of course, overstates it dramatically, Senator. What 
he would not agree to was an investigation of Mr. Marx and others close to 
Daniel Ellsberg. 

Now, let me drop back in time for a moment. 
In July, were you aware that in July 1971, specifically on July 20, 

1971, that the FBI had attempted to interview Dr. Fielding? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I surely was-I was aware of it at some time but 

I don't remember when, Senator, but I do recall the fact that they 
unsuccessfully attempted to interview the doctor. 

Senator WEICKER. And this was before you decided to get into his 
records by covert action ; is that correct? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure I knew that before. [Conferring 
with counsel.] 

,Senator WEICKER. Let's run through the dates again. 'ln June 1971 
Mr. Louis Marx was interviewed by the FBI. You say that you had no 
knowledge of that. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I certainly don't recall having any knowledge 
of it. My consistent impression had been that the Director had disci
plined or threatened to discipline people in the FBI for proposing that 
interview. I wasn't aware that the interview had gone through the 
sanctions, as I understood it was proposed, because of the fact that it 
had been proposed. 

Senator "\V°EICKER. In fact the interview did take place. In July 1971 
the FBI attempted to interview Dr. Fielding, as you termed it, unsuc
cessfully, which is correct. 

On August 3 Mr. Krogh gets a letter, which has been given to you 
and your attorney from the Director of the FBI, indicating full 
cooperation in the matter of the Ellsberg case. On August 11 you get 
a memorandum from Mr. Krogh and Mr. Young which indicates the 
status of the matters and also indicates that "We have received a letter 
from Director Hoover confirming that the Ellsber.g case and related 
matters will be handled on a bureau special basis.,., 

Now, in light of all these events, all of which transpired prior to 
the break-in mto Dr. Fielding's office, do you maintain that this was 
for any other purpose, other than to smear Dr. Ellsberg? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I certainly do, Senator. It's a highly selective 
assembling of evidence, if I may respectfully say so. Incidentally, my 
wife chided me a little bit last night because I appear to scowl at you 
when I answer your questions. The fact is you have over your head 
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two of the greatest lights I have enoountered, and I am ·afraid that 
has to ·account for the way I look in your direction; I am sorry. 
[Laughter.] The fact here is that in addition to these facts which 
you have stated, some of which are still not in my knowledge, but I am 
certainly willing to accept. 

Senator WEICKER. Which facts are not within your knowledge? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, for instance, I did not know that Mr. Marx 

had been interviewed in June by the FBI. 
Senator WEIOKER. You said you did not recollect he was interviewed, 

that is what you said you didn't recollect? 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. What I said, I have no knowledge hut if you tell 

me so, you are relying on Mr. Marx and I am perfectly willing to do 
that, too. 

The point is that ·all through this period of time on the one hand 
the President of the United States is pressing for results. On the other 
hand, Mr. Krogh is reporting to us from within the White House that 
he can't get the FBI moving, and the Attorney General is corroborat
ing to us directly what Mr. Krogh is reporting. 

Now, I can only testify of my own knowledge here what people 
reported to me because I made no independent check of this, and it was 
my clear recollection that up until this meeting of the President with 
the Attorney General around the 20th of 1September, I had the continu
ing impression, because of continuing reports that came to us, that the 
FBI was not yet moving satisfactorily. 

Senator WEIOKER. Did you receive this information from the August 
11 memorandum; is that the basis of it? 

iMr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the August 11 memorandum is not •a de
scription of what was really going on. It was in the sense a function, 
it was a description of what had been designated by the FBI as a 
categorical designation. 

Now, interestingly enough, it took 3 months for the FBI to get 
around to putting that special case or priority or class A designation 
on this case, whatever it was, and I think the ·fact that some 60-90 days 
passed before the Bureau would put that designation on, the biggest 
raid in top secret documents in the history of the country has to indi
cate a certain amount of latitude on the part of the FBI up to that 
point. 

There was a continuing skepticism on Mr. Krogh's part ·rubout the 
bureaucratic paper coming over from the FBI in justification of its 
efforts like the me~? you showed me yesterday, and he continued to' 

. express that skeptimsm and the Attorney General continued to cor
roborate that right up until this meeting and I can't fix it precisely 
by date, but my best recollection is that it was in the third week in 
September when the Attorney General vouched for the fact that things 
were moving satisfactorilv at that l)Oint. 

Now, I am sorry that I can't give you direct personal information 
on this. I can only give you ,a feel for what it was that the President 
had before hiim and that I had before me from others on this subject. 

Senator WEIOKER. ~ou have seen the memorandum of August 26 
from Dave Young t,o you. Do you have that memorandum with you? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 

96-296 0 - 73 - pt.7 - 2 
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Senait:or WEICKER. Let's go to page 5: 
In connection with issue ( 9), it is important to point out that with the recent 

article on Ellsberg's. lawyer, Boudin, we have already started on a negative press 
image for Ellsberg. If the present Hunt/Liddy Project Number 1 is successful, 
it will be absolutely essential to have an overall game plan developed for its 
use in conjunction with the Congressional investigation. In this connection, I 
believe that the point of Buchanan's memorandum on attacking Ellsberg through 
the press should be borne in mind; namely, that the situation being attacked is too 
big to be undermined by planted leaks among the friendly press. 

So you knew there was a press purpose to tJhis break-in? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, as I said yesterday, Senator, I don't have 

a recollection of the memo ,itself, if you are asking me what I knew 
about an express purpose of the investigation of Daniel Ellsberg, I 
have testified already my understanding of the purposes. 

The object here was not to· prosecute Mr. Ellsberg, and as ,far as I 
Mn concerned, not to prosecute Mr. Ellsberg and not to perseoute Mr. 
Ellsberg. The object here was this same unit conducted with regard 
to the a:vms, tJhe strategic arms limitation talks and other security 
matters, and that was to find out how it happened and to make sure 
within the Government that it did not happen ,a;gaiin. 

Now, with regard to the congressional hearing aspects and the public 
relations aspects of this Ellsberg case, I think you can develop addi
tional information on tJha,t from others. I am not your best witness on 
that. I do know that there w,as tin the White House a desire to air 
this whole thing once the facts were known, ,and it was hoped that a 
oommittee of the Congress would pick it up and would call witnessM 
and would expose 'how such a thing could happen in our governmental 
system today where the treachery was within the Government, ,if it 
was, or the treachery was in the think-tank apparatus, if there was, 
,and I am not suggesting there was, but iwhetJher there was, and who the 
in?ividuals tinvolved were, what their motivations were, and why this 
thmg happened. 

1So I don't question for a minute that there was under active consid
eration the possibility of fostering a congressional inquiry into this, 
and I have to say it would have been a healthy thing if we could have 
had such a thing. 

But as far as the management of that particular effort is concerned, 
I am not your man. 

Senator WEICKER. You are my man. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sid 
Senator WEICKER. You are my man; you are a good witness. 

[Laughter.] 
Do you acknowledge this memorandum which I referred to, the 

August ·26 memorandum, having received it? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know what you mean by acknowledged. 

I see an "E" on it that is certainly very much my "E." And it would 
indicate that I had read it and that I had approved the concept of 
having a meeting on September 9 with Mardian, Buzhardt, Krogh, 
Young, and Macomber, and 'I think that meeting was eventually held. 

Senator WEICKER. And one of the questions raised in the memoran
dum, if you just slip back to the page before at the bottom of page 4, 
says, "How quickly do we advance to bring about a change in Ells
berg's image." 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is footnoted to the material that you just 
read. 

Senator WEICKER. That is footnoted through the material I just 
read. So I am going to just run through the dates I just read because 
I don't think there is much more we can do with the subject. But let's 
review carefully what occurred. 

On June 1971-let me ask you this, Mr. Ehrlichman, would you at 
this time prefer, in the light of deference of evidence that has been 
presented to you, to leave Mr. Marx aside as one of the reasons for 
entering into this covert operation, or would you like to stay with 
Mr. Marx as a reason? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I can't leave it aside, Senator Weicker, 
because, of course, the fact is that the Attorney General did call and 
did convey his problems with regard to the Marx investigation, and 
that is a matter of history and record. 

There is no way to blink that aside. Now, you say thattherewas
Senator "\VEICKER. Wait a minute. Stop there, Mr. Ehrlichman. We 

are not going into the motives of the Director. We are going into the 
reasons for the break-in in Dr. Fielding's office. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think you have-
Senator WEICKER. The investigation took place. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You have asked if I would like to withdraw that 

factor as a justification for the investigation, and it is not something 
that can be withdrawn. It is a fact. 

Now, I cannot explain for you something that is not in my knowl
edge, whioh is the fact that there w,as an interview of Mr. Marx. It 
may have been a totally satisfactory and productive interview. On the 
other hand, it may have been the kind of a first interv;iew by the FBI 
that requires followup, and that is what precipitated the Director's 
displeasure. I don't know and I guess you don't know. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, I know that Mr. Marx met with the 
Director. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Who? 
Senator WEICKER. Mr. Louis Marx, 30 years ago in Dinty Moore's 

Restaurant, and that is the last time they ever met, and they corre
sponded. 

Mr. WILSON. Excuse me, Senator Weicker. 
Senator WEICKER. Yes, Mr. Wilson. . 
Mr. WILSON. I don't believe it 1is proper, I submit to the chairman 

that ,it is not proper for ,a member of this committee to produce evi
dence of this sort. 

Senator WEICKER. ':Dhe issue is Mr. Marx. 
Mr. WILSON. I know, but the fact he only saw him in Dinty Moore's 

Restaurant 30 years a,go is the rankest kind of hearsay from you. 
Senator WEICKER. Mr. Wilson, your client is alleging a friendship 

for Mr. Marx. 
Sena-tor ERVIN. I am not going to tell ,a Senator of the United States 

how to conduct himself. 
Mr. WILSON. Am I presumptuous in interfering on behalf of my 

client~ 
Senator ERVIN. Well, I think you maybe have a right to object to 

the admissibility of testimony. But every Senator of the Un:ited States 
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:has a right to do what he thinks his duty requires him to do, and I 
a,m not going to undertake to prescribe standards for other Senators. 

Mr. WrLSON. Well, the reoord shows my objection, doesn't ,it? 
Senator ERVIN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, could I add my hearsay to this so you 

can evaluate it for what it is worth. What I was told at the time was 
that tJhe Director, who is well known for his Delmar Racetrack vaca
tions in southern California every year, had an acquaintanceship 
with Mr. Marx, which arose ,from his time in California on those 
vacastions. 

Now, I don't know :whether that is true or not, but that is what I 
was told. 

Senator WEICKER. My conversation ,is not hearsay, it tis a hearsay 
with Mr. Marx in whioh he told me what I am transmitting to you 
here today. · 

Let me review agaoin the dates, and then we will leave this subject; 
in June 1971, Mr. Marx is interviewed by .the FBI. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know. 
Senator WErCKER. In July of 1971, Dr. Fielding-an attempted 

interview is had with Dr. Fielding who refuses the interview on the 
advice of his attorney. On August 3-- . 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Do we know why he did that? 
Senator WEICKER. This is something that would have to be dis-

cussed with Dr. Fielding and his attorney. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see. 
Senator WEICKER. But the interview was refused; that is a fact. 
On August 3, we have evidence before the committee that the 

Director writes to Mr. Egil Krogh indicating full cooperation by the 
FBI. ~n your testimony yesterday, you termed this puffing. I think 
we finally agreed on that as a term. It is not my characterization; it 
was your characterization. 

On August 11, you get a memorandum from Mr. Krogh and Mr. 
Young, and in that memorandum it is stated: "In this connection, we 
would recommend that a covert operation be undertaken to examine 
all the medical files still held by Ellsberg's psychoanalyst covering a 
2-year period in which he was undergoing analysis, approve, disap
prove,"-we have your initial "E," with your comments underneath
"if done under your assurance that it is not traceable." 

And then on August 26, we have the memorandum which I just 
referred to, and again a memorandum you obviously received, initialed 
by you in which the issue of Ellsberg's press image is discussed, and 
then, lo and behold, on September 3, 1971, the break-in actually occurs. 

Isn't it fair to say, here is my question, that the August 1'l memo
randum approving the covert activity, your approval to obtain Dr. 
Fielding's records which resulted in the September 3 break-in, was a 
result of Dr. Fielding's refusal to provide this information volun
tarily to the FBI and not as a result of any shortcoming of the FBI? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Senator, by way of answering your ques
tion, I think we ought also to include the other reference in your 
exhibits, the letter of October 3 where it appears that the President
pardon me, August 13-where the President, on ,Tu]y 29, found it neces
sary to write to the Director, to jiggle up the Bureau. I know of my 
own knowledge that in addition to that, the President had a telephone 
conversation with the Director on this subject, and, of course, the 
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other part of the memo of August 11, just two paragraphs below where 
I put my "E," where they reported "We are continuing to press the 
FBI for action on certain items," which I think have to also be weighed 
in along with these other conversations that I have indicated this 
morning in my previous answer, and I think the long and short of 
this is that while you can find typical selective evidence in a matter 
of this kind, you have to take it on all four corners. And I assure you 
that the decision that was made in this matter to put investigators in 
the field was taken most reluctantly and for genuine purposes, and 
the purposes are simply to supplement what was considered to be an 
inadequate effort at the time by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

Now, in order for you to satisfy yourself on this you ought to hear 
from Mr. Mitchell, you ought to hear from Mr. Krogh, you ought to 
hear :from those who were on the firing line of this, and not simply 
someone like myself, who was receiving these reports secondhand. 

Senatior WEICKER. I am going to repeat my question which you have 
not answered but, since you have raised this other issue, just what did 
you expect to do with the information so obtained, trying to supple
ment the efforts of the FBI? Did you intend to introduce this in 
court? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The purpose of this was to correct what was obvi
ously a very serious shortcoming, either in the Government itself or in 
the think tanks who had custody of the secret documents, because the 
confidential documents system had been compromised. 

Senator ,VEICKER. mat did you intend to do with the evidence so 
obtained from Dr. Ellsberg's psychiatrist? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The--
Senator·WEICKER. Did you intend to introduce it in court? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, that was not the purpose. The Justice 

Department had prosecutorial--
Senator WEICKER. ·What was the purpose? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Excuse me, Senator. The Justice Department 

had an investigation for prosecution purposes which was ongoing 
under Mr. Mardian. This was not intended to satisfy that need. This 
was intended to satisfy the President of the United States, who was 
saying how could a thing like this happen? What have we done to 
prevent it happening again? Is this Rand Corp., and all these other 
defense think tanks that are at fault in this or is our own Defense 
Department or is it the State Department or just where is the weak
ness in this? 

Senator WEICKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, are you telling me that the 
break-in in Dr. Fielding's office was to satisfv the President of the 
United States? V 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, now, you have [laughter] misunderstood 
me, Senator. 

The President wanted very much to make snra that a thing like this 
could not happen again. How one learned whether Ellsberg acted 
alone, as a disgruntled employee of a think tank, whether he acted as 
a member of an international spy ring delivering secrets to a foreign 
embassy or just what his role was, where he fit, had to be determined 
in the opinion of the investigators by every available means. 

•Now, obviously, as we discussed yesterday, this business of the psy
chiatric profile-incidentally, Senator, I would like to refer to some
thing that came in last night. As you all probably are very familiar on 
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the oommittee, when you are a witness here you get all sorts of sug
gestions by telegram and telephone and so on, and someone overnight 
very kindly called in to suggest that the committee staff check the 
Warren Commission report and the Kerner Commission report for 
their references to the use of psychiatric profiles in domestic criminal 
acts, and that was something I did not know about but apparently, 
they felt that the use of the psychiatric profile is a very valid investi
gatory device and, of course, the CIA feels that, too. They have this 
section on it. Yes, we have the citations that were given us by a citizen 
who just wired in or called in. It is the Warren Commission report 
pages 26, 461, and 781; and the Kerner Commission report page 473. 
So this is apparently a technique of investigation which has consider
able authenticity and dignity, and that, this business of trying to get 
additional information to permit the OIA psychiatric profile section 
to complete its work was the purpose of this additional task imposed 
upon these investigators. 

'Senator WEICKER. Such CiiA work would not be legal, in the United 
States, would it~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is a law question I cannot answer, Senator. 
That has been debated back and forth in the McClellan committee 
already in the Senate. They have not yet issued their report. Evidently 
there is considerable authority for the proposition that it either is or 
that it ought to be, in the Kerner Commission report and in the War
ren Commission report. It is one of those gray areas, rupparently. 

Senator WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, I have one additional question. I 
do not want to impose on the time of the other Senators, but I would 
like to continue for a few additional minutes, if that is possible. 

Senator ERVIN, Yes. 
Senator WEICKER. Now, Mr. Ehrlichman, you testified 2 days ago 

that on June 28 you called Pat Gray and had him cancel a meeting 
with General Walters because of the problem with leaks at the F·BI. 
Let me be specific. I am now referring to ,page 5304 in response to 
q_uestioning by the minorit_y counsel, Mr. Thompson~and this is rela
tive to calling off that meeting of the 28th with Pat Gray. 

My concern, strong cioncern a'bout the meeting was that ~t was going to in
clude some staff members from the iFBI and as I say we were experiencing these 
leak problems and right at that particutar time one of the people who would have 
been included in that meeting was under very strong suspicion as being the 
source of that leak. 

Then, again, on page 5305, you state : "because at that time we were 
talking with Mr. Kleindienst a:bout how to go about smoking out this 
problem around Mr. Gray, frankly." Those are your words. 

And yet, yesterday when you testified on the turning over of docu
ments, and this was the same day, on the 28th, to Pat Gray in your 
testimony you make the statement ·as the reason for giving two pack
ages of documents to Pat Gray and I quote you: "It seemed to me like a 
good way of making sure ,that the documents did not leak as long as 
Mr. Gray held on to them." 

Now, my question is very simple. On the same day you canceled a 
meeting with Mr. Gray because of leaks and then turned around and 
gave him documents so they would not be leaked. Which is it~ 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, my problem was not with Mr. Gray per
sonally with regard to leaks. Obviously, we would not have turned the 
documents over to him if we thought he was going to leak them. 

The problem was, as you read in the first transcript, was with a staff 
person high up in the FBI or at least, we suspected it was, we never 
established it. At the time we had had a number of conversations with 
Mr. Gray about the problem, and I had had some conversations with 
J\fr. Kleindienst about the problem, and we had conversations about 
how to solve the problem. When I said we went around Mr. Gray, it 
was that Mr. Kleindienst, unknown to Mr. Gray, so that he would not 
PVen know it was being done, was going to ,plant a story or a fact, and 
we were going to see in such a way that the individual under suspicion 
might be disclosed. It was a long shot but it might have worked. 

Now, I had implicit confidence in Mr. Gray as not being the source 
of the leak because we had had experience with Mr. Gray in the Justice 
Department and at HEW before that, and he was extraordinarily 
reliable, and ~ that was not the problem, and I hope that I did not
I ihope we made that--

Senator WEICKER. I do not think you did because you repeat your 
sentence to us because at that time we, and I assume that is you, "were 
talking with Mr. Kleindienst about how to go about smo·king out this 
problem around Mr. Gray, frankly." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is right, and the problem was on his staff. 
It was a holdover from the FBI :who had been there when Mr. Gray 
ca,me. 

Senator WEICKER. Do you go around people when you trust them~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sometimes, sometimes, and it was Mr. Klein

dienst's view that that was a way to proceed and I do not say it was 
his v,iew or mine, but that we would not bring Mr. Gray into our con
fidence with regard to Mr. Kleindienst's idea for planting a story. 
That is the only time we went around Mr. Gray, that I can think of. 

Senator WEICKER. One last series of questions, sir. 
Mr. Chairman, I do not mean to-I can see you warming up on tJhat 

microphone and I just want to make sure I am not--
Senator ERVIN. You just said one last question, I was not wanting 

you to ask one last question, I ·was going to get there so I would not 
fail to recognize Senator Montoya. So far us I am concerned, you can 
go ahead and ask more than one iast question. 

Senator WEICKER. This will be my last series on this go-around. 
You testified yesterday that on April 15 you called Pat Gray and 

that he oold you he had taken the Hunt papers to Connecticut and 
destroyed them. Is that correct~ . 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not recall his ,telling me that he took them 
to Connecticut. 

Senator WEICKER. All right. Did ihe tell you that he destroyed them~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Now, let me read your testimony at that point. 
That was-

and this was in response to Senator Gurney-
That was in April of this year, we had a conversation. The P,resident asked 

me to telephone Mr. Gray. It was Sunday night and it was the ,!5th of April at 
about 10 :15 p.m. I was in the President's EOB Office and he had a meeting that 
day with Mr. Kleindienst. The subject of these documents came up at that meet-
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ing and the Presideat asked me to call Mr. Gray and find out what the documents 
were and where they were. So I did that. Mr. Gray was not h"Ome. When he got 
home he called back and. we completed the conversation in the President's office. 

Now, let me ask you this. After you received the word from Mr. 
Gray, which I believe was on Apr.il the 15th, did you transmit that 
infovmatiion to the President? 

Mr. EnRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator W EICKER. On what day was that?· 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He was sit.ting right there. ·I transmitted it in

stantly. 
Senator WEICKER. He was sitting with you when you made this call 

to Pat Gray? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. 
Senator ·WEICKER. And this was on April 15? Is that oorroot? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator 1VEICKER. Was any action taken by the President, any ac

tion recommended by you, when you received word that the Director 
of the Federal Bureau of Investigation had gone along and, in fact, 
burned or destroyed, rather, Department files~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. The President took the action that was 
taken, and his first action was to contact either Mr. Kleindienst or 
l\fr. Petersen, I am not sure which of the two it was, and he was asked 
to do nothing further unti] they had an opportunity to check into it 
and report back. 

Senator W EICKER. Tn other words, he asked for a report. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, he asked for an investigation and a corrob

oration of this, and circumstances surrounding it so that he would 
know how to take the next step. 

Senator WEICKER. Gray .admitted to you that he had destroyed the 
files? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. 
Senator WEICKER. What is there to investigate in this matter? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you have a situation that obviously is con

sidera:bly more than just an employment problem here, and the ·Presi
dent felt-you see he had spent the major 1portion of that day or a good 
portion of that day with the Attorney General and the Assistant At
torney General on the whole case, and he was desirous of making sure 
that any step that he took was in coordination with those gentlemen, 
and he, as a matter of fact, forbore to take a number of steps on his 
own motion in order to work in concert with the Attorney General 
and the Assistant Attorney General, Mr. Petersen. 

Senator W°EICKER. So on April 15 you and the President learned 
that :files had been destroyed, and the reaction of the ·President is "We 
are going to get a report." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, he was obviously very concerned ·and upset by 
this, and--

Senator W EICKER. Well, let me recount to you a personal experience 
because I had the identical experience that you ·and the President had 
on April 25. I was called by the Director, who was still the Acting 
Director, even though he had miffed the President of the United 
States and the head of the Domestic Council, that is, had burned the 
record. I was called by the Acting FBI Director in his office and I sat 
in the chair and the Acting Director turned to me and in essence said 
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the same thing that he told you, and the President on A:pril 15, "·I went 
ahead and I destroyed these files." 

Now, I had many of the crosscurrents of emotion that I am sure must 
have also attended you and the President. He is the Acting Director 
of the FBI, I am sure that crossed your mind. I am a U.S. Senator, 
I am ·a member of this committee, and I am sure it must have crossed 
your mind that the President, he was the President of the United 
States and you were one of his closest advisers, and quite frankly I had 
the additional emotion of seeing a man before me who was my friend. 
These were the crosscurrents of emotion when the identical piece of in
formation came to me as had come to you '10 days earlier. And I must 
confess that I won't use more colorful language when this was dropped 
in my lap and some thoughts went through my head as to what do I do 
with it. What do I do to meet my obligations not to let down a friend 
but, sir, you can make sure that the information, information of this 
import is made public and made available to the committee. It was 
within the next 36 hours that the Acting Director told me substantial 
portions of what had occurred ·and it was within that period of time 
that I made sure that the story was laid out in front of the public as 
soon as I got it, not under my name because I am not getting to the 
top of the backs of any of my friends, but it wasn't something that 
could be withheld from the American public. These were facts, they 
were known, all that was left is how were they going to be told. But 
certainly in no ways did it ever occur to me that this was something 
that could be left unattended to, that he could remain ,as Acting Direc
tor of the FBI, that the matters which I had heard of could not come 
to the attention of this committee, and as you know or as the record 
will indicate, having first had the news on April 26--1 beg pardon, 
April 25, the story was told to the American people on the 27th and 
Mr. Gray stepped down as Director on the 2'8th. 

Now, would you indicate to me the difference-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir, it's just two different approaches, Serrator. 
Senator WEICKER. No, the information we received was identical. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The President notified the chief law enforcement 

officer and you notified the newspapers. As I say, it's two different 
approaches to the same problem. 

Senator WEICKER. No, Mr. Ehrlichman, I wanted to make sure that 
I lived up to all the obligations that I had, the obligation as Senator, 
the obligation that I thought he owed the American people as FBI 
Director to tell them the whole story, the obligation I had as a member 
of this committee and the feelings that I had for a friend. 'There were 
various ways it could be handled but I wanted him at least to get out 
and have the chance of telling his story before he was left in place by 
apparently you and the President who had discovered the identical 
facts on April 15, but had made no move to either get Pat Gray, relieve 
him o~ his duties as Director of the FBI, or to give information to the 
Amencan people as to what he had done. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Senator, I can't agree with your assertion 
that the President made no move. He immediately informed those 
responsible for this entire investigation. Now this is, as you all on the 
co~mittee well know, a very complex investigation with a lot of aspects 
t<? 1t and with real problems of the rights of individuals and various 
kmds of legal overtones. Certainly the President felt, I know he felt 



2678 

this had to be done in an orderly fashion by the law enforcement people 
who were responsible for the prosecution of the case. As it turned out it 
was well that he did because Mr. Petersen, in pursuing the investiga
tion with Mr. Gray, was able to develop other facts as a result of being 
able to do so without the cameras on, so to speak, which are as I am 
sure you recognize both a positive and a negative aspect of a matter 
of this kind in terms of adducing the facts. 

Now, I think that in hindsight, while it may sound very self-serving 
for me to say so, the President took precisely the right steps in im
mediately informing Mr. Petersen as he did, so that the prosecutors 
a.nd the law enforcement people could do their work in making the 
scales before it was all over the newspapers. Now the identical same 
consideration applied in John Dean's situation where the President 
forbore to discharge Mr. Dean at Henry Petersen's request, to give 
Mr. Petersen and his people an opportunity to complete their work 
before that relationship was severed. 

Now, I think that we don't always have the luxury of gratifying our 
first instincts about a matter of this kind when we have the responsi
bility for the orderly discussion of the laws in a prosecution of this 
kind. 

Senator WEICKER. What was the purpose of your phone call on 
April 15 to Mr. Gray, incidentally? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I explained it was the result of the President's 
conversation that day with the Attorney General and Mr. Petersen, in 
which the question of these documents came up, and the question that 
he put to me, was whether I had any information with regard to the 
whereabouts of the documents, and I said "yes, I did." I was there at 
the time when an envelope was delivered by Mr. Dean to Mr. Gray, 
and that he said, "yes, that they were aware of this," and he said, "Has 
Gray ever given them back?" 

And I said, "I don't know." 
And he said, "Get on the phone and get ahold of Gray and tell him 

what we know a:bout this and find out where those documents are and 
what is in them." 

Senator WEICKER. In other words, the enforcement agencies, the 
enforcement agencies had been working prior to April 15. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, sure. 
Senator WEICKER. The information had been given before the grand 

jury by Mr. Dean? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't think Dean had been to the grand jury, I 

think Dean had talked with the prosecutors and had given them some 
of this information, if not all of it, but we were operating with what 
the Attorney General and the Assistant Attorney General had told the 
President, which the President recalled of the conversation and was 
imparting to me. 

Senator WErcKER. Well, I would just conclude by again asking you 
why Mr. Gray was left in place when this information was known to 
you and to the President and other members of the executive branch. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I believe I have answered that question, 
Senator Weicker. It was in aid of the Assistant Attorney General, 
Mr. Petersen, and the Attorney General, Mr. Kleindienst. I recall hear
ing later that Mr. Petersen had, in fact, interviewed Mr. Gray follow
ing this, and had received conflicting stories. This would have been 
prior, I guess, to your interview with Mr. Gray, and .finally that the 
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matter had been resolved. They wanted to get a written statement, they 
wanted to geit the kind of evidence tha;t they could use in court, appar
ently, and so the President was giving them an opportunity to do that 
kind of thing. 

Senator WErCKER. This wasn't the first time that you left Mr. Gray 
in place, was it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The first time that I left Mr. Gray in place? 
Senator vVErCKER. This wasn't the first time, in other words, that in 

an adverse situation to Mr. Gray he had been left in place, is that 
correct? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sorry, 'l don't understand your question. 
Senator 1VEICKER. Well, for instance, during his confirmation hear

ings, when he ran into some heavy weather, <lid you have any com
ments to make at that time? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Did I? 
Senator WErCKER. Yes, about Mr. Gray. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, indeed. 
Senator WEICKER. Can you remember wha;t you said about him in 

the confirmation hearings at that time? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think you probably are referring to my saying 

that he was hanging in the wind and should be left to spin slowly. 
Senator WEICKER. Yes. Let him hang there, "vVell, I think we ought 

to let him hang there, let him twist slowly, slowly in the wind." 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is my metaphor, yes. 
Senator WEICKER. And he was twisting slowly, slowly in the wind 

on April 15? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He was being investigated, investigated, and 

investigated on April 11>; 
Senator 'WEICKER. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Montoya. 
Senafor MoNTOYA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I know we have been on this burglary for quite some time, but I 

want to clear one point, Mr. Ehrlichman. 
At wha;t point did you feel that the FBI really got into the investi

gation of the Ellsberg case in a manner that was satisfactory to White 
House expectations? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I cannot fix that date, Senator, except to say that 
it was sometime prior to September 20, because I do recall a meeting 
either that day or very close to it. 

Senator MONTOYA. Is tha;t September 20, 1971? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MoNTOYA. And the burglary ooourred on or about Septem-

ber 3 or 4 of 1971? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Around that time. 
Sena;tor MONTOYA. Yes. 
And I beHeve your testimony indicated that you were notified by 

Mr. Krogh and Mr. Liddy or either of them while you were at Cape 
Cod what, 2 or 3 days later? 

Mr. EnRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. When were you notified? · 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. To the best of my recollection I was notified after 

I returned to the city having been-
Senator MONTOYA. When? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. Having been at Cape Cod in a kind 
of ,a remote area where I was not easily reachable and I was never 
notified by Mr. Liddy. My best recollection is that I was notified by 
Mr. Krogh. 

Senator MONTOYA. Then how many days after the burglary would 
that be? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sid 
Senator MONTOYA. How many days after the burglary? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I am sorry I can't fix the date of the break

in ·for you. 
Senator MONTOYA. Was it within a few days? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It was Labor Day weekend, as I understand it 

that they broke in. Monday was a holiday. My first day back in the 
office was Tuesday, and I think lit was probably that Tuesday. 

Senator MoNTOYA. It was the Tuesday 111fter that weekend then? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. · 
Senator MoNTOYA. So that woold make it-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe that--
Senator MONTOYA. So that would make it on or about September 4, 

or5,or 6. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have a calendar here, could I look at it? 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, the date is not relevant. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see. 
Senator MoNTOYA. But it would be in ,that neighborhood, would 

it not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right. 
Now, after about September 20, as you indicated, the FBI really 

started working on this investigation. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I cant' say that, I am sorry. The only thing 

I can say is that I recall a meeting where there was a meeting of the 
minds between the Attorney General and the President as to the per
formance level of the Justice Department, including the FBI on the 
·Pentagon Papers case, and the ·President's feeling, based on the Attor
ney General's report at that meeting was that the performance level 
was now satisfactory. Now, when-you have asked me for a specific 
date which I can't give you--

Senator MONTOYA. It was on or about that time, then? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume so. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Then, did you in the White House with your investigative unit, 

develop sort of an investigative partnership with the Department of 
Justice and the FBH 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would say not. 
Senator MONTOYA. But you were working in concert toward the 

same objective, were you not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not believe 'that the White House people 

performed any specific investigations of that character after the 20th 
of September. 

Senator MoNTOYA. All right. 
;Did you impart all the information that you had to the Depart

ment of Justice? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. ·I did not, but ,1 am sure that either Mr. Krogh or 
Mr. Youngdid. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Then, is it your testimony that they did? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That they did what, Senator? 
Senator MoNTOYA. Give all the information which they had to the 

Department of ,Justice. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I cannot vouch for that. I just assume that. 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, this is one thing that strikes my fancy, 

Mr. Ehrlichman, that the burglary was committed on September 3 or 
4 of 1971. That you knew about it a few days later upon your return 
from Cape Cod, that Mr. Liddy knew, that Mr. Krogh knew and that 
presumably other people in the White House knew. Then, why did it 
take them until April 15, 1973, for the U.S. district attorney here in 
the District of Columbia, Mr. Silbert, to first find out of that burglary 
and then have to transmit that news to the Department of Justice? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not think it did, Senator. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Well, that is what happened, according to the 

memorandums--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA [continuing]. Submitted to this committee by Mr. 

Silbert. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The only thing I oan tell you is what Mr. Dean 

told me rubout that, and that is that the Justice Department had that 
,j_nformation a good deal sooner than that. 

Senator MONTOYA. Why did Mr. Silbert have to transmit this irrfor
maition about the break-in to Assistant Attorney General Petersen 
on April 15, 1973, then? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if Mr. Dean told me the truth he did not 
have to because Mr. Petersen already knew it. 

Senator MoNTOYA. You knew the truth? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I knew the truth? 
Senator MoNTOYA. You knew that the burglary had been committed? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; you misunderstood me. If Mr. Dean told me 

a year or so ago the truth, that Mr. Petersen then knew about the 
break-in, then Mr. Silbert's transmittal of the paperwork in April 
of this year was not necessary. 

Senator MONTOYA. But he did transmit it to Assistant Attorney 
General Petersen? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There is no question aboudt. 
Senator MONTOYA. On tihat date. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. But the question is whetJher that was news to 

Mr. Petersen or not. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Then, Mr. Petersen, the Assistant Attorney Gen

eral, then informed on April 26, informed Judge Byrne of the burglary 
attempt or the actual burglary, I should say. Now, that is also in the 
record in this hearing already. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, so is the fact that Mr. Dean told me a year 
before that or so that Petersen already knew it. 

Senator MONTOYA. Why did not Mr. Petersen take action then 
before? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know, Senator. As ,a matter of fact, I 
do not even know that that is true but that is what Mr. Dean told me. 
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Senator MONTOYA. There were motions pending in the trial in Cali
fornia and petitiions ,in discovery presented to the court to try to get 
all the neeessary evidence that might be helpful to the defendant, and 
this did not appear at that time until April 15 when Attorney General 
Petersen presented this evidence to Judge Byrne. Now, is that not odd? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It is something I cannot explain. I think the rec
ord is very plain, and I think it is in the committee record, as a matter 
of faot, that the photographs of the break-in were transmitted by the 
CIA to the Justice Department a long, long time before that. 

Senator MONTOYA. Yes, the photographs were, but there was no evi
dence connecting the photographs to the break-in in the Ellsberg psy
chiatrist's office until later. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, there was a great big picture, as they 
tell it to me, and I have not seen these pictures, but I understand there 
is a great big picture of Gordon Liddy with his mustache, and a pic
ture that has Dr. Fielding's name and address in the background, and 
Gordon Liddy's picture has been in the Post every day, and it does 
not take too much imagination to figure out who he was. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Well, it strikes my fancy that there is no evidence 
in the record here, and this burglary has been discussed, there is no 
evidence here that the Department of Justice knew about it until Mr. 
Silbert's memo was presented to Assistant Attorney General Petersen. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, the only thing I can say--
Senator MONTOYA. That is the state of the record at the present 

time. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The only thing 1I can say is that my hearsay is as 

good as Mr. Dean's credibility on the subject, H,nd I am obvious1y not 
the one to vouch for that. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. Now, let us go into another subject. In 
the matter of Presidential appointments. I will start out by asking 
you whether this came within your domain. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The setting of appointments of the President's 
time? 

Senator MONTOYA. No, the matter of the Pre.-.ident making Presi
dential appointments of the different agencies. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At some period of time, I did get into that. For 
instance, after the election in 1972, I was very much involved in that. 

Senator MONTOYA. Did you get involved at all prior to 1972? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, but on a case-by-case basis where it would be 

a domestic department where I might have something to contribute. 
Senator MoNTOYA. 'That is what I mean. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Presidential appointments in the different 

departments. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. But it was not something that was routinely 

cleared to me so that I signed off on every departmental appointment 
or anything of that kind. 

Senator MONTOYA. Who would run a check on the possible 
appointees? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well--
Senator MONTOYA. Would it be the FBI? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Ordinarily there would 'be among other things, 

an FBI check on major appointees to determine conflict of interest 
and this kind of thing. 
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Senator MONTOYA. And so the FBI-would you say that they con-
ducted very complete and concise checks on these possible appointees'? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. They were not very good, Senator, in my opinion. 
,Senator MONTOYA. In what respect? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Very superficial. They would go around and they 

would talk to a lot of people and get a lot of hearsay about them and 
there would be very little followup. I was consistently critical of the 
quality of that work. 

ISenafor MONTOYA. Well 1 did you provide some input into these 
checks yourself or through your employees? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Very seldom. Occasionally when t~ere was an 
appointee that I had known, an FBI man would come around as they 
would to you or to any citizen, but that was only two or three times, 
probably. 

•Senator MONTOYA. But the White House did not have a setup :for 
checkups? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, yes, there was a special office and it was in 
the office of the counsel where these things were routinely done and 
they had also a personnel office, and the two worked together generally, 
in Mr. Haldeman's area of responsibilitv, to perfect these files of Presi-
dential ,appointees. V 

Senator MONTOYA. What kind of checkups would the FBI conduct? 
What was their sphere in doing their investigation? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you know, you :fill out one of these long 
forms and you have to put down where you lived for the last 30 years 
and where you have worked for the last 130 years, and as I gather it, 
and I am no expert on this, but I gather they go around and talk to 
people in these different places and they ask a:bout the candidate. 

Senator MONTOYA. Now, you were Assistant to the President for 
Domestic Affairs? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. And have been for quite some time-and were for 

quite some time until your resignation. . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 19'70. 
Senator MONTOYA. Yes. Now, in this capacity, you had to evaluate 

the possible appointments made by the President and provide input 
by way of recommendation after reading reports, would you not? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Only occasionally, wherethevwere referred tome 
for my special consideration. V 

Senator MONTOYA. What departments did you deal with as Assistant 
to the President for Domestic Affairs? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Any department that had a domestic aspect to it. 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right. Then, those who worked under you 

necessarily informed you as to what they undertook with respect to 
communication or relations with the different departments under your 
jurisdiction? Would that be a correct statement? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not on any regular basis, Senator. 
Senator MONTOYA. But on important policy matters, would they? 
Mr. EiIRLICHMAN. Well, I relied on them to conduct their responsi-

bilities, bringing to me only problems that they felt they could not 
handle themselves. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, would you be able to throw some li~ht 
before this committee as to the genesis of the enemies list about which 

. testimony has been adduced? 
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Mr.EHRLIOHMAN. No,.sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Did you receive any memorandum with respect 

to the enemies· list from John Dean or any other person in the White 
House? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, not that I can recall. 
Senator MONTOYA. Did you recall the enemies list with Mr. 

Haldeman? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I did after the testimony here about it be-

cause I do not recall ever hearing of it before. 
Senator MONTOYA. Did you discuss the enemies list with Mr. Colson? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator MONTOYA. Now, in your capacity as Assistant to the Presi

dent for Domestic Affairs dealing with the different departments, 
were you aware of the effort that was being made to place Mr. Colson 
and Mr. Liddy in the Internal Revenue Service? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. You have heard about it since then? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure that I have. 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, Dean's memorandum reflects something to 

this effect. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I missed that, I am sorry. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Now, you do know that the White House made quite a few requests 

for the income tax returns of individuals, do you not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would doubt that seriously, Senator. 
Senator MONTOYA. You would doubt that there were no requests? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would doubt that the White House had made 

requests for the income tax returns of individual citizens. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Now, I will introduce for the record the statistical data furnished 

by the Internal Revenue Service in a book entitled "Statistics, Requests 
for Inspection of Income Tax Returns or Data From Returns by Fed
eral Agencies for the 6-'Month Period, January 1, 1972, to June 30, 
1972," a1'd then another volume with the same title for the period 
,Tuly 1, 1972, to December 31, 1972. 

Senator ERVIN. The reporter will mark them as exhibits. 
rThe documents referred to·were marked exhibits NOS. 95 and 96. *] 
Senator MONTOYA. I will turn to the first page of the document in 

each instance and read· for your benefit "'Tax Checks Requested by 
Federal Agencies. January 1, 1972, to June 30, 1972. Agency: White 
House, No. 477." And then on the second document "Tax Checks 
Requested by Federal Agencies, July 1, 1972, to December 31, 1972. 
Agency: White House, No. 4'38." What comment do,you have on th~t? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, your question waswhetherornotthe White 
House had requested anybody's tax returns and I said I would doubt 
that. Now, I don't know what a tax check is in those statistics. Perhaps 
there is a definition in there, but a tax check, as I understand it, is to 
find out if an individual has tax problems before he is ·appointed to 
Federal office, because obviously you don't want to wppoint an as
sistant secretary who is going to be indicted for tax fraud the next 
day. So it is a routine procedure for this personnel office that 'I men
tioned or for the counsel's office to find out from the IRS if these indi-

•See pp. 2909 and 2911. 
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viduals have problems; That does not mean calling fo.rtheir returns 
and going through and seeing who they had taken as deductions or 
what their sources of income may be. 

As a matter of fact, my personal experience with this, Senator, has 
been in the instances where the President was considering individuals 
for the U.S. Supreme Court, and he asked me to determine whether 
people that he had in mind had any tax problems, and being kind of 
new to the business I thought that what one did was to, you know, get 
the returns and fliip through and I discovered that the White House 
could not get an individual's income tax return, the thing that the 
citizen :files with the Government, that it's simply not available, even 
for such a situation as the appointment of a Supreme Court Justice. 

So, what you do is you ask the tax people to tell you if an individual 
tha,t you have in mind has any significant tax problems, and then if 
they do, they would send baick a memo saying "This fellow is free of 
any tax problems for the past 6 years" or they would send back a 
memo saying there is a ta,x problem for the tax year 1970, it is in nego
tiations, it will probably be settled by such and such a date. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, Mr. Ehrliohman, I asked you those ques
tions before I asked you this one and you said that you were not aware 
of any requests~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sorry your question did not say tax check, 
your question said tax return, Senator, and that is a very different 
thing. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Do you mean to tell me now there were no re
quests for tax returns of taxpayers~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not aware of one. 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, would you say that the record of the In

ternal Revenue is oorrect ~ 
Mr. EnRLICHMAN: Well, you see we are talking about apples and 

oranges, that is our problem. . 
Senator MONTOYA. No, we are not talking about apples ·and oranges. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well the apple. 
Senator MONTOYA. We are talking about one thing. 
Mr. EnRLICHMAN. Tax checks or tax returns. 
,Senator MoNTOYA. How can you get a tax check if you don't see a 

tax return~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you ask somebody else in the Internal 

Revenue Service who has the legal authority to examine it to see if 
there is a problem or not. 

Senator MONTOYA. Now, you are talking about apples and oranges. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think I can assure you, Senator, that at 

least in my personal experience, no one on the White House staff has 
any access to your ·tax return or the tax return of MlY citizen. At the 
same time if you were being considered by the President for the Su
preme Court, it would be a matter of routine for someone on his staff 
to ,ask the Internal Revenue Service to examine your file, as they have 

the legal right to do, and report to the President whether or not you 
ih:ave a ,tax problem. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Let me read you !:!()me other instances where there 
were requests for tax returns from other departments. Department of 
the Treasury for the period January 1, 1972, ·to June 30, 1972, the 
Department of Justice requested 407 returns as against 477 by the 
White House. 

96-2!=16 0 - 7::i. - nt 7 - <.t 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Are those returns or checks? 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, these are tax checks requested by Federal 

agencies under that title. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you see, I might say this by way of a foot

note to all this, and I am by no means am expert in this but I under
stand that certain departments and ,agencies, not the White House, 
but certain departments ;and agencies by statute, by laws passed by the 
Congress, have the right to see returns. The Department of Justice, 
I guess, is one. But that is a very different thing than the question that 
you put to me in the first iinstance. 

Senator MONTOYA. Yes, but those are categorized by department here 
in this list, and the White House is categorized separately? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator MONTOYA. That is the point I am trying to make. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if that says the "\\inite House received 

returns rather than got checks, you know, just memos of chooks, that 
would be a different thing. 

Senator MONTOYA. vVho else would have the supervision or author-
ity to make these requests in behalf of the White House? 

1Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I assume--
Senator MONTOYA. Besides yourself. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume the counsel did. I guess I had the author

ity but I exercised it in very few cases as assistant to the President 
and they would be either Cabinet officers or Supreme Court appointees 
ordinarily where the President didn't want to tell a lot of people who 
he was considering. The counsel, I believe, ordinarily and routinely 
had the responsibility for determining whether a person had a tax 
problem or not. . 

Senator MONTOYA. Don't you think that these tax checks and request 
for tax returns represent quite a great number for the White House 
because they only have 400 employees there? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, but you see they are checking the employees 
to be ·appointed in all of the departments under what are called a 
Presidential appointment. That would be Cabi11et, Under Secretaries, 
Assistant Secretaries, agency heads, deputy agency heads of various 
agencies like the Veterans' Administration and pl aces of that kind. 

Senator MONTOYA. You mean during this period that you were con
sidering approximately a thousand persons for appointment and 
announcing to the entire country that you were reducing the Federal 
force. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, there is quite a bit of turnover, Senator. 
I don't know what the number would be, but it doesn't surprise me that 
the volume would be, say 400 in a 6-month period. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You see we have what 2 million Federal employ

ees or something, down from 2% million. 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, you gave us a lecture on political science 

the other day, you tell us. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, that is my best recollection. 
iSenator MONTOYA. All right. Thank you. 
Now, ·let us go into another phase. 
:Mr. WrLsoN. Mr. Chairman, if the Senator-Senator Montoya is 

going to another phase I wonder if he would be kind enough to let me 
see that document from which he is reading. 
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Senator MONTOYA. Yes, two documents. 
l\f r. WILSON. -May I return them after the recess? 
Senator MONTOYA. You certainly may, sir. 
-Mr. WILSON. All right, thank you. 
Senator MONTOYA. Now, on July 21 you were quoted in an article in 

the New York Times as being in favor of releasing the tapes which 
are in controversy. 

Did you make that kind of a statement? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I have had a lot of trouble with quotations 

in the New York Times, Senator, and that is one of them. 
'What happened there was that I gave a television interview to a 

fellow, you know they come out and sit on my lawn and as I came out 
in the morning it is pretty well unavoidable, ,and this fellow said some
thing to the effect, '"Do you have anything to worry about if these tapes 
get out?" 

And I said, "No, I don't think I have anything to worry about." I 
didn't know I was being taped, but I don't think I said anything there 
that would-that I would be ashamed of. 

And he said, ""\Vell, then, you think the President ought to release 
these?" · 

And I said, '~Well, you know you have got to look at this from two 
standpoints, certainly from my standpoint I have no problem but he 
has a much larger •picture to look at." 

Well, the word "certainly" is what carried on the wire, and the 
rest of the sentence didn't get carried, and so I saw the wire story and 
it said: "Ehrlichman today in response to a question, should the Presi
dent release these tapes said 'certainly'." 

Well, what I said was in effect, "Certainly I don't have anything 
to worry about but the President has got a lot more worries than I 
have about the country and the separation of powers and his relation
ship with the Congress and so on." 

Now, having just said that sentence, I will bet you the New York 
Times tomorrow says, "Ehrlichman says the President has a lot more 
to worry about than he does." 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, now for 2 days we have been talking a:bout 
a burglary here, the burglary that you justify as legal under implied 
Presidential constitutional power. You say that it was committed as a 
part of an effort to protect the security of our country. Many of us 
say this was clearly illegal. 

Now, I pose this question to you. And I want to develop in my own 
mind a profile of the President and probe into his inner thinking. If 
the President or someone at the White House was willing to order 
this 9uestionable covert action, why does not the President now take 
cogrnzance of a real threat to the Presidency of our country, the ero
sion of confidence of our people, the internal institutional chaos that 
has set in, and now perform a really patriotic act, to bring stability to 
our country, perform a legal act by shedding the mantle of executive 
privilege and release these tapes and records to this committee so that 
the American people can have some light on the truth and put an end 
to the Watergate tale of suspense and tragedy 1 

Can you answer that question? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, obviously, that is a question, Senator, that 

ought to be directed to the President rather than to me. · 
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Let me just tell you my own view of this as a citizen. Obviiously I 
don't speak for the President, and haven't for a long time. 

'I'he ohairman and learned counsel yesterday demonstmted to my 
satisfaction tha,t these constitutional issues are not susceptible of easy 
decision. I would certainly be the last to ,try to mwke a qu:ick response 
to your question. It is a profound question that involves the meaning of 
our Constitution and the relationship of our governmental institutions. 
I don't think it ,is really appropriate for me to respond to it :in terms of 
substaince here. It is obviously a much more important question than 
someone in my situation ought to try to answer right off the top of his 
head. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, if you were Chief Counsel at the White 
House or if you were acting in the role of Assistant to the President 
for Domestic Affairs, ·and you were aware of the chaos that is setting in 
in this country with respect to the Presidency, and you were aware of 
other things, what woul?-you advise hiim i 

Mr. Wn.soN. Mr. Ohauman, may I--
Senator ERVIN. I believe that ·a proper question because--
Mr. WILSON. May I suggest that I never like to answer "if I" ques

tnons. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, I never did like to answer "if I" questions my

self, but I think counsel, Senators have a right to ask them. 
Senator MONTOYA. I think the Senator iis asking it-
Senator ERVIN. Since ·the witness has gone afield and expressed 

opinions about the power of the President under the Constitution and 
I tJhink since ihe was a lawyer for the White House at one time, and 
since ihe was Chief Domestic Adviser of the President~ I think it's all 
night to ask him what he would advise the President. 

Mr. WILSON. I think he rwa:n.ts to answer it my way. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I am not sure I ·fully understood 

the point that was going to be made by Mr. Wilson. I might add this 
one word of caution. We have taken proof from witnesses about what 
they would do in a set of circumstances, and we have heard questions 
put and answers made to hypothetical situations; but ,the chairman 
ihas admonished from time to time, as I have, that !is not proof of 
material fact in these proceedings. It rather may or may not be rele
v·ant to the state of mind or ,the attitude of the witness as it bore on his 
conduct. If that is the case here, that is, if it has to do with the impact 
that point of view might have on the w!itness' conduct I can't see any
thing wrong with it. H it has to do with trying oo prove the substance 
of tJhe hy,pothesis, then I think it would be different. 

rSenator MONTOYA. Mr. Chairman, if the Senator would yield to me 
on my own time. 

Senator BAKER. I will give you part of my time, Joe. 
Senator MONTOYA. This witness is an expert on the 1President's 

demeanor. He is a specialist on White House procedures and thinking, 
and I think he would be the best witness, other than Mr. Haldeman, 
to answer such a question which is bothering the entire country, and I 
am not facetious about it. I was really sincere a:bout it. 

Senator BAKER. T am not facetious either. I was agreeing with you. 
I was telling him he ought to go ahead and answer the question. 

Senator MONTOYA. I know that but I was trying to lay the premise 
for why I asked this particular question. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, let me ·preface my answer by saying 1I am 
not an expert and that is the very reason I am going to answer this 
question the way I will. You asked me in terms of how the President 
approaches a p:i;oblem like this, I guess, and you ,were talking about 
his tern perament or his makeup and so on. If ·I were asked by the Presi
dent sitting there to approve this problem and give him a recommenda
tion, I would have to know a great deal more about the elements or the 
constitutional law question that are involved than I know sitting here 
today. So one of the first things I would do, as had been my practice 
there is to draw on the very best minds that we could assemble from 
around the country, in and out of Government, to advise on this sub
ject. We did this, for instance, in a somewhat critical phase of the bus
ing problem, and we had people like Alexander Bickel and Charles 
"\V right from Texas and good legal minds from outside, and we had 
the best people we could find inside the Government as ,well as to 
counsel with us, both by way of memorandum and in person, as to the 
various options that would be available to the President, and cer
tainly as assistant to the President it was my job not to decide for 
myself the right thing to do and then tell him, but to try to assemble 
for him as much information, as much valid opinion as there was on 
the subject and spread it before him so that he had the entire picture, 
and that is the way he preferred to work. 

Now I have no doubt that in this dispute that is precisely what he 
has done, although ,r don't know that of my own knowledge, I know 
how this man works. So that I would expect that he has drawn upon 
legal scholars, the best people in the Solicitor General's office and the 
Department of Justice and everywhere that he can find respectable 
views as to the relationship of the Presidency to the Congress under the 
Constitution. 

Senator ERVIN. I think you are now testifying a;bout the President's 
mind rather than your own. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sid 
Senator ERVIN. I am sorry I did not sustain the objection. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understood that was one of the things that the 

Senator was interested in. 
Senator MONTOYA. I was asking what you would say and not what 

the President would say. 
l\fr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it would only be after a process of review 

like that that ·I would be equipped to say. I feel very inadequate my
self without the background in constitutional law. I could shoot from 
the hip and say were I sitting in the White House my instinctive re
action would be to feel my obligation to preserve the institution of the 
Presidency intact. You see, we passed this torch of the 'Presidency 
from one man to one man and it is his job for an entire period of 4 years 
to maintain the integrity of and the viability and the constitutionality 
and the function of that office, and there is nobody else who is going to 
help him. The Congress is in the business of strengthening the Con
gress' prerogatives, and we have this constant adversary relationship 
that goes on between our branches of Government. · 

Senator ERVIN. Just in the interest of time, are you not testifying 
that you do not know what you would do if you had a responsibility 
different from the one you now have i 



2690 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir? 
Senator ERVIN. Are you not telling us in short that you do not know 

what you would do if you had the responsibility and the power which 
you do not now possess i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it was admittedly a hypothetical 
question--

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. To which I was asked to respond, 

Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. I agree, I should have sustained the objection, at 

least, not sustained the objection, but to indicate that what you would 
do sheds no light except as a citizen. It might illuminate the thing, but 
I interpret your answer to say that since you do not now have the posi
tion of adviser to the President, you do not know what you would do if 
you should be restored to that position under the present circumstances. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have a feeling you are objecting to the answer 
and not the question, Mr. Chairman. 

:Senator ERVIN. No, no. Well, frankly, I thinki I gave my opinion 
about the question. I do not care for iffy questions myself. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understand. Well, obviously, without a great 
deal of study and a great deal more expertise than I have, I would not 
feel competent to advise either the President or this committee. 

Senafor ERVIN. The only thing that I recognize that article is long 
and time is fleeting, in our hearts though stout and brave, still like 
muffled drums are beating funeral marches to the grave. We have 
taken 10 or 15 minutes on this proposition. 

Senator MONTOYA. Mr. Chairman, 'I have no other questions other 
than to make an observation that in my opinion, the witness has 
answered that he does not wish to answer. That is in effect your 
answer. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, without a great deal more study, Senator, 
it would be very presumptuous of me 'to involve myself in a question as 
profound as that. 

Senator MONTOYA. Thank you, sir. • 
Senator ERVIN. The committee will stand in recess at this time, until 

2 o'clock. 
[Whereupon, at 12 :10 p.m., the hearing was recessed, to reconvene 

at 2 p.m., this same day.] 

AFTERNOON .SESSION, THURSDAY, JULY 26, 1973 

Senator ERVIN. The committee will come to order. 
You spoke of the Kerner Commission and the Warren Commis

sion. Both of these commissions were appointed by the 1President in 
office at the time of their appointment and both of them worked in 
public, did they not i 

1Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. . 
Senator ERVIN. And in that respect they were unlike the Plumbers 

who were a·ppointed in secret and whose identity was kept secret from 
the American people. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Chairman, first of all, their identity 
was not kept secret. 'Lt was the subject of newspa;per stories. 

Secondly, the reason that :I cited you to the reports of those commis
sions was because they both discussed or so my information is, they 
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both discussed the use of psychiatric profiles with relation to U.S. citi
zens and, of course, one of them brought me to the realization that 
the Secret Service does conduct such an activity with relation to U.S. 
citizens in aid of its 1protection of the President ·and the Vice President 
and others in trying to determine in advance who might be threats to 
assassination attempts. 

So it goes to the point that you raised yesterday that such a tech
nique would be illegal with regard to U.S. mtizens. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, was not the existence of the Plumbers kept 
secret from the FBI, OIA and other investigative ·agencies of the 
Government? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. Did you tell Mr. Hoover ·rubout them~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, and we also told the Attorney General. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
But they worked under cover of darkness and their weaipon was 

burglary. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. They did not work under cover of darkness, Mr. 

Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, did they burglarize Dr. Fielding's office in the 

daylight or night~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Idonotknow,Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Was that not reported to you~· 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. In point of fact, however, as I testified 

yesterday, I had interviews with the Secretary of Defense, Attorney 
General, Director of the CIA, to which I introduced Mr. Young and 
Mr. Krogh and they described the function of the special unit. This 
was in advance of their actually coming into full operation. 

Senator ERVIN. Mr.-Ehrlichman, are you telling me that you do not 
know that the burglary of the psychiatrists' office occurred in the 
nighttime1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Do you think it occurred at high noon? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have not heard, and I do not know this, but I 

have heard that it occurred on a holiday during the daytime but as I 
say, I do not know it. 

Senator ERVIN. But anyway, you spoke in derogatory terms of Mr. 
Hoover. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I do not intend any derogation of Mr. 
Hoover. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, you said he should hav'3 quit the office, that he 
did not know enough about surveillance, although he had spent his 
lifetime in it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not say that and I would not intend to say 
that, Mr. Chairman. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, you said he had different ideas about surveil
lance from what the White House had. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
1Senator ERVIN. Well, you said he would not cooperate with the 

White House. 
•Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What I said was that in a specific instance he had 

very fixed ideas about the degree to which the Bureau should cooperate 
in this investigation. . 
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Benator ERVIN. Yes. He had very fixed ideas when the President 
appointed Tom Charles Huston to devise him a method of having 
American citizens spied on Mr. Hoover had the fixed idea that they 
ought not to resort to burglary, that they ought not to resort to the use 
of undercover military agents, that they ought not to resort to virtually 
unlimited surveillance, and they ought not to resort to mail cover, and 
that was stated by Tom Charles Huston in documents put in evidence 
here about 15 times before the President approved those documents. So 
he did not cooperate. 

I am going to speak for his defense beyond the grave since he is not 
here. I call attention to the fact that Tom Charles Huston told the 
White House 12 or 15 times in documents recommending burglary, 
recommending the use of undercover military agents, recommending 
mail coverage, recommending virtually unlimited surveillance, 12 or 
15 times he protested against the use of those things and yet the Presi
dent approved them. And here in the very letter that he wrote to the 
man who had charge of the surveillance or the effort to get the record 
of the psychiatrist, here on August 3, a month before the break-in, he 
said that "if he, Egil Krogh, if you concur we will proceed with inter
views of all of the remaining individuals except Daniel Ellsberg." 

And knowing Mr. Hoover's ideas, I think he made the exception 
because he did not make it a praotice to interview people who were 
under indictment. 

So there he was willing to cooperate. 
And another thing, along about this time, as a Member of the U.S. 

Senate, I was fighting the efforts of the administration to get no-knock 
laws enacted, to get the detention laws enacted, to expand by Executive 
fiat the powers of the Subversive Activity Control Board and I was 
fighting against the proposition of being defender of the Department 
of Justice that it was all right to use undercover military agents to spy 
on civilians exercising their first amendment rights. And at about that 
time, I got a letter from J. Edgar Hoover which I also off er as evidence 
and he said "You" referring to me "You have indeed been one of the 
guardians of our liberties and protectors of our freedoms. 

"All Amerioans owe you a debt of gratitude." I don't offer that as 
any praise of myself but I offer that as evidence of Mr. Hoover's devo
tion to the basic rights of American citizens, the rights not to be bur
glarized, and I think that since he can't speak for himself that his 
documents ought to be able to convey his attitude. I can understand 
having heard this testimony, about the Ellsberg matter, why you say 
that Mr. Hoover would not cooperate with the White House, ·and he 
was on the side of liberty. 

Now, as I understand your testimony that you gave to Senator 
Weicker, you testified that the Plumbers attempted to get the records 
of the psychiatrist in order that someone of the OIA or somebody else 
might develop a psychiatric profile to enable President Nixon to deter
mine for himself whether Ellsberg was some kind of a kook or was 
some kind of a foreign intelligence agent. 1Is that ,what you told us~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well I don't think it's a question of the President 
determining for himself, Mr. Chairman. I think this was ·an effort on 
the part of the special unit to do as they had done in other cases sub
Requently, to determine where there were holes in the--either in the 
Federal Government itself or in the Rand Corp. or these outside units 
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that would permit a person like Ellsberg and his coconspirators, if 
there were any, to steal massive quantities of top-secret documents 
and turn them over to the Russians. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, maybe you can, but I can't harmonize with 
your statement to Senator Weicker that they were not attempting to 
get the psychiatrist's records for the purpose of assisting in the prosecu
tion of Mr. Ellsberg, and that they were getting them in order that 
the President might satisfy himself on certain points. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the President, of oourse, is charged with 
the proper administration of the departments of the executive branch, 
the Defense Department, the State Department, the CIA, and the out
fits like the Hand Corp. and others that contract with those Depart
ments, and they have ·possession of secret documents. 

Now, when you have a situation like this one, and you have infor
mation coming in from the Justice Department that this individual 
is involved in a conspiracy, and you have the surrounding circum
stances of the delivery of these documents to a foreign embassy, it 
is incumbent upon the President, as the Executive of this executive 
branch, to satisfy himself that he has done everything ·possible to be 
sure that such a thing does not occur in the future, and in order to do 
that he has to be in a position to know what happened here. Now 
that was the process that was underway, and I think you will agree 
with me that that is a proper executive role. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, I believe Congress set up the FBI to determin,e 
what was going on in this oountry, didn't it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Among other things, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. It set up the CIA to determine what was going 

on in respect to foreign intelligence, didn't it? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. Among other agencies. 
Senator ERVIN. It set up the National Security Agency, didn't. it? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And the Defense Intelligence Agency. 
Senator ERVIN. And the Defense Intelligence Agency. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And a number of others. 
Senator ERVIN. But it didn't set up the Plumbers, did it? . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Of oourse the Congress doesn't do everything, 

Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. ,No; but Congress is the only one that has got legis

lative power and I don't know any law that gives the President the 
authority to set up what some people have called the secret police; 
namely, the Plumbers. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think if anybody called it that they would be 
badly overstating the situation and we are getting now into this con
stitutional argument that you and Mr. Wilson engaged in yesterday, 
Mr. Chairman. 

The fact is that the President is granted constitutional powers to 
make sure these departments of the executive branch work properly 
and when you have a mistake or when you have a shortfall or when 
you have a grievous raid on secret papers like this one, the President 
would be very remiss in his obligation if he didn't move forward on it. 

Senator ERVIN. In other words, the way to cope with this thing is to 
set a burglar to catch a burglar. . 

Now, let me ask you one other question, I hope this will be my last. 
Didn't it come out very early after the June 17 break-in that $1'14,000 
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of the President's money had been deposited, at least temporarily in a 
bank account among the burglars, Bernard L. Barker? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. It did not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. When did you learn that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know that the President's money ever 

showed up in this. 
Senator ERVIN. It was the proceeds of campaign funds that ha.d 

been given to help reelect the President, don't you know that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean campaign contributions? 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see. Your term was not clear. 
,Senator ERVIN. Well, ·I will call it Nixon';;; campaign funds and 

maybe we can agree on that. Didn't you find out very soon after the 
break-in that $114,000 of the President's campaign funds had found 
their way into the deposit account of Bernard L. Barker, one of the 
burglars caught in the Watergate? 

Mr. EHRLIClIMAN. Yes, sir. Without agreeing with the amount 
because I don't know the amount. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, as ,a matter of fact, didn't you testify in a 
deposition in a oivil case that on the 23d day of ,.Tune, pursuant to the 
President's direction that you discussed this matter of these funds 
being routed coming out of Mexico with General Walters 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes; and the Preside.nt had talked to you about it. 

He asked you to do that, didn't he 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; he sent word to me through Mr. Haldeman. 
Senator ERVIN. Did Mr. Haldeman bring you word and tell you it 

came from the President, that the President wanted you to find out 
something about this, these Mexican checks i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, the thing that Mr. Haldeman said to me 
was tJhat the President had ·asked that he and I meet with Mr. Helms 
and General Walters to discuss the question of whether a full all-out 
vigorous FBI investigation might somehow turn up and compromise 
some ongoing or CIA activity. 

Senator ERVIN. Wasn't it the activity directed to the Mexican checks? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Notspe.cifically. 
Senator ERVIN. Weren't you asked about these Mexican checks in 

this deposition 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sure I was. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. But I am sure I also answered in that deposition 

that that subject arose at tJhe meeting and was not a part of the instruc
tions that came to me through Mr. Haldeman. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, anyway, you had a meeting wit~ General 
Walters on the 23d day of June just 6 days after the break-m-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. In which it became known that $114,000 of the 

Nixon campaign funds had come into Mr. Stans' office in the form 
of three Mexican checks or ·fuur Mexican checks and that the proceeds 

· of those checks had been deposited in the bank accounts of .a burglar 
in M~ami, Fla.~ 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sure that those kind of elaborate details 
were not discussed. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, do you know of ,any other campaign fonds of 
the President, or campaign contributions that were routed into Mexico? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not of my own knowledge, no, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. And the President was afraid that if the FBI vigor

ously investigated these checks, it might 1interfere with the CIA? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The President was concerned. He told me later 

that the all-out FBI investigation might compromise some CIA activ
ity in Mexico. And the way the FBI was leaking that would be the 
surest way for that CIA activity then to appear in the Nation's press. 

1Senator ERVIN. And it might also explain how come $114,000 of the 
proceeds of a campaign contribution to him was found in the bank 
account of a burglar, might it not, if they pursued that investigation? 

,Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Chairman, your inference is very un
fair. Because in point of fact the President's instructions to the FBI 
were to conduct a totally unlimited, all-out, full-scale investigation 
of that and every other aspect of this Watergate matter and that Mr. 
Gray, and Mr. Gray alone was to determine the scope. That the Presi
dent would not limit that scope ,at all. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, if that was so, why did he ask whether the CIA 
ought to limit it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He gave those instructions upon being reassured 
later that the CIA had no concern. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, the President can remember, can't he? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. And he listens to the television occasionally, doesn't 

he? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not very often. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, didn't the people in the White House read 

and listen to television and discuss among themselves a:bout how all 
these strange things were happening? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What strange things, Mr. Chairman? 
Senator ERVIN. Such as burglars being found in the headquarters of 

the opposition party with Nixon campaign funds in their pockets . 
. Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He was well aware of what was in the news, yes, 

Sir. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. Did you ever talk to the President about that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. Did you ever suggest to him that there was some

thing rather strange about his campaign funds being found in the 
pockets of burglars in the headquarters of the opposition party? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It was certainly not necessarv for them to suggest 
that to him. That is the reason he ordered the FBI to do an all-out 
investigation. · 

Senator ERVIN. Well, they didn't find out much, did they? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir; they found out a great deal. They con

ducted-in fact, Mr. Chairman, on that score, they conducted the most 
intensive FBI investigation that had been conducted in this country 
in terms of the numbers of witnesses contacted. The numbers of leaks 
followed out, the numbers of agents involved in the investigation, the 
devotion of-vigor of the Bureau of Investigation. the most intensive 
investigation since the Kennedy assassination: 
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Senator ERVIN. And they didn't find out enough to indict anybody 
except the original seven men, notwithstanding the fact that the trans
action of the burglary ran right from the Watergate to the Committee 
To Re-Elect the President. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That certainly is not the President's fault. He 
turned the FBI loose. , 

Senator ERVIN. Well, it might be the fault of some of his aides in 
not insisting it be a little more vigorously done. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assure you that the President-excuse me, Mr. 
Chairman, I assure you there was no restraint on the FBI in this in
vestigation whatsoever to my knowledge. None whatsoever. 

Senator ERVIN. Not even when you suggested to General Walters 
that they might have a fear it might interfere with CIA operations 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Let's be clear about what happened there. That 
meeting as you say was on about the 23d, I believe. General Walters 
was not asked to do anything more than have a meeting with the 
Director of the FBI and discuss with him any possible concerns. Now 
in point of fact, the CIA could not reassure us right then with regard 
to the President's concerns, and it was not until the 26th, I believe, 
yes, the 27th-let's see-it was not until the 27th of June that the CIA 
teleµhoned the FBI to say that they were satisfied that there was no 
CIA involvement in the Mexican aspect of this, and it was very 
shortly after that that the President and Mr. Gray talked, and the 
President instructed Mr. Gray that in view of that the FBI should go 
all out in its investigation. So that is the sequence of events. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, the President stated m his May statement: 
I considered it my responsibility to see that the Watergate investigation did not 

impinge adversely upon the national security area. For example, on April 18, 1973, 
when I learned that Mr. Hunt, a former member of the Special Investigations 
Unit at the White House, was to be questioned by the then Attorney General, I 
directed Assistant Attorney General Petersen to pursue every issue involving 
Watergate but to confine his investigation to Wa:tergate and related matters and 
to stay out of national security matters. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is entire--
Senator ERVIN. You testified that the Plumbers were dealing with 

national security matters. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, that is an entirely different subject from 

what I was just talking about. You asked me about the Plumbers or 
theCIA1 

Senator ERVIN. Well, I have asked vou about both, I think. I asked 
you if you did not testify that the Plumbers were dealing with na
tional security matters. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. And, therefore, here is the President's own statement 

that he said he directed them to stay out of that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Directed who to stav out of what 1 
Senator ERVIN. Out of national security matters, the thing that you 

sa v the Plumbers were dealing in. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He did not direct the FBI. He directed Henry 

Petersen. · 
Senator ERVIN. Well, Henry Petersen was the man in charge of the 

whole affair, was he not 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What whole affair, Mr. Chairman Y 
Senator ERVIN. The prosecution. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, but not the investigation. 
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Senator ERVIN. He also said in that same statement: 
I instructed Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichman to insure that the investi

gation of the break-in not expose either an unrelated covert operation of the 
OIA or the activities of the White House investigations unit and to see that 
this was personally coordinated wi'th General Walters, the Deputy Director of 
the CIA, and Mr. Gray of the FBI. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was the purpose 0£ the meeting on the 23d 
0£ June. 

Senator ERVIN. So he says to see that the FBI did not impinge on 
any national security matters. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, no, that is not what thrut says. It says any 
CIA investigations--

Senator ERVIN. Well, I will just read--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. Unrelated to the Watergate. 
Senator ERVIN [ continues reading]. 
Therefore, I instructed Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichman to insure that the 

investigation of the break-in not expose eitller an unrelated covert operation 
of the OIA or the activities of the White House investigations unit. 

That was the White House investigations unit, is that not an euphe
mism £or the Plumbers~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe so. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Therefore, he says and he told Mr. Haldeman ,and Mr. Ehrlich

man to see that this was personally coordinated between General 
Walters, the Deputy Director 0£ the CIA and Mr. Gray 0£ the FBI. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was the purpose--
Senator ERVIN. And yet, you say Mr. Gray was not limited in any 

manner. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was the purpose-
Senator ERVIN. And here is a direct part 0£ the statement the 

President made that he instructed you ·and Mr. Haldeman to see that 
he stayed out 0£ national security matters. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Would you like to hear what we did1 
Senator ERVIN. It would be right interesting i£ we could. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We held a meeting with General Walters and 

Mr. Helms on the 23d of June, and thereafter we asked General 
Walters to be in touch with Mr. Gray, and then ·a;bout 4 days later 
the CIA informed the FBI that i£ the FBI did an unlimited investi
gation it would not turn up any CIA operations and would not com
promise. Mr. Gray then informed the President and the President 
said: "All right, Pat, I want the FBI to go all out with no strings 
attached." 

That was on the 6th 0£ July, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. You know, I am reminded 0£ the parable 0£ the 

good Samaritan. In that parable there was ,a man who went out to 
travel on the road down to Jericho and he fell among thieves and they 
heat him and robbed him and left him wounded there lying on the 
road. And then the priests and Levites came down there and pre
tended they did not see him and walked by on the other side. 

Then the good Samaritan came down and rendered him aid and sup
plicant and the evidence in this case tends to show thus far that all 
the intelligence, not ·all of them, but the people in charge 0£ the Com
mittee To Re-Elect the President, the people in charge 0£ the commit-
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tee, the Finance Committee To Re-Elect the President, and the White 
House aides, like the priest and the Levites walked by on the other 
side ·and pretended that ·this thing did not occur. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. May I answer that question i 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In point of fact-
Mr. WILSON. Are you going to use the parable i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I read the Bible but I do not quote it. 
1In point of fact, Mr. Chairman, on four different occasions the 

President of the United States had full-scale reports from the Attorney 
General about the efforts of the entire Department of Justice, the 
efforts of the entire Department of Justice in this, that included not 
only the FBI, it included the grand jury, it included the prosecutors, it 
included everybody who was involved in this investigation. It was fol
lowed very closely by those of us in the White House who had an 
interest in this matter one way or the other, Mr. Dean primarily but 
others of us as well. I had a meeting, for instance, with the Attorney 
General on the 31st of July of this year on the break-in, and got a 
full-scale report from him in which he said the investigation was not 
yet completed but that it was very clear to the entire Department of 
Justice that the seven people who were indicted were, in fact, the only 
ones implicated. 

Now, the ,vhite House had said to its employees-the President had 
instructed that everyone was to cooperate fully in giving evidence to 
the FBI, and they did that. . 

Mr. Dean conducted his own inquiry inside the White House with 
regard to White House involvement, and Attorney General Klein
dienst, about 3 or 4 days after the Department of Justice completed 
this investigation in September made a complete report to the Presi
dent, the Vice President, the Cabinet and the Republican legislative 
leaders at a meeting which I can well recall and the Attorney General 
made the point at that time, in the President's presence, that this had 
been the most vigorous and extensive Department of Justice investiga
tion since the assassination and that their conclusion was that the 
people arrested, and then known to be implicated were, in fact, the 
only ones involved. 

Now, that had the scrutinv and interest of the people in the White 
House, the people in the Cabinet, and the other executive branch offi
cials and it certainly had the full attention of the Attorney General. 
There was no attempt to shield our gaze and pass over on the ·other side. 

Senator ERVIN. And notwithstanding the fact, did you ever discover 
that Sloan, the treasurer of the committee, at the direction of Ma
gruder, after consultation with Stans, paid $199,000 in cash to Liddy 
who masterminded the burglary~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, that is an interesting point, Mr. Chairman. 
because at mv meeting with the Attorney General on the 31st of July 
he said Mr. Sloan had a version of the facts which the prosecutors 
had heard and which were going to be read to the grand jury, ·and thev 
were. So that that was not concealed from the prosecutors, the investi
gators had turned it up and it was before the grand jury, This was a 
known quantity. Unfortunately, when the matter went to trial, the 
judge and the jury didn't ·believe Mr. Sloan. 
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Senator ERVIN. Well, they didn't give him a chance. They didn't 
indict Magruder, and the prosecuting atto_!"lleys are reported in the 
press to have said the evidence showed that nobody was involved 
except the seven men under prosecution. 

Don't you know that i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I know, too, that they had Mr. Sloan's testimony 

before them. He was not believed and in point of fact, you remember 
in the press, that at the trial, the judge made comments which indicated 
that he did not believe Mr. Sloan. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, it has turned out since he was telling the 
truth, I think rather strongly, so they certainly had his testimony that 
~agruder, the Deputy Director, had ordered him to pay this $199,000 
m cash out of Secretary Stan's secret fund and that Secretary Stans 
had told Sloan to comply with the order of Magruder in this respect 
after consultation with Mitchell. 

Now, I can understand why they don't find out some things that are 
so outrageous that they don't believe a party. Didn't Mr. Sloan come 
up and want to tell you about this and you said to him, "I don't want 
to hear anything about it because if I hear anything about it I will 
have to take the executive privilege until after the election." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know what it was that Mr. Sloan wanted 
to tell me because after we had talked for a few minutes and I had 
determined that he felt he had some exposure, but that he had not 
talked to an attorney, I told hiµi that it would be grossly unfair of me 
to hear him out until he had had an opportunity to talk with an at
torney and take counsel on his own situation. 

Senator ERVIN. You were one of the men in the White House who 
stood in power next to the President, weren't you i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I worked for the President there; 
Senator ERVIN. Yes, and when an agent, when this treasurer of the 

Finance Committee To Re-Elect the President came and told you he 
wanted to tell you about some things that troubled him you refused to 
listen. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I thought I was doing that from his stand
point, Mr. Chairman. 

Duke Sloan has been a young man that I have known well during 
the time he worked in the White House. I didn't want to see him tell 
me something before he had talked to counsel that later on was going 
to Prove his undoing, and you see his wife, Debbie, also worked at the 
White House and was well known to my wife and me and I just didn't 
want to see him overreached. 

Senator ERVIN. I have got to go and the time is almost up to go over 
there and vote. 

rRecess.] 
Senator-ERVIN. Before I put another question, I would say that my 

idea is that it is up to the.jury to determine whether a witness is teUing 
the ~ruth instead of the prosecuting attorney. 

Did vou not call Henry Petersen, the Assistant Attorney General 
of the Criminal Division, who had general supervision of this prosecu
tion and ask him not to require former Secretary Maurice Stans to go 
before the grand jury i 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN". Yes, Mr. Chairman. The circumstances were that 
the-it had come to the President's notice that Secretary Stans was 
going to be asked to appear before the grand jury. He asked me to 
determine if it would be possible for Secretary Stans to give his testi
mony as others had, through the device of a proceeding at the Justice 
Department, a deposition, so to speak, under oath, rather than to run 
the gauntlet at the Federal courthouse. 

The President said that a man who was a former Cabinet officer and 
so on, should not be subjected to that kind of a situation. I talked 
with Mr. Dean about it and I talked with Mr. Petersen and he agreed 
not to do that. 

Senator ERVIN. As a Democrat with a small "d," I am incapa:ble 
of comprehending why a former Cabinet officer should not have to do 
as all other mortals and go before grand juries and so he did not go, 
did he? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He gave his testimony. 
Senator ERVIN. He gave his t.estimony1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. He gave his testimony 

by deposition. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes, he gave his testimony in the absence of the 

grand jury, did he not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Apparently this was a procedure which had been 

established by the prosecution and a number of other people had done 
likewise. 

Senator ERVIN. As I have observed during these hearings before, 
murder and stealing have occurred in all generations but they have not 
made murder meritorious or larceny legal. 

Now, my question is. Mr. Former Secretary Stans did not go before 
the grand jury, did he? He gave his testimony in his office, did he no~ 9 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir-well, I do not know where he gave 1t. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, he gave his testimony in the absence of the 

grand juryi 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I believe he gave it at the Department of 

.Justice. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. And by that method, there was nobody there 

to ask him any questions except the prosecuting attorney who held 
office at the pleasure of the President. Is that not so? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I do not know who was present, Mr. 
Chairmim. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, you know none of the grand jurors-there 
were 23 grand jurors, I believe under the Federal system, none of the 
/!rand jurors were there, were they? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not believe so. 
Senator ERVIN. So this was a process-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Unless the foreman was there, ·and I do not know 

that. 
Senator ERVIN. This was a process because Secretary Stans, I 

guess-Shakespeare said about Ceasar what meat our Qeasar eats 
had grown so great but he had eat.en: such meat that made him so great 
that he did not have to l!O before the grand jury like ordinary mortals, 
and that procedure m9de it certain that no inquisitive grand juror 
could ask this man who had had charge of the financing of the cam
paign, any embarrassing questions, did he not? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Chairman, you cannot establish by 
my testimony who was present because I do not know. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, at the instance of the President of the United 
Stat.es, you requested the Assistant Attorney General, Mr. Petersen, 
to spare Mr. Stans from the ordeal that other people are supposed to 
go through, and go before the grand jury, and have his evidence taken 
in a manner in which no inquisitive grand juror would have any pos
sibility of asking an embarrassing question of the man who ought to 
have known more than anybody else about the financing of the cam
paign ; did you not? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sure that that is a procedure that was fol
lowed in other instances, Mr. Chairman, and I think the President 
had in mind a good deal less the question of what questions would be 
asked Mr. Stans and a good deal more of the fact of when one goes to 
that particular grand jury you run a gantlet of cameramen and news
paper people down the hall and up the stairs ·and it is a very arduous 
thing before you ever get into the room. 

Senator ERVIN. You spare a man from that. You also spare him 
from any possible embarrassing questions from any one or more of 
23 grand jurors. 

Now, anybody else who had this special red-carpet treatment other 
than some other White House officials? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have no idea, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, do you not know that several White House 

officials were given this special treatment? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I heard that in testimony here but I have no 

personal knowledge. 
Senator ERVIN. Do you not think that that is contrary to the princi

ple that all men are supposed to stand equal before the law? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I can assure you that I did not have that 

treatment. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, I can understand why you could not get as 

far as you should have gotten in this if you kept witnesses who should 
have known the most about it away from the inquiring questions of 
grand jurors. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator Baker. 
Senator BAKER. Thank you~ Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, do you have a copy of exhibit 91, which is a memo

randum from David Young to John Ehrlichman dated August 26, 
1971, page 2? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe we do somewhere. 
Senator BAKER. Will counsel supply a copy to the witness? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, we had a copy but I am sorry I don't have 

it right at my fingertip. 
Senator BAKER. Also, if you have a copy, would you also get a copy 

of the President's statement of May 22, 1971? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't have that with us. 
Senator BAKER. Would the staff please supply a copy of that 

document? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have the other document here, Senator. 
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Mr. WILSON. Mr. Strickler, my partner, has a trial uptown and he 
didn't come back this afternoon and that is the reason we are bereft of 
these exhibits. 

Senator BAKER. I also wanted to draw your attention in this brief 
examination to exhibit No. 3 which is a memorandum for you from 
Mr. Krogh and Mr. Young, dated August 11, 1971, and I would like 
to stop long enough--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That I have. 
Senator BAKER [continuing]. For staff to supply any of the missing 

documents. Do you have exhibit 91 ¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I just need the President's statement of 

the 21st if that is what you are referring to. 
Senator BAKER. All right, fine. The May 22 statement of the 

President. 
Do you have a mimeographed copy so that we can make the pages 

correspond¥ 
Now, is that the mimeographed copy¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is the Congressional Record¥ 
Senator BAKER. No; it is not. I would like you to do that, if you 

will, please. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, I am not trying to imply anything. I am not try

ing to put you on the spot. I am not trying to ask any unfair question. 
I simply must say that, having heard your testimony for some days 
and having looked at these documents and the President's statement, 
certain questions have occurred to me that appear to be unanswered 
or ipartially unanswered or ·appear to be incomplet:e. 

I would address your attention first to the August 1, 1971, document 
from Krogh ·and Young to Ehrlichman which I believe is marked 
according to my copy as exhibit 3 from executive session July, i 
believe, 17, 1973. 

On ·page 3 of that the paragraphs jump from 4 to 6. What happened 
t.o parai?raph 5, if you know and what did it say¥ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I can remember what paragraph 5 said. 
I don't know who excised this. It deals with an extremely sensitive 
subject relating to another country. I don't know why it isn't in here. 

Senator BAKER. Are you in a position to supply it now for the 
record¥ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I can, I am not sure you want me to. 
Senator BAKER. Counsel for the committee, majority counsel, I be

lieve has something he wants to say on the subject. 
Mr. DASH. I just wanted to say that when this was given to us on 

suhpena by Mr. Young's counselor, Mr. Young excised it on the ground 
that it contained national security matters involving a foreign country. 
That was his statement to the committee. 

Senator BAKER. We are in the most troubled of all troubled waters 
here. Mavbe I can approach it obliquely. 

Can you give the committee some information as to whether or not 
excised oaragraph 5, which I gather now the committee does have

Mr. DASH. No; it was never given to us. We got that document just 
as it now looks. 

Senator BAKER. All right. Whether or not excised. paragraph 5, 
which would appear to deal, I gather, in intelligence about a foreign 
country, does or does not have any bearing on the action or conduct 
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of principal staff of the White House subsequent to the Watergate 
break-in1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
1Senator BAKER. Does it have to do with the national security matters 

that the President refers to repeatedly in his statement of May 22 as 
being interwoven~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It's germane to the Pentagon Papers situation. 
Senator BAKER. Are you at liberty to supply that or is this one of 

the matters where--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't think I am. I take it that that would not be 

one of the items exempted from the executive privilege exceptions, so 
to speak. I think this is a matter which somebody ought to get from 
the White House if, in fact, it's going to come from somewhere. I would 
probably be violating two or three statutes if I disclosed at this point. 

Senator BAKER. Is it of significant importance i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't think it is, but that is a matter of personal 

opinion. It certainly does not bear on the Watergate. It is tangentially 
related to the special unit investigation of or, yes, investigation of 
the Pentagon Papers matter. But it is very tangential, and I think 
very sensitive. 

Senator BAKER. All right. 
Does it have something to do with the characterization that the 

President placed on the situation in the third paragraph on the first 
uage of his May 22d statement, which is very short and I will read it: 
"Important national security operations which themselves had no 
connection with Watergate have become entangled in the case." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It could. I think it would fall within that 
paragraph. 

Senator BAKER. Do you know whether it does or not 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I would say it does. I would say it does, 

and I can say this: It's one of those collateral matters, Senator, that 
would be interesting and titillating and whatnot, but it would cause 
more mischief than the good would be produced from the disclosure. 
I am perfectly content under appropriate safeguards and permission 
or whatnot to talk to the committee ·about it in executive session or 
whatever arrangements you would like to make provided I have the 
leave of the White House to do so. But--

Senator BAKER. You see what I am driving £or, Mr. Ehrlichman1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator BAKER. I£ the President does in fact try to make a major 

case :for the idea that there was a commingling of Watergate and 
non-Watergate related activity, and that he took measures after the 
break-in designated frequently in this record 'as the coverup, to pro
tect non-Watergate related activity. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. This would be one of those. 
Senator BAKER. If .that would be so then we need to know about it. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There would be that kind of a situation where 

in thinking about it, say, the FBI making ·an investigation of this 
narticular matter referred to in this paragraph, and then that some
how leaking it would be very unfortunate. 

Senator BAKER. Right. 
Are you using that as an example or--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sure, that is a hypothetical--
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Senator BAKER. That is not a charact:erization of the missing 
paragraph~ 

.J\fr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, no, no, indeed. 
Senator BAKER. I understand that you would be willing to dis

cuss this fully with the committee in executive session provided you 
had leave from the White House to do so. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Absolutely. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I ask µnanimous consent that staff 

propound such a request to the White House so that we might pursue 
the matter further. 

Senator ERVIN. Without objection that will be done. 
Senator BAKER. I invite your attention to exhibit No. 91, Mr. 

Ehrlichman, a memorandum from Mr. Young to you dated August 26, 
1971, the middle of page 2. It is not very long and I will read it, too : 

It may well be that al!though Ellsberg is guilty of the crimes with which he 
is charged, he did not in fact turn the papers over to the New York Times. The 

. Defense Department's anaiysis of the printed material may even show that 
Ellsberg did not have some of the papers which the New York Times printed. 

And this is the part I would like to draw your attention to: 
Furthermore, the whole distribution network may be the work of still another 

and even larger network. 

That didn't mean much to me on first reading but in light of other 
circumstances that have come to my attention, and in light of the 
missing paragraph 5, in light of the repeated references by the Pres
ident in his May 22, 1973, statement to the intermingling of affairs, 
my curiosity was greatly heightened. Now, this was a memorandum 
to you~ 

Do you know what they were talking about? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I know that there was a very respectable-let 

me shorten it. Yes, sir, that is the answer to the question, I do know. 
Senator BAKER. Can you tell us~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I can t:ell you-your question related to paragraph 

5 and I take it we would pass any reference to that. 
The reference in the other exhibit was to a respectable body of 

opinion among the investigators in the Government:. (1) That Daniel 
Ellsberg may not have been the man to turn the stuff over to the New 
York Times, and (2) there were a number of other people involved 
either in association with him or operating separately. 

I saw just enough of the investigation material to persuade me that 
there are indeed other people involved in that case who have never 
been indicted. · 

Senator BAKER. Who has knowledge of that~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The Department of Justice has. Mr. Mardian, 

who was the Assistant Attorney General in charge of that prosecution 
does. I take it Henry Petersen does. I am not sure that either Mr. 
Krogh or Mr. Young do on any kind of detailed basis. But the people 
who made the prosecution decisions in the case which have been the 
Attorney General and the Assistant Attorney General or the two 
Assistant Attorneys General. 

Senator BAKER. I rather think your question is responsive and may 
very well be entirely accurate but I get the feeling there is something 
else there. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, there undoubtedly is and I don't know the 
full details of it. 

Senator BAKER. I am talking about what you know, Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am tiptoeing just a little bit, Senator, because, 

frankly, I don't want to say somebody's name or advance an innuendo 
of any kind that would be unfair to anybody. 

Senator BAKER. No, I don't want you to make a charge here that 
somebody may have been involved in the Ellsberg situation. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator BAKER. Or the psychiatrist break-in or the Pentagon Papers. 

I specifically do not want that. 
What I do want to know is the breadth and range of your informa

tion as to that event or other security problems that may have had some 
bearing on the contentions of the President in his May 22 statement. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think the statement of May 22 referred less to 
that reference, that is this distribution network and others in the 
coconspiracy, than it did to other activities of the special unit or other 
problems that the special unit addressed itself to. 

Senator BAKER. Other than the Ellsberg matter? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator BAKER. What? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I mentioned two that are in the public domain, 

the SALT leak and the India-Russia leak, that is not--
Senator BAKER. Indo- Pakistan situation? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, this had to do with a treaty between Russia 

and India and it compromised a CIA document which appeared in the 
New York Times and other newspapers. 

Senator BAKER. What other examples? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is as far as I can go because that is all in the 

oublic domain and I am under an express injunction from Mr. Buz
hardt that executive privilege has been invoked as to the other matters. 

Senator BAKER. Are you willing to discuss these matters by leave of 
the White House in executive session? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. If-I am in a situation where it isn't a question 
of my willingness. I am, you know, in a situation where I am willing to 
answer anv proper question but I am also in a situation where certain 
subjects of this kind of a sensitive national security nature are simply 
not mine to give. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman, this has already been considered 
bv Mr. Buzhardt, ·and with respect to a 11971 investigation, I guess 
the witness will fix these in this area without further definition, and 
without mv havinir a single knowle·dge of a fact about it. I have a letter 
from Mr. Buzhardt. 

Senator BAKER. I am sorry, Mr. Wilson, I cannot hear you. Would 
you move your microphone? 

Mr. WILSON. I am sorrv, sir, Shall I begin again? 
'Senator BAKER. No. I think that is not necessary. I got the first part 

but it was trailing- off badly. 
Mr. WILSON. With respect to an anonymously stated investigation 

in 1971, which is perhaps one of the four instances of the Plnmbers' 
activities, I hold a letter from Mr. Buzhardt dated July 23. directing 
us to claim -privilege pursuant to the Constitution doctrine of the 
separation of powers. 
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Senator BAKER, On what~ 
Mr. WILSON. I am very happy to pass this up. 
Senator BAKER. No, no; I accept your word for it, but on what~ Does 

it specify on what~ 
Mr. WILSON. Yes; it is identified only in here with regard to what 

we know to be a fourth instance of the activities of the Plumbers. 
Senator BAKER. A fourth instance~ 
Mr. WILSON. Yes. 
Senator BAKER. There were three instances described by the Presi

dent in his statement of May 22, as I recall. 
Mr. WILSON. It is possible, sir, that I am a little confused and that 

the third and fourth instances may merge into a single instance. One 
would be the Pentagon Papers, which is in the public domain. The 
second is the SALT, there has been some reference here t.o the com
promising of the CIA with respect to an Indian matter. I do not 
know--

Senator BAKER. With respect to an Indian matter~ 
Mr. WILSON. Yes-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. This is with respect to the India-Russia Treaty 

that I just mentioned. · 
Mr. WILSON. If the reference in here to a 1971 investigation overlaps 

the third or is ·an independent fourth, I do not know, sir. · 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Ehrlichman is shaking his head no, to the 

former and yes, to the latter. It does not overlap the fourth function. 
Can you tell us what the fourth function is t 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Under this letter I cannot, sir. 
Senator BAKER. Would you tell us in executive session if you have 

permission of the White House t 
Mr. WILSON. Can I answer that t 
Senator BAKER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WILSON. We already have an admission against it, admonition 

a~ainst us and I would believe sir, of course, if you will ask him we 
will go back and submit it but we have already a direction to claim 
the privilege with respect to that item. That is what I hold in my 
hand, sir. 

Senator BAKER. Do you represent, Mr. Ehrlichman, this to be a 
matter of extreme national importance in terms of national security i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator BAKER. Can you tell me whether or not the fourth item 

Mr. Wilson referred to has to do with the commingling of Watergate 
and other security matters t 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not inherently, Senator. The concern here, I 
think, would be that, just as we have this situation now, an inquiry 
into the Watergate leads to an inquiry into this matter which, in turn, 
would compromise it. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, I will not take much longer. 
Let me refer you to a few pages in the President's statement, and 
incidentally, this is not a waste of time. This is a terribly important 
matter because on the one hand, you have an allegation by the Presi
dent that national security matters accounted for part of his conduct 
subsequent to Water,rate. On the other hand, we have examples of 
wiretapping, of the Ellsberg break-in and other things, and very 
frankly, I am not sure you have entirely convinced all of the committee 
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that these are matters of extraordinary national importance that they 
fit the description that the President makes in his statement of May 22. 
I will reserve judgment on that until later but the fact that there is 
a missing ·paragraph in one exhibit, the fact that there is reference to 
another matter, the fact that Mr. Wilson IJ}.entions another fourth 
category of conduct which, as far as I know, we never knew about, 
if those facts are true-whether they are inimical to the President's 
best interest or supportive of his best interest is not important to this 
inquiry at this moment-it makes the record obviously incomplete. 

Now, I need to know how we go about testing the several pieces 
made by the President on the question of national security. The press 
has carried the account that the whole Watergate affair is cloaked in 
a shield of national security, and to be very frank with you, the 
President's statement of May 22 could be entirely correct in every 
respect, and I suppose we all assume that it is, but it is still so general 
and subject to so many interpretations that it cannot stand unaided 
the close scrutiny that this committee is trying to undertake. 

Now, I want to know, on whatever basis I can find out, what those 
other considerations were. I do not want to know them in a way that, 
as a citizen of the United States, I think they might jeopardize the 
safety or the future of my Nation, but I have got a delicate balancing 
job on my hands here trying to find out and trying ,to evaluate whether 
they are in fact of that importance. I am sort of at a loss as ,to how 
I do that. 

Let me put one other item into the equation. You spoke of, or I 
believe Mr. Wilson spoke of, a 1971 report. I want to put-

Mr. WILSON. Investigation. 
Senator BAKER. Sir? 
Mr. WILSON. Investigation. 
Senator BAKER. I want to put a specific question to you. Whether or 

not any of these functions had to do with anything related to, say, the 
Indo-Pakistani War. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you see, whether I answer yes or no, Sena
tor, I have added to it coming into the public domain, and I think I 
am precluded from making a fair response to your question because we 
could sit here and by 20 questions eliminate a number of alternatives 
so that it would be-it would become more readily apparent. Let me 
say if you and I were sitting across a table and we did not have all 
this it would not be nearly the problem that it is, but--

Senator BAKER. Are you telling me, Mr. Ehrlichman, there. are some 
matters of such grave national security importance that you would 
in effect bite the bullet and take the examination, interrogation that 
you have gone through so far 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure I understand your question, 
Senator. . 

Senator BAKER. Well. my question is this : If, in fact, the conduct 
of the White House and its major staff after the Watergate inquiry 
was based on national security considerations, just assume for the 
moment that. there was some element of an obstruction of the investiga
tion of the Watergate situation because of some national security issue. 
How g,reat must that national security issue be to take all the punish
ment that an administration and witnesses have taken? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well--



Senator, BAKER. Whatd am,asking you is, is it that importlant or-am 
I.playing games 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In my opinion it is that important, Senator. 
Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman, I believe it would be well if you 

would permit me to read this letter to you because it answers some of 
your questions. 

Senator BAKER. I would like that very much. 
Mr. WILSON. Then, of course, with the permission of yourself and 

the chairman, it may be put in the record. It is dated the 23d of July 
and it is addressed to me and it is signed by Mr. Buzhardt, as special 
counsel to the President. 

This is in reference ito your inquiry concerning the extent of the President's 
waiver of executive privilege in connection with testimony before the Senate 
Select Committee on Presidential Oampaign :Activities. 

Am I in close enough for everybody to hear me 1 
Senator BAKER. Yes, sir, we can hear fine. 
Mr. WILSON [continuing]. 

As you know the President said in his statement on May 22, 1973: "Execu
tive privilege 'Will not be invoked as to any testimony concerning possible criminal 
conduct or discussions of possible criminal conduct in ma.tters presently under 
investigation, including the Watergate affair and the alleged coverup." This 
is the tota'1 extent to which the President waived executive privilege. 

The 1971 ,investigation about which you inquired was in no way related to 
the Watergate afl'air, the alleged coverup, or to any Presidential election, This 
matter does involve most sensitive national security matters, the public dis
closure of which would cause damage to the national security. 

Accordingly, if. your clients, Mr. John F. Ehrlichman or •Mr. Haldeman, are 
interrogated about this particular investigation, the President has requested 
that you inform the committee that your clients have been instructed by the 
President Ix>· decline to give testimony concerning this particular investigation, 
and that the President, in so instrucling your clients, is doing so :pursuant to 
the constitutional doctrine of separation :of Powers. 

Senator BAKER. Do I understand, Mr. Wilson, this adverts only 
to the 1971 investigation 1 

Mr. WILSON. To my knowledge it does and I have no idea what 
that is. This is the key to me. May I pass this to the Chair and I would 
like to pass up the original and keep the Xerox myself in my unselfish
ness. [Laughter.] 

Senator BAKER. I am not going to press that any further at this 
point. I intend to pursue it a little further a little 'later in maybe a 
little different way. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, could I extend my remarks in response 
to your general question with regard--

Sena,tor BAKER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. With regard to the legitimacy of the President's 

concern with regard to these various national security problems. 
The chairman and others have Questioned me about the President's 

concern about the CIA possibly being involved in this, which was, 
as you know, of limited concern dating from the-about the 20th of 
June to rubout the ·6th or 7th of July. I would ask the committee to 
have its staff secure a document dated July 6, 1972, from General 
Walters to the acting Director of the Federal Rurean of Investigation 
relating to that subject. · I don't think I should testify regarding the 
content of that in any degree of particularity, I think the document 
speaks for itself, and will go to the general question which the chair-
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man will put and I think will satisfy the committee with regard to 
the authenticity and the genuineness of the President's concern on that 
subject. 

Senator BAKER. Do you suggest that as an aid to my general inquiry? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, I am not trying to advise you or 

to advise the President, but I think it is urgently important that this 
committee weigh and the executive department weigh not only the im
portance of national security versus other considerations, but that we 
weigh as well the relative importance of national security to domestic 
security, that is the welfare of this Nation, and this undertaking is no 
small task. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understand it, if this, Senator--
Senator BAKER. I need to know whether or not we are playing games 

or whether in fact this was a legitima:te area of inquiry with the com
mittee or am I being stopped? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. "\Ve are not playing games. 
Senator BAKER. OK. I will stand on that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Obviously I am not in any position to deliver for 

you under the circumstances, but it seems to me that the chairman, 
the vice chairman, the committee-or the entire committee, can find 
someone in the executive branch to sit down on a confidential basis and 
talk through this one particular matter or if they will tell you that I 
can do it I would be happy to do it on that basis, but it is a-simply 
a matter which-in the scale which you have just described heavily 
weighs. 

Senator BAKER. Which way? 
CMr. EHRLICHMAN. In favor of national security, in my opinion. 
Now, you may disagree with me but I don't think you will. 
Senator BAKER. Well, Mr. Ehrlichman. I am going to pursue this, 

I am not quite sure how but you see the dilemma the committee is in? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sure. 
Senator BAKER. We have on one hand rather elliptical or not com

plete allegations of national security concern of such grave importance 
that the nsk is run that it might be misunderstood, that the allegations 
and claims of national security considerations arc suspect in the minds 
of some. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understand. 
Senator BAKER, And on the other hand, the concern that if there 

are in fact vital national interests involved we have an obligation as 
Senafors and as citizens to find it out the right way. But we are left 
right now in an untenable position. We have got to press this further 
in conjunction with the tapes, in conjunction with the documents, in 
conjunction with the President's May 212 statement, in conjunction 
with a dozen other things I could name. We need to know what factors 
were taken into account to verify or invalidate the claim of national 
security which itself is in some qual'ter suspect, and I, for one, hope 
that we can add that to the long list of things on which I believe the 
committee needs to make a definitive statement. 

'Now, I have lectured you more than 'I have questioned you, but I 
think you understand the dimensions ofmy concern. 

'Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I certainly do. 
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Senator BAKER. And I think you understand there is informat10u 
available that heightens our curiosity, or at least mine, about this. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman~ . 
Senator BAKER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WILSON. With respect to the responsibility I have with respect 

to this matter, I am perfectly willing to go back to Mr. Buzhardt with 
a message, if you will give it to me, that in executive session, and I 
want to be very careful not to offend anybody, but the leaks out of your 
committee investigations have been colossal. 

'Senator BAKER. We probably have a track reeord for that, Mr. 
Wilson. 

Mr. WILSON. And whole pages of interviews with my clients have 
been quoted verbatim, and the staff denies, and I believe them that 
they have been the sources of that. 

Now, if I can say to Mr. Buzhardt that we would have an executive 
session with the seven responsible 'Senators of this committee, and we 
would have a meeting with no one else, and we would have an absolute 
assurance from all seven of you that the words we give you will not go 
out of the-away from the seven of you-I will go back to Mr. Buz
hardt and seek to get this opened up. 

Senator BAKER. Do vou have this information vourself ~ 
Mr. WILSON. No; I do not, sir. ~ 
Senator BAKER. Does Mr. Buzhardt have it~ 
Mr. WILSON. I don't know. I assume he has because he has spoken 

about it. I said to you earlier, I want to be very careful about it. I 
do not know what this 1971 investigation is about. I take him Hterally 
from his own document. I haven't sought to find out but I certainly 
will go back, if the chairman and the six other members of this com
mittee will ~ve me their own assurance that we can meet with you 
in camera, and what we tell you will go no further, I will recom
mend to Mr. Buzhardt that we be permitted to do so. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Wilson, for mv part I intend to take under 
..idvisement the whole thing and I will make an independent judg
ment on how I will proceed taking fully into account your very i?en
erous suggestion. But I want to conclude just by saying this: 
Obviously, the point we have been discussing is not the whole Water
~ate situation. Obviouslv. it has nothing to do or very likely has 
nothing to do with the Watervate brenk-in. It probnblv doesn't have 
anything to do with a lot of things and a lot of them have been truly 
shocking, at ]east to the view of manv people. 

But it mav or may not have something to do with a material allega
tion of the President in his Mav 22 statement. If there is informa
tion available that validates it, it is important to know. If there is in
formation which tends to discredit it, we sure need to know that, and I 
re!'1erve t.he right to nnrsne thnt further. Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. WILSON. I will not make any inquiry of Mr. Buzhardt until I 
hear from vou, sir. 

Senator BAKER. Thank vou, sir. 
Senator ERVTN. Well the next Senator. I believe will be Senator 

Talmadge, and there is a vote on now and I think we might as well 
go and vote. 

rRecess.l 
Senator ERVIN. The committee will come to order. 
Senator Talmadge · is recognized. 
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Senator TALMADGE. Mr. Ehrlichman-we will wait until your coun-
sel arrives. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you Senator. 
Senator TALMADGE. Mr. Ehrlichman--
Mr. WILSON. Thank you, Senaitor Talmadge, excuse me for being 

late. 
Senator TALMADGE. Mr. Ehrlichman, Lt. Gen. Walters, then Deputy 

Director of the Central Intelligence Agency, stated that he met with 
Mr. Gray on July 6, 1972. Mr. Gray was then Director of the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation. According to Mr. Walters, Gray told him 
that he had told you that he could not possibly get the FBI to suppress 
the investigation and that he told you he would prefer to resign, is 
that true? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not recall any conversation with Mr. Gray 
in which he threatened to resign or st·ated that he would resign, 
Senator. I had had several conversations with Mr. Gray between the 
vYatergate break-in and that date. The principal subject of those con
versations, as !I recall, was the continuing problem of leaks in the 
FBI but there were also conversations relating to the scope of the 
investigation. He had had a conversation, as I recall, with General 
Walters prior to that date, and I believe it was on that date that the 
President instructed Director Grav to go forward with full speed on 
_the FBI investigation without any limitation. 

Could I just check my calendar very quickly and see? 
Senator TALMADGE. Certainly. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. ·which date was that? Well, it was on the 6th 

of July that Mr. Gray had the definitive conversation with the Presi
dent on the telephone, in which the President instructed him to go 
forward without limitation on the investigation. 

Senator TALMADGE. I was not ·asking you what the .President told 
him. I was asking what you told him. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understand. I certainly had no occasion to tell 
Mr. Gray to the contrary on that date, nor--

Senator TALMADGE. Did you ever at any time ·rupproach Mr. Gray 
with an idea of getting the FBI to suppress the investigation? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. You did noH 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. Mr. Gray will be a witness before this committee 

at a later date. In order to refresh vour memory, I want to read a 
memorandum that was sent to the Appropriations Committee from 
the Deputv Director of the Central Intelligence Agency. This memo 
is dated July 6, 1972, and I am quoting now, Lt. Gen. Vernon G. 
,valters-and I quote: 

"He said," and he refers to Mr. Gray, "That he fully understood 
this. He himself had told Ehrlichman and Haldeman that he could 
not possibly suppress the investigation of this matter." 

Do vou think General Walters is an honora:ble man, do you not? 
Mr .. EHRLICHMAN. I know General Walters and I believe him to be 

such. If I can comment on that-
Senator TALMADGE. There is another one and then I will ask you 

to comment on both statements. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you. 
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Senator TALMADGE. The same memo still referring to Mr. Gray: 
Gray thanked me for my frankness and said this opened the way for fruitful 

cooperation between us. He would be frank with me, too. He could not suppress 
this investigation with the FBI. He had told Kleindienst this, he had told Ehrlich
man and Haldeman that he would prefer to resign. 

Would you comment on that 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Yes, sir, I wonder if I might see a copy of that, 

if you have no objection. 
Senator TALMADGE. Certainly. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And the reason that I would like to see it is that 

I do not believe, if that is General Walters' memo or memorandum of 
conversation that there is anything in it which asserts that I ever 
asked Mr. Gray to suppress the investigation. 

Senator TALMADGE. I wondered why he would volunteer mentioning 
the fact that he had told you if you had not asked him. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. For the simple reason that following our meeting 
with Director Helms and General Walters on the 23d of June he haa 
a series of conversations with General Walters, and the subject of 
those conversations, as I understand it, was a question of whether or 
not the FBI could press forward with its investigation, particularly 
of the Mexican money without compromising some CIA operation, 
and Mr. Gray informed me, as he informed the President, that he could 
not possibly conduct his Watergate investigation without looking into 
that aspect of it. 

- Senator TALMADGE. You stated also, I believe, that Mr. Gray had a 
conversation with the President on that same date, the 6th day of July, 
dicl _you not 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. Isn't it a fact that at that time Mr. Gray told 

the President of the United States that "Persons close to him were 
going to wound him." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I, of course, did not overhear the conversation. 
Senator TALMADGE. You know that to be a fact, do you not 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. My report on the-conversation of that came from 

the President. He recounted to me what I know about the conversation 
and that certainly was not a part of it. 

The President expressed the view to me, shortly after that telephone 
call. 

Senator TALMADGE. I think Mr. Gray is goinp: to testify to that at a 
later date, and if Mr., Gray swore under oath before this committee 
that he told the ,President that, would you state that Mr. Gray was 
lying! 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I say, I didn't hear the conversation, Sena
tor, and I don't know what the conversation was, whether that was in 
there or not. Nor do I know to whom he was referring. But the point 
that the President made to me on the 6th of July on that subject was 
that he had grave concern about whether or not the CIA had made the 
proper jud~ent in telling Mr. Grav that they would not in any way 
have this operation compromised bv :a full FBI investigation, but 
since they had done so, then the FBI should go ahead and the chips 
should fall where they may. 

Now I cited to Senator Baker a few minutes ago a communication 
from the CIA to the FBI bearing that same date, and I hope you will 
have an opportunity to read that and to see-
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Senator TALMADGE. I don't want you to get into any area of national 
security that might compromise this country in any way whatever. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. Well, I simply--
Senator TALMADGJ\l. Nor does this committee want it, certainly not 

in public session. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see no reason why we need to discuss the con

tents at all but I would just like to call at the point in the record to 
call the attention of the members of the committee to that letter. 

Senator TALMADGE. That letter as I understand it, relates to a wholly 
different matter. What General Walters was talking about was the 
vVatergate burglary as I understand it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No~ sir. As a matter of fact, the final two or 
three paragraphs relate to this very subject maitter and it's im
portant, I think to note several things in there : The first is the date 
that the CIA finally determined whether or not there would be CIA 
exposure from an FBI investigation, and the date that they sent that 
information to the FBI, and some of the other circumstances which 
would put a reasonable man on inquiry as to whether or not there 
might be CIA involvement not only in some of the peripheral things 
but in the break-in itself. 

Senator TALMADGE. In order that this record might be complete, 
Mr. Chairman, I would ask at this point that this memorandum from 
Lt. Gen. Walters, dated July 6, I believe, be inserted in full in the 
record at this point. · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Could I ask, Senator, as a matter of personal 
privilege, perhaps, that instead of a mere excerpt being included that 
the full statement be included. Thank you very much. 

Senator TAt.MADGE. The full statement. 
Any objection, Mr. Chairman? 
Senator ERVIN. None whatsoever. 
Senator TALMADGR. I thank the Chair. 
Senator ERVIN. The exhibit will be received as such and an ap

propriate number will be given. 
fThe doc11ment referred to was marked exhibit No. 97.*l 
Senator TALMADGE. The White House through Mr. Buzhardt has 

sent this committee a memorandum on the substance of Mr. Dean's 
conversations. nhone calls with the President. It also states that on 
March 30. 1973, the President directed you to investigate the whole 
affair. Is that correct? ' 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well. I don't know if investigation would be 
the proper word. He asked me to be in a position to advise him on 
the law involved and as many of the facts as I will be able to adduce 
quickly. · 

Senator TALMADGE. I will read the White House statement of March 
30: "After it became obvious that Dean would write no report, the 
President directed Ehrlichman to investigate." 

Is that a fair statement? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I have tried to avoid the word "investiga

tion" as to what I did, because I simnlv did not have either the time 
or the facility to conduct what I would call an investigation in a full 
sense. 

Senator TALMADGE. Then the answer is you did not investigate. 

*See p. 2913. 
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Mr. EHRLIOHMAN, I conducted an inquiry, I talked to a number of 
people who had knowledge of the matter. I formed a hypothesis but I 
by no means formed what I would call hard evidentiary conclusions. 

Senator TALMADGE, Did you report to the President~ 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. When¥ 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. On the-excuse me----on the morning of April 14. 
Senator TALMADGE. What did you tell him¥ 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I told him substantially what these various people 

had told me more in a narrative form. I told him that I felt that the 
matter was coming to a head through the fact that both the prosecutor 
and the Assistant Attorney General were making progress in the case, 
and that it looked to me like a serious involvement of Mr. Dean and 
other White House people in this matter. -

Senator TALMADGE, Now, let's move to another point. 
A White House member also on the meeting between John Dean and 

the President on Maroh 21, 1973, says that Dean told the President, 
and I quote: 

Dean still said no prior June 17 White House knowledge, that l\fagruder prob
ably knew, that Mitchell possibly knew, that Strachan probably knew, that 
Haldeman had possibly seen the prints of the wiretaps through Strachan, that 
Ehrlichman was vulnerable :because of his approval of Kalmbach's fundraising 
efforts. · 

So even though the White House memo mentions you as probably 
being involved or implicated in this affair, and that information was 
received on March 21, 1973, isn't it rather strange that you, 9 days 
later, would be appointed to investigate yourself~ 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. It depends, I think, Senator, on what Mr. Dean 
actually told the President. If he told the President what he told me 
about that contention, I don't think it would be a]tog-ether strange be
cause what he told me was that Mr. Haldeman and I were not indict
able hut that each of us had apparent involvement, my apparent 
involvement being the fact that he had come to me for an OK to have 
Mr. Kalmbach recruited to raise this money. 

Now, he said that is not a serious problem except that it looks bad. 
He said at that time, and this was right about March 21 or some ~place 
in that area, to me that thi~ did not constitute an indictable or criminal 
offense. 

Now, if he told the President the same thing, then I guess it is-
Senator TALMADGE. That is what Dean told you, you don't know 

what he told the ·President. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. No, I do hot. 
Senator TALMADGE. Now, to move on to another matter, you taped 

a conversation with Mr. Kleindienst on March 28, 1973. 
Did you tell Mr. Kleindienst that you were doing so, 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. During this conversation did Mr. Kleindienst 

say, "Sirica is really lousing things up." 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As I recall from looking at that transcript, yes, 

sir. he did. 
Senator TALMADGE. What did he mean by that statement? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I would have to iook at the whole, at the 

whole transcript in order to get the sense of it. This was a call in which 
I had a list of questions that I was to ask Mr. Kleindienst, that I had 
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taken from the President, ·and I have forgotten how we got into 
the--

Senator TALMADGE. Sirica is the U.S. district judge trying these 
Watergate cases, is he not i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. What page is that on-oh, here it is, 
I find it. I asked what the progress of the-in effect the status of 
the-judicial process was at that point in time, which is one of the 
things that I wa,s requested to ask, and the question was "What prog
ress are they making right now j Have you had a reading on id" 

And then he said, "Because of the judge's sentencing procedures 
that that process had been delayed." · 

And then he made the comment that you quoted and then he went 
on this same paragraph and said that he would check on the status 
and give me the answer to the question that I was directed to ask him 
as soon as he found out. But that was an attempt to bring the Presi
dent up to date, the President had asked me to impart to him a number 
of specific Questions about whether or not the Department of Justice 
had anv information about the involvement of certain people at the 
White House, certain people at the Committee for the Re-Election, 
and he said that I was to tell the Attorney General that the President 
wanted to hear direct from him and not through any staff people, if 
such information existed or came to the Attorney General's hand. 
The Attorney General said he did not have any such information, that 
the evaluation of his office was that Mr. McCord's letter to Judge 
Sirica was hearsay ·and not entitled to great weight, and that he was 
not POssessed of any personal knowledge of any involvement of any
one in the White House or of Mr. Mitchell, who was one of those that 
I specifically asked about. 

Senator TALMADGE. Were you informed on March 21 of this year 
as to the substance <>f the Dean-President Nixon conversation of that 
day~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator TALMADGE. The White House memo on that meeting states, 

and I quote: 
Dater that afternoon it was tentatively decided that everyone would go to 

the grand jury. However, Dean wanted immunity, Haldeman suggested that they 
write the whole thing out, release it from the White House. Ehrlichman sald 
there should be no executive privilege claim and that no one should ask for 
immunity. The President told them to discuss these matters with Mitchell. 

Do you still say that the President had no knowledge on March 21 ~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I thought your question was whether I had 

knowledge of the content of the President's meeting with John Dean 
which they held between themselves. I was not at their meeting. 

Now, this is another meeting, sir, which was later in the day, as 
I understand it, at which the discussion was not as to who was involved. 

Senator TALMADGE. Did you have knowledge~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Of the contents of the President's meeting with 

John Dean~ 
Senator TALMADGE. Of your conversation with Dean and of the 

President's knowledge. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I had-I am sorry, Senator, I am not sure 

I understand your question. . 
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Senator TALMAOOE. Were you not in the meeting, the conversation 
that took place in this White House memo on the afternoon.of the · 
21st day of March~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I was in a meeting with the President, and Mr. 
Haldeman and Mr. Dean late in the afternoon of the 21st. My under
standing is that the President had had a private meeting with Mr. 
Dean that morning, which is the meeting that you previously referred 
to where Mr. Dean is supposed to have told him all these things. 

Senator TALMADGE. Were you not in the meeting with Dean when 
he said that you were indictable~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. You were not? 
You still say that you had no knowledge or the President had no 

knowledge of what Dean was talking about¥ . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I do not know. Now, the President did 

not tell me what the contents of his meeting with Mr. Dean on the 
21st was. 

Senator TALMADGE. What I cannot understand is how you can con· 
tribute to the conversation of that date if you had no knowledge as 
t-0 what had transpired ·prior thereto. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the conversation that I engaged in late in 
the afternoon of that day, which included Mr. Dean and Mr. Halde
man ,and the President, related to the White House response to this 
committee's inquiry and to the grand jury inquiry, ·and the question 
of executive privilege, and whether it should be. invoked and as to 
what subject, and the question· of attorney-client privilege, and the 
question of immunity. Now, those were general subjects. They did not 
relate to the implication or the culpability of individuals. . 

Senator TALMADGE. In your ~O-minute interview over television, as 
I recall, you stated that taped conversations or where you thought 
there would be information or facts that "'l would have to impart 
accurately and faithfully to the President or someone else." Is that a 
correct statement~ · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was my general purpose in turning on my 
dictating machine and recording telephone conversations. 

Senator TALMADGE. Did you relate the facts of these taped conversa-
. tions to the President, 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not in every ease, no, Senator. 
Senator TALMADGE. To anyone else? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator TALMADGE. Mr. Ehrlichman, I have listened to you testify 

now for 2 davs and 1I judge vou to be a highlv intelligent. extremely 
articulate, faithful servant of the President of the United States, and 
.I do not believe all this could take place in the White House without 
you knowing about it. Why did you not report it to the President of the 
United States? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, now, you sav all this, Senator. We had on 
the one hand a very full scale investiP,;ation. On four separate occasions 
I was present when the Attorney General of the United Stntes said, 
either to me or to the President directly, that the fruits of that very, 
very vigorous investigation satisfied him: that the only people indict
able were the seven individuals who had beeri indicted. On repeated 
occasions, and this telephone call which we have just read little bits of, 
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on March 28, 1973, was .typical of the President's continual questing 
for additional information. Here he is on March 28 saying to the At
torney General, "Do you have anything more to give me over at the 
Department of Justice on this i 1\'hat about this McCord letter? Do 
you have anything to tell me about John Mitchell? If you do, call me 
direct. Don't work through some staff person that is liable to keep it 
away from me." 

1Senator T ALl\UDGE. Let me ask you this : Do you mean to tell me that 
you, as one of the highest officials in the land, sat there in the "White 
House after authorizing the sum of $350,000 to pay for lawyers' fees, 
bail bond, and everything else on this coverup, supremely ignorant that 
you were obstructing justice? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had nothing whatever to do with the $350,000, 
Senator. I did not know the $350,000 existed. 

Senator TALMADGE. I think the record authorizes you paid it, author
ized the ,payment. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. If the record says that the record is wrong 
because, Senator, it was not until well into the month of March of 
this year that I had even heard a:bout the $350,000 fund. 

Senator TALMADGE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My time has expired. 
Senator EnvrN. Go ahead and ask him. 
Senator TALMADGE. You had heard. about Mr. Kalmbach, hadn't 

you? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He had nothing to do with the $350,000 funds 

I had heard of. I had heard Mr. Kalmbach raising some money for 
a defense fund back in June and July of the previous year but there 
is no connection between those two. 

Senator TALMADGE. You knew nothing about it? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator TALMADGE. It's hard to believe that a man of your intel

ligence could have been involved in so much complicated complicity 
and knew nothing about it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I beg to differ with you, Senator. This was not 
my beat. This was not my business. I was, as my log will demonstrate 
to you, plenty busy with other things. I had absolutely no occasion 
to worry about political polling or those kinds of things that that 
money was associated with, and I just never heard of it. 

Senator TALMADGE. You didn't operate in a complete vacuum, did 
you? 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I operated in a complete-[laughter ]-I operated 
in a maelstrom of domestic issues. And my life was full of problems 
but it wasn't those_ kinds of problems. I was concerned with legisla
tion, I was concerned with budget, I was concerned with getting mes
sages up here in the Congress on domestic subjects. I was concerned 
about helping the congressional liaison people with congressional 
votes. I was concerned with briefing the press on domestic issues. My 
life was very full for 14, 15, 16 hours a day, Senator, but I certainly 
was not omniscient in the 'White House. I didn't keep track of Mr. 
Dean, I didn't keep track of Mr. Haldeman, I didn't see Mr. Strachan 
for months at a time down there. 

Senator TALMADGE. I might draw a little parallel, Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Every public servant I know has a very busy life. A U.S. Senator, 
compared to the President of the United States, is a relatively minor 
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office, but our office also works 18 hours a day. I have got some very 
loyal, hard-working, dedicated people on my staff but they don't work 
in a vacuum. Every one of them knows what the other one is doing, 
and in our office we don't keep secrets from each other, and when 
something of importance arises that they think I, as a U.S. Senator 
from Georgia, ought to know, they don't conceal it. Theybringittome 
and inform me, and I can act on it intelligently and not in the dark. 

Mr. Chairman, !~yield the floor. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Gurney. · 
Senator GuRNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
On June 19, Mr. Ehrlichman, you had a meeting, I believe, with 

Mr. Colson and Mr. Dean. And there has been testimony here that 
there was some discussion at that meeting about instructions to Mr. 
Hunt to leave the country. Can you shed some light on this 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe I can, Senator. There were two other 
people at that meeting also, Mr. Kehrli, the staff secretary, and Mr. 
Clawson. I think the first time I heard this story about getting Hunt 
out of the country, and I take it that is what you are referring to, 
was sometime this year, either late in March or earlr in April, when 
Mr. Dean in my office told me I had said that. He said very dramati
cally, 

I went to that telephone over there to the corner of your office and I picked 
it up and called somebody and sent Hunt out of the country and you remem
ber that just a half hour later we decided that we shouldn't do that and I went 
back and called it off. 

Senator GURNEY. When did this meeting occur 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Dean is recounting this to me this year. 
Senator GURNEY. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sometime late March, early April, someplace in 

there. I said, "John, I don't think that ever happened. When is that 
supposed to have happened 1" 

He said, "That was at the meeting where we talked about Hunt 
and his plight and his safe and you remember that." 

And I said, "No, sir, I sure don't." 
Now, coming off of that encounter, I thought it was a dead issue 

until after the President had talked with Henry Petersen around 
April 15, someplace in there, and the President then said to me, "The 
prosecutor says vou tried to get Hunt out of the country." 

And I said. "No, sir." 
Now, I called Mr. Kehrli and I called Mr. Clawson and I called 

Mr. Colson, and I said. "What do you remember about this meeting, 
this is supposed to hiwe happened 1" 

Senator GURNEY. This is after you and Dean had your confrontation. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And after l had been informed that he had ap

parently given this storv to the prosecutor. And each of them, Kehrli 
and Clawson said, no. Clawson said first, "What do you want me to 
remember" or something to that effect, and I said, "I want you to 
remember everything that happened four square because this is some
thing I am drawing a plan on." 

And he said, "It didn't happen as far as I can recall." 
But anvway I got to Mr. Colson and he said. "Thitt didn't happen 

in your office. that hitppened in mv office." And he said, "I had a con
versation with ,Tohn Dean about that and I told .Tohn Dean, 'For good-
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ness sakes, if you try to send Hunt out of the country turn it off. 
It is a dumb idea.' And he did." 

Senator GURNEY. How did Colson know that Dean had tried to tell 
Hunt to get out of the country or told him to get out of the country~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because Colson said, 7'He tried to peddle that 
story to me." 

Senator GURNEY. When did he try to peddle that story? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He didn't tell me. But then in checking around a 

bit I discovered that in this time era, Mr. Dean was apparently salting 
the mine a little bit. He was getting around and suggesting events to 
different people. He did the same tliing with Mr. Haldeman, I under
stand, and these--

Senator GURNEY. On the Hunt again? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; this was on something else, and I can't 

remember what it was but I just remember Haldeman saying, "Well, 
that happened, you know he was in here peddling one of these stories 
to me." 

Senator GURNEY. This is all during the period of March and April, 
somewhere in there. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. This was after the Camp David attempt by Mr. 
Dean to oollect his thoughts. 

Senator GURNEY. I see. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And so, anyway, Colson told me this, and that 

concluded the matter as far as I was concerned in corroborating my 
absence of any recollection of such a thing having happened. But 
apparently there was a pattern through those weeks of Dean trying to 
assert these sort of antics to the landmark across the landscape. 

Senator GURNEY. Did you go back to Dean af.ter that and say, "I 
checked this story on you and it never happened. Why are you telling 
me this?" 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; by that time Mr. Dean and I were not com
municating with one another. 

Senator GURNEY. What other things did he try to peddle, to whom? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Other than this particular tale to Mr. Colson and 

me and the one about Mr. Haldeman which I am sorry to say I can't 
recall. The deep-six business of the disposal of the document was also 
given to the prosecutors and came back to me the same way. That he 
did not try to plant on me that I can recall. 

Senator GURNEY. Why would he plant the Hunt story, I mean what 
purpose would that serve? 

Mr. EHRLICHM~N. I confess, I don't know except-well, this is really 
remote, but I do understand that in fact Mr. Dean did make the call to 
hav.e Hunt leave the country, and like some oth~r episode that we dis
cussed the other day he has tried apparently to tie events of that kind 
to someone else's authority. 

Now, I don't know the date of the actual call but I have heard and, 
as I say this is really secondhand, that Hunt got such a call, either got 
it from Dean or on Dean's say-so and it's a little bit like the McCord
Caulfield situation, he is tying it back to me. 

Senator GURNEY. As far as you are concerned you never gave him 
that instruction? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Correct. 
Senator GURNEY. At this June 19 meeting or any other meeting? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. 
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Senator GURNEY. On the phone or any other way¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. 
Senator GURNEY. There has been a controversy and certainly a 

question in my own mind about the so-called investigation that may 
have been done or might not have been done around June and July 
into the Watergate affair. Of course we first heard about it, I guess 
· from the President's press statement in August. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator GURNEY. In which he said that the White House investi

gation has been conducted bv John Dean and everybody is clean in 
the White House and the White House has had nothing to do with 
Watergate. 

What do you know about that 9 Can you give the committee any 
information on that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well--
Senator GURNEY. Did Dean ever conduct an investigation¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe he did, Senator, and--
Senator GURNEY. By the way, who prepared that statement for the 

President, where did he get that information¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. For the press conference¥ 
Senator GURNEY. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He got it from me and he got it from Ron 

Ziegler but primarily from me. 
Senator GURNEY; All right, go on. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. During the months of June and .July as I 'testi

fied before, John Dean had really two basic responsibilities; one was 
to determine whether there was anv White House involvement in this 
break-in, and the other one was to'keep us informed of developments 
as they occurred. 

Senator GURNEY. Well now, who gave him those instructions? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I ·am sure that I gave him the latter instructions 

the first day. 
Senator GURNEY. To keep you advised¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. To keep me advised because it was a breaking 

campaign issue and I felt that both Ron Ziegler and I needed to have 
that information. As far ·as the former is concerned, looking out for 
White House wrongdoing, that is the inherent and long-established 
duty of the counsel to the President, and he had been performing that 
function in other settings and contexts since the time he first came 
there, and as a matter of fact, it's interesting that in your exhibit that 
he wrote at Camp David he says, "When I first heard about this out 
in San Francisco as I was flying in I knew that I was going to have 
to get into this right away" and then he goes on in that.exhibit to say, 
"I set about to contact everybody that I thought might have any 
knowledge about this thing and I had personal interviews with a 
number of people and here are my findings" and then he starts out 
and he lists what he finds from his interviews about different people 
in the White House that he thought might have some connection with 
this, me, and Colson, and ·a whole lot of people. 

Senator GURNEY. Are you talking ,about his statement? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am talking about his. 
Senator. GURNEY. He gave to us¥ 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, no; I am talking about the work product of 
his 6 days at Camp David which is, I believe, is exhibit No. 39, my 
numbering may be wrong. 

Senator GURNEY. I see. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Is that correct, Mr. Dash? 
Senator GuRNEY. I understand. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have an index of your--
Senator GURNEY. I thought you were talking about his statement 

that he read to the committee? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Mr. DASH. You are right, it is 39. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, exhibit No. 39. I am talking about a docu

ment which the President asked him to prepare. 
Senator GURNEY. I understand. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And this all comes, of course, from these con

versations that we have been referring to over here on the 21st of 
March where he comes in and he says whatever he said to the 
President. 

Senator GURNEY. Yes; but let's get back to this Dean investigation 
and report. 

Mr. EHRL!CHMAN. Right. 
Senator GURNEY. During those months of June and July because 

that is pretty significant. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right. 
The key date in all of that, in my opinion, is-well there are two 

key dates. The first one is July 31 and that is the date of a meeting 
that I had with Attorney General Kleindienst and Mr. Dean. And 
at that time the report to me from both of them was that there was 
no White House involvement in the planning or the discussion of the 
break-in, which is really the question that we are talking about there. 

Then the Department of Justice investigation is finished the second 
week in September, and the Attorney General makes report to the 
President and the Vice President and the Cabinet in which he reit
erates this, and then into the-of course that-pardon me, that post
dates the President's statement 0£ August 29, into the August 29 period. 
I am talking to Dean, Ron Ziegler is talking to Dean, and we are con
tinuallv updating the things that Ron Ziegler is saying to the press 
about White House involvement. 

Senator GURNEY. Now, this is almost on a daily basis that you are 
talking? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. On almost a regular basis, one thing we were 
scrupulous about was never to have Ron Ziegler go out and say 
something that was erroneous. [Laughter.] 

We had to rely on somebody £or authentication, and the man we 
were relying on was the man who was in the cockpit of this thing 
from those two standpoints, both White House wrongdoing and infor
mation, and so we were checking independently and we were checking 
collectively on this right straight through, and I think Mr. Ziegler 
would tell you, as I must tell you, that we were getting nothing but 
reassurances all through this period of time from Mr. Dean corrobo
rated by the very, I think, sincere and genuine opinions 0£ the Attorney 
General with regard to that question, all the way through this period 
of time. 
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Senator GURNEY. Now, at the beginning of this investigation, back 
there, I suppose it must have started a few days after the break-in in 
June, did anybody get John Dean in and sit him down, the President 
of the United States and say, "John, I want you to conduct an investi
gation and find out if any White House people are involved," or did 
you get him in and do the same thing? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The first day, Monday, at noon, John Dean aJ:!d 
I sat down and we talked about our need for information, and we 
talked ·about substantially in the terms that I have given you here, but 
I think you have to understand in our staff system that for me to say 
"Now, John, I want you to go and find out if anybody in the White 
House was involved in this," was really superfluous because he is the 
man, and he is a self-starter in that regard, and it is, just no question 
about it, having been in that job I was doing that kind of thing. As 
tips would come in during my tenure as counsel, I would follow them 
up, and find out if there was a conflict of interest, if somebody on the 
White House staff was potentially involved in a crime or a tax fraud 
or something of that kind, and try to root him out of there before we 
had a problem and we did that and we got him out. For me to have 
said, "Now, John, this is something new and I want you to find out 
if anybody in the White House is involved," would have been to insult 
his intelligence and to just simply restate what everybody assumed 
he was doing. 

Senator GURNEY. Well, all right. We will assume that was being 
done and you knew about it and he knew what his job was. How about 
the President, did he know Dean was doing this, too? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator GURNEY. How did he know? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He knew because I was telling him and as Dean 

was feeding me information and progress reports on the case I was 
passing those along to the President and I am sure Bob Haldeman 
was, too. 

Senator GURNEY. How did Dean make his progress reports to you? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mostly on the telephone, but also in person. 
Senator GURNEY. And almost daily, is that right? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not necessarily, but as something would occur, 

and particularly where something was about to break, he had extraor
dinarily good sources of information, obviously, in the prosecutor's 
office or the U.S. Assistant Attornev General's office or somewhere, so 
that we had anywhere from 24 to 36, 48 hours lead on some of these 
things before they became newspaper stories. 

Senator GURNEY. Some of this, as you know, particularly as it 
came out in the Gray confirmation hearings, and two of the commit
tee members sat on those hearings, the chairman and myself, were 
very disturbed, I think every member of the committee was-,Tudi
ciary Committee I am talking about-when we found out that two 
whole logs of raw FBI 302's ended up in the White House, in John 
Dean's hands ·and then we also found out later that other people 
apparently looked at them, too. This is a highly unusual procedure. 
Did you know that was going on? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I am not aware that it is unusual, and 
for this reason. When I was counsel we had situations that came up 
where an individual was charged with wrongdoing or something of 
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that kind, and I had to try to make a recommendation to the Presi
dent. I can recall vividly one case where an individual that he pro
posed to appoint had an ex-wife who really unloaded on the FBI 
what amounted to really sensational slander, and it took the FBI lit
erally weeks to unweave this story and finally clear this man of these 
charges. 

Now, during that time, rather than to rely on an FBI summary, I 
insisted on seemg the interview data because this was a serious matter 
for this man, his reputation and his relationship to the President. 

To my knowledge, the counsel to the President has had access to 
these 302's, as they are called, and I think properly so, if they are 
properly used. 

Now, I do not know about the circumstances of their being shown 
to anyone else. I do not think that that is necessary or indicated in the 
proper function of the counsel's office. 

Senator GURNEY. Does counsel have access to them directly, through 
those who have custody or does he through the Attorney General~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I am not famili,ar with how Mr. Dean got or 
used them. But in my experience when I was--

Senator GURNEY. Let me tell you, he bypassed the Attorney General 
as nearly as I can determine the testimony, and went directly to some-
one else in the Justice Department. · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not think that would be unusual. I think that 
would be a matter of fairly common practice, at least it was when I was 
counsel. My contact on something of that kind~well, I cannot say. It 
would ordinarily have run through Bud Krogh, who was my assistant 
at that time to someone at the Justice Department but I rather doubt 
that it would be the Attorney General personally. 

Senator GURNEY. Because these 302 forms involved people other 
than those in the White House, as I understand it, I guess they in
volved people in the Committee To Re-Elect the President, too. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, my-I cannot testify to what Mr. Dean got 
or what he used. My impression was that he was drawing on FBI 
reports as a p:art of his investigation process and more than that, he 
was sitting in on the interviews that the FBI agents were conducting 
with the White House people, and he did that with the knowledge and 
consent of all of us, with the expectation that he would be picking up 
impressions and information during that process that would enable 
him to carry out his function of determining whether there was any 
White House wrongdoing. . 

Senator GURNEY. Well now, he conducted this investigation through 
,Tune and ,Tulv, and was there a time when he came to you and said, 
"Now, I have finished this job and here are my results"? 

Mr. EIIRLICHMAN. Well, I considered that .Tuly 31 meeting a point 
of virtual finalitv with regard to that inquiry. I came out of that 
.Tuly 31 meeting feeling that I had the straight word on White House 
involvement, and-- · 

Senator GURNEY. How many people did he interview in the White 
Honse in this investigation of his? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I haven't anv idea but I would judge
Senator GURNEY. He was reporting to you? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I don't think he reported to me in numeri

cal terms as to the number of people he interviewed or the number of 
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FBI reports that he saw. The field of inquiry was relatively nar
row. It was obvious that the people in the mailroom, and the people 
in the congressional liaison section and so on were not the subject of 
his inquiry. He was looking primarily at a few political operators in 
the White House, plus a few other people around the periphery, and 
he satisfied himself, apparently, ostensibly of the noninvolvement of 
those people, and that was the essence of his report in specific terms as 
to specific people. 

Senator GURNEY. Then did you go to the President somewhere 
around this time~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, I did. 
Senator GURNEY. When was that~ . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, that would have been very shortly after 

Ju!y 31. 
Senator GURNEY. What did you say~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, I said that I had had this meeting and I gave 

the President the substance of the meeting. 
Senator GURNEY. And that is based upon-that is when the Presi

dent decidedto issue his August 29 statement. 
Mr. EnRLICHMAN. I don't believe so. I think that came considerably 

later and there is another not too long story of events that goes in 
between there that explains how that came about. 

Senator GURNEY. What were those i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Well, that has to do with my strong feeling com, 

ing out of the July 31 meeting that the Watergate was a political lia
bility that ought to be shed, that we ought to get rid of it as a political 
issue, and the only way to do that was to make a clean breast of it. 

Now, we had a foundation, we had an anchor stone in the sense that 
nobody in the White House was involved so it didn't come directly to 
the candidate, to the President, and if, indeed, there were people in 
the Committee To Re-Elect who were involved then that was a man
ageable political liability, and this was at the time when the opposi
tion had nominated their candidate, he didn't appear to be as formid
able as he might have been. He was having his own vicissitudes at that 
time. We were going into our convention period very strong, and it 
looked to me like we could take the shock, if there was indeed a shock, 
from a disclosure of somebody at the Committee To Re-Elect being 
involved, and that that would be an acceptable, that would be an ac
ceptable political minus, so to speak. 

So I began to advance the thou!!ht that we might make a very com
prehensive statement on this subject. 

Senator GURNEY. Whim did vou ndvance this thought j 
Mr. EnRLICHMAN. Well, it would have been starting in the early 

,Tuly davs, and llp until the time I ]eft to go to the convention about 
the middle of August. 

Senator GURNEY. Let me ask iust one other ouestion here: Whv did 
,John Mitchell resign j Did you have any part in the negotiation that 
went on at that time i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. I can't honestlv answer that ouestion. I 
do not know. I believe what I heard about that and what I was told, 
which was that it was for family reasons. · 

Senator GURNF.Y. Well. here is a man who is going on full charge 
running a campaimi and then this burglarv takes.nlace and a few days 
later resignation, didn't that arouse your curiosity? · 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, out of fairness to him there were other 
things going on at the same time. He was having a very tough family 
situation, I know at that time, and it was-

Senator GURNEY. I don't want to get into that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN.·No, it was tearing him up, and I know it so it was 

not a thing that really made ·me skeptical because I knew how it was 
eating him up, and so he is not an individual who shows it a great deal 
but you could tell. So, it did not surprise me and the reason that was 
stated was credible to me, knowing what I knew about that situation. 

Senator GURNEY.Was there any skuttlebutt around the White House 
around about that time that the resignation was to get rid of a liability 
to the campaign? 

Mr. EHRLICH~IAN. No, at least none that I-
Senator GURNEY. Never discussed this with anybody? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. None that I gave any credence to at the time. 
Senator GURNEY. Well, what was there that you didn't give any 

credence to? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I say, if there was any I gave it not credence 

at the time. I can't recall any frankly. I accepted as legitimate the 
statement that was made that he was resigning for :family reasons. 

Senator GURNEY. I see. I think my time has expired, Mr. Chairman. 
so I will yield. 

Senator ERVIN. Senator Inouye. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, I am not quite finished with this 

effort to get the story out. . 
Senator GURNEY. That is right. We did leave that. May I indulge the 

committee just a few minutes more to finish that. 
,Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because it does explain why the President made 

the statement on August 29 and I think we are sort of on one-leg and 
not the other. 

At the time that I left to go to Florida for the platform committee 
deliberations a week or 10 davs before the convention, I had laid out 
for mv colleagues, who were those interested in the camnaign, my pro
posal that on the day that the President was in Hawaii meetinir with 
Prime Minister Tanaka would be an ideal dav for Clark MacGregor 
to step out as the new campaign manager and lay this all out and say 
whatever it was that could be discovered. · 

By independent investigation, by a firm of outside attorneys or 
investigators, or however it had to be done, and then sav, "This·is the 
whole storv," and match that with a White House statement based on 
what I had learned at the end o:f ,July, that there was no one in the 
White House involved, and then move on. The President being in
volved in a foreign policy negotiation, removed from the continental 
United States seemed to me just a natural match. 

Senator GURNEY. And vou proposed this to someone? 
. ¥r, EHRLICHMAN. I did propose it. I discovered it was not accepted, 
it m fact was strongly obiected to by others who were much more 
closely tied in to the campai!!Il strategy· on the grounds-

Senator GURNEY. Who did you propose it to? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, we had this Monday-Thursday group that 

met reITT1larly that consisted of Mr. MacGre~or, Mitchell, Harlow, 
and Colson and I breached it to that group because it included vir-
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tually the management elements of the campaign and then, as I say, I 
left earlier than the others about a week or 10 days to go and look 
after the platform. 

My belief, and I am only stating my belief, my assumption is that 
prior to the commencement of the convention that idea was set aside 
as a poor idea because the ,v atergate was not our issue. It was their 
issue, and one did not talk about their issue. One only talked about 
our issues, and that we would be prejudicing the rights of individuals 
who might be involved, and we could not do that, and there were other 
reasons of that kind that were apparently advanced in discussion, and 
it simply didn't ever get off the ground. . 

Well, I didn't forget the idea. After our convention, when the Pres
ident went to California, it seemed to me still very legitimate for us 
to make very clear the fact that the White House was not involved, 
even if we could not take the other leg of the argument and say that 
the Committee To Re-Elect had had a similar investigation itself. So 
I discussed this with the President. He agreed that this would be a 
very good thing. He questioned me closely on how certain he could 
be of the soundness of that assertion and I told him what I knew dating 
from July 31 through any subsequent events, and I vouched to him 
that everything that had been reported to me corroborated that what 
he was about to say if he were asked at this press conference, and so 
on August 29 he went out and spoke as to the White House only with 
regard to this. 

Now, by way of some corroboration, if it is needed on the matter 
of the Committee To Re-Elect side, Mr. Dean, in fact, wrote up a 
few pages of what Clark MacGregor might say if he did go out and 
have a press conference on this subject. Either on the date I suggested 
or some other date, and Mr. MacGregor, I think, does remember hav
ing received that memo, it was his opinion that it was very bland, 
innocuous, and did not make a case convincingly. Mr. MacGregor had 
conducted his own inquiry at the committee and had interviewed 
everybody in the hierarchy over there, and had more or less satisfied 
himself, but he did not feel he was in a position to personally vouch. 

Senator GURNEY. Just one question there. At that time, of course, 
you knew that Mr. Dean and Mr. Kalmbach were engaged in raising 
money to pay these defendants, and we will use their version, for legal 
fees and :f:amily supPOrt. Now, there was certainly some White House 
involvement in this business whether it was legal or illegal, it was 
White House involvement. Did vou ever tell the President about that 9 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know that I ever did, Senator, and I 
think the inquiry here-and I do not think this is an artificial dis
tinction-that the whole focus here at this time was on how this thing 
happened, and we were talking about this thing being the break-in. 
I do not think that there was anybody who really felt that there was, 
at least I did not feel that there was 'any kind of a coverup going on 
at that time. I did not-it just did not dawn on me and I considered 
what Mr. Kalmbach was doing perfectly proper. But the President 
spoke to the Question, "How did this break-in occud" And he said, 
"Nobody in the White House had anything to do with the planning 
or discussion of this break-in," which was the subject that everybody 
was focusing on at that point in time and in which Mr. Dean's investi
gation went to. 
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Senator GURNEY. Well, thank you, Mr. Ehrlichman. That is all, 
Mr. Chairman. 

Senator ERVIN. Senator Inouye. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much, sir. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, in a question propounded by Senator Talmadge 

you responded that during the early days of April of this year you 
began ·an inquiry to determine whether White House staff people 
were involved in the Watergate coverup. That is correct, is it noti 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I do not think the inquiry was quite that, 
Senator, but I did commence an inquiry, yes, sir. 

Senator INOUYE. Will you name those people~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. I talked with l\fr. Paul O'Brien, who 

was an attorney for the Committee To Re-Elect. I talked with Mr. 
Kalmbach, I talked with Mr. Dean, I talked with Mr. Colson, I talked 
with Mr. Strachan, I talked with Mr. Mitche11, I talked with ~fr. 
Magruder, I talked once again to Mr. Strachan on a second occasion, 
and these were interviews, personal interviews. 

Senator INOUYE. As a result of these meetings you concluded that 
Mr. Dean and others were involved. I believe this is what you said? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I hypothesized, Senator, I cannot dignify this by 
calling it an investigation in the real sense. I was told enough things 
by these people, some of it hearsay once and twice removed, but with 
a pattern to it that I was able to go to the President and say, "All 
right, here is a sketch, here is a hypothesis of what I think happened 
here and what has been going on." 

Senator INOUYE. What did Mr. O'Brien tell you, sir? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I wonder if I could refer to my notes of 

that conversation so that I--
Senator INOUYE. Will you look up your notes because I would be 

interested in knowing what Mr. Strachan told. you, Mr. Kalmbach, 
Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Dean. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator, I had not noticed it was almost 5 o'clock, 

and I do not imagine--
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Chairman, it might be a good time to recess at 

this time to provide Mr. Ehrlichman time to look over his notes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I might say your staff has had a copy of 

these notes for 2 or 3 months, and I will be referring to the same thing -
that I turned over to the committee. 

Senator 'INOUYE. I just wanted it for the record, sir. 
Senafor ERVIN. We have been here a very long day and it is almost 

5 o'clock, and I am informed we will have a vote right at 5 and I 
believe it would be a good time, since Senator Inouye cannot finish this 
afternoon, we will take a recess. 

The committee will stand in recess until 10 o'clock tomorrow. 
[Whereupon, at 4 :55 p.m., the hearing was recessed, to reconvene at 

10 a.m., Friday, July 27, 1973.] · 
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U.S. SENATE, 
SELECT COMMITTEE ON 

PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES, 
Washington, D.0. 

The Select Committee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 :05 a.m., in 
room 318, Russell Senate Office Building, Senator Sam J. Ervin, Jr. 
(chairman), presiding. · 

Present: Senators Ervin, Talmadge, Inouye, Montoya, Baker, 
Gurney, and Weicker. 

Also present: Samuel Dash, chief counsel and staff director; Fred 
D. Thompson, minority counsel; Rufus L. Edmisten, deputy chief 
counsel; Arthur S. Miller, chief consultant; Jed Johnson, consultant; 
David M. Dorsen, James Hamilton, and Terry F. Lenzner, assistant 
chief counsels; R. Phillip Haire, Marc Lackritz, William T. Mayton, 
Ronald D. Rotunda, and Barry Schochet, assistant majority counsels; 
Eugene Boyce, hearings record counsel; Donald G. Sanders, deputy 
minority counsel; Howard S. Liebengood, H. William Shure, and 
Robert Silverstein, assistant minority counsels; Pauline 0. Dement, 
research assistant; Eiler Ravnholt, office of Senator Inouve; Robert 
Baca, office of Senator Montoya; Ron McMahan, assistant 'to Senator 
Bak,er; A. Searle Field, assistant to Senator Weicker; John Walz, 
publications clerk. 

Senator ERVIN. Senator Inouye, will you resume your examination 
of the witness. 

Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, when we recessed yesterday we were discussing 

your interviews as part of the inquiry made in behalf of the President, 
and in response to one of my questions you indicated that you had dis
cussed or talked with Mr. O'Brien, Mr. Kalmbach, Mr. Dean, Mr. 
Mitchell, and again with Mr. Stra~han, and you have indicated that 
you had maintained interview notes. 

TESTIMONY OF J'OHN EHRLICHMAN-Resumed 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Of 1,ome of those, Senator, and I neglected to 
say I also talked to Mr. Krogh because of something that came up in 
the course of these interviews that I wanted to inquire about, so he 
would be an additional individual that I talked to. 

Senator INOUYE. We have no notes on Mr. Kalmbach, Mr. Dean, Mr. 
Mitchell, and Mr. Strachan. Is there anv reason for this 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You should have. There are notes for Strachan 
and DPan. There are no notes for mv talk with either-for mv talk 
with Mr. Kalmbach. We did turn over to the committee staff the 
transcript o.f mv interview with Mr. MitchPll which is a very, very 
poor one. It 1s not very helpful. It is very sketchy. 

(2729) 
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Senator INOUYE. Mr. Dash, do we have the copies of the Kalmbach, 
Dean, Mitchell, and Strachan-·-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There are no Kalmbach notes, Senator. There are 
Dean and Strachan notes. The notes that I have here are O'Brien, 
Dean, Colson, Magruder, and Strachan. 

Mr. DASH. Senator Inouye, whatever you have, is what we received. 
In other words, that was intact, delivered to us in that form, and we 
have no other notes. 

Senator ERVIN. Let the reporter assign it the appropriate exhibit 
number. · 

[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 98. *] 
Senator INOUYE, Then we have here, Mr. Ehrlichman, one Strachan 

and you had two Strachan meetings. · 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There are only notes for one. 
Senator INOUYE. We have ·a Reisner meeting. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I think that is actually the-that is the Dean 

meeting, J. D. is up in the corner of it. That is the Dean meeting on 
April 13 wt 3 p.m. 

Senator INOUYE, Then, we have an O'Brien meeting. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator INOUYE. And Colson and Shapiro. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator INOUYE. And Magruder. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Correct. That is it. 
Senator INOUYE. We have no Mitchell. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; you have the transcription of two tapes, 

Mitchell and Magruder, that are both very, very hard to read, hard to 
understand because the tapes are hard to understand. You also have 
the tapes themselves, and they are for whatever they are worth. I do 
not think you can make much from them. 

Senator 'INOUYE. I received thes~ notes early this morning, Mr. 
Ehrlichman, and I must confess that I find it very difficult to under
stand wur hieroglyphics here. 

Mr. 'EHRLICHMAN. Sure, right. 
,Senator INOUYE. So, if I may ask you, whenever the initial "H" 

·appears, is that for Mr. Haldeman? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not necessarilv. You would have to take it in the 

context. Senator, that could also be.Hunt in some cases here, although 
I used the double "H" for Hunt on occasion. 

Senator INOUYE. JNM is John Mitchell? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. And JSM is Magruded 
Mr. EHRLICHMA:N". Yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Lor LD or LID is Liddy? . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, LID is certainly Liddy, and I do not re-

call-yes, I have used L ·also for Liddy in the Magruder notes. 
Senator INOUYE. And Kor EK for Krogh? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe so, yes. 
Senator INOUYE. And CC for Colson¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator INOUYE. Now, there is a Greek symbol, the symbol pi, who 

is that? 
•see p. 2915. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is the President. 
Senator INOUYE. That is the President o:f the United States? 

[laughter.] 
If we may, may we begin with your meeting with Mr. O'Brien~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. At San Clemente. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator INOUYE. Please tell us what transpired. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, sir. The circumstances of this meet

ing were that Mr. O'Brien indicated that he had some information 
that he felt the President should have. He called and asked for an 
appointment with Mr. Haldeman. In view of the fact that 4 or 5 
days previously the President had asked me to get into this, he was 
referred to me. We met in my office at San Clemente, and ~e began 
to tell me about what he believed would be Mr. Magruder's tesbmony
oh, inthe upper right corner you will see that he told me that the pur
pose of his being on the coast was to see Herb. Kalmbach in connection 
with some of the civil litigation which Mr. O'Brien was handling for 
the Committee To Re-Elect. 

Senator INOUYE. And this happened on April 5 i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. April 5 at 10 in the morning; yes, sir. 
He said that there had been four meetings which led up to the 

Watergate break-in, and you will see the meetings were referred to 
by numbers with circles around them. We start with No. 1, which is 
actually the fourth one that he described to me, which was a meeting 
between Liddy, Dean, and Mitchell in the Attorney General's office 
in November. He said that Mr. Mitchell--

Senator INOUYE.November of what year, sir? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That would have been 1971. That was a meeting 

which Mr. Mitchell apparently did not recall, which was held for the 
purp0se of Mr. Dean introducing Liddv to Mitchell. 

The second meeting appears in the date notebooks of various parties, 
and that was a meeting between Dean, Liddy, and Magruder for the 
purpose of introducing Liddy to Magruder, and that was held on 
January 27, 1972. 

There was a subsequent meeting on February 4 involving Dean, 
Liddy. Mag-ruder, and Mitchell. He said that the third meeting was 
"canceled," that is to say, the parties agreed that it would he described 
as a meeting that had been canceled, and then he refers later on to 
the construction o-f that story or that version. 

He said that ,Tohn Dean, and hear this in mind now-is hearsay 
twice removed, this is Magruder telling O'Brien, telling me, he said 
that Magruder said that Dean kept Haldeman advised by memo of all 
o-f thesf'. meetings. Actually, there were four meetings, and then he 
starts through again. The first meeting in November which I have 
described, he said there was actually a third meeting which was not 
nny of these that I have heretofore described, where a $1 million budget 
was proposed by Liddv. Everyone at the meeting agreed that that 
budget would not be adopted.· 

Senator INOUYE. Did hf' sav for what reason? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I didn't ask him. I don't believe at that point. 
Senator INOUYE. w· as it because o-f the price tag alone? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know, Senator, from this conversation. 
He didn't say. 

He said that between meetings No. 3 and N Q. 4. Mr. Colson phoned 
twice to Jeb Magruder. 

Now, in parentheses I have only according to Jeb, which indicated 
what Mr. O'Brien told me that this was, the only person he had ever 
heard this from was Magruder urging that this program go forward. 
Now I have the notation "Not price," and I don't know what that 
refers to. That does not jog my recollection at all. 

He said that Liddy had a commitment from Krogh, that Hunt had 
a commitment from Colson, ·and these commitments, I took it, related 
to Executive clemency. That was the context in which that comment 
was made. 

Senator INOUYE. Liddy had a commitment from Krogh~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. -
Senator INOUYE. That he could receive Executive clemency~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was what Mr. O'Brien said that Mr. 

Magruder had told him. 
Senator INOUYE. And Mr. Hunt said that he had a commitment 

from Mr. Chuck Colson 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I am not saying that Hunt said that. Bear 

in mind this is Magruder speaking to O'Brien now. Because of this 
assertion, I did contact Krogh later on to determine when. he had had 
contacts with Liddy and to try to either verify this or set it aside. 

~arenthetically, circumstances indicated that he had had no contact 
either direct or indirect with Liddy and so the-it was not borne out 
by anything that I could find collaterally in the time in which I 
worked. 

He said that. He said at the fourth meeting Dean arrived late, 
Magruder, Dean, Liddy, and Mitchell attended the meeting. There 
was an intelligence budget of $200,000-$250,000. Dean said to Liddy 
that he, Dean, would have nothing further to do with this. I asked 
him about charts and he said the charts did exist, and the reason I 
asked him, of course, is that there was something in the press at this 
time about the existence of a set of charts. He said that the code name 
"Gemstone" was used, that that term was not tmnslated into what 
it really stood for at this meeting. The party, he said, apparently 
didn't know, or that is what Magruder told him. I said, "Was bugging 
involved i" and he said, "Yes, bugging was one of the methods in
volved." It also involved counteractivities at the convention. 

Then--
Senator INou-n:. Do you know what the $1 million budget involved~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He didn't tell me. This characterization at the 

bottom of the first page referred, so far as I can recall, to the $200,000-
$250,000 budget. 

He told me that there was a second intelligence operation at the 
Committee To Re-Elect which was not involved in this series of four 
meetings. This involved a cab driver who volunteered at the Muskie 
headquarters. He had been recruited by a friend of Ken Rietz who 
was a former FBI man in Tennessee, and he went into the Muskie 
headquarters and volunteered and became Sen:ator Muskie's chauffeur 
and a friend of the family, and went to Muskie's house for dinner, and 
soon began carrying ·all of the Senator's mail back and forth. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN; Yes; he photographed all of the mail. 
,Senator INOUYE. "Who is this friend of Ken Rietz~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The FBI man? I don't know. I don't have his 

name but apparently your staff should because when the 'Senate staff 
was looking for someone for this committee staff, he was approached, 
and so it shouldn't be too hard to find out who that was. He declined 
the employment apparently. [Laughter.] 

One of the pieces of mail apparently was printed in Evans and 
Novak and so everybody in the Muskie organization was ques
tioned about rt except the chauffeur, and the chauffeur was a vol_un
teer, he was paid nothing. Eventually he was transferred from Rietz 
to Howard Hunt for purposes of management and reporting. . 

Then I have a notation that Rietz became worried at some pomt 
about cash funds, and I believe that refers back to this business of the 
transfer. In other words, Rietz didn't like what he saw about cash in 
the organization and he wanted out and at that point he discontinued 
any connection with this kind of activity and Howard Hunt took it 
over. 

I have a note Magruder was pushing, and I think what that refers 
to is a statement that Magruder was pushing generally for intelligence 
information. 

He told me that Magruder tiold him that there had been an entry 
into the Democratic headquarters in May and that a bug had been 
planted, that he was satisfied that neither Dean nor Mitchell had 
knowledge of either the May or June break-in but that Mr. Magruder 
did. 

Then he mentioned ,that he had been caught-no, I think this is 
Mr. O'Brien speaking for himself. He was advising caution with 
regard to John Dean's objectivity, in the advice he might be giving 
the President in this matter. 

Senator INOUYE. Who is Hofgren ~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Hofgren is Daniel Hofgren and that name relates 

to the note that I will come to farther down on the page. · 
Mr. O'Brien said that Magruder reaches Sit.rachan, Haldeman, Col

son, and the President in his story. I said, ''How does Magruder reach 
the President?" 

And he said in this circumstance, Magruder fired Gordon Liddy, he 
will say, Gordon Liddy went to Gordon Strachan and Gordon 
Strachan came to Magruder and said, "Move him back," that is, this is 
Strachan talking to Magruder saying, "Move Liddy back. The Presi
dent wants this project to goon." 

I said, "Is there any other way that this reaches the President?" 
And he said, "Not.that I know of." 
Now, he said, "According to Mr. Hofgren, Mr. Magruder's wife was 

indicating to three friends apparently that there was a possibility that 
Mr. Magruder would be indicted and that he was planning to leave the 
Government." 

And that is the reference to Hofgren at the top of the page. 
Now, Mr. O'Brien said that neither Magruder nor Mitchell in his, 

O'Brien's opinion, were inevitably hung in this case by the evidence as 
he understood it at that point. He said, "Frankly, John Dean is the key 
problem." 
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Mr. O'Brien was concerned about the post-Watergate situation and 
about the handling of money and then he began telling me a.bout this 
money situation which concerned him. He told me about Mr. Rivers, 
Mr. Kalmbach's man who delivered $25,000 in cash to Attorney 
Bittman by leaving it in a phone booth, and I said, "What became of 
the money i" 

And he said, "I believe it was deposited to their firm account." He 
said, "There has been obstruction of justice," in his opinion. I asked 
him to define what he meant by that. He said that a defendant in a 
criminal case is also a witness, and the purpose of giving money to 
such a defendant becomes very important. It is OK if one gives them 
attorneys fees and defense funds or possibly even subsistence but not 
consideration to not talk, in other words, the quid pro quo of silence. 

Then he said, "Money flowed to Howard Hunt, in turn to Howard 
Hunt's wife, and then m turn, $19,000 to Mr. McCord, which in turn 
went to McCord's attorney." 

And this was an example that he was citing to me. 
He said, Tuesday of this week, meaning the week of th& 5th, that 

McCord was going to present ,a letter to the court which implicated 
Attorney Parkinson. He quoted McCord as saying this letter is a lie 
but I am going to get these bastards. He felt that having said that to 
the attorneys m the case that that comment was privileged but ap
parently McCord got cold feet. He stood up to deliver the letter against 
Parkinson in court but then he sat down without doing so. 

Then he characterizes Mr. McCord, Mr. O'Brien does, in the adjec
tives that you see there in the exhibit. 

He said later and I don't know what later-I know what later 
refers to, I was interrupted in this meeting, and went out, I believe, 
to take a phone call and came back. He said that Mrs. Hunt had writ
ten a memo which named Bittman and Parkinson as involved in the 
money business. That there is a memo from Parkinson to Dean to 
LaRue. The memo went to LaRue because LaRue was responsible for 
obtaining the funds for this purpose. 

Just before Howard Hunt was sentenced, which would have been in 
March, as I recall, although it doesn't say so here, Bittman phoned 
O'Brien who, in turn passed a message to Dean, Mitchell, and LaRue 
that Hunt was making a demand for $70,000. 

Then he said in his opinion the attorney-client privilege will not 
cover meetings he was in or any conspiracy that he was in, and that 
refers to ,John Dean. and then he mentioned to me that Dean's attor
ney is Mr. Hogan. That Dean is represented and that he is actively 
counseling with an attorney. 

He said that two blocks of money were delivered by Mr. Mitchell, 
I take it, not personally but by the campaign to Mr. Haldeman. 

Senator INOUYE. How many dollars? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know and I don't think he knew. I believe 

I asked him. 
Senator INOUYE. Was this in cash? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know that either. He just said that he

because I was pressing him for any White House involvement and 
all through these interviews, Senator, that was the key question all 
the way through. 
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He said the night of the Watergate break-in, Sloan and Stans took 
cash home amounting to about $81,000 which they returned the next 
day. This was given to LaRue on advice of Mardian and this money 
was used for subsistence for the defendants. He said Mr. LaRue has 
$100,000 now, $81,000 of which he has held since that time, since, for 
the past 11 months. 

Sloan said to O'Brien that $1 million to $2 million in cash had 
come in. Stans reported that it was about $1,700,000, which included 
$275,000 that had gone to Kalmbach and $350,000 sum which had gone 
to the White House. He said, Mr. O'Brien said, that one sheet of 
paper exists with an accounting of this $1,700,000 on it, and three 
people know where that accounting is. 

Senator INOUYE. Who are the three people? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I will come to that later on in the accounts. I 

think I had better take this seriatim, if you don't mind, to explain 
the hieroglyphics as we go along. 

He said as far as his reputation was concerned that Mr. Stans was 
"done" but that he, O'Brien, did not foresee that Mr. Stans would be 
indicted. He is not guilty of any perjury, he had been very foxy in the 
statements which he had made, that if he could spend a week with 
Mr. Kalmbach and could get their accounts straightened out, he didn't 
foresee that there would ·be any liability in Mr. Stans. 

Then we t·alked about the civil suits. There were two. The Demo
cratic suit and the Common Cause suit. He felt if the Committee To 
Re-Elect would only file with the Congress an accounting of all con
tributions that the Common Cause lawsuit could be mooted. It would 
take somewhere ,between 2 weeks and ·6 months to get those accounts 
in shape and he didn't know just how long it would take. He said that 
Mr. Stans was extremely opposed to doing this because this would 
break faith with the contributors who had contributed anonymously. 
He said if we didn't do this, he said, "I am satisfied we are going to 
lose the case." 

In the Democratic National Committee suit, settlement negotiations 
were underway because Larry O'Brien was now on the payroll of 
Dwayne Andreas. Mr. Andreas held his future-Mr. O'Brien as long 
as the countersuits existed couldn't get credit, couldn't buy a house, 
Robert Strauss wants to settle the case, Mr. Mitchell met with Strauss 
the previous day. The number that was being kicked around was a 
$500,000 settlement and he said there are $5 million available in the 
Committee To Re-Elect treasury to make that settlement. 

Howard Hunt was a prime-Howard Hunt was a prime contact for 
Segretti according to Mr. O'Brien and I don't know what his source 
for this information is. I think we have gone out of the Magruder part 
of the source business now. That Hunt supplied a Florida printer to 
three key Segretti men, one a man named Norton in Los Angeles and 
one from Tampa and another from Florida whose names he didn't 
know. These three men performed dirty tricks. 

Senator INOUYE. What were ·the dirty tricks? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the only one I have a note of is generator 

of Canuck letter and presumably he meant by that that either Segretti 
or one of these three people were the generator of that letter. What his 
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source is for that I do not know. I asked him about Dwight Chapin's 
involvement in this. He said, "Well, Chapin will take a bath," by which 
he meant his reputation of his good repute will be affected. He said 
someone is working newsmen for more favorable stories, and his 
source of information on that was a reporter named Lasky who told 
him that this was going on. 

He said that Chapin had had a lot of Segretti contact. He said 
Segretti had ·an immediate worry which was that he had received these 
payments of cash as you see here in the exhibit totaling $40,000, by 
April 115 he was ,going to have to pay his income tax, he needed guid
ance from somebody as to how to show that money ·as income or not, 
and he lacked money to pay his taxes. 

He said he has the problem of how one describes his business, and 
how to deduct •a business expense under those circumstances. 

He said that 'Mr. Segretti had kept a very complete diary in which 
he had cataloged all of his expenses. 

He then ,told me about Mr. Fensterwald, who w:as an attorney repre
senting McCord. He said that Mr. Alch wanted out as McCord's 
attorney. McCord had done some things which Alch did not approve 
of such as phoning the Embassies of Chile and Israel with the thought 
they were tapped so he oould be dismissed from the Government's 
actions •against him. McCord also had sent an unsigned letter to Jack 
Caulfield which Mr. O'Brien described as sick, which related to the 
CIA and Mr. Helms and so forth. 

He said that Caulfield had taken the letter to Mr. Dean. Caulfield 
had seen McCord three times. I asked him whether Caulfield had made 
any offers to McCord. He said he didn't know. He thought perhaps 
he had offered clemency but he thought also this would be susceptible 
of proof because McCord very well may have tapped it. 

Senator ERVIN. I hate to interrupt the proceedings ibut there is a 
vote on in the Senate and members of the oommittee have to go 
perform their senatorial duties. 

fRecess.] 
Senator BAKER (presiding]. The chairman has been temporarily 

detained and he asked me to recommence the hearings and to permit 
Senator Inouye to continue with his examination. 

Senator INOUYE. Mr. Chairman, I know my time has expired but I 
wanted the committee to know that my line of questioning was a very 
simple one. I just wanted the oommittee to be aware of the symbols 
in your notes and to better understand the interview notes. 

Mr. EnRLICHMAN . .Senator, on that, there is a iJrlnd of a personal 
shorthand that runs through there of a few Greek letters which I will 
be gfad to g-ive a Rosetta stone to the staff, if they need it. 

Senator INOUYE. Will you provide us with your transcript of the 
meeting ,with Mr. Mitchell ialso i 

Mr. EnRLICHMAN. I have done so, [ !believe. 
Mr. DAsH. Again, what I have given to you, Senator Inouye, is 

everything that we have received, and we have no--
•Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Did you give him the cassette and the transcript 

of the cassette, oounsel i 
Mr. DAsn. We have the ta;pe-that is right. We have the tape of 

the Mitchell meeting but I am talking a;bout the notes. 
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Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. The thing I referred to in answering the Sena,tor's 
question was thrut t·a,pe and the transcript o:f the twpe, which is all that 
I have o:f that meeting. 

Mr. WILSON. I think, Mr. Vice Chairman, that Mr. Strickler and 
Mr. Hamilton had an exchange whereby the transcription that we had 
was sent up. Is that right, Mr. Hamilton 1 

Mr. HAMILTON. That is correct. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Chairman, now that I better understand the 

hieroglyphics and the notations and the symbols, I would like to yield 
the floor to permit me time to study these notes so that I can ask ques
tions based upon these notes at a later time. So I thank you very much, 
Mr. Ehrlichman. 

Senator BAKER. Thank you, Senator Inouye. · 
Senator Gurney, I understand, has a :few additional questions, but 

since he has not returned to the hearing room yet, I wonder, Senator 
Weicker, i:f you are in a position to continue with your examination¥ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Vice Chairman, before the Senator begins, 
i:f I could just put a concluding note on Senator Inouye's exami
nation o:f this item. More or less to drop the other shoe, these notes 
were not included in. the President's papers, unlike my other notes, at 
the President's specific instance, in order that they could be available 
to the Attorney General and the prosecutors as source material and, 
o:f course, the committee. They were transmitted first by a phone cal1 
to the Attorney General and then by conference wi.th the p~osecut~g 
attorney and then by an appearance at the grand Jury durmg which 
these were all gone through in great detail. 

Senator INOUYE. Do you have a copy of the report which you pre-
sented to the President? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir, my report to him was oral. 
Senator INOUYE. Was it taped? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have to assume so. It was given in the.Execti-

tive Office Building office. 
Senator INOUYE, On what day, sir? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. On April 14. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much, sir. . 
Senator BAKER. I note that Senator Gurney has now returned to 

the committee table, and i:f it is agreeable then, we will proceed with· 
interrogation by Senator Gurney mstead of Senator Weicker, in the 
regular course. 

Senator GURNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, we have touched base once or twice on the Kalni

bach transactions between him and you, and I would like to clean up 
one other point on that. That was the conversation you had with.him 
on April 19-telephone conversation-and this was the one that was 
taped. We have a record o:f the tape here, of course. Do you have a 
copy of that i * 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 1I believe I do. . 
Senrutor GURNEY, Let us turn ,to page 5. There was some conversation 

about his coming over and talking to you. Is this p_hone conversation, 
as I understand it, was just prior to the time he was going to appear 
before the grand jury~ 

•See exhibit No. 77, Book I>, p.' 1,1211>. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Y e.s. 
Senator GURNEY. I think the day before, and he was here in Wash

ington and ,talking to you and he said something about touching base 
with you before he went down to talk to the grand jury and you said 
to him, "Well, it is all right, but, of course, they will ask you about it," 
and indicated maybe you do not want that information ,to oome out. So 
I will start there, if you want to, that is, if you want to come over and 
talk, they will ask ;:ou. 

"KALMBACH. Will they?" 
And you said "Yes." 
Kalmbach said, "well, maybe I shouldn't," and you said they will 

ask you ,to whom you have spoken about your testimony and I would 
appreciate it if you would say you have talked to me in California, 
because at that time I was investigating this thing for the President. 

KALMBACH. And not now. 
EHRLICH MAN. Well, I would not ask you ,to lie. 
KALMBACH. No, I know. 
EHRLICHMAN. But the point is-- . 
KALMBACH. But the testimony ,was in California. 

Can you tell the committee what tha,t would he all about? I mean, 
why would you want him to tell the grand jury that this phone con
versation between you and him that day in Washington would better 
be reported to be in California? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Oh, no, no, no. I was referring ,to an interview 
that I had with Mr. Kalmbach in California in connection with this 
inquiry that I was doing for the iPresident, and by that I simply did 
not want iMr. Kalmbach to omit, in his testimony, if they asked him 
what contacts he had had with me, be sure to tell them aho~t that one 
in California •because I was going to have to tell them about it and I 
did not want him to be caught unawares. That was a meeting which 
was not held in my office, it was held in his automobile and I was a little 
concerned frankly, that he might for some reason omit to testify to it. 
I was intending to testify to it also, obviously, I would have to say 
who I talked to in the course of this investigation. 

Senato£ GURNEY. Were you concerned about his reporting this par
ticular conversation that we are talking about now? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, no; as a matter of fact, I turned over this 
transcript to the prosecutors and the grand jury. 

Senator GURNEY. How often did you tape conversations on the 
recording device you had in the office on your telephone? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not hear the first part of your question, 
Senator. 

Senator GURNEY. How often did you use the recording device that 
you had on your telephone to record conversations? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In routine business, very occasionally, not very 
often. ,As I got into this Watergate phase, after March 30, I began 
more and more to use it with people that I thought were somehow or 
another involved in the matter, and I used it in connection with the 
stories that came back to me ·about the charges that were being leveled 
against me by Mr. Dean in my calls to Colson, and Clawson, and 
Kehrli, ·and Clark MacGregor-people that I thought might provide 
me with some supporting evidence for my recollection as to what 
actually had happened. 
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Senator GURNEY. Well, that could be understandable. How about 
Kalmbach; Kalmbach was your very good friend, was he noU 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; but he was also very knowledgeable in this 
case and he had been one of the people that I had interviewed to try 
to get information for the President on the money end of this thing, 
and so I considered him to be a witness, if you please, in the inquiry. 

Senator GURNEY. Of course, Kalmbach's reaction, as I am sure you 
know, was total shock at this recording. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I understand, and I regret very much but I had 
an assignment from the President that I felt I had to carry out. As a 
matter of fact, I did some checking on Mr. Haldeman, who is also 
my very good friend. I did that because I felt I had to bring to the 
President whatever information was available in the higher interest. 

Senator GURNEY. Are you saying now this is during the period of 
time that the President had reassigned the business of Watergate to 
you and from Mr. Dean; is that correct 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator GURNEY. Going back to that, that assignment of investiga

tion of the Watergate to Dean, and now I am not talking about June
Jul v, I am talking about February of this year; as a matter of fact, 
I think Dean talked to the President on February 27. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is right. 
Senator GURNEY. And in that conversation with the President, the 

President assigned the investigation of Watergate, at least that cur
rent phase of it, to Dean. As I recall, he said that he wanted Dean to 
report directly to him. He also said that it was taking up too much of 
your time and also Haldeman's time. Was that ever discussed with 
vou or with Haldeman, the President's decision to have Dean now 
become the chief investigator of Watergate, February 27? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, Senator, except chief investigator, I think, 
is slightly off the track. The. preoccupation at that time, ,as far as the 
President was concerned, was not in an investi!!ation of the facts as 
nearly as it was to get some one person in the White House who was 
going to look after a number of existing problems with relation to 
this whole subiect matter and they were primarily the problems of 
executive privilege and separation of powers as he saw it then, not a 
question of who done it. 

So rather soon after this meeting we had at La Costa which was, 
incidentally, the meeting was the resul,t of the President saying, "Who 
is in charge and what ·plans are being made and how is the work 
comingi" 

Senator GURNEY. And this came at ·rubout the time this committee 
was created; is that right 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is right; yes, sir. 
,Senator GURNEY. Concern about what to do about the investigation 

of the committee, how to respond to it? . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir; that was certainly part ~f:jt. 
Senator GURNEY. Go on. · "" 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Coming out of that session, as a result of our 

report back to him that the work was largely undone, that a tremen
dous amount of work was left to be done in terms of developing the 
administration's ,position on executive privilege and attorney-client 
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privilege and marshaling all of the files that had to be marshaled and 
all the rest, that he said, "Well, I want Dean to take charge of this. 
I want you fellows to get out of it." He said to me, "I have got some
thing else I want you to do and I want you to ,press on it," so I started 
off on an entirely different project that had to do with legis}ation, and 
from about the third week in February the understanding was that 
I was out of it. Bob Haldeman was basically out of it and Dean was 
the leadman in the White House on this whole subject of privilege, 
the committee, the grand jury, and all of the collateral questions that 
were associated with this. 

Senator GURNEY. Did Dean make any reports to you dter thait or 
only to the President~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I saiw very little of Mr. Dean in those months 
and quite a few weeks went by when I didn't see him at all, or for 
that matter really talk to him very much. Let's see, in the month of 
February, after the President made that assignment 1I didn't see him 
at all. The month of March I didn't see him at all for the first 20 days 
and then 1I saw him in connection with the Hunt blackmail twice on 
the 20th and on the 21st but that was the only subje,et that was dis
cussed and then, of course, there was the meeting on the 22d with 
Mr. Dean and 1Mr. Mitchell, and then the 'President, and then from 
then on I had virtually no contact with Mr. Dean except one meet
ing with-in Mr. 'Haldeman's company the day we got back from 
San Clemente, of April 8, once on April 10, and then this m~ing of 
April 13 for which the notes exist that are in Senator Inouye's hands. 

Senator GURNEY. Just one further question on that, W,as there ever 
any suspicion in your mind that the President appointed Dean to sort 
of be in charge of Watergate on February 27 because he might have 
had some suspicion that maybe you were involved or Haldeman was 
involved or somebody else in the White House was involved~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, what the President explained to me was 
that the central question here was one of executive privilege and the 
availability of Presidential assistance to testify before the Congress. 
You will recall this had come up in the setting of ·Peter Flanigan and 
coming before the, what the--

Senator GuRNEY. Judiciary Committee. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Judiciary Committee. 
Senator GURNEY. Kleindienst. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And through my notes of m~ings with the 

President, there are three or four references to the President's strong 
concern that Haldeman and I were test cases, c;o to speak, of the avail
ability of Presidential assistants to testify before the Congress, and I 
know there were some questions about his reference to us as principals. 
I think you have to take it in that setting. We were principals on the 
question of the availability of assistants to testify. . 

Now, the precedents that might be set by our testifying he was con
cerned, would in turn, open up Henry Kissinger's testifying ·and the 
whole panoply, so to speak, of Presidential assistants and very soon 
you would have a breakdown of the White House staff svstem because 
everybody would be up here testifying like Cabinet Secretaries do 
every day and couldn't get any work done. . 
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So, basioally, he thought that was where one drew the line, and he 
wanted Dean to focus very hard on that. I don't think, on the 27th, 
that the President was advised of any implication in this matter of 
either Mr. Haldeman or me, and in point of fact he continued to be 
confident through the 30th, I know, and as matter of faot, on through 
April 16, because he had a report from Mr. Petersen, the Assistant 
Attorney General, and the Attorney General to the effect that neither 
Mr. Haldeman nor I were criminally involved in this matter in any 
respect. 1So, and that was on the occasion of their meeting on that Sun
day which would have been the 15th, wouldn't it? 

'So, I don't think, particularly February 27, but continuing down 
through the next 3 weeks, that he had any real concern about that. 

Senator GURNEY. Well, you mentioned meetings with Dean so I 
guess it is a good time ,to go to those. 

Let's go to this meeting between you and Mr. Haldeman and Mr. 
Dean following the March 21 meeting of Dean with the President. 
That is when the roof sort of started to cave in, and I am curious to 
know what transpired in that meeting between the three of you after 
the meeting between Dean and the President, when J.>resumably aooord
ing to Dean's testimony, substantiated by Moore m what Dean told 
Moore, Dean told the President everything he knew rubout Watergate. 
Then there was a meeting, as I understand it, between the three of you. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There was a meeting at 3 :45 p.m. on the 21st. 
Senator GURNEY. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And then that meeting moved to the President's 

office after about an hour. 
Senator GURNEY. Now, could you describe to us what happened in 

your office-it was in your office, wasn't it, the first meeting? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 'i am not sure. I don't recall offhand. 
Senrutor GURNEY. I have in the log here 3 :45 to 6 p.m., Dean, Halde

man, that is the only thing it says. lt doesn't say where, although there 
is another note that day of a meeting. It says Haldeman's oflice, so I 
would assume perhaps this 3 :45 p.m. meeting was in your office. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know. My notes don't show. 
Sena:tor GURNEY. It is a minor point. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In any event it was either in Mr. Haldeman's 

office or mine. I am sure. 
The conversation--
Senator GuRNEY. ·Who called the meeting 1 Do you remem:bed 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, I do not. I do not. The conversation, as I 

recall it, largely involved the question of testimonial availability of 
White House staff people. It was this continuing question that was 
ongoing. Mr. Dean did not report in my hearing what he had told the 
President that day. 

Senator GURNEY. He never mentioned anything about his meeting 
with the President? · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, not that I can recall at all. We were 
largely, at both that meeting and continuing in the meeting which took 
place in the President's oflice afterward, we were taken up with the 
question of how to get the story out, No. 1, how ,to get White House 
people to testify fully, under what circumstances, whether they should 



2742 

be made fully available to this committee, waiving all privilege or 
whether they should be made available fully to the grand jury and not 
to this committee at all, whether the ·attorney-client privilege still 
existed as to Dean, and he talked to us quite a bit about the law of 
attorney-client privilege as I recall on that occasion, and so it was that 
setting. 

Now, Mr. Dean and 1I got into a difference of opinion at that time 
about the question of immunity, and how that should be handled. 
As I recall, right around this time, . I think--

Senator GURNEY, Now what do you mean rubout immunity? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Well, his theory was that the President should 

negotiate 'blanket immunity for the White House staff with the Attor
ney General so that the entire White House staff, lock, stock, and 
barrel, could testify freely before the grand jury as to any and all 
facts and clear the air and everybody would be immune from prose
cution. That just didn't make any sense to me from either a ,practical 
standpoint or a ,public appearance standpoint, ·and we got into a 
difference of opinion on that. That was again----pardon me, Senator. 

Senator GURNEY, Well now, why did he say thaitJ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, he was looking for formula, he had come 

up with a concept that there ought to be some kind of a commission, 
an independent commission that would be set up. 

,Senator GURNEY. But when somebody talks about immunity, obvi
ously they ·are afraid of ending up in the pokey. Did he say, "Now 
we are all going to jail so he had better get some immunity here." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, he said he was concerned that people would 
not talk freely. Now, Mr. Dean is an immunity expert. Mr. Dean told 
us early in the game that he was the author of the statute which the 
Congress eventually adopted granting immunity to people in certain 
criminal situations so that they would testify against higher-ups or 
cooonspirators or whatnot, and so he gave us quite an accounting of 
the difference between use immunity and transactional immunity and 
the various technicalities of this ,and he exp1'ained that immunity was 
sort of the lubricant that was needed in this thing to get people to 
come forward and to fullv tell their stories. 

Senator GURNEY. I£ everybody is innocent of everything and stop 
with Liddy, why would people worry about immunity? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I don't think at that stage that there was 
any necessary assumption on our part that everybody was innocent 
of everything. I think this was implicit in the conversation that there 
were liabilities. We were thinking in terms of Mr. Magruder, we were 
thinking in terms of people at the committee, but Mr. Dean was also 
implying to us that people in the White House would not come for
ward and testify freely without immunity. 

This was a line that picked up, I guess, a:bout this time and. then 
was replayed over and over in his conversations with 'Mr. Haldeman. 

Senator GURNEY. Did he mention to you in this discussion. who 
would need immunity in the White House? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; he did not. 
Senator GURNEY. No names were mentioned at all? 
1Mr. EnRLICHMAN. No, sir; not that I can recall. 
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,Senator GURNEY, Who did you think might, because you had some 
discussion on this? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't think that I thought who might at that 
point. Bear in mind I had been totally out of touch with this situation 
for some period of time. My reaction to his proposal was to simply 
say to him that that was out of the question, that we simply could not 
expect anybody to grant immunity either on a blanket basis or on an 
individual basis to anybody in the White House. I said that rather 
early in the conversation and that may have inhibited any specifics 
that Mr. Dean otherwise might have been willing to come forward 
with. 

:Senator GURNEY. What was Mr. Haldeman's reaction i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He didn't express a reaction that I can recall to 

that. He was concerned, as I recall, with the general subjoot of execu
tive privilege because he had been hearing from Mr. Mitchell strongly 
about executive privilege and he conveyed to us Mr. Mitchell's strong 
feeling that the executive ·privilege posjtion that the administration 
was taking was untenable. · ·· 

Senator GURNEY . .And he didn't say anything a:bout this conversa
tion he had had, this long conversation earlier in the day with the 
President of the United 1States? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir; he did not. 
!Senator GURNEY. Did you know at that time ·about who may have 

been knowledgeable about the break-in. You know at some point in 
time he told you that some people knew about it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, no. 
Senator GURNEY. This was later i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That developed as a result of phone calls that 

Bob Haldeman was getting while we were in San Clemente following
we left, I left-

Senator GURNEY. I don't want to get bogged down on that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I left about 5 or 6 days later for California. 

While we were out there, we began realizing there was a strong con
flict between Dean and Mitchell on this whole question of •people going 
to the grand jury or the committee and so on, and could not get a feel 
of it because I didn't know what was behind it and I began trying to 
find out what was behind it, and then I talked to Mr. O'Brien and that 
is the first that I knew about these four meetings back in November 
and December, January, and February where these plans were laid. 
Then I began inquiring through Mr. Moore and others •as to what 
Mr. Mitchell might have testified to that was worrying him, and why 
he didn't think Dean ought to go near the U.S. attorney or the grand 
jury and what his concerns were. 

Senator GURNEY. Is it fair to say that up to this March 21 date 
you had no knowledge of what Dean's activities were in connection 
with W,atergate, and now I am talking about possible illegal activi
ties, other than the Kalmbach business, and this talk you had on 
Executive clemency i Is that a fair thing to say i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, I did not know what he had to do with the 
Kalmbach business except in the recruiting of Mr. Kalmbach. 

Senator GURNEY. Well, I am only talking ·about what has trans
pired here tJhis week. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. I do not know 'about what lay behind that 
in terms of these meetings in Dean's office with LaRue and Kalmbach 
and all the others. 

Senator GURNEY. But you knew nothing about his activities other 
than these little bits and pieces that we mentioned i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, in retrospect, I evidently knew about bits 
and pieces but I never had enough to alert me to put it together. I. 
just--

Senator GuRNEY. Well, all right. Is there anything else that occurred 
in that 1 hour that we should know back to the March 21 meeting 
in your office or Haldeman's i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You will get better information on that meeting, 
I think, from Mr. Haldeman, since he took notes during the meeting, 
I did not. 

Senator GURNEY. What ,transpired- in the President's office when 
you moved the meeting over there~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There was virtually a replay of this difference 
of opinion between Dean and me on the question of immunity for the 
White House staff. The President was ·advancing a premise at that 
meeting everybody goes to the grand jury, nobody goes to the Senate 
committee, ,and we go to tJhe grand jury right 'away, and the White 
House staff marches down there in platoons, if necessary, and we get 
it all cleaned up, and if there is any ·problem, why, the problems are 
smoked out. 

Senator GURNEY. Was that the decision when the meeting ended? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, no; as I say, it was advanced as sort of a 

premise for argument and Mr. Dean said, '~'Well, that is what I have 
been saying, we ought to do that. We ought ·to do it under a blanket 
immunity and in that way all the truth will come out," and I was 
saying, I think that is just, 'l just think that is wrong, No. 1, I do not 
think anyibody in the White House is entitled to immunity if they 
have done something wrong, and then they ought to take the penalty. 
More than that, I think it would be just terribly misunderstood by the 
American people. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Again, you will find that throughout these kind 
of things Mr. Haldeman seldom, if ever, takes an advisory position. 

'Senator GuRNEY. He just listens, was that it i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He listens, he takes notes. He undoubtedly gives 

his opinion but he does not usually give it in an open meeting. 
Senator GURNEY. Of course, he must have realized that he was 

involved in some way here and I should think he would have some 
opinion upon his future at a very important meeting like this. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure that either he or I had any real 
appreciation at that point in time that we were, in fact, involved in 
this, as you put it. 

Senator GURNEY. Well, but we do have the evidence that he 
instru0ted Strachan to shred some papers that might have some weight 
on this. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I must say that story has arisen in the 
last 6 weeks, ,as far as I know. 

Senator GURNEY. I am not saying you knew anything about that, I 
am simply saying I am surprised. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not think he knew about it either. I inter
viewed Strachan rut great length and my notes are here and I asked 
him, because I was trying to nnd out about Mr. Haldeman, frankly. 
I said, "Tell me everything you know about how Haldeman might be 
tied into this thing," and he gave me four o~ five instances of SOfi1;e 
contact that Mr. Haldeman might have had with the Watergate busi
ness. There was not a scintilla of a mention of shredding documents 
anywhere in that. 

Senator GURNEY. What you are saying is we may get different testi
mony from the next witness. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, and I am saying, too, that as we sat in this 
March 21 meeting, I do not think Mr. Haldeman or I had any contem
plation that there was going to be a suggestion of our implica,tion. 

Senator GURNEY. Well, now, what did the President say to this 
difference of opinion between you and Dean on immunity 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He said that he would like to have us have a 
meeting with John Mitchell, and sit down and talk with him not only 
about that, about the basic question of whether staff should appear here 
or at the grand jury or both, but also recasting the administration's 
approach to ,the question of exooutive privilege because he knew Mr. 
Mitchell had very strong views on that. 

Senator GURNEY. Did the meeting end on that note 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
1Senator GURNEY. All right. The next day you did have such a meet-

ing, did you not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, we did. 
Senator GURNEY. With the three of you and Mr. Mitchell~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right, and then that meeting likewise went over 

to the President's office in the afternoon. 
Senator GURNEY. Will you describe those two meetings i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I was only in a part of the first meeting held in 

Mr. Haldeman's office, that was the day Secretary Shultz came back 
from the monetary conferences and we were in the midst of a reexam
ination of phase III, the economic program, and I was sent to the 
airport to meet Secretary Shultz, ride back with him in a helicopter 
and bring him up to date on what the President wanted to meet with 
him about, and arrange for a time that afternoon when the Secretary 
could come over and we could have a further meeting and get into 
the work that had been in progress during his absence. 

The Under Secretary-I guess it is called Deputy Secretary-of the 
Treasury, Mr. Simon, likewise rode back and we had that session. 

So I joined, I rejoined, excuse me, the Dean-Mitchell-Haldeman 
meeting, not too long before it went over to the President's office. 

Senator GURNEY. What transpired while you were there 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir~ 
Senator GURNEY. What transpired while you were there 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. While I was there there was largely a discussion 

of executive privilege, and Mr. Mitchell's views that the Kleindienst 
testimony or-I do not remember whether he testified, but anyway, 
the admmistration position had been too restrictive, and that it was 
untenable both, he thought, from a legal standpoint and also from a 
political standpoint. 
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Senator GuRNEY. Now, again, in this meeting in the President's 
office, there was no discussion of gory details of Watergate? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There was none, there was none. 
Senator GURNEY. Just the technicalities of perhaps how to bring 

out the whole story? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, when the four of us went to the Presi

dent's office again, it was largely how to get the whole story out, the 
question again of the grand jury, of immunity, in John Mitchell's 
presence with the President trying these various things out on John 
Mitchell and it finally ended up with the President assigning to Mr. 
Dean that he wanted Mr. Dean to sit down and write out a statement 
as completely as possible of the facts of this whole subject matter. 

Senator GURNEY. This is why he went to Camp David some time 
later, a few days lated 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Apparently. That is what I was told, that he 
found it impossible to do this job with the Gray hearings going on, 
and the distractions, and Mr. Gray making accusations against him, 
and so on. 

Senator GURNEY. Now, this really .rmzzled me. Here on M.arch 21, 
and that is the day before w_e are talking about now, supposedly from 
the testimony we have from Mr. Dean, and the testimony we have from 
Mr. Moore that Dean told Moore, Dean told him all ,about Watergate, 
that is, all Dean knew about Watergate, and then there is a meeting in 
the President's office between the President and Dean and you and 
Haldeman, and then there is another meeting between the three of you 
and Mitchell, and then you join the President, which, of course, is the 
next day. Did not the President say at any of these meetings, "Now, 
listen fellows, here I have heard all about this from John Dean, what 
gives here, what are we going to do now, what plans do you have, who 
is going to get this out? We have got to do it." No discussion of that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I have great difficulty in believing that 
the President was told what Mr. Dean says he was told because of the 
President's ,approach to this, which I saw in these two meetings. 

Now, I do not know what Mr. Dean told him. I guess Mr. Haldeman 
was in one of those meetings or part of it and maybe heis in a position 
to tell you. 

Senator GURNEY. He never told you anything about what transpired 
in the meeting between the President, Haldeman, and Dean? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, he told me what Mr. Dean has testified to is 
not true. I am forced to the assumption by the President's conduct 
afterward that one of two things was taking place. Either he still 
confidently believed that the White House was without blame, and that 
Mr; Mitchell was without blame and was acting accordingly, or he was 
involved in setting a few snares on the trail and was plaving it cool, 
because he did not get into any of the January, February, March plan
ning meeting business or the involvement of January of John Mitchell 
or any of those kinds of subjects which presumably Mr. Dean had laid 
all out for him, if you are to believe Mr. Dean. 

Senator GURNEY. You mean, to put it another way, he was in the 
process of getting the information out from everybody. Is that right? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It would be one of the two, and the assignment to 
Mr. Dean to go and write ,iill this down would fit that hypothesis. In 
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other words, he was not going to move against anybody until he had 
this down and could see what this fellow really had and then would go 
forward. 

Senator GURNEY. Well now, around about this time or somewhat 
later, and there are so many meetings here that I have really forgotten 
which occurred when, so perhaps I am going to have to rely on you for 
that, but did the President lift. the phone up at any time and say, "John 
I want you to come over to the office here and talk about Watergate, 
what you know about it." 

,J\fr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, not until way late in the game. He lifted 
up the phone one day and called me down and said, "I am satisfied 
that John Dean is in this so deeply that he simply cannot any longer 
have anything to do with it." 

Senator GUR:N"EY. That is when he transferred the assignment to 
you? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator GURNEY. What date was that~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. March 30. 
Senator GURNEY. And · tell us again precisely what transpired in 

that phone conversation beyond what you have already. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, that was a meeting in the ,President's office 

on March 30, and it was, as I recall, quite brief. We had had, we were 
getting ready to leave that same day, as a matter of fact, for Cali
fornia, and he called me down, I am looking for the time to help me, 
to recall the time of departure here. Yes, we leave at 3 o'clock in 
the afternoon, we had had ,a long meeting that morning with Secre
tary Shultz and Mr. Sonnenfeld about the economy, and that ran 
from 9 a.m. to about, I don't know, what, 10 a.m. or 11 a.m., something 
of that kind, a long session, as I recall. He called me down for just 
a;bout 10 minutes at noontime, and said what I have just told you, 
and T said, "Well, what is it you expect me to do basioally" and he 
said, "I want you to step into what Dean has been doing here. I need 
to know about executive privilege, I need to know about attorney
client privilege, 1 need to have somebody set this strategy with regard 
to testifying at the committee and the grand jury and these other 
places and I need to know where the truth lies in this thing." And 
the only tipoff that 11 had had to that was a request from him on the 
27th, I believe it was, yes, on the 27th. 

Senator GURNEY. Is that the meeting between 11 a.m. ,and 1 p.m. 
with the President~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I :believe-yes, yes indeed. That was for the pur
pose of diotating to me a list of questions that he wanted put to the 
Attorney General, and I believe that telephone call to the Attorney 
General which actually was not completed until the next day because 
he was traveling, is in your file, phone call with Kleindienst on the 
28th, and 'l then went down a handwritten list of questions that the 
President had put to me about the progress of the case, about the 
inv<?lve;ment o! John Mitchell, P?88ible1 any po~ible evidence t~at 
Klemdienst might have, any possible evidence of anybody else being 
involved at the Committee To Re-Elect, any evidence of any 'White 
House staff being involved and the President told me to tell the Attor
ney General that if he had any such evidence or if he developed any 
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such evidence, that he was then to transmit it directly to the President, 
not through me, not through anybody else at the White House but 
direct to the President, and in that message I did, as you see in the 
transcript, that I did transmit to the Attorney General. 

Senator GURNEY. Do we have those questions th at he--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, you do not. They are a part of my notes 

of the meeting of the 27th which are in the President's file. 
Senator GURNEY. How many questions were there? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, there are about 10 or 12 topics, I think, 

written out on a piece of paper. 
Senator GURNEY. Would you give us to the best of your recollection 

what ,the topics were and what the questions were? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think I can do that best, Senator, by looking at 

that telephone conversation and-because I think that that transcript 
is quite faithful to the list. I just went down the list in talking with 
the Attorney General. I don't seem to have tha,t in my--

Senator GURNEY. The telephone. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The telephone call with Mr. Kleindienst on the 

28th. 
Senator GURNEY. I wonder if the committee would hand this to the 

witness, 1Mr. Ehrlichman. That apparently is it. If we have another 
copy I wish I could have it, too, but I think it is better you have it at 
the moment. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We have a copy here; I may have stuck it back in 
the file. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator GURNEY. I have a copy here now. 
Senator ERVIN. Let the reporter assign that the appropriate exhibit 

number. 
[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 99. *] 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Actually the first sentence, as 1I recall, is only 

partly on this transcript and it said, "There are a number of things 
the President wanted me to cover with you," and only the latter half 
of that sentence is in the transcript. 

Senator GURNEY. If we could, Mr. Ehrlichman, this is very impor
tant, but if you could summarize these as briefly as you can it will help 
out the committee because I think my own time is running out here. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You will see in the fourth paragraph I said~ 
"No. 1, he wanted me to ask you these two things that I did yesterday 
about the grand jury and about Baker," meaning Senator Baker, and 
then we go into an inquiry about some statements that Senator W eicker 
had made to the press which the President had asked 'Pa,t Gray :to check 
into. Then, and the 1President wanted a report on whether Senator 
Weicker had any evidence or not to support these assertions. 

Senator GURNEY. I think perhaps you had :better explain a little 
more about Senator Baker who is not 'here so we can know that there 
IS no--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the President had designated John Dean as 
the White Mouse contact on Watergate, or the White House leadman 
on Watergate, as I say in February. He had also designated the Attor
ney General as the administration contact to the committee, and had 

*See p. 2944. 
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asked the Attorney General to be in touch with Senator Baker with 
regard to committee rules and technical matters of that kind. 

Senator GURNEY. This was just a liaison matter i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. 
Senator GURNEY. So he can find out what was going on, what the 

committee planned to do, that sort of thing? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. So he was asking for a report 

from the Attorney General on that. . 
·By the way, it comes back to me that in the meeting that Dean and 

Mitchell and Haldeman and I had in the President's office on the 22d 
that the President had picked up the phone and called the Attorney 
General and had given him some questions to ask Senator Baker about 
committee timing and that kind of thing so that he would be advised 
of the facts, and he had not yet had the report back from the .A:ttomey 
General on that. 

Then this first page is about Senator Weicker's statements, which 
was one of the items on the list. 

Then at the bottom of page 2 I said, "The President said for me to 
say this to you that the best information he has had and has, is that 
neither Dean nor Haldeman nor Colson nor I nor anybody in the com
mittee has had any prior knowledge of this burglary. He said that he 
is counting on you to provide him with any information to the contrary 
if it ever turns up. And you just contact him direct. Now as far as the 
Committee To Re-Elect is concerned he said that serious questions 
somebody raised with regard to Mitchell and he would likewise want 
you to communicate with him any evidence or inferences from evidence 
on that suhjoot." 

Sena,tor GURNEY. I think we had better stop there. 
The chairman points out to me that we have a vote on the Senate 

floor. 
Senator ERVIN. We will stand in recess. 
[Recess.] 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Gurney will resume the questioning of the 

witness. 
1Sen!l,tor GURNEY. I think we were there at the bottom of page 2, 

Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir; I saw during recess that I had skipped 

over the Attorney General's remarks in the middle of page 2 where in 
response to my general inquiry, a previous inquiry also, he said he has 
been emphasizing publicly that "The President wanted the matter in
vestigated, to let the chips fall where they may, but second, if anybody 
has any information we not only want it, we expect to get it, so we can 
investigate it and if these indict other people ·and that anybody who 
withheld information would ·be obstructing justice." The Attorney 
General was saying this to .the press ·and he was getting this out in 
every way that he knew how. 

Now, then at the top of page ,3 the significance of the McCord letter 
which was drafted ,by Mr. McCord and handed to Judge Sirica and 
which Judge Sirica read publicly was discussed and evalua,ted by the 
Attorney General. 

Then, we return to the question ,about whether or not Mr. Mitchell 
was involved, and that led to a statement by the Attorney General that 
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if Mr. Mitchell were to be involved, and he says here that he has no 
evidence at this time that he is, but if he were, that we should give some 
thought in such an event to having a special prosecutor, the Attorney 
General would feel he would have to recuse himself. Then I asked 
him what the President's position would be in the event of such a 
thing ·and at the bottom of page 3 and middle of page 4 he advises such 
a procedure. Then we discussed, and again this is an item on my list, 
the matter of immunity; who determines whether immunity will be 
granted mechanically, and he said the Department of Justice deter
mined that insofar as rthe grand jury was concerned but so far as the 
Senate committee is concerned that it made that determination in 
conjunction, I don't think he said in conjunction with the court, but 
that these were two separate procedures. 

Then another item on my list was the status of the court action which 
I have referred to previously in testimony here, in answer to a question 
by Senator Weicker, and then finally I was asked to tell him that there 
was a possibility that the President wanted to see him in San Clemente 
the following Saturday. The Attorney General at that time was in 
Arizona, was planning to be in Los Angeles, and in point of fact that 
meeting did take place in 1San Clemente subsequent to this phone call. 

Senator GURNEY. Did the President tell you at the time he gave these 
questions to you why he was asking you to inquire of the Attorney Gen
eral rather than Mr. Dean, did that come up? 

-Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, it did not come up and I did not ·ask. 
Senator GURNEY. But in retrospect you think he was perhaps having 

doubts whether he was getting a full story or not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, up until then Mr. Dean had been the contact 

with the Attorney General in matters of this kind. 
Senator GURNEY. Then on what date did the President give this :full 

assignment to you to run W·atergate down for him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Two days later. 
Senator GURNEY. I think I had better stop there, Mr. Chairman, 

because I have taken enough time. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, Senator, I would not want to cut you off. This 

is a very serious investigation we are making and you could proceed 
until noon if you have :further questions and then we can recess for the 
lunch hour. 

Senator GURNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Let me then complete, if we can, the assignment you had from the 

President to now, be the sort o:f chief Watergate investigator in the 
White House. 

Would you tell the committee about that, what you found and what 
you reported to the President? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have tried to disclaim the designation "investi
gator," Senator, because I don't consider what I did to be an investiga
tion, to a conclusive result. 

Senator GURNEY. You certainly can define your role. I didn't mean 
to imply something you were not doing. · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had to get up to speed on this. I was not follow
ing the law on the matter and so the first thing that I did in another 
conversation with the Attorney General was to arrange to have some
one in the .Department of Justice prepare for me a thorough brief of 
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the laws of attorney-client privilege, executive privilege, obstruction 
. of justice and all of these subject that we seemed to be encountering in 
this. 

Senator GURNEY. Who was that~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. A man named Axel Kleiboomer. 
Senator GURNEY. Perhaps you can try to spell it. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. K-1-e-i-b-o-o-m-e-r, a first-rate young man, a 

good lawyer, who did the, just the briefing, and he moved to me by 
courier at San Clemente ·a great deal of very useful legal reading 
and I spent the first 2 or 3 days out there in trying to assimilate some 
'of this background of law. 

Senator GURNEY. What dates are these~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. This would 'have lx:ien the 2d, ·3d, 4th of April, 

along in that period. 
Now, the Attorney General had been at San Clemente on March 311, 

and I had had a brief meeting with him a,t that time and that he had 
had a private meeting with the President tha;t day. And then he left,. 
Finally Mr. O'Brien's arrival at San Clemente--

Senator GURNEY. Did you and the Attorney General discuss Water-
gate at all? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, the fact that I had this assignment. 
Senator GURNEY. But nothing of subst1mce wbout facts~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. But not facts as such. He indicated in this con

versation on the 28th, just ·2 days befor,e or 3 days before, thwt we 
had everything he had, in effect, that is the substance of his responses 
here, and that continued to be the case in the brief conversation that 
I had with him before he saw the President. I told him that I was 
trying to get on top of this and I would need some help, some briefing 
help, and he said he would find the best guy he could and he did, and 
so we got into it. 

Mr. Kleiboomer sent me two big norebooks of brief, and as I say 
that was sort of heavy going, and I just sat and rood it. 

With Mr. O'Brien's arrival, however, l;hat was my first interview, 
and it brought me a whole new picture of this whole matter. A lot of 
info11mation in what Mr. O'Brien gave me that I had never heard 
before. 

1Settator GURNEY. You have recounted most of that to the com-
mittee, have you not i · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; 1I am not quite through. 
'Senator GURNEY. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There is quite a bit of business in those notes 

about money, rubout the involvements of people who had various funds 
of money and carried money around and who got money and how 
Liddy got money and this kind of thing which was all a brandnew 
subject to me at that point. I reported in quite skEtichy detail to the 
President after 1I ha;d talked to Mr. O'Brien, -and he urged me at thwt 
point-

Senator GURNEY. Will you ·tell us very briefly what he told you about 
this money and other things? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. O'Brien? 
Senator GURNEY. Yes. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. He told me rubout a fund of money that 
existed at the Committee To Re-Elect, of which he knew, and he had 
a piece of paper that had a lot of information on it, this was Bart 
Porter's account, as he called it. It was in cash from Sloan to Porter, 
about $50,000 of it was pre-April 7 money, $37,000 of it went to Gordon 
Liddy, and then he has a whole lot of payments out, most of which I 
believe Mr. Porter has testified to here . 

.Senator GURNEY. I see. 
Well, let's not go over those that we already know. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Right. 
Senator GURNEY. But give us new information. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He told me about some campaign violations, cam

paign funding violations, which he said the General Accounting Office 
knew of which involved, oh, nothing over about $10,000 but a lot of 
different items. He told me about Liddy getting some money for 
Cuban demonstrators in Washington, D.C., you had testimony on that, 
I guess, and so then I got into the question of who ran the Committee 
To Re-Elect at various times, particularly during the planning period 
here. He said that Magruder said he was running the committee, but 
he was seeing Mr. Mitchell twice a day during this period of time and 
he felt it was safe to say that Mitchell was running the committee 
even when he was Attorney General. 

Now, that is the balance of the interview with O'Brien, but that 
gave me a lot of perspective on this thing that I had never had before. 

Senator GURNEY. Did he give you any information on the planning 
of the break-in 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; and I testified with Senator Inouye about 
that, those four meetings and that whole business. 

Senator GURNEY. Fine. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had only one other substantive interview while 

we were ·at San Clemente in the remaining 3 or 4 days and that was 
with Mr. Kalmbach, but I became aware through Mr. 'Haldeman, who 
was reporting to me, conflicting conversations that he was having with 
Mitchell ·and Dean on this whole subject of should Dean go to the 
grand jury or should Dean go to the prosecutor, ·and we began trying 
to understand what lay behind this. Well, 1 had the background of 
Mr. O'Brien's interview, and we zeroed in on the fact that it had to 
do with these four meetings or three meetings or whatever there were, 
and whether or not Mr. Mitchell might have some exposure for perjury 
on account of having testified that the meetings were canceled or not. 

Senator GURNEY. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And so I had Bob Haldeman trying to get a 

straight answer out of Mr. Mitchell and he said he could not, so I called 
Dick Moore and asked him if he would talk to John Mitchell because 
I knew they had a close relationship. 

Senator GURNEY, And that was the reason for Moore's trip to New 
York1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; it was not. It was subsequent to that trip 
to New York. I believe this was a telephone call which Mr. Moore 
said he ma,de to John Mitchell, and 1Mr. Moore, I believe, also talked 
to Mr. MitcheH's attorney, although I am not positive of that. But 
in any event, Mr. Moore reported back that Mr. Mitchell was con
fident thait he had not in any way violated any perjury statute, 
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and that he just did not think it was a .good idea for the President's 
lawyer to be going out and testifying; m other words, it was an at
torney-client privilege kind of position that he was contending for. It 
did not satisfy me. 

Senator GURNEY. Mitchell now talking about Dean should not 
testify i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. This thing continued to be a 
nagging question, and so we called John Dean, as we were headed 
back, I talked to Haldeman further about this. 'Dean was not talking 
to me, all through this period of time, I had not had phone can one 
from him, which was very unusual because I used to hear from him 
from time to time on various subjects, including Watergate, but I was 
completely not on his telephone list· and BOlb Haldeman was hearing 
from him all the time. So we talked about what Bob Haldeman--

. Senator GURNEY. Did he know that you were performing the role 
for the President i · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe so. 
Senator GURNEY. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe so. I did not tell him but I believe he 

well knew it. 
As a matter of fact, just before we departed for California this 

question arose of Mr. Dean being fired by his law firm for unethical 
conduct and I sent for his personnel package in order to check it. The 
personnel package arrived in Fred Fielding's arms with scotch tape 
around it a number of times, and he said, '~What do you want this 
fod" And I said, "Well, there is a story"-and that :refreshed my 
recollection, I did have one phone call from John Dean and that was 
on that subject. He did call me at San Clemente about that and he said, 
"I understand you wanted to get my personnel package," and I said 
"Yes, there is this story about your having been accused of this un
ethical conduct," and he then told me the long story which he re
counted to this committee, that he eventually was able to get the 
attorney who made the charges to retract the charges, which satisfied 
m~, b~t I think through Fielding and through my conversation with 
Fieldmg on that occasion, Mr .. Dean must have known that I was ac
tively in this. 

Senator GURNEY. I see. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In any event, on the way back we called and 

asked John Dean to meet us in my office when Wl' returned to Wash
ington that night, and he did so. 

Senator GURNEY. What date i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, April 8, 9. 
Senator GURNEY. April 8 between 5 and 7 p.m. 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right; that was a Saturday or Sunday-that was 

a Sunday night, and we had a 2-hour meeting, Bob Haldeman, John 
Dean, and I, to try and understand what this hangup was between 
Mitchell and Dean. We still did not have a feel for it. Then, for the 
first time, Mr. Dean talked to us about the four meetings or the three 
meetings back in January and February and explained some of the 
nuances of the coverup story with regard to Mr. Magruder and the 
meeting which he, Dean, Magruder, and Mitchell had had in Mr. 
Mitchell's law office at a time when they were gathered with the 
attorneys in the case to discuss grand jury testimony where the three 
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of them had retired to Mr. Mitchell's partners' office away from the 
attorneys and had discussed how to reconcile their respective recol
lection of the events of the early 1972 period. So that was the first 
time that I had from Mr. Dean directly this subject matter. 

Senator GURNEY. Did he talk to you at that time about his orchestra
tion of the perjury of Magruder? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He did, but he did it in very delicate terms. He 
did not in any way admit to me flatly that he had, in fact orchestrated 
it to perjury. He indicated that he had had a part in the preparation 
of the testimony, that there were, well, I have forgotten how, it was 
a very careful explanation which did not really implicate Mr. Dean 
in suborning to perjury by any means, but he mdicated that he was 
well familiar with the problems between Magruder and Mitchell, 
on the one hand. He felt that Mr. Mitchell had problems which were 
causing Mr. Mitchell to say that Mr. Dean should not go and talk to 
the prosecutor or the grand jury and so this was very thoroughly dis
cussed and hashed over during that meeting. 

Senator GURNEY. These problems between Dean and Magruder, 
specifically, did they involve who was responsible for the break-in, in 
giving the green light to it; is that what you mean? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I gathered not. I think they involved disputes 
in their recollection as to what took place at these Liddy meetings, 
so-called, back in the early part of 1972. 

Senator GURNEY. I see. 
Did he go in at that meeting to any detail about his own involve

ment from June on-Dean, I am talking about-coverup? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; not in evidentiary terms at all. We talked 

about the President's desire. 'The President on the flight back, as I 
recall, we had a meeting on the flight hack of about, nearly 2 hours 
about this and the President decided he wanted Mr. Dean to go to 
the grand jury, so we conveyed that to Mr. Dean at that time. 

1Senator GURNEY. What was his reaction to that-? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He was still very much interested in the question 

of immunity. He had some information, as I recall, about how the 
prosecutors felt about the White House, and so he imparted that to us, 
that he did not feel that anybody in the White House was a target of 
the prosecutors, that they were after some people who had obstructed 
justice, like Mardian and LaRue and people at the committee, but that 
he, Dean, felt that something like an estoppel or functional immunity 
or something could be worked out with the prosecutors if he went to 
testify and he seemed generally in agreement with the idea that he go 
and testify. 

Senator GURNEY. Was there any discussion at that meeting about 
your role in Watergate or 'Haldeman's role in Watergate? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That did not come until this meeting of April 13. 
Senator GURNEY. Well, could we go into that one? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator GURNEY. On the 13th, after 2 :,30 or 3 o'clock in the afternoon 

I had a conversation with Dean which was apparently as a result of 
further contacts which he had had with the prosecutor. He told me 
that Liddy had talked with the prosecutors off the record very com
pletely and that they might get him to talk on the record. That his 
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Liddy ought to talk on the record. And it turned out that that was 
incorrect apparently, but that was at least what he told me, and I 
suspect what was happening here was that the prosecutors were telling 
him this, trying to get him to move, to come forward and make ·a dis
closure. Apparently, the prosecutors were playing this kind of a game 
with a lot of these people at this time. Saying, "so ,and so has talked 
so you better had come and talk," and passing this word along. He told 
me that Hunt was back testifying before the grand jury at that time 
but lying, that the grand jury was also taking testimony or the pros
ecutor, at least was taking testimony from Strachan and McCord, that 
there would be no indictment of anyone in the White House, that at all 
costs he felt a special prosecutor should be a voided in this case, because 
of the involvement, he said, of Caulfield and Krogh. I did not get the 
significance of that at the time but presumwbly that referred to some 
of Caul.field's intelligence-gathering activities and Krogh's involve
ment with the Plumbers. 

He said, "It is a close question as to my," Dean's "liability," and 
I have a note that says, "Then summoned before the grand jury," but 
I don't know what that mean~ any more, it does not recollect anythin~ 
to me. He said, "They won't subpena me but it is better if I coopera,te. 

Now, he went back into the meetings in Mitchell's office about 
money. I was inquiring of him now about coverup money. He said that 
"The way I got involved, I," Dean got involved, "was that Mitchell 
requested me to help." . 

He said, "LwRue and •Mr. O'Brien would urge that money be made 
available. Mitchell would postpone making a decision until the last 
minute and the way he would fet this thing off his desk would be by 
calling me," Dean. He said, 'The U.S. attorney does not want to 
cause the White House problems. They tell Dean that Magruder and 
Mitchell are involved in the pre-Watergate matter and that LaRue, 
Mitchell, and Mardian are involved in the post-Watergate matter." 

He said, "I don't think J eh can crack a deal" meaning a deal with 
the prosecutors, "for immunity." · 

Then I have a little svmbol on these notes which summarizes the 
exposure which he thought that Bob Haldeman and I had in this 
matter, mine being my connection with Herb Kalmbach in the pro
vision of money for the defendants, and I have the number 350 which 
relates to the $350,000 fund which presumably involved Bob Halde
man. 

He said, "Neither one of these are indictable but they are going 
to be awkward to explain. I don't think either one of them are a prob
lem for you in an ultimate sense.'' He said, "The probable scenano for 
the future will probably look like this. On May 1 the grand jury is 
going to break this case. About May 15 there are g-oing to be indict
ments. Then the Attorney General is going to go to Senator Ervin and 
tell him that the hearings are going to prejudiee the new case, and that 
they couldn't possibly get a fair trial. He will ask that the hearings 
be held off a month or two until the trial is over," and then he said, "In 
my personal opinion, if they are held off then there never will be 
Senate hearings. So I don't know what John Mitchell will do, whether 
he will take a plea or what he will do under those circumstances. 
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Almost surely if John Mitchell is indicted, Kleindienst will resign," 
and he said, "I think Joe Snead ought to be Acting Attorney General." 

'Then he said, "The U.S. attorney has assure,d me that I am not a 
target, and neither is any other White House person." 

Senator GURNEY. Were these notes made at the time of the meeting? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, as we talked. 
Senator GURNEY, Did he tell you about all his involvement with 

Kalmbach, raising of money, and these methods of paying it that 
Ulasewicz told us about? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. That I hadn't heard until this testimony 
here. 

Senator GURNEY. Or the contacts he was having with LaJRue at this 
particular time? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. You will recall he testified Rbout five dif
ferent ,ways, rubout looks of anguish, disbelief, scorn, whatnot, on my 
face ·at the time he said 'I was indictable. In point of fact at the time 
he said I was not indictable but that the Kalmbach thing might be 
a problem for me as being misunderstood, I said, "Well, I just don't 
see how it could, John," and then we discussed just that, the assump
tions which I had made that there was nothing improper about it, 
and so on. 

Senator GURNEY. At one of these meetings, and I can't remember 
which one, it was now because there were several in this time frame, 
but Dean testified, as I !'e~all, that there was a discussion between 
you and him, and I think Haldeman, on the fact that the best way 
to settle Watergate would have Mitchell come forward, I guess that-
March 21 counsel tells me. Do you recall anything on that, whether 
there was a discussion or 'agreement between you, that that was the 
best thing to do? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There never was such an agreement. 
Senator GURNEY. Was there a discussion? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. During that meeting and during subsequent 

meetings between Mr. Haldeman and me and meetings between Halde
man, Dean and me on the two occasions, I think we had them subse
quent to that, there was a lot of speculation about John Mitchell and 
his place in all of this, and of course he was not saying anything to 
anybody at that ,point in time, and none of us really had a feel for 
this. I can recall at one of these meetings Bob Haldeman saying, 
"I wonder if we are taking all this anguish just to protect John 
Mitchell." It was a question, it was not an assertion, ibut I think we 
all shared at various times that question in our minds as to whether 
the beating everybody was taking on the subjoot of Watergate was 
because he was not coming forward. Now that was one of the reasons 
that the President ·asked me to meet with Mr. Mitchell on the after
noon of 1Saturday, April 14, to say to him for the President that if 
Mr. Mitchell thought his silence was somehow serving the Presidency 
that was a misapprehension, that the President didn't want him to sit 
silent if he knew something unless Mr. Mitchell felt from his own 
personal point that was an exercise of his own rights, in which case 
that was up to him. And I delivered that message to him at that time 
but that was a continuing question all the way through this period of 
time. 
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SerratorGURNEY. Now,through this period of time, beginning with 
that ,assignment on-is it March 31? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thirtieth. 
•Senator GURNEY. March 30, were you reporting to the President 

what you were .finding out? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I reported to him after I talked with Mr. O'Brien 

but very briefly on that subject, and I just said : "I am beginning to 
get a feel for this thing but I have got so much hearsay here I don't 
,think it's worth taking a lot of your time." He said: "You know, what 

. are you .finding out?" So I said: "Well he tells me there were these 
meetings back m the early times when Liddy had this plan, and so on." 
I took him kind of sketchily through the O'Brien busmess and I said: 
"This is hearsay two, three and m some cases four removed," and 
I said "We cannot move on something of this kind until we find out." 

Now, in San Clemente again when we came to this funny conflict be
tween ;Dean and Mitchell, I mentioned that to him, and I said "We are 
trying to get to the bottom of it," and two or three times he said "Have 
you got that .figured out yet?" ·and when we talked on the airplane 
going back and we talked about Dean going to the grand jury and he 
said .finally "I am not going to wait, he is gom~ to go." He said: "Have 
you ever .figured out what that is," and I said "No, we are going to 
see Dean. We don't know what that is." 

Senator GURNEY. Well, now, did you make a complete report to the 
President? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
,Senator GURNEY. When was that? . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN.·That was on Saturday morning, April 114. 
Senator GURNEY. What did you tell him f 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I told him basically a narrative of my 

interviews with these various people starting with O'Brien and run
ning through everybody that is on this list except Mitchell and 
Magruder whom I had not yet-with whom I had not yet talked and 
Strachan the second time when I got into the whole question of Bob 
Haldeman's involvement. 

Senator GURNEY. Now, so we can wrap this up and I can release the 
floor here, did you ·at that time give him a complete account of Water
gate as we know it now, and if you did not, what portions did you not 
tell him that you didn't know? Perhaps we can get at it that way 
quickly. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I didn't know, for instance, any of the 
behind-the-scenes business of the money beyond what Paul O'Brien 
had given me here and a little feel of it that bean had given me which 
I think I have just described to you about as well as I can. The sub
sequent interviews that I had with particularly Magruder that after
noon-you see the outcome of this report to the President was, he said 
"I want you to talk to Magruder; I want you to talk to Mitchell," 
and then he also told me he wanted to .find out more about Bob 
Haldeman's involvement. So those three followed that preliminary 
report and none of the things that I developed from any of them were 
included in it. When I completed them, then I came back and reported 
what those three individuals told me and laid that out for him. 

Senator GURNEY. And was that a fairly complete account of 
Watergate? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It included the planning meetings, it included 
the two entries, and the reasons for going back. It included quite a 
lot but not the whole story of the coverup by any means. 

Senator GURNEY. The fact that there had been one going on with
out aH of the gory details. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right, and obstruction of justice, both from the 
committee and Mr. Dean's part in it, I am frank to say I did not feel, 
since the full implication of Mr. Dean's involvement in the after
math yet at that time. 

Senator GURNEY. And what date was that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was on Saturday, April 14. 
Senator GURNEY. What was the President's reaction? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That I must immediately advise the Attorney 

General, which I then did within the hour. 
Senator GURNEY. And that was the end of the meeting i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; the meetings went on, however, the follow

ing day. The President had a long meeting with the Attorney Gen
eral and Mr. Petersen, who, in turn had had meetings with the prose
cutor, then I had another meeting with the President because I had 
seen Gordon Strachan that morning while the President-Sunday 
morning-while the President was talking to the Attorney General 
and Mr. Petersen. So then, I had a further report to ¢veto 'the Presi
dent, Sunday following that meeting that he had had. 

Senator GURNEY. Can you very briefly tell us the important parts 
of that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN [conferring with counsel]. 
Counsel reminds me that I should say we are iadvised that tihe 

Attorney General had an all-night meeting Saturday night with Mr. 
Petersen and with the U.S. attorney and the prosecutors and posted 
himself on thin~s. He then met with the President after church Sun
day morning. I met with the President after that. We then had a 
further meeting later on that Sunday, I had one or two meetings, I 
forgot which, I got home and was told to turn around and come back 
so we had another Sunday night meeting at which the President 
went over and over this information and I think it was at that time 
that I called Mr. Gray 'and discovered the documents had been 
deStroyed and so we went over that ,at length and implications of that 
and I had further conversations with the Attorney General, I guess, 
the next morning but this went on over a period of about 4 days, Fri
day, Saturday, Sunday, Monday. 

8enator GURNEY. Then, it was April 17 that the President issued 
his statement that he was ,aware of new developments in Watergate? 

1Mr. ·EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
'Senator GURNEY. I think 1I had better stop there. Thank you, Mr. 

Ehrlichman. 
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERviN."The committee will stand in recess until 2 o'clock. 
[Whereupon, at 12 :20 p.m., the committee was recessed, to recon-

vene at 2 p.m., this same day.] 
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AFTERNOON SESSION, FRIDAY, Jm,y 27, 1973 

Senator ERVIN. The committee will come to order. 
Senator Montoya will exa,mine the witness. 
Senator ;MONTOYA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, you have testiified that during the •period from 

June 17 or shortly thereafter, up until the time you resigned your 
position at the White House that you intermittently kept up with the 
course of the investigation that was going on in-house, out of house, 
and otherwise? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. And that shortly after June 17, according to 

testimony presented here by Mr. Strachan, and, I believe, confirmed by · 
you, you were a.ssigned to be in charge of the investigation shortly 
after it had occurred j 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is not correct, Senator . 
.Senator 'MONTOYA. All right, give me your version of it. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, 'I think what Mr. Strachan testified to was 

that in a conversation with Mr. Higby, who apparently was in Florida 
with the ·President on that weekend, Mr. Higby said that I knew about 
it or was in charge of it or some such thing. The fact is that on that 
weekend of the Watergate break-in, I, apparently, was one of the few 
senior members of the White House staff who was here in the city, 
and the rest were either with the President in Florida or somewhere 
else, and so for the brief time on the Monday before the President's 
·party got back, and I think they got back late Monday, as i recall, I 
started the iball rolling. 

Senator MONTOYA. What did you do¥ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I called Mr. Dean, who had just returned from 

the Philippines, and he and I had ·a meeting on Monday noon, and from 
then on, as far as I was concerned, he had the ball. 

Senator MONTOYA. Who threw the ball to him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did. 
Senator MoNTOYA. What instructions did you give him 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I told him that I thought that it was important 

for us to keep well informed of all of the fast-breaking events 'in this 
matter in order that our press office could be fully ,briefed and kept up 
with the developing events because I, as I testified before, I saw this as 
a real campaign issue. 

1Senator MONTOYA. Did he report to you frequently on what he was. 
uncovering 1 . 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I saw him a total of nine timesin the next 2 weeks, 
which is ·an unusually large number of times for my contacts with 
Mr. Dean. 

Senator MoNTOY A. What did you see him about during those nine 
times? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, among other things-well, let me just-
Senator MONTOYA. I mean, with respect to W·atergate. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Yes, sir. 
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He told me a number of things, and I have tried to make a list of 
them here and I will give them to you. He told me about the general 
facts of the surveillance of the Democratic National Committee head
quarters, the fact that the Howard Johnson Motel had been employed 
as a listening post, the fact that a hotel room in the Watergate Hotel 
had been found which had some of the burglars' possessions in it. The 
fact that they used fictitious names and papers, and that they had 
large quantities of money in $100 bills. He told me about the fact that 
Hunt had a safe still at the White House, and then I testified previ
ously to the meetings, the meeting which we held Monday afternoon 
to try to determine the facts with regard to Hunt's employment at the 
White House, and that was as a result of a report from Mr. Dean. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, did you feel, Mr. Ehrlichman-I do not 
want to go into all the details-did you feel Mr. Dean was telling you 
almost everything he was uncovering on a day-by-day basis? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was certainly my ·assumption, 1Senator, yes. 
Senator MONTOYA. Did this continue after the first 2 weeks? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir; before very long I left the city, I believe 

it was rthe 26th-well, I will have to check that. Well, of course the 
24th ·and 25th I was away. The President went to Harrisburg to see the 
results of the Agnes flood and we were gone those 2 days, and then 
the 29th I left for a trip to Springfield, Ill., Lansing, Mich., northern 
California, and finally ended up at San Clemente. 

Senator MONTOYA. I think we can save some time, Mr. Ehrlichman; 
I just want to go through with you, the communications that you 
had with Mr. Dean with respect to Watergate over the long span up 
until April 15, 1973. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, sir. I think-
Senator MONTOYA. I mean in a general way. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have that in summary form and perhaps I can 

give that to you rather quickly. In the month of June I saw him nine 
times, and eight of those times related to Watergate. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In the month of July, I saw him three times and 

only two times related to Watergate. In the month of August, four . 
times of which two-no, pardon me, none related to Watergate. Sep
tember, three times, and I am not able to tell you as to what. One of 
those meetings was with regard to the foreign grain sales and I don't 
know what the other two were. October, I saw him twice; once was the 
Common Cause lawsuit and I don't know what the other one was. 
November, I saw him four times; one was with regard to the Water
gate, two with regard to Segretti which I guess you lump into that 
general subject. December, five times, twice on the subject of Water
gate. 

January, seven times of which Watergate could be considered to 
have been the subject of three of those meetings. February, five times, 
three of which, including- La Costa, were on the subject of Watergate. 
March, three times, and one of those times was with regard to the 
Hunt blackmail; well, actually two of those were, and the other one 
the question of testimonial appearance. 

Senator MONTOYA. Was that in March~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
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Senator MONTOYA. What about the January meeting, didn't you 
testify about the January meeting with respect to Mr. Hunt~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, and that is one of the three, that is actually 
two of the three that I mentioned. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And April, three times, and all of those were 

Watergate matters. 
Senator MONTOYA. So you, in effect, met quite a few times with Mr. 

Dean· about Watergate 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Would you say that during those times that you 

met with him that you discussed fully all aspects of Watergate, White 
House possible involvement and also possible involvement of person
nel at the CRP? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, as it turned out, no. I thought so at the 
time but I now know that that was not the case. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, were you engaging in speculation with Mr. 
Dean as to who might be involved as a result of these conservationsi 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. On occasion we did. 
Senator MONTOYA. Quite a few figures or names were discussed 

during your conversations; is that not correct~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean a great number of people~ 
Senator MONTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I wouldn't say that, Senator. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Well, then, as a result, did you use this informa

tion and what you independently collected as a basis for briefing Mr. 
Ziegler preliminary to any press conferences that you might have 
had-that he might have had~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not inevitably, no. There would be time, for 
instance, when I was not with Mr. Ziegler. I had an independent 
travel schedule and very often Mr. Ziegler would have briefings and 
I wouldn't be available or he would be out of town with the President 
and I would be here in Washington. But we tried as nearly as possible 
to talk over, particularly technical matters. 

For instance, when the civil depositions were being taken, Mr. 
Ziegler and I, I recall, had a conversation about a civil deposition, 
what the rules pf evidence were, why hearsay could come into a civil 
deposition where it couldn't come into a trial. Things of that nature. 

Senator MONTOYA. The point I want to make, Mr. Ehrlichman, that 
you have testified here that on numerous occasions you did brief Mr. 
Ziegler preliminary to any press conferences that he might have. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I don't think I said it quite that way, 
Senator. 

Senator MONTOYA. How did you say it~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What I attempted to impart was that on more 

or less a daily basis Mr. Ziegler and I would try to touch base about 
any current issues that needed my assistance, and not in every case 
would he need my assistance for some of these things. But where we 
had, for instance, the issue of the Clean Water bill and the President's 
possible veto of that bill, where we had the spending limit that was a 
hot issue in the Congress, Mr. Ziegler and I would sit down and we 
would talk through what the central issues were, why the President 
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took the position he did, what the other view was, to try to give him 
a working knowledge of the subject matter and we tried to do that 
with various aspects of this case as it went along. 

Senator MONTOYA. But did you ever brief him on Watergate, on 
the part or concern of the White House and so forth? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know quite what you mean by brief. 
Senator MONTOYA. Did you provide any input--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sure I did. 
Senator MONTOYA [continuing]. Into the background that went into 

the press conferences? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sure that I did at times. 
,Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Now; there were quite a few pronouncements by the White House, 

by the President with respect to the Wa·tergate affair, and I am going 
to relate those in sequence. 

On August 2'9, 1972, the President, in response to a question stated, 
and this is part of his answer: 

In addition to that within our own staff under my direction counsel to the 
President, Mr. Dean, has conducted •a complete investigation of all leads which 
might involve any present members of the White House staff or anybody in the 
Government. I can say categorically that his investigation indicates that no one 
in the White House staff, no one in this administration presently employed was 
involved in this bizarre, very bizarre incident. 

Then on a subsequent date, the President in his October 5, 1972, con
ference stated in response to a reporter's question as follows: 

Now, when we talk about a clean ibrea,st, let us look at what has happened. The 
1J1BI assigned 133 agents to this investigation. It followed out 1,800 leads. It con
ducted 1,500 interviews. 

Then subsequently, during the press conference of April 17, 1973, the 
President stated as follows: · · 

On March 21, as a result of serious charges which came to my attention, some 
of which were publicly reported, I began ,intensive new inquiries into this ,whole 
matter. Last Sunday afternoon the Attorney General, Assistant Attorney General 
Petersen, -and I met ,at length in the EOB to review the facts which had come to 
me in my investigation and also to review the progress of the Department of 
Justice investigation. 

Then he stated : 
As a result, on March 21, ·I personally assumed the responsibility for coordi

nating intensive new inquiries into the matter, and I person-ally ordered those 
conducting the investigation to get all the facts and to report them directly to me 
right here in this office. ' 

That was prior fo the time that he assigned responsibility to you to 
conduct a further inquiry, which was on Mfl,rch 30, 1973, is that 
correct? 

1Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Well, I thought that press conference, you said 
it was April 17, is that not correct? 'That would have been after. 

Sena-tor MONTOYA. Yes, but I am referring to the date of March 21, 
which you recited. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Oh, yes, indeed. 
Senator MONTOYA. Now, up to that time, Mr. Dean had been talking 

to you, other people in the White House had been talking to you, and 
there had been quite a few articles in the Washington •Post by Mr. 
Woodward and Mr. Bernstein, and, in fact, most of the information 
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about which you were inquiring with all these FBI people, had already 
appeared in the Washington Post. Now, did you read the Washington . 
Post on or about tha,t time? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. ·What time, Senator? 
Senaitor MONTOYA. During the course of your different conferences 

with Mr. Dean, during the course of your different inquiries. Were you 
reading the Washington Post about what was being uncovered through 
Woodward and Mr. Bernstein? 

iMr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I would not certainly want to leave the 
impression that the White House relied on the Washington Post for 
reliable information very much at the time. The fact is that our news 
summary contained digests of what a great number of newspapers 
were prmting, both about the Watergate and other matters. 

!Senator MoNTOYA. But, as a matter of fact, they were uncovering 
more than all these FBI people were. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. At least, there has heen no information coming to 

us that was more a,ccurate than what these reporters were uncovermg 
at the time. · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Then, I think you are in trouble, Senator. 
1Senator MONTOYA. Well, I think the whole country is in trouble. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I submit to you, sir, that the FBI reports, which 

we were receiving at that time, on the face of them and from every
thing we knew about i,t and from everything th-3 Attorney General was 
telling us about it, and everything that the prosecuting attorneys were 
telling us, could be relied upon. 

Serrator MoNTOYA. All right. Now, let me ask you this question. You 
said that you conducted an inquiry pursuant to instructions from the 
President, instructions which you received on March '30. Now, who 
did you investigate, who did you interview, and with what objective 
in mind were you conducting this inquiry? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I was, as I say, it was not really an investigation 
in the technical sense of the word, and I have declined to identify it as 
such at all times. But, as I said before, the people whom I interviewed 
included Paul O'Brien, Herbert Kalmbach, John Dean, Gordon Stra
chan, Charles Colson, John Mitchell, and Jeb Magruder. I had a tele
phone conversation with Mr. Gray, which may or may not be con
sidered to be included in that, and Mr. Krogh. 

Senator MONTOYA. Did you interview Mr. LaRue? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
,senator MONTOYA. Mr. Mardian? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator MONTOYA. Mr. Kalmbach? 
1Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator MONTOYA. Mr. 'Stans? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
,Senator MoNTOYA. Mr. Sloan~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator MONTOYA. In fact, you turned him out of your office, so to 

speak. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I do not believe that is quite fair, Senator. 

What I did was, I think what I should have done, which w,as to say to 



2764 

him "before you talk to somebody in my situation go and talk to a 
lawyer since you are the treasurer and you tell me you have got the 
legal liability for all this and you have not talked to a lawyer; do go 
talk to a lawyer first." 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. Would you say that you conducted very 
intensive interviews with these people? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As I said, Senator, I can't claim this to be an 
exhaustive investigation. I conducted, I think, reasonably thorough 
interviews. They lasted between an hour and 2 hours, most of them. 

Senator MONTOYA. Were they conducted in your office? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sid 
Senator MONTOYA. Were they conducted in your office? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not in every case. My principal concern was to 

try and get a feel whether anybody in the White House was involved 
in this. I felt that is the place I had to begin. So most of my questions 
were not directed to what people like Mr. Mardian or Mr. LaRue did 
at the committee. Occasionally people told me those things. But my 
principal focus was to say "What do you know about the people in the 
White House? Do you know about anybody else in the White House 
who might have been involved?" or if they were talking about an 
individual in the White House I would say "What else do you know 
about him that might in any way involve him in this?" and that was 
my principal focus. But the other part of my job, other than just 
interviewing these few people, was to try and get on top of these very 
complex law questions which Mr. Dean had been working with and 
which I had not, and it took a great deal of my time, and I might say, 
this was the-one of the President's principal focuses at this time
was this dilemma of separation of powers, executive privilege, at
torney-client privilege, the whole legal underpinning of this process. 

Senator MONTOYA. If you will pardon me, Mr. Ehrlichman, you 
testified about that this morning and I don't want to appear repe
titious in my questioning and I don't want you to appear repetitious 
in your answers. I am merely interested in trying to ascertain from 
you what type of an inquiry. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Now, during the interviews which you had in 

your office, did you on occasion tape the conversations with these 
people? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. On two occasions. 
Senator MONTOYA. Which were those occasions? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Magruder. 
Senator MONTOYA. Where are those tapes? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In the possession of your staff. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Did you transcribe any mterviews or arrange for their transcrip

tion? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In the sense of sitting down and dictating a sum-

mary or anything of that kind? 
Senator MONTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Who has those interviews? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think what I did was to turn over my 

handwritten notes to the committee staff. There is one such transcrip-
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tion of my interview with Mr. Kalmbach which I don't think that I 
have given to the committee staff; I am not sure. 

Senator MONTOYA. Are you prepared to give it to us? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, yes; certainly, certainly. 
Senator MONTOYA. Would you dot.hat? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It may be that they have it. That question came 

up this morning and I don't think we decided for sure. 
Mr. DASH. We have a phone call transcription, not an interview. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, no; this is a narrative that I dictated after 

my interview with Mr. Kalmbach. 
Mr. DASH.No; we do not have that transcript. 
Mr. WILSON. Did I not give you, Mr. Dash-:-I think I gave to the 

U.S. attorney's office less than a one-page memo of a meeting between 
Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Kalmbach on April 6, 1973? 

Mr. DAsH. No; Mr. Wilson, I have no recollection of that. 
Mr. WILSON. Wewillsupplyitrightnow. 
Mr. DAsH. You may have given it to the prosecutor's office. 
Mr. WILSON. Beg pardon? 
Mr. DASH. You may have given it to the prosecutor's office but not 

to this committee. 
Mr. WILSON. I always meant to give you the same things, but per

haps I didn't do it. 
Mr. DASH. I know you have tried, but if you have it, we would like 

to have it. 
Mr. WILSoN: Sure. 
Senator MONTOYA. Who else did you take notes on? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN .• Tust those that I mentioned this morning, Sena

tor. Do you want me to go through that list again? 
Senator MONTOYA. No; I don't. I merely want you to tell this com

mittee what did you ascertain as a result of these interviews with 
respect to each of the individuals. 

Did they convey to you any indication that they might have been 
involved in the Watergate affair prior to June 17 or in the coverup 
after June 17? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, they did. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Will you name those names? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. I wonder if I could refer to my notes 

in order to do that accurately? 
Senator MONTOYA. Certainly you may. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN [ conferring with counsel]. I had this morning 

described fully the contents of my interview with Mr. O'Brien, I be
lieve. And also my interview with Mr. Dean. The one which remains, 
which is responsive to your question, I think, is my interview with 
Mr. Magruder on April 14 at 4 o'clock in the afternoon. His attorneys, 
Mr. Sharp and Mr. ·Bierbower, were with him at the time of the inter
view and they had just come from an interview with the U.S. at
torney. The interview took about, I would guess about 11h hours, 
and if you like, Senator, I can just take you quickly through the nar
rative of what Mr. Magruder told me or I can pick things out, if you 
are interested in something particularly . 

. 'Senator MONTOYA. Just give me your conclusions from that inter
view. 

96-296 O - 73 - ot. 7 - s 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The conclusions from the interview were that 
Mr. Magruder and, according to him, Mr. Mitchell, and Mr. LaRue, 
participated in an express and specific approval of the plan to break 
into and bug the Democratic National Committee headquarters. That 
this was an agreement or an approval which occurred in Key Bis
cayne at a meeting attended by the three of them, and in· addition to 
that particular project, McGovern headquarters and the Fontainebleu 

, headquarters of the Democratic Convention were likewise to be 
bugged. , 

Senator MONTOYA. What date was this, again? 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. This was ·an interview which I held on April 14, 

19~ . 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right; proceed. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. That, and here you understand, this is what Mr. 

Magruder is saying to me, I cannot vouch for the truth of this but it is 
what he reported to me. That the ·proposal which was. approved at 
that time, had its genesis in a $1 million proposal which Mr. Dean 
and Mr. Liddy prepared_. I ·asked him specifically about Mr. Dean 
because, as I say, I was focusing on White House people, and his de
scription of Mr. Dean's participation in that planning was quite active. 
Mr. Liddy told Mr. Magruder, he said, that Mr. Dean had authorized 
the $1 million figure as the beginning budget level. 

Senator MONTOYA. Did you, from your knowledge of the White 
House and the assignment of Mr. Dean, reach a determination that 
Mr. Dean had that kind of authority? 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Oh, no, no, indeed. 
Senator MoNTOYA. You did not believe that, did you? 
!Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. What Mr. Magruder was telling me? 
Senator MONTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I did not know what to believe at this time, 

Senator. I was getting 8() many different hearsay stories from so many 
different people, I was not trying to evaluate what to believe and what 
not to believe. 

:Senator MoNTOYA. All right; proceed. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He said, he took me through the four meetings 

in early 1972. 
Senator MoNTOYA. I believe you testified to that and I do not want to 

go into repetition. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; this is out of Magruder's mouth, and then he 

said at some point in time he informed Mr. Strachan, who was his 
primary contact ·at the White House, that they had an intelligence 
capability. He said, "I got no problems from Mr. Strachan and so I 
read that as an OK from higher up." 

11 asked him whether he had any knowledge of whether anyone 
higher up than Mr. Strachan in the White House had in :fact approved 
this, •and he said he had no knowledge of any higher ups having done 
so, only-and the only people in the 'White House that he focused on as 
having •any connection whatsoever with this were. Mr. Colson, Mr. 
Strachan, Mr. Dean, and Mr. Howard. 

Senator MONTOYA. May I interject here. What particular authority 
did Mr. 'Strachan have vis-a-vis the White House? 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Mr. Strachan was ·about ·a fourth-level White 
House staff er with almost no ·authority of his own. 
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Senator MONTOYA. Well, what particular assignment did he have 
during the compaign? I understood that he was going from Mr. Halde
man's office to the CRP and back and forth. Did you know of this 
assignment? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Have you since found out about this assignment~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In the course of these hearings I have learned a 

great deal more than I ever learned when I was in the White House. 
Senator MONTOYA. You mean you did not find out while you were at 

the White House about Mr. Strachan's assignment~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I knew almost nothing about the scope of Mr. 

Strachan's assignment while he was in the White House until late, you 
know, in the March-April period, when I got into it and I began in
terviewing people and he was one of the people I interviewed. 

Senator 1\foNTOYA. What did you find out about him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At that time? 
Senator 'MONTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That he was the liaison man between Mr. Halde

man and the Committee To Re-Ele,et for the purpose of keeping both 
ends of his liaison informed of the acts and desires of the other. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Did you know him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator 'MONTOYA. Did you know him to be a very reliable young 

man? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I did not know him well enough to form an 

opinion as to his reliability. 
Senator MONTOYA. If he conveyed anything to the ORP or brought 

anything to Mr. Haldeman from the CRP, would you say that he ,was 
· carrying out his assignment properly? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I could not speculate as to that, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. Why can't you ?1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I just do not have that kind of knowledge. 
Now, so far as relirubility is concerned, something occurs to me that 
perhaps you ought to know. My first interview with Mr. Strachan was 
on the occasion of his having just returned from the grand jury, and 
he came in rather shaken and told me that he did not know what to do, 
and he was looking for somebody to give him some advice. He said that 
he had just come back from testifying to the grand jury that he had 
delivered $350,000 to Mr. LaRue, and he said: 

As soon as I left there I knew that was wrong. I had not delivered $350,000 to 
Mr. LaRue, I had delivered some lesser ,sum because I remember that they took 
some money ourt or I took some money out. 

I have forgotten how he put it, but some money had been taken out 
for advertising. "What should I do?" And I said, "Well, do you have 
an attorney," and he said, "No, I do not," and I said: 

That is the first thing I think you ought to do, i.s get some advice. The second 
thing, it seems to me, that you ought to do. subject to your attorney's advice, is 
to go and tell the prosecutor you think you have made a mi.stake dn your testimony. 

But that is probably the only real gage 'I have of Mr. Strachan's 
testimonial relirubility. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Then, what did you find out about~what con
clusion did you reach with respect to Mr. Strachan as a result of the 
interviews that you had? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What he told me in the second inte,rview I had 
with him :I .felt was correct and the truth and that he was trying very 
hard to tell me everything he knew. I had a favorable impression of 
what he told me, that is, of the-of his attempt to tell the truth. 

Senator MONTOYA. The point I am trying to make is, did you reach 
any conclusion from the interviews with respect to him as to whether 
or not he ,was involved either in the pre-June 17 complicity or afted 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see. He told me that he had received from the 
Committee To Re-Elect notice that they had an intelligence crupability. 
He--'and I confronted him with what Mr. Magruder had alleged which 
was that Mr. Magruder had sent over to him a budget which included 
specific reference to hugging and he said no he would have remembered 
if anything: like that had come over. He was sure he had never seen 
anything like that. He said that he did receive from Mr. Magruder 
some material designated Sedan Chair, and it looked to him like syn
opses of wiretap information. Of course, we have learned since that 
Sedan Chair was not a wiretap but that was the only thing he said he 
received. He said he got no Gemstone material at all. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Mr. Ehrlichman, I ·am just interested in what 
you concluded as a result of the interviews with respect to these in
dividuals. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right. My conclusion with regard to Mr. 
Strachan was that he was a messenger, that he was not an active plan
ner or executor of any plan but simply a conveyor back and forth. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. Now what conclusion did you reach 
with respect to Mr. Kalmbach? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. My conclusion after talking with Mr. Kalmbach, 
as you will see in this memorandum that we have now given the staff, 
I take it, perhaps it is best if 'l simply read you a short portion of that 
a.s my then contemporaneous conclusion. That wiH probably be the best 
evidence. Do you have that, counsel? 

Mr. WILSON. I gave them the only c~py I had. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Do you want to read 1t? 
Senator MONTOYA. Let me, I am running out of time now. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, very shortly, Senator--
Senator MoNTOYA. I merely wanted to get an indication as to what 

kind of an inquiry you had conducted with respect to each individual. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right. My inquiry with him was as to his 

money-raising efforts and whether or not he knew, either directly or 
whether he knew circumstances surrounding his efforts which might 
have put him on notice that he was engaged in an effort to buy the 
silence of defendants and I was satisfied that he did not know. 

Senator MoNTOYA. All right, what inquiry did you mruke aibout Mr. 
Kalmbach? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I interviewed Mr. Kalmbach. 
Senator MONTOYA. Just briefly, what inquiry did you-you inter-

viewed him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
!Senator MONTOYA. All right. And you taped his conversation? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. I made this memorandum afterward 

which I have given to the staff. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In that I think you will see that it's my conclusion 
that he acted in the ibest of faith thinking that he was simply engaged 
in raising money for the defense fund purposes that he has testified to. 

1Senator MONTOYA. All right. Then how many interviews did you 
conduct as a result of your being commissioned by the President to go 
into this? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, let me refer to my list again. Ten. 
Senator MONTOYA. Ten? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. How long did it take you to conduct these 

interviews? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I did this in the period between April 5 

and April 14. 
Senator MoNTOYA. The President indicated that he had also-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Excuse me, I •am sorry, Senator, April 15, I beg 

your pardon because I saw Mr. Strachan at 9 o'clock on Sunday 
morning the 15th. 

rSenator MoNTOYA. All right. 
Now, what was this statement of the President all about when he 

stated that on March 21 as a result of serious charges "which came to 
my attention, some of which were publicly reported, I began intensive 
new inquiries into this whole matter." 

What did he mean by that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think what he meant by that was the series 

of events starting March '21 and culminating April 17 which would 
have been his conversation with Mr. Dean on the 21st; the McCord 
letter to Judge Sirica on what, the 23d or whatever it was; his sending 
Mr. Dean to Camp David to write out his statement; Mr. Dean's return 
without the statement; his turning the investigation over, taking it 
from Mr. Dean, his turning the inquiry over to me; my efforts to talk 
to witnesses through this time; the parallel efforts, and I don't mean 
to in any way diminish the efforts of the investigators in the Depart
ment of Justice and in the prosecutor's office who were doing an ex
traordinarily effective job right at this time. 

You see, when I talked to Mr. Magruder, for instance, he had already 
been to see the U.S. attorney and told him everything as a result of 
their efforts. 1So these were all parallel efforts going on and there was a 
lot of reporting. The President had his meeting with the Attorney 
General and Mr. Petersen on that Sunday, and they compared notes 
as to all of these investigations, and then this all came to a head on 
that following Tuesday. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Would you then say that up until March you were 
convinced, and the President was convinced in the White House that 
there was no White House involvement? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. You were convinced up to that time? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, ·and I was saying that all ·across the 

country because I believed it. 
Senator MONTOYA. And you kept saying this to the President on the 

basis of information which you were receiving from Mr. Dean and 
others? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In the best of :faith, yes, sir. 
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Senator MoNTOYA. All right. 
Then why on January 3 were you so concerned that Mr. Hunt might 

blackmail the White House i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Why was I so concerned~ 
Senator MoNTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, any time that somebody levels a blackmail 

threat against-well, excuse me, that happened Marc:h 20, that did 
not happen January 3. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Didn't you meet on January 3 with respect to the 
Hunt letted 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, but that was not blackmail. 
;Senator MoNTOYA. Well he was asking :for help. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, but he was nQt making any threats that I 

knew of. 
Senator MONTOYA. Well, I believe the testimony which has been ad

duced here indicated that Mr. Hunt was gettjng kind of nervous, 
that Mr. Parkinson imparted this information which he received from 
Mr. Bittman to Mr. Mitchell, and Mr. Mitchell, in turn, imparted it 
to the White House and then this conference was convoked where 
you, Mr. Dean, Mr. Colson, and others were present about the Hunt 
letter. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sorry, Senator, I don't think that is the way 
that meeting came about. . 

Senator MoNTOYA. All right, tell me how it came a:bout. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. My understanding is that Mr. Hunt had written 

a letter to Mr. Colson, and I recall seeing the letter, and that that plus 
a telephone call from either Mr. Hunt or Mr. Bittman, and I don't 
remember which, to Mr. Colson's office, precipitated the meeting. 

Senator MoNTOYA. Why would you--
Senator ERVIN. There is a vote on in the !Senate and I ,am going to 

have to recess. 
[Recess.] 
Senator ERVIN. You may proceed, Senator Montoya. 
,Senator MoNTOYA. Mr. Ehrlichman, I believe the last question I 

asked you was why was there so much conc~rn around the White House 
about clemency fur Mr. Hunt on January ·3 in view of the fact that 
you have testified that up to that time you were all convinced there 
was no White House involvement. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if I could first take the ·assumption of your 
question, Senator, I can't agree there was so much concer:µ about the 
White House for clemency for Mr. Hunt. The fact is-

Senator MoNTOYA. Why did you have this conference 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We had the conference because Mr. Colson had 

a very strong concern about Mr. Hunt, and his melancholia, and his 
frame of mind, and his letter which said that Mr. Colson, in effect, had 
abandoned his friend and Mr. Colson was moved iby this. 

It was the occasion for discussing what kind of a contact Mr. Colson 
might make with Mr. Hunt to reassure him on a personal basis. The 
purpose of the meeting was the-Mr. Colson's strong desire to make a 
response to that letter which was a very compelling letter. I believe 
it is in your exhibits. So that is how the meeting originated. 

Senator MONTOYA. Well, Mr. Colson testified about this meeting in 
the context of Mr. Hunt being very concerned and that he might blow 
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the lid off and indicate something which would be unsavory to the 
White House? 

Mr. EnRLICHMAN. Mr. Colson said that? 
Senator MoNTOYA. I believe he did or someone else in the testimony 

of these hearings. 
Mr. EnRLICHMAN. Mr. Colson hasn't been here yet, Senator, you 

must mean someone else. 
Senator MONTOYA. I don't mean Mr. Colson, Mr. Magruder. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Magruder wasn't there. 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right. 
There was ,talk about clemency for some of the defendants at the 

White House, was there not? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At that meeting there was talk about it and the 

talk was that under no circumstances should it be offered nor should 
it even be discussed. 

Senator MONTOYA. Did you communicate this to Mr. Colson? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Were you aware that Mr. Caulfield had com-

municated an offer of clemency to Mr. McCord? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At that time? 
Senator MoNTOYA. No, I believe that was right after January 3. 
Mr. EHRLlCHMAN. Oh, you mean a,t some other time did 'l become 

aware of it. 
Senator MONTOYA. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I heard of it quite a long time after it happened, 

yes, sir, and I heard of it during my inquiry, during the interviews of 
some of these people. 

Senator MONTOYA. Did Mr. Caulfield ever communicate to you that 
pursuant to word from Mr. Dean he had communicated an offer of 
clemency to Mr. McCord? 

Mr. EHRLlCHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. I will go to another matter. I believe you have 

testified here that when the President authorized an investigation of 
the Ellsberg matter that he talked to Mr. Krogh and that in that dis
cussion there was no contemplation that a burglary should be 
committed. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It was never discussed. 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right. And I believe you also stated that you 

were unaware that Mr. Krogh or anyone else had given the authority, 
but your testimony was that you assumed that Mr. Krogh had given 
permission to go into the Ellsberg psychiatrist's office. You assumed. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator MONTOYA. All right. 
Now, let us go into the statute which is 18 U.:S.C. 2511, strbparagraph 

3. I believe thrut you and your attorney have tried ,to justify this as a 
legal venture and not a burglary because of this subparagraph 3, w,hich 
gives to the President implied powers over the security of our Nation. 

Now, if this particular thing or provision contemplates that the 
President taike such measures in order for them to be valid, if your 
interpretation is correct, the President did not take any measure to 
give authority, Mr. Krogh, as you have testified, you just assumed he 
had authority, but you are not sure thait he did and, therefore, there 
was no authority imparted from the only •person that could give that 
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authomty for the commission.of this •burglary and, therefore, wouldn't 
you say that it was not a legal venture ,in :promotion of the internal 
security of this country? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, 1Senator, my assumption was not with re
gard to whether Mr. Krogh had authority. My assumption was with 
regard to whether he had authorized the act by Mr. Hunt and Mr. 
Liddy. 

Senator MoNTOYA. How could he authorize it if the President had 
not contemplated it when he gave the original charter for this in
vestigation to Mr. Krogh? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I suppose it is the difference between a gen
eral agency and what we used to call a special agency in law school. 

Senator MONTOYA. But wouldn't you say that in view of the provi
sion upon which you are relying that specific authority from the only 
one who could give it-namely, the President of the United States
was necessary in order to make it valid? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I would think that since we are talking with 
a constitutional rather than a statutory .power, that a general delega
tion of capacity to Mr. Krogh .would be required rather than some 
specific authorization of some specific act. 

Senator MONTOYA. But there is not a sta,tutory power. This is a re
cital of a reservoir of constitutional power in the President. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is what I just said, Senator. 
Senator MONTOYA. So, in view of the fact that there was no specific 

authority-I will ask you this question again-hy the 'President, and 
in view of the fact that you ,are not sure whether Mr. Krogh had any 
authority to do so, and he certainly did not under the wording of this, 
would you say that that burglary was legal~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, again, you are missta.ting what 1I under
stand a;bout Mr. Krogh's authority. The thip.g that [ say 1I had to as
sume was what passed between Mr. Krogh and Messrs. Hunt and 
Liddy, because I do not know. I do know what passed between the 
President and Mr. Krogh and that was a delegation of very general 
authority on this subject, and, in my opinion, that delegation of au
thority was very broad, and very deep. 

Senator MONTOYA. All right. Now, I might say to you Mr. Ehrlich
man, that your testimony has been contradicted by many of the wit
nesses who have appeared heretofore, and I believe that this commit
tee has the task of judging your testimony against the testimony of 
others with respect to other matters of substance, ·and these other 
people are Mr. Dean, Mr. Mitchell, 1Mr. Magruder, Mr. Strachan, Mr. 
LaRue, :Mr. Kalmbach, and Mr. Sloan. 1I believe you have indicated in 
your testimony something contradictory of theirs in one manner or 
another, in one detail or another, and it is the duty of this 'Committee 
to judge your testimony against this background and against all these 
threads of testimony offered iby these individuals. 

That is all I have to say Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I would not want your remarks to go 

uncontradicted, Mr., or Senator Montoya. I am not aware of.conflicts 
between my testimony and some of those that you read, No. 1. No. 2, I 
understand the function of the committee to be legislative rather than 
adjudicatory. So I don't think that you are necessarily in the business 
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of making findings of fact as to the testimony of specific witnesses. 
But passing that for the moment, it seems to me that whether there 
are conflicts in the evidence is not nearly as important as to whether or 
not conflicts in the evidence are supported, one side or the other, by cor
roborating independent evidence on material points, and I hope that 
you will find it possible, and the other mem'bers of the committee will 
find it possible, to examine the various extrinsic pieces of evidence such 
as the letter from the CIA to the FBI and things of that kind, to 
determine which of conflicting testimony is entitled to the greater 
weight. _ 

Senator MoNTOYA. I am sure that we will do that. 'I personally will, 
I can assure you, Mr. Ehrlichman. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you, Senator. 
Senator MONTOYA. I will weigh the weight of the testimony, and 'l 

will also give consideration to any documentary evidence that you pre
. sent here and certainly I think all the members will. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Good, thank you. 
Senator ERVIN. I think one of the prime functions of this committee, 

outside of making recommendations for legislation, is to find the facts 
and what the facts are-whether the testimony is from witnesses or 
:from documents. Senator Weicker. 

Mr. WILSON. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, may the notes of the meet
ing of April 6 which I passed to the Chair be included in the record at 
this point? 

Senator ERVIN. Yes; the reporter will mark it as an exhibit and 
admit it as such. 

[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 100. *] 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you, sir. Excuse me Senator Weicker. 
1Senator 'WEICKER. Mr. Chairman, I think a bell has just rung for a 

vote and this might be the proper time to recess. 
Senator ERVIN. We will recess and hurry back as fast as we can. 
rRecess.] 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Weicker, you may examine the witness. 
,Senator WEICKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, I ,am going to refer to your 

opening statement before the committee and specifically on page 11 of 
that opening statement, and in the bottom of paragraph you stafo: 

The counsel has always had political dulties. The President 1-s the Nation's 
Chief Executive but he is also by longstanding tradition his political party's 
leader. Any President has a political ,role to play whether he is going to run 
for re-election or not. But if he is a candidate then •he is 1boch an executive and 
a practicing politician. Every such politician wants information, and the Presi
dent, in Ms politician role, is no different from ithe others. He needs and wants 
information about issues, supporters, opponents, and every other political sub
joot known to man. F'or the year 1969 to 1970 when I left the post of counsel, 
I a,trempted to ga,ther purely political ·information for the P•resident as I was 
expooted to do, out of real concern for •reciprocity, attempted to use only con
ventional nongovernmental sources of information; as one might hdre political 
aides in a political campaign. Tony Ulasewicz was hired to do this chore of in
formation-gather:ing. He was paid from existing Nixon poli,tical money by cheek 
under an appropriate employer's tax number. Among other assignments he ex
ecuted potential opposition for vulnerability. So far as I am aware, in my tenure 
as counsel, Mr. Ulasewicz conducted his assignments lega;lly and ,properly in an 
respects. 

*,See p. 294 7. 
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1 I would like to read to you from testimony given by Mr. Ulasewicz 
to this committee. 

Senator WEICKER. Now, I would like to, if I could, try to get into the general 
nature of :the investigations, the other inve9tigations which you conducted. Is 
iit a fact that these investigations or some of these investigations. were back
ground checks on individuals intended to develop questionruble !faceits of the per
sonal lives of the.se individuals? 

Mr. ULASEWICZ. That i,s correct, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Now, ,when ·we are talking about questionaible facets, would 

this include sexual habits? 
Mr. ULASEWicz. These were allegations and that might be included in the 

category, I guess. · 
Senwtor WEicKER. That would •be included in the category. Drinking habits? 
Mr. ULASEWICZ. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEIOKER. r>omesbic problems? 
Mr. ULASEWICZ. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Personal social activities? 
Mr. ULASEWICZ. Yes, sir. 

And then finally, in concluding his ·testimony whereby he character
izes his information-gathering, I will continue to read: 

Senator WEICKER. I repeat my question, how would you categorize the informa-
tion you turned over to rMr. Caulfield? 

Mr. ULASEWICZ. I would say--
Senator WEICKER. Was it of a national security nature? 
Mr. ULASEWICZ. No, sir. 
Senator WEicKER. Was it of a domestic ,security nature? 
Mr. ULASEWICZ. No, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Dirt? 
Mr. ULAsEwrnz. No, it would be of a political nature. 
1Senator WEIOKER. Political dirt? 
Mr. ULASIEWICZ. All right, sir. 

Now, since in your opening statement you indicated tha,t you were 
the one who was responsible when you were counsel to the President in 
turning over political information or information of issues, supporters 
of opponents or any other, and since you are the one who hired Mr. 
Ulasewicz, I wonder if you might not comment to this committee as to 
the information which you turned over to the President and again on 
the characterization that Mr. Ulasewicz gave his own job. 
· Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know what period Mr. Ulasewicz was 
referring to in your, in response to your question, Senator, I can only 
speak for about 6 or 7 months that his tenure and mine overlapped. I 
think that the investigations which he did at the time that I was coun
sel in 1969 and the first month or two of 1970, perhaps, did not in any 
way relate to the political campaign of '1972. So, I do not know whether 
this is in the scope of your inquiry or not. ·But just generally--

Senator WEICKER. I think it is very much in the scope of the inquiry 
on the election campaign of 1972 and, 'I believe, if I am not mistaken, 
this covers the period after the 1968 election up until the 1972 election. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, in any event, the one principal investigation 
that I recall which Mr. Ulasewicz reported to me on, and I am sorry 
that I do not have-I do not think there were very many major ones 
of a political nature, my understanding of what he did had to do with 
Black Panthers and other violent group intelligence, and that is the 
other thing tha,t stands out in my recollection. But Mr. Ulasewicz was 
sent to Edgartown to keep track of the development of the Chappa
quiddick story and it slips my mind asto just what the date of that was 
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but I do recall his keeping us informed on a regular basis of develop
ments .a,s they became a vai1able there. 

Senator WEICKER, And so you transmitted this information to the 
President? · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In summary form. He produced almost nothing 
that was not a matter of newspaper reportmg, as it turned out. So 
there was very little to, there was very little to pass on that would have 
been.of any moment that you could not have read in an ordinary 
newspaper. 

Sena;tor WEICKER. Well, of course, Mr. Ulasewicz testified that part 
of the information which he received was a matter of public record, 
other information that he received was a ma,tter of, was received or 
gotten in an investigatory way. But why did you feel the necessity to 
have somebody like Mr. Ulasewicz investigate ,the Black Panthers·~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh--
Senator vVEICKER. Is there some reason why possibly the la.w 

enforcement a.rmy, is this a.nother area that J. Edgar Hoover was weak 
on? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; he ha.d his connections with the New York 
Police Department at one point in time, had been in intelligence in
volving violent groups of that kind, a.nd he had sources, particularly 
in the New Yo:r<k Police Department Intelligence Division, ,and so he 
would be the recipient of information because of that former associa
tion. 

Senator WEICKER, Well, I know, but that still is not •a swtisfactory 
answer. Was ,there some inllidequacy on the part of normal-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I previously--
Senator WEICKER [continuing]. Normal law enforcement agencies? 
1Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. I previously testified, 11 think, Senator, we 

were not getting an accumulation of intelligence from the police and 
the sheriff's offices and the State police of various municipal and State 
organizations. It was some time- I think it was probably the second 
year or possibly into the third year before there was set up in the 
Justice Department a facility for accumulating all of this. Mr. Ulase
wicz, in the sixth or seventh month that he worked in the counsel's 
office when I was counsel, did a kind of makeshift job of getting some 
of this information and feeding it in. 

Senator WEICKER. So in fact during this period of ,time we all slept 
better at night knowing Mr. Ulasewicz was on the job, is that right? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I don't know rubout that, Senator. 
Senator WEICKER. I am going to pursue this for a minute because,. 

let's get into the hiring of Mr. Ulasewicz. Was he brought down to 
the White House and interviewed for a job by the personnel at the 
White House? Just how was he hired? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; he was hired because he was well known to 
Mr. Caulfield. Mr. Caulfield recommended him highly, and he was 
hired by me after a very brief meeting hut principally on Mr. Caul
field's say-so and recommendation. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, but where did you hire him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Where did I hire him? 
Senator WEICKER. Right. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I met him in an airport while I was on a 
trip to New York, as I recall, and Mr. Caulfield, as I recall it, arranged 
a meeting for us. I hired him, I guess, in the White House, that is I 
made the decision and authorized Mr. OauHield and made the arrange
ments with Mr. Kalmbach to pay him. 

Senator WEICKER. In your first meeting with him, was it in the VIP 
lounge in LaGuardia Airport? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was the only meeting with him I ever had. 
Senator WEICKER. That was the only meeting? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. So that this is some new situation whereby we are 

going to meet potential White House employees in the lounges of air
ports or what? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As I tried to say in my opening statement he was 
not a White House employee. 

Senator WEICKER. I see. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And he was never held out to be and as a matter 

of fact, the very point of having him was that we were not gathering 
political information with Government people. I didn't feel that we 
ought to have Government people in that business. That we ought to 
have a fellow who is established on the outside, who was paid on the 
outside, and you have this anomaly of having to conduct some political 
activity, both of a fundraising and of a staff and of an investigatory 
nature, and you do it with political funds, and they have to be outside 
poople . 

. Senator WEICKER. Well, isn't it true, and certainly neither one of us 
is in the position of being a novice here politically, that the reason why 
you would want him on an outside payroll is that you would not want 
to .claim him if he were found out. Would that be a fair description? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, ·I don't think the way it was set up there 
would be any way to disclaim him, Senator. Because he was being paid 
very directly from Nixon campaign funds in the hands of a trustee 
committee, and there just was no way to disclaim him. Everybody 
would be able to find out Mr. Ulasewlcz' employer through just the 
employer number, if nothing else. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, I will tell you maybe everybody found out. 
Maybe everybody knew but we had to do an awful lot of digging 
around here to find out who Mr. Ulasewicz was and what role he had 
to go ahead and play. 

I would like to have your concept and I think this is very important; 
now we are questioning into the real events of the real business of this 
committee, what's your concept of political information. You see, un
fortunately, thanks to the Committee To Re-Elect the President, and 
some of the witnesses who have appeared here, everybody thinks that 
the Senators at this table and others engaged in politics go running 
around hiring Ulasewicz' types to dig up dirt on each other, and I just 
can't allow that to fly without contesting it because really it's going 
to make elections rather interesting in the future if it does. 

I wonder if you might, since you were the one who was responsible 
for hiring this man, and since we have had a description by this man 
of exactly what his job consisted of, which was dirt, I wonder if you 
might tell the committee what your concept is of politics here in the 
United States insofar as this type of activity is concerned? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think that certainly tJhere is room for 
improvement in the practice of politics in this country, there is no 
argument aJbout that. But, at the same time, I ,think that each candi
date who contests the candidacy of an incumbent has the dbligation 
to come forwaTd and contest the fitness of that incumbent for office 
both in terms of his voting record and in terms of his probity, and 
in terms of his morals, if you please, and any other facts that are im
portant or germane to the voters of his district or State or the country, 
for that matter. I think a candidate for office assumes that burden 
of proof. He assumes the burden of •proof of showing the unfitness 
of the incumbent and I don't think in our 1political system that is 
limited to his voting record or his absenteeism. If it were, we would 
countenance the perpetuation of scoundrels in office who were thieves 
or who were fraudu.lent or who were profligate or who were otherwise 
unfit for office, so I think it's perfectly competent for a challenger to 
meet head-on the issue of the fitness of •an incumbent. 

Senator WEICKER. Do you mean to tell me and this committee that 
you consider private investigators going into sexual habits, drink
ing habits, domestic problems, and personal social activities as a proper 
subject for investigation during the course of a 1political campaign j 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I know of my own knowledge of incum
bents in office •who are not discharging their obligation to their con
stituents because of their drinking habits, and it distresses me very 
much, and there is a kind of an unwritten law in the media that that 
is not discussed, and so the constituents at home have no way of know
ing that you can go over here in the gallery and watch a Member 
totter onto the floor in a condition which, of at least partial inebria
tion which would preclude him from making any sort of a sober judg
ment on the issues that confront. this country. 

Now, I think that is important for the American people to know, 
and if the only way that it can be brought out is through his opponents 
in a political campaign, then I think that opponent has an affirmative 
obligation to bring that forward. 

Senator WEICKER. Now, this is getting very interesting. [Laughter.] 
Again we contrasted similar situations yesterday and ·again 1I am 

just not going to let these things get laid on the table without giving 
another side to the argument. 

I have had eight election campaigns, 8 years, 6 against Democrats 
and 2 against Republicans, I suppose it would be considered self
serving to say that I have never done anything like that, so I won't. I 
will refer to my opponents. I know of no Democratic opponents out 
of the six and no Republican opponents out of the two that has ever 
do~e what Mr. Ulasewicz was doing or •what you are, in effect advo
catmg here. 

Now it seems to me it is up to the constituency, whatever that con
stituency happens to be, to make a determination of the fitness of the 
man or woman that they go aihead and elect, but do you really want 
to b11ing the political system of the United States, of our campaigns 
down to the level of what you are talking about right now? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I conceive of it this way, Senator. I know 
that in your situation your life style is undoubtedly impecoable and 
there wouldn't be anything at issue like that. 

Senator WEICKER. I'm no angel. 
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Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I tJhought you were. 
Senator WEICKER. Believe me, I am not. I worry about you seeking 

people on the landscape here and I have a greater worry now before 
you here, and I will put it that. way. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think you will :agree with me, Senator, that 
someone ,with a serious drinking habit is of doubtful fitness for the 
kind of iheavy duty that you bear, for instance, or that any Senator 
bears in the Senate of the United States. That is certainly a material 
question that has to be raised in a political campaign, at least so it seems 
tome. 

Now, if that is not something that the incumbent's opponent should 
bring out, tJhen you are leaving the constituency to the tender mercy 
of the journalists in the community as to whether or not that is re
ported to the constituency because they don't have any way of know
ing really, especially the constituencies remote from here where people 
get here very seldom to make an observation. So, I would be very 
concerned about that and it seems to me that would be a very legiti
mate subject of inquiry. Maybe my standards are all haywire and 
everybody in the Congress ought to be immune from scrutiny on that 
subject, but that just seems to me to be an indefensible position on 
yourpart. 

Senator WEICKER. You think we have no scrutiny around here? 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Sir? 
Senator WEICKER. You tJhink we have no scrutiny around ihere ~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, in all candor--
Senator WEICKER. I mean I ihave got news, let's count them, they 

are all over here at this stage of the game and they ,are all the time 
not just to hear you and I talk. If there is anything that is quite 
obvious in Washington, D.C., it is that every aspect of our lives, legis
latively, personally, and in every way, is subject to the scrutiny of a 
free press and subject to the scrutiny, at least the Congress is subject 
to the scrutiny of a free press. [Laughter.] 

And also, subject to the scrutiny of our constituency. 
Senator BAKER. Our wives. 
Senator WEICKER. And our wives, right. [Laughter.] 
I want to state right now, and I, obviously you and I, are at logger

heads on a very basic issue here and one that I think not only relates 
to Mr. Ulasewicz' activities, and I am not so sure we don't come right 
back to the break-in in Daniel Ellsberg's office again, that I am quite 
satisfied that our systems, our institutions, are perfectly capable of 
passing decent judgments, fair judgments, hard judgments, on politi
cal figures, public officials, without the covert operations of men like 
Mr. Ulasewicz. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I would only disagree with you by say
ing this much: I think that your assumptions with regard to the fu!} 
reportage by the media of the personal conduct of people in public 
life gilds the lily unduly. Certainly you members of this committee 
are being subject to, subjected to scrutiny by the television and by the 
writing press to a degree and your conduct is being evaluated and 
measured in a way that seldom happens to a Member of the U.S. Senate 
or the Congress of the United States, and I think it is possible for some 
Members to exist under a, in a sheltered situation for years and years 
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you know and I know that the advantages are heavily in favor of the 
incumbent. You are in a position to favor reporters with stories and 
so on. It is an uphill struggle for someone to take on an incumbent 
U.S. Senator under any circumstances, and the press are not always as 
tough on others as they might be on the members of this committee in 
this setting. 

So, I think you and I have a difference of opinion but I think that 
reasonable minds can differ on this subject particularly in the area of 
drinking, in the area of fitness of that kind to discharge the duties. 

Now, certainly there are limits, and I would be the first to agree with 
you, that there are areas where, of subject matters that would be totally 
offensive to me as they would be to you, and I don't mean for a minute 
to contend for matters beyond those limits. 

But I do think that that is one of the things that this whole pro
ceeding is about, I think it's an attempt to try to define the lines within 
which an inquiry as to an incumbent, his life, his performance, his 
voting record, are subject to proper inquiry. 

Senator WEICKER. 'I know, but if this is a matter of proper inquiry 
in the course of an election campaign, I mean why isn't it a proper, why 
isn't it proper inquiry as far as all Members of Congress are concerned 
insofar as the relationships between the executive branch and the 
legislative branch. Why not? Is this material, in other words, going to 
be used between the executive and legislative branches of the Govern
ment? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't think I understand. 
Senator WEICKER. Well, you apparently consider it proper informa-

tion to figure out to go ahead and win an election. 
Is it proper information to dig out to go ahead and carry an issue? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean blackmail, no. 
Senator WEICKER. I mean as between the executive and legislative 

branches of the Government. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In other words, you :have a ,piece of information 

and you have a Congressman and you say Congressman-. -
Senator WEICKER. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, it is not proper. 
Senator WEICKER. In an election campaign i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think it is proper to provide legitimate facts to 

an electorate that bear on the fitness of an incumbent. 
:Senator WEICKER. Of course, what you a.re saying and where we 

disagree and I want to make this clear, Mr. Chairman, if any other 
member of the committee wants to comment now I don't think 1any
bddy realizes what is being done here right now. You dtmnitely have 
two different concepts of politics in this country mooting head on. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I might say, Senaitor--
Senator WEICKER. Let me finish and then I will be glad to go ahe,ad 

and 'listen to you. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Pardon me, surely. 
Senator WEICKER. I always thought we settled these matters on 

the basis of issues, on what you stood for, on a pu'blic stance that your 
opponents took that was a bad stance, how you can present yours, how 
you move around in a campaign, ibut to sit here a;t this moment in 
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time and tell me that we are going to settle our elections on the basis 
of sex:ual habits and drinking habits and domestic problems and per
sonal and social aotivities. 

Well, I tell you, you stick to your version and I am going to stick 
to mine. 

Mr. ·EHRLICHMAN, Senator, I was going to say in what we have 
asked the FBi to do, to determine the fitness of an individual for 
appointment to the executive branch to the Cabinet, the sub-Crubinet, 
to the agency positions and so on, these kinds of questions of fitness, 
drinking ha:bits, hwbitual intoxication, immorality, are all considered 
to he important questions to ask and to settle upon, and the review. 
as far as 1I know in the selection of people in this administration hae 
been very rigorous and the standards have been very high. 

Senator ·WEicKER. No. 1, please don't put the FBI in the same cate
gory as Mr. lliasewicz. Now, I just don't think it is a fair comparison 
at all. I think these are two entirely different entities. I am proud 
of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The subjects are the same, Senator. 
Senator ·WEICKER. 1 might add you keep on talking about the enor

mous advantages an incumbent enjoys. May I point out according to 
your theory the President was the incumbent. He was the incumbent. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Ph~ase don't misunderstand me, I think an incum
bent President has an enormous advantage. 

Senator WEICKER. Yes, but this one not only had an enormous 
advantage but apparently you went around ·and had this type of infor
mation handed to him which added to the advantage that he had. 
I would say made him rather unbeatable. 

Well, in any event let's leave that subject for the time being, 
although I find it unbelievable. . 

Yesterday, in response to a series of questions concerning the need 
for the Plumbers you stated as follows: 

And I assure you that the decision that was made in this matter to put investi
gatom in the field was taken most reluctantly and for genuine purposes and the 
purposes are simply to supplement what was · considered to be an . inadequate 
etfurt at the time by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

Now, in order to satisfy yourself on this you ought to hear from Mr. Mitchell. 

That was your response, you will find that incidentally, counselor, 
if you ihave the transcript, on page 5535 of yesterday's testimony. 

Now, in order for you to satisfy yourself on this you ought to hear :lirom Mr. 
Mitchell. 

We have already heard :from Mr. Mitchell and hp,testified before this 
committee that the first that he had heard of the White House horrors, 
the Plumbers operation, was on June 21, 1972. This was after he left as 
Attorney General. Is Mr. Mitchell lying? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As I said in my testimony the other day, Senat.or, 
Mr. Mitchell's recollection here is evidently hazy because the President 
authorized the creation of this unit on July 24:, and ask~d that we meet 
with several members of the Cabinet. 

Senator WEICKER. July 24:, 1971? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. To meet ,wit:Jh several members of the 

Cabinet whose departments would be the subject of the spooial unit's 
stimulation, so to speak, to get them to perform better in this ,area of 
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leaks. On July 28 we had that meeting ,with Mr. Mitchell, at which 
Mr. Young, Mr. Krogh, and I briefed Mr. Mitchell on tJhe President's 
desires, on the purpose of the special unit and what it would be doing. 

Senator 1V EICKER. On what date was this? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. July 28. 
Senator WEICKER. 1971? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. So, when Mr. Mitchell said tha,t the first he 

learned of the White House horrors was on June 21, there has been 
some debate it might be June 20, 1972, that was inaccurate, is that 
right? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Well, that answers that. 
Now, I am going to follow through some dates and times with you, 

Mr. Ehrlichman. On June 20 or 21, 1972, Mr. Mitchell, according to 
his testimony, learned for the first time, which you have just indicated 
was not true but I will follow through, according to his testimony, 
learned for the first time of the Ellsberg break-in and other activities 
of the Plumbers, which he called the White House horrors, and Mr. 
Mitchell was shocked by these revelations and feared the disclosure of 
these events might cost the President the election. That is what he 
testified to in front of this committee. 

Now, the next day, June 22, 1972, at your office-JI beg your pardon, 
the next day Mr. Mitchell met with you at your office at 11 :45 a.m. 
Do you have that on your log? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator "'\VEICKER. Which meeting followed a group meeting he had 

attended •with you at 9 o'clock. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is right. . 
Senator WEICKER. And which meeting followed a phone call between 

you and Mr. Mitchell at 11 :20 a.m. That is on Mr. Mitchell's, according 
to Mr. Mitchell's logs. Phone call, in other words, he met with you 
at 9 •a.m. or it was at a group meeting with you at 9 o'clock on the 
22d in the morning, Mr. Mitchell's logs show he had a phone con
versation with you at 11 :20 on June 22, and then at 11 :45, he meets 
with you. 

Now, what did you and Mr. Mitchell .discuss at your 11 :45 a.m. 
meeting that you could not discuss either at 9 o'clock when you met 
with the group or at 11 :'20 a.m. on the •phone? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 1I do not know, Senator. noes his log show 
whether he originated that phone call or rJ did, because I cannot re
construct that meeting. I just do not know what that meeting was 
about. 

Senator WEICKER. You mean the 11 :45 a.m. meeting? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN; Yes, sir. 
'Senator WEICKER. No; I do not know. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It would depend, and it would help me to recon

struct to know whether I had placed it, in which case ·probaJbly the 
President had ;asked me to refer something to him or whether he had 
placed it but, I just draw a blank on it, I am sorry to say. 

Senator WEICKER. Do you think there is any possibility, consider
ing the fact that Mr. Mitchell had received the report from Messrs. 
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LaRue and Mardian, either the day before or 2 days before, depend
ing on which version you want, that he specifically discussed with 
you this problem, this ·problem of the break-in, the White House 
horrors, and his fear as to what it would do in the election i 

]\fr. EHRLICHMAN. I would suggest that it had not happened that 
way, for this reason. I suspect that this meeting was convened for 
the reason contained in the phone call, whatever that was, and I am 
sorry to say I do not know what it was, but had it been something 
that was in his mind in the morning when we ·all got together at 
9 :30 or 10 he most likely would have stayed back, as sometimes 
happened with some of those people in the meeting. From time to time 
Clark MacGregor, for instance, would stay back after everybody else 
left and he would talk about something that he had on his mind. I 
am really surmising there. ,J just do not know. I can tell you this, that 
at no time did Mr. Mitchell express to me his concerns which he 
described here to the committee about the so-called horrors. 

Senator ·WEICKER. At no time i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not recall his ever doing so. 
Senator WEICKER. AH right. 
On the same day, according to Mr. Gray's statement to this com

mittee, in General "\Valters' memo of June 28, 1972, Mr. Gray routinely 
inquired into the ,possible CIA involvement in the Watergate case 
and was told bv Director Helms that there was no involvement. 

'.Dhe next day, on .Tune 23, you and Mr. Haldeman called Mr. Helms 
and General Walters to a meeting in your office, which meeting Gen
eral Walters characterized as follows. And I think it important to read 
this memorandum. This is General Walters' June 28, 1972 : 

Memorandum for the record : 
On June 23 at 1300 on request I called with Director Helms on John Ehrlich

man and Robert Haldeman in IDhrlichman's office in the White House. 
Haldeman said that the "bugging" affair at the Democratic National Com

mittee headqua:rters at the Watergate apa:rtments had made a lot of noise and 
the Democrats were trying to maximize it. The FBI had been called in and was 
investigating the matter. The investigation was leading to a lot of important 
people and this could get worse. He asked what the connection with the Agency 
and the Director ,repeated that there was none. Haldeman said that the whole 
affair was getting embarrassing and it was the President's wish that Walters 
call on Acting FBI Director Patrick Gray and suggest to him that since the 
five suspects had been arrested that this should be sufficient and that it was not 
advantageous to have the inquiry pushed, especially in Mexico, et cetera. 

May I stop here for one second i The reason for mv reading this 
memorandum is that obviously, there are four participants in this 
meeting and I want each one to have a chance to go ahead and com
ment on it, even thoui:i;h all of it does not apply to you there, you are 
one of the participants -at this meeting. 

Director Helms said that he had talked to Gray on the previO'lls day and had 
made plain to him that the Agency was not behind this matter, that it was not 
connected with it and none of the suspects was working fur, nor had worked for 
the Agency in the last 2 years. He had told Gray that none of his investigations 
was touching any covert projects of the Agency, current or ongoing. 

Haldeman then stated that I could tell Gray that I had talked to the White 
House and suggest that the investilmtion not be pushed further. Gray would 
be recentive as he .was looking for guidance in the matter. 

The Di.rector Tm>eated that the Agency was ·unconnected with the matter. I then 
agreed to talk to Gray as directed. Ehrlichman implied-
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H looks like "I should"-! don't want to say anything incorrect 
there. 
I should do this soon-

I will get a clean copy-
and I said I would try to do it today. 

Upon leaving the White House I discussed the matter briefly with the Director. 
On returning to the office I called Gray, indicated that this was a matter of some 
urgency, and he agreed to see me at 1430 that day. 

Now that was General Walters. 
Mr. Helms stated to this committee during an interview as follows: 
A few minutes later Haldeman and Ehrlichman walked in and Haldeman in no 

uncertain terms instructed Walters to see Pat Gray of the FBI and instruct 
him not to pursue his investi,gation in Mexico concerning Gerry M. Dalhberg 
since it might involve the Cl'A. Helms ·had no idea what they were talking albout 
with respect to Mexico and when he a,sked he wa.s told, "Never mind what <it's a.11 
about." But they wanted Walters to go to Pat Gray right then and there. 

End of 1uote in the interview with Mr. Helms. 
Now., isn t it a fact that the meeting with Director Helms and 

General Walters on June 23 was an effort to hinder the investigation? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, that meeting was convened at the Presi

dent's request. I learned later that the President was operating on the 
basis o:r an independent source of investigation and out of a concern 
that an all-out FBI investigation might compromise some CIA 
activity. 

My recollection of that meeting is at considerable variance with 
General Walters in the general thrust and in the details. In point of 
fact, as I recall it we informed l\:fr. Helms and General Walters that 
the meeting was being held at the President's request for the reasons 
I stated. 

Mr. Haldeman said that the Watergate was an obvious important 
political issue and that the President had no alternative but to order a 
full all-out FBI investigation until he was satisfied that there was 
some specific area from which the F1BI should not probe for fear of 
leaks through the FBI of disassociated and disconnected CIA activi
ties that had no bearing on Watergate. As I recall there were a couple 
of basic questions that were asked of these gentlemen. One was whether 
the CIA was directly involved in the break-in itself and they said it 
was not. 

The other was whether or not there was any disassociated CIA 
activity, past or present, which might be disclosed through a vigorous 
FBI investigation. They did not make the same kind of a categorical 
response to that question as they had made to the other. As a matter 
of fact, my recollection is that a response to the effect that they don't 
keep track, that is the Director and the Deputy Director, of these re
gional activities, such as the one in Mexico, they would want to check 
with the regional man. 

Now sou have in your--
Senator WEICKER. They had done that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sid 
Senator WEICKER. They had done that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think their letter of July 6 to the Acting Direc

tor of the FBI shows that they had not done that and they did not do 
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that and they did not assure the FBI until June 27 as to the Mexican 
situation. Then they confirmed that oral assurance of June 27 in writ
ing on July 6 and on July 6 is when Director Gray called the President 
and said "I now have a memo from the CIA assuring me that there is 
no problem," and the President said "Let's go all out." So that is the 
sequence of events. 

Senator WEICKER. Why did the Director call the President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because he received--I assume because he had 

this memorandum. 
Senator WEICKER. Oh no, oh no. Why did the Director call the 

President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In point of fact I think the President called 

the Direotor. 
Senator WEICKER. That is correct. The Director had called Mr. 

MacGregor. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Tha;t is true. 
Senator WEICKER. And he had e:x:pressed to Mr. 1MacGregor doubts 

as to this situation. He felt this was the best way to go ahead and get 
in touch with the 'President, and the President ca:lled him back shortly 
thereafter .. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I wasn't at the meeting between Mr. Gray and 
Mr. MacGregor so I don't know what they said but, I do know what 
the President told me. 

,Senator WEICKER. But you do know--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That Mr. MaoGregor told him when he came 

and called on the President on July 6 that he had been talking to 
Pat Gray and 'Pat Gray felt it was important that he talk to the 
President right away and the President picked up the phone immedi-
ately and called him. . 

Senator WEICKER. And did Pat Gray tell the President that there 
were forces of those around him who were trying to wound him? 

·Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had never heard that. 
Senator WEICKER. Is it not a fact that General Walters and Pat 

Gray both felt it was necessary to call the President on this matter, 
that both of them had the same apprehensions that the investigation 
was being interfered with? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think it was important for Pat Gray to have 
talked with the President, too. I heartily concurred with that. 1I hope 
you understand that when Mr. Haldeman and I met with the OIA, 
it was for the ,purpose only of conveying to those gentlemen the Presi
dent's concern and the meeting did not culminate in any instructions 
to anyone exoopt a request to General Walters that he sit down ,and 
talk to ·Pat Gray aibout this matter, •and reassure Pat Gray, if he could 
be factually reassured. 

Now, that, in fact is what happened, and Mr. Haldeman and [ dis
connected from this after that one 20-minute meeting. 

Senator WEICKER. All right, let's drop hack in time again here to 
the meeting on June 23. You are sitting here with the Director of the 
CIA and with General Walters. Would it not be logical to address 
any request of the CIA to the Director of the CIA? 

l\fr. EHRLICHMAN. Not if you were told by the President that he 
wanted to work through General Walters. 
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Senator WEICKER, Let me repeat Mr. Helms' testimony or his inter
view ra,ther, his interview with this committee. Helms had no idea 
what they were ta:lking about with respect to Mexico and when he 
asked he was told: "Never mind what it's all about" but they wanted 
Walters to go to Pat Gray right then and there? 

Mr. BHRLICHMAN. The President's instructions were not to me, they 
were to Mr. Haldeman and he is going to be your best witness as to 
tJhose instructions but my understanding of those instructions second
hand is that the President said that h<' wanted General Walters and 
Pat Gr:ty to work this out ,between them. And that was confirmed to 
me by the President at a 1,ater time but I didn't know it at the time of 
this mee,ting. 

Senator WEICKER. And then we also have General Walters' memo
randum. which I have read to you in which he o.ndicates concern over 
the Watergate investigation in a political sense and you disagreed 
with that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am-the memorandum that you read to me 
was dated the 28th of--

Senator W EICKER. Have you got that memo rand um? 
Mr. E:HRLICHMAN, June 28 which was considerably-
Senator WEICKER, Five days afterward? . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; and, as a matter of fact after the CIA 

finally determined that it had no involvement or exposure on the 27th 
and orally informed the Bureau to that effect. It was then and only 
then that General Walters sat down and reconstructed these meetings. 

Senator WEICKER. So, in effect,. your testimony stands in conflict 
with the versions of that meeting told by, as I have read them to you, 
of both General Walters and Director Helms? 

Mr. E:HRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER, One last series of questions, Mr. Chairman, and 

then I will move along here. I would like to, if we could, get to the 
taped telephone conversations, the conversations which you taped. 

Do you hav~ both those before you? 
Mr. E:HRLICHMAN. Which are those, Senator? 
Senator W EICKER. These would be to-I find it strange in the United 

States to say which are those as ,if this was normal practice. These are 
tJhe conversations with Pat Gray on March 7 or 8, and the following 
conversation with John Dean, whatever that happens to be. 

I ,wonder if at this time ,we might not, Mr. Chairman, have these 
entered as exhibits. 

Senator ERVIN. What do you want entered ,as exhil:>its? I didn't 
quite get wihat you wanted entered as exhibits. 

Senator WEICKER. The two, the transcriptions of the two taped tele
phone conversations, the first between Mr. Ehrlichman and Pat Gray, 
the second one between Mr. Ehrliohman and John Dean. 

Senator ERVIN. Did Mr. Ehrlichman identify the one that he was 
a party to? 

Senator WEICKER. He was a party to both, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. The two papers 1will be marked as exhibits and 

admitted as such. I am sorry, I thought may,be you were referring to 
the General Walters matter, the memorandum which you read pre
viously. We will also enter that with the appropriate exhibit number. 
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[The documents referred to were marked exhibits Nos. 101, 102, and 
103.*] 

Mr. WILSON. Is there a pending question, Mr. Chairman? 
Senator WEICKER. I want to be sure Mr. Ehrlichman has a chance 

to look over the material. 
'Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is fine. 
Senator WEICKER. All right, let's get first to the conversation be

tween yourself and Pat Gray. The ,first portion of it, let me try to 
Rynopsize that, Gray makes some preliminary-unless you want the 
whole thing read. If you want the whole thing read we can do :that. 
·would that be better to handle it that way so there won't be any 
unfair--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Why don't you just ask whatever you have on 
your mind, Senator, and see if I can ·answer. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, Gray, Pa,t Gray made some preliminary 
remarks concerning the position at the judiciary, these are phone con
versations of March 7 or 8, 1973, when Pat Gray is before the 
Judiciary Committee. Subject of his confirmation, Gray made some 
preliminary remarks concerning his position, that the Judiciary Com
mittee could only question his procedural conduct of the investigation, 
not the substance since the Ervin committee would do that. He also 
pointed out the very same day that ACLU submitted a letter to the 
committee stating the same position. 

Gray then went on to say, and then I am going into the e:x,act quote, 
and this is Gray to Ehrlichman: 

-Another ithing I want to talk to you about is that I'm being pushed awfully 
hard in certain areas and I'm not giving an inch and you know those areas 
,and I think you've ·got to tell John Wesley ,to stand awful tight in the saddle 
and be very careful about what he says ,and to ,be absolutely certain that he 
kn:ows in his own mind that he delivered everything he had to the FBI and 
don't make any di8tinction between-

And then something goes on that is inaudible
but -th3Jt he delivered everything he had to the FBI. 

Now what did you assume this to mean, what is he ta;lking aJbout 
here when he says, "And you know those areas I think you have got 
to tell John Wesley" ? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume he was talking about his method of 
the delivery of the contents of Hunt's safe, the fact that some went to 
the Washington field office and some went to the Director directly. 

Senator WEICKER: 
EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
GRAY. And ,that he delivered irt to those agents * * * :this :is albsolutely 

imperative. 
IDHRLICHMAN. :AH dght. 
GRAY. You know I've got a couple of areas up there that I'm hitting hard and 

I'm just taking them on ,the a:ttack. 
EHBLICHMAN. OK. 
GRAY. I wanted y,ou to know :thart. 
EHBLICIIMAN. Good. Keep up the good work, my boy. Let me know if I can help. 
GRAY. AH right. He can help by doing that. 
EHBLICHMAN. Good, I'll do it. 

You then immediately called Mr. Dean; is that correct? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
•see pp. 2948-295'2. 
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Senator WEICKER. I would like to go ahead and read, if we could, 
this convers!lltion. 

DEAN. Hello. 
EHRLICHMAN. Hi. Just had a call from your favorite witness. 
DEAN. Which is? 
EHRLICHMAN. Patrick J. Gray. 
DEAN. Oh, really? 
IDHRLICHMAN. And he says to make sure thiat old John W. Dean stays very, 

very firm and steady on his story that he delivered every document to the FBI 
and that he doesn't start making nice distinctions between agents and directors. 

DEAN. He's a little worried, is he? 
EHRLICHMAN. WeH, he just doesn't want there to be any question. He says he's 

hanging very firm and tough and there's a lot of probing around. 
DEAN. Yeah, he's really hanging tough. You ought to read ,the transcript. It just 

makes me gag. 
EHRLICHMAN. Really? 
DEAN. Oh, it's awful, John. 
EHRLICHMAN. Why did he can me? To cover his tracks? 
DEAN. Yeah, ,sure. I laid this on him yesterday. 
EHRLICHMAN. Oh, I see. OK. 
DEAN. I laid it on him to, you know to fuse the issue so I don't have any idea 

what ·he said up there today. 
EHRLICHMAN. I see. It was a funny phone call. Said he was going in to object 

to the jurisdiction of the group to get into the substance ,and that their only 
jurisdiction was to-

again inaudible there-
was procedural efforts and his competence and he says the c&O!JU put a letter in 
to the same effect. 

DEAN. Yeah. Wally picked up an interesting one on the grapevine today that 
planned strategy now is to proceed in this one as they did in the K'1eindienst. 

EHRLICHMAN. Down to the point of calling you? 
DEAN. Down to the point of calling me and-
lllHRLICHMAN. Let him hang there? 
Well, I think we ought to let him hang there. Let him twist slowly, slowly in 

the wind. 
DEAN. That's right. 'l was in with the boss thi:s morning and that's exactly 

where he was coming out. He said I'm not sure that Gray is smart enough to run 
the Bureau the way he's handling himself. 

EHRLICHMAN. Well, OK, you're ·on top of it. Oood. 

Now, Mr. Ehrlichman, that portion of the transcript, "Yes, sure, 
I laid this on him yesterday," and you said "Oh, I see, OK." What is 
being-referred to there? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know. I do not know and never did 
know, I do not know what Mr. Dean had talked to him the previous 
day about. I was looking as you were reading, to see if I could see what 
had been transpiring in that particular week in those hearings, and it 
seems to me that the issue was primarily-- · 

Senator WEICKER. Dean sat in on the interviews that the FBI con
ducted during the Watergate investigation and the question of whether 
Dean would come to the ,Tudiciary Committee and testify. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think that this was one of a series o:f telephone 
calls that Mr. Gray made to me and Mr. Dean at the close of his testi
fying every day to give us his view of how things had gone :for the 
day, sometimes rather optimistic, but in direct response to your ques
tion, I do not know to what that does refer, that is to say, what Mr. 
Dean talked to him about the previous day. _ 

Senator WEICKER. In other words, that would then go into the same 
area of "I laid it on him, too, you know, to fuse the issue." Again your 
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response would be similar there-you· do not understand what he was 
talking about? 

Mr; EHRLICHMAN. Well, that is correct; unless it refers back to this 
question of who the documents were delivered to. If it refers to some 
other subject, I do not know. 

Senator WEICKER. Let me ask you a question. Yesterday you testified 
to two separate events. One was April 15 where Mr. Petersen and 
Attorney General Kleindienst informed the President, and I think 
you said yourself also, of the fact that the record, the Hunt records, 
had been burned by Pat Gray and that precipitated the phone con
versation. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. They had a conversation--
Senator WEICKER. If I can finish tJhat, that precipitates the phone 

conversation to Gray in the evening? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. At the time of that telephone call in the 

evening, neither the President nor I knew or had any reason to believe 
that Mr. Gray had destroyed the doouments. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, I think it mig1ht be-let me get back to 
that question, I will get back to that question in just a minute. 

You also -let me drop back in time-at the beginning of April, you 
went out and you had a talk with Judge Byrne relative to the FBI 
directorship. Now, it is clear from this taped telephone conversation 
that you do not think very much of Mr. Gray unless ·£or some reason 
or another swinging around in the breeze is a new term of endearment 
that I do not know anything about, and obviously, from what John 
Dean says, the President does not think very much of P;at Gray. He 
says that "I am not sure Gray is smart enough to run the Bureau the 
way 'he is handling ihimself," and obviously, Dean, Dean says, "He 
mrukes me gag." So John Dean does not thing very much of Pat Gray. 
What in heavens' name ,is Pat Gray doing up there at these confirma
tion hearings as the nominee of the administration? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Senator, I think you will remember those 
confirmation hearings and the revelations of the manner in which Mr. 
Gray responded during the hearings, and I think it is fair to say that 
there was pretty general disenchantment in the manner in which he 
handled himself during that time. What I was looking at while you 
were reading was the various events that took place starting back 
around the first of the month in those hearings, and cHmaxing on the 
23d of March with Mr. Gray saying that John Dean probably lied to 
the FBI, and then later privately recanting that charge to Mr. Dean 
and admitting that it was an overstatement, and so on. At this point 
in time there was general disenchantment of Mr. Gray's conduct in the 
process of confirmation, there is not any question about it. 

Senator WEICKER. But, do you mean to tell me if there is this degree 
of disenohantment that you are going to keep this man on as the 
nominee and then later on rus Acting Director, in fruct, until April 27, 
when, in fact, a.t is Pat Gray that steps down, is that correct? There 
must be some reason, there must be some reason. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think the situation was evaluated as being 
perhaps doubtful and painful as it existed but perhaps more painful 
to withdraw the problem, and so there was a weighing of the alterna
tive evils, and it was felt on balance that at some time along in there 
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and I have forgotten along ·where it was but it must have been about 
this time tJhat that nomination was essentially doomed, that it was not 
going anywhere in the committee and that we had to set ,about finding 
some alternative, and somewhere along in this period of time the 
President begins active consideration of an alternative list. 

Senator WEICKER. But March 7 or 8, obviously, from the language 
that everybody uses here, and you say nomination is doomed, and yet 
nothing happens until April 27, and only then because at least a good 
portion of the Pat Gray story was made public on the 26th, 27th. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Senator, the die was cast long before that, 
and the, as I explained t,o you yesterday, I believe, the only reason that 
the President forebore to remove Mr. Gray prior to that date was in 
cooperation with the Attorney General and the Assistant Attorney 
General, who had asked him to permit them an opportunity to com
plete their work. 

Senator 1V'EICKER. Having gotten to April 15, on April 15 appar 0 

ently matters came to your attention which involve specifically Mr. 
Gray admitting that he destroyed the documents, so we can now add 
10 more days onto the time when Pat Gray is kept in place. Do you 
think there is any possibility of the fact that either Pat Gray was kept 
in place so that there was an Acting Director of the FBI under the 
control of you and Mr. Haldeman or that Pat Gray was kept in place 
so that he could be part of the Monday night TV spectacular when you 
and Haldeman and Kleindienst and Dean were let go? Do you think 
that any of those might have been reasons for holding him in place? 

Mr. EHRLIGHMAN. I am sure it was neither of those, Senator, because 
in point of fact as you say, the President was fully advised of the facts 
on the 15th. As soon as he decided to move he immediately replaced 
Mr. Gray with Mr. Ruckelshaus, who was one of the names that had 
been on this alternative list for some time, so that it was not a situa
tion-I cannot think of any particular advantage to anyone in that 
delay except to the investigators. And that is to say, Mr. Petersen and 
the Attorney General, who felt that they had to make their case. 

Senator WEICKER. On March 7 or 8, 'in discussing Pat Gray, Dean 
says "He makes me gag," you have got him hanging, and the President 
says, "He is not smart enough to run the Bureau." 

Now, this is an evaluation made of the Director of the, or the 
nominee for the directorship of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 
This is the man who is supposed to serve us all, and these evaluations 
are made on the 7th or 8th of March, and nothing happens. And then, 
on the 15th of April the man even turns to you and says he burned the 
files, he admits it and he is still held in place and you are telling me 
that basically all that was involved here was someone wanted an inves
tigation after April 15. What would be the reason for holding him in 
place between March 7 and April 15? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the decision was made to let the confirma
tion process run, and that ran until, let us see, the first part of April, 
as I recall. April 6. 

Senator WEICKER. Did the President ask for his resignation? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think not. I believe that Mr. Gray submitted his 

resignation and informed the President. 
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Senator WEICKER. If the information about Mr. Gray had not been 
made public do you think he still would have submitted his resigna
tion on April 27? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I have no idea as to the state of the in
vestigation at that point. The President was working directly with 
the Attorney General on that and with Mr. Petersen, and I think they 
were calling the tune pretty well as to the timing. 

Senator WEICKER. Do you think the President would have asked 
for his resignation by the 30th? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know, Senator, I haven't any idea. 
Senator WEICKER. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. When was it that you .phoned Henry Petersen, As-

sistant Attorney General in charge of the Criminal Division of the 
Ju,stice Department and having general supervision of the prosecu
tion, and conveyed to him the President's request that Maurice Stans 
not be compelled to go before the grand jury? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure, Mr. Chairman. I could search 
this log and see if I could find it. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, it was some time considerably before Septem-
ber, was it not? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would assume so. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe I have that date in my log but I can

not recall it offhand. I will find it for you ove~ight if you would 
like me to. · 

Senator ERVIN. It was before the bills of indictment were returned 
by the grand jury in September 1972. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It was during the original grand jury process. 
Senator ERVIN. Now, you stated yesterday that some other wit-

nesses were not required to go before the grand jury. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is my understanding. 
Senator ERVIN. But you did not make any phone calls about them. -
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. I am bound to say just by way of observation that 

your testimony is that Maurice Stans was excused from going before 
the grand jury pursuant to the request made by the President. Under 
our system of criminal jurisdiction, witnesses are supposed to go be
fore the grand jury so that the grand jury may ask them questions 
even though they may be questions that the prosecuting attorneys 
do not see fit to ask. 

The testimony of Maurice Stans was taken in the Department of 
.Tustice in the absence of the grand jury and in the presence of the 
prosecuting attorneys. What their testimony was the committee 
doesn't know and has no way of getting access to it. 

Maurice Stans was the director of the Finance Committee To Re
Elect the President, and one can reasonably assume that he. knew 
more about the finances involved than any other human bemg or 
should have known more about it. 

I don't know whether it was a 16-man or 23-man grand jury, but 
if he had gone before the grand iury, any one of those grand jurors 
who had an inquisitive mind could have ascertained by questioning 
Maurice Stans what Maurice Stans testified before this committee. 
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At that time they were investigating the hreak-in 6f the ·Watergate, 
and it was known that five burglars had been caught in the Water
gate redhanded in an act of burglary in the headquarters of the Demo
cratic National Committee. [t was known that one of them, McCord, 
was the security officer of the Committee To Re-·Elect the President. 
It was known that the other four burglars had in their possession at 
the time they were caught, campaign funds belonging to the Nixon 
campaign. · 

·A few days later George Gordon Liddy, the chief counsel of the 
Finance Committee To Re-Elect the President, of which Stans was 
director, and ·E. Howard Hunt, who was on the White House ,payroll, 
and who had an office in the White House, and who had been asso
ciated in the Ellsberg matter with Liddy, were arrested and charged, 
in effect, with masterminding the burglary. . 

Maurice Stans testified that instead of depositing such moneys in 
the bank which would have made a documentary record of their 
receipts and disbursements possible, he had $1,700,000 kept in two 
safes in cash in the office of his committee. 

He testified that over $1 million of this money was disbursed in 
cash. He testified that his treasurer, Hugh W. Sloan, Jr., came to him 
and told him that he had grave misgivings rubout disbursing thousands 
of dollars in cash to Liddy on the orders of Jeb Magruder, the deputy 
director of the Committee To Re-Elect the President, of which John 
Mitchell, former Attorney General, was the director. 

He testified pursuant to the misgivings expressed to him by Sloan, 
he held a consultation with Mitchell. He testified that after he held 
this consultation with Mitchell he had a consultation with Sloan, 
and he told 'Sloan that Mitchell said that he should go ahead and con
tinue these disbursements which Sloan said ultimately ran to $199,000 
in cash to Liddy. He also stated that when Sloan sort of reiterated 
his misgivings, that he, Stans, said to Sloan, "'.I don't know what this 
money is being used for-I don't want to know what this money is 
being used for and you don't want to know either." 

Now, I am not saying anything about what the President's inten
tion was. The 1President ought to never have made a request which 
had the effect of bypassing the judicial .·p~ess by which witnesses in 
investigations go before grand juries on the subject being questioned 
by grand juries. 

But, as a result of the President's request, which you communicated 
to Petersen, and which Petersen and the prosecuting attorneys com
plied with, which they ought never to have done, the grand jury which 
was trying to find whether any persons ought to be indicted .and 
whether any persons had procured the other. The seven defendants, to 
break into the Watergate, were implicated. If Stans had given his 
testimony before the grand jury that he gave to this committee, it 
would have indicated that the evidential tracks led directly from the 
Watergate burglary into the office and to some of the high officials in 
charge of the Committee To Re-Elect the President, and the Finance 
Committee To Re-Elect the President. And as a result of the prosecut
ing attorneys giving Mr. Stans a privilege that no citizen of the United 
States was entitled to have at the request of the President, the grand 
jury was deprived of the benefit of this testimony. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman--
Senator :ERVIN. And only the seven people originally arrested were 

indicted. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman-
Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Lest the viewers be left with the impression that 

the grand jury did not see the deposition, I think it is important to note 
that the grand jury did, in fact, have that deposition read to them and 
included the questions of the prosecutors and Mr. Stans' responses, as I 
understand it, and then, of course, the grand jury had the opportunity 
to indicate to the prosecutors any additional questions that they might 
wish to have asked of Mr. Stans or in point of fact, as counsel advises 
~e, they could have asked that Mr. Stans then be brought to the grand 
Jury. 

Senator ERVIN. But you do not know what was in the deposition, do 
you? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir? 
Senator ERVIN. You do not know what was in the deposition? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator ERVIN. And you were not in the grand jury room? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think you are leaving the impression, Mr. Chair

man, that the deposition was somehow or another kept aw,ay from the 
grand jury. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes, but depositions have been kept away from this 
committee and I know from trying to extract testimony from Mr. 
Stans, that you had to pull testimony out of him, that you had to get 
a question as strong as two team oxen. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Are you suggesting that his testimony before 
the grand jury would have been available before this committee, Mr. 
Chairman? 

Senator ERVIN. No, I am not. That is exactly what I am talking 
about. But the grand jury would have heard him, would have seen Mr. 
'Stans in person, and the grand jury could have asked him the questions 
if they weren't satisfied with what the attorneys were asking, and 
instead of letting him go and be seen and heard by the grand jury, 
they treat him like no American citizen was entitled to be treated. 
They took his testimony secretly, with nobody present except perhaps 
the reporter and the prosecuting attorneys, and this committee can't 
find out what Stans said before the grand jury, and you don't know, 
and I don't know but this is the kind of a situation that makes people 
grieve over justice being so treated, even at the request of the Presi
dent of the United States. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Ch.airman, I have no quarrel with your major 
thesis that it's an extraordinary and unusual situation for one to give 
testimony for grand jury purposes by deposition instead of personally. 
But I would make only one collateral point, and this is not said m 
defense of anyone, it's simply an observation. Had Mr. Stans testified 
before the grand jury in person, this committee would not have had 
that testimony either. The important thing, the point that you make, 
and with which I fully ·agree, is that the grand jury system did not 
function in the prescribed way. The grand jury did not have face-to
face confrontation. It was unique and it was different. But for fear 
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the image may be left that we were as a oommittee deprived of that 
testimony, a grand jury's deliberations are and they ought to be. 
inviolate, and they would not have been available to this committee in 
any event. 

Senator ERVIN. My point is this: That if the grand jury had had the 
testimony which Mr. Stans gave here in person, they might well have 
concluded that there was a prima facie case that officials of the Com
mittee To Re-Elect the President had hired these seven men to bur
glarize the Watergate and by reason thereof they might have indioted 
them for being acoessories before the fact to a murder, but they didn't 
have the benefit of the testimony of Mr. Stans' evidence in person. 

Senator BAKER. Did the chairman say· murder? I think you meant 
burglary. 

Senator ERVIN, No-burglary, burglary. 
,Senator BAKER. There is. a new surprise every day, but 1! was not 

prepared for that one. 
Mr. WILSON. May I answer that? 
Serrator ERVIN. No, sir, I don'·t think so-you are not defending 

anybody except Mr. Ehrlichman and you are not a witness, Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. ·WILSON. This would be defending Mr. Ehrlichman against 

that remark. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, you are not •a witness, Mr. Wilson. 
'Mr. WILSON. But you say I am here defending Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes, sir; you are here to defend 'Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Mr. WILSON, I can make a pertinent answer to what you just said. 

May I make it? 
Senator ERVIN. Our rules don't entitle you to, but if you can explain 

why Mr. Stans ought to be treated in a different way from any other 
citizen in the United States when there is no law that ·allows it, I 
will be glad to hear your explanation. 

Mr. WILSON. How do you know that Mr. Stans' deposition that 
went to the grand jury is any different from his testimony before 
this committee? 

Senator ERVIN. I don't know because there is no way to tell it but 
I know if he had testified before the grand jury and given the same 
evidence he gave before this committee, the gmnd jury would have 
had a reasonable basis for reaching a conclusion that there was a prima 
facie case and that is all the grand jury has got to find that offioors 
of the Committee To Re-Elect the President had procured this bur
glary and they could have presented them for indictment as accessories 
before the fact to burglary, because the evidence is that the money 
came right out of the Committee To Re-Elect the President, right 
to these ·people. 

The committee will stand in recess until 10 o'clock Monday. 
[Whereupon, at 4:55 p.m., the committee recessed, to reconvene at 

10 a.m., Monday, July 30, 1973.] 





MONDAY, JULY 30, 1973 

U.S. SENATE, 

SELECT COMMITTEE ON 

PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN Aa.rIVITIES, 
W (l,8hington, D .0. 

The Select Committee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 :05 a.m., in room 
318, Russell Senate Office Building, Senator Sam J. Ervin, Jr. ( chair
man), presiding. 

Present: Senators Ervin, Talmadge, Inouye, Montoya, Baker, 
Gurney, and Weicker. 

Also present: Samuel Dash, chief counsel and staff director; Fred D. 
Thompson, minority counsel; Rufus L. Edmisten, deputy chief coun
sel; Arthur S. Miller, chief consultant; Jed Johnson, consultant; 
David 'M. Dorsen, James Hamilton, and Terry F. Lenzner, assistant 
chief counsels; R. Phillip Haire Marc Lackritz, William T. Mayton, 
Ronald D. Rotunda, and ,Barry Schochet, assistant majority counsels; 
Eugene Boyce, hearings record counsel; Donald G. Sanders, deputy 
minority counsel; Howard S. Liebengood, H. William Shure, and 
Robert Silverstein, assistant minority counsels; Pauline 0. Dement, 
research assistant; Eiler Ra vnholt, office of Senator Inouye; Robert 
Baca, office of Senator Montoya; Ron McMahan, assistant to Senator 
Baker; ,A. Searle Field, assistant to Senator Weicker; Michael Flani
gan, assistant publications clerk. 

Senator ERVIN. I have on a number of occasions requested the audi
ence to refrain from any action which indicates approval or disap
proval of anybody or of any question or any answer, and I am going 
to have to with much reluctance. It does not assist the committee for 
people to demonstrate, and I am going to have to instruct the officers 
to eject from the hearing room anybody who engages in any demon
stration in the future. 

During the examination of Secretary Stans he was asked certain 
questions with reference to the existence of a fund in the Department 
of Commerce while he was Secretary. He denied the existence of such 
a fund, and I have received a letter dated July 2·7, 1973, from his at
torneys: 

This letter is another appeal to your Committee to act in a spirit of fairness 
which requires the clearing up of the misleading record made during the appear
ance of Honorable Maurice H. Stans on June 12, 1973, over nationwide tele
vision. 

'1 addressed a hand-delivered letter to you on July 5, 1973, together with en
closures. Oopies are attached. As noted in that letter, even though Mr. Stans 
denied that he had ever seen the Magruder Memo (copy attached) and stated 
there was no such political fund in the Department of Commerce, the media, 
based upon your hearing record, erroneously referred to a "milUon d•ollar secret 
fund", which in fact did not exist. 
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In addition to the letter from Richard Whitney and two affidavits from former 
Secretary of Commerce for Administration Larry A. Jobe, furnished earlier, we 
enclose herewith another affidavit from Joseph E. Casson, former executive 
assistant to Mr. Stans at Commerce, stating that he had advised Mr. Magruder's 
office that no such political fund existed or was contemplated. Moreover, Mr. 
Casson has told me that he never discussed the fund inquiries with Mr. Stans 
and that no one else did in his presence. 

It is abundantly clear that Mr. Stans had never seen the Magruder memo prior 
to his testimony and that there was no such political fund. If he had been asked 
about the memo in staff interviews, he could have cfarified the matter. That was 
not done, however, Mr. Stans was asked to identify a memo he had never seen. 
Later your Committee had Mr. Magruder affirm he had written the memo !but 
did not pursue any facts of the non-existent political fund. As a result, the public 
has been misled to Mr. Stans' damage and embarrassment. 

Feeling that the only way to correct this matter fairly as a clarifying state
ment in your public and televised hearings, we suggested to staff counsel that the 
record be cleared up without delay in accordance with the enclosures. (See pro
posed statement furnished on July 11, 1973). 

We again request this action be taken without further delay. 

[The documents referred to were marked exhibit No. 104. Subse
quent to this date further correspondence was received and is shown as 
exhibit No. 104A.*] " 

Senator ERVIN. There are a great many documents which would take 
too long to read over TV but they state in effect exactly what Mr. 
Stans testified; namely, that there was no such political fund in his 
department. He stated that very positively. He also at that time cor
roborated the testimony of Mr. Sloan to the effect that there was $1 mil
lion which had been spent out of funds kept in safes in the offices of 
the committee. I do not know what the news media referred to, but in 
an effort to be fair to Mr. Stans, who positively denied the existence of 
any such funds when he testified, we will insert in the record without 
objection on the part of any member of the committee, a letter from 
his, Mr. Stans' attorney, dated July 5, 1973, a letter from Richard P. 
Whitney to Mr. David Dawson of the committee staff dated June 25, 
1973, a verified letter from Mr. Larry A. Jobe to the chairman of the 
committee dated June 18, 1973, a letter from Mr. Larry A. Jobe to 
Mr. David Dorsen, dated June 29, 1973, and certain exhibits attached 
thereto, and a statement from Mr. Larry A. Jobe to Secretary Stans 
dated January 19, 1972, and a copy of the Magruder statement an
nexed to that letter of July 28, 1972, being in the form of a confidential 
memorandum for the Attorney General and an affidavit by Joseph E. 
Casson dated the 23d day of July 1973, and a statement for the record 
which was received by the committee on July 27, 1973, all of these will 
be admitted in the record. I will state on behalf of the committee that 
these are documents which tend to corroborate Mr. Stans' testimony 
that there was no political fund in the Department of Commerce while 
he was Secretary of that Department, and I trust that this clarifies the 
situation sufficiently. 

TESTIMONY OF JOHN EHRLICHMAN-Resumed 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, I have two short matters which 
are the result of weekend research but go to questions which were 
asked on Friday near the close of the session, and I wonder if I might 
be permitted to supplement the record. 

•see pp. 2954 and 2974. 
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Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The first has to do with the question of the 

propriety of the manner in which Mr. Stans' testimony was presented 
to the grand jury. It appears that this question has been decided by 
the U.S. Court of Appeals in the Second Circuit in a recent case 
involving alleged corruption in the office of the Speaker of the House 
of Representatives. It is the case of United States v. Zweig, and in 
that case Zweig, who was Speaker McCormack's administrative as
sistant, was charged with accepting bribes or committing other illegal
ities as administrative assistant, representing McCormack, a Demo
crat, of Massachussetts, was asked to give his testimony to the grand 
jury, and the testimony was taken not by personal appearance be
fore the grand jury but by three assistant U.S. ruttorneys coming to 
his office on two occasions, on one of those occasions taking his testi
mony in the presence of Mr. McCormack's nephew, an outsider to 
the proceeding. 

The defendant in the case appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals, 
stating very much the same kind of objection that was stated here 
to the procedure. In 441 Federal 2d at page 114 the court rupproved 
the taking of Speaker McCormack's testimony for grand Jury use 
by this process. 

Senator ERVIN. I will look into that decision. I have looked in the 
Federal statutes and I can find no statute which warrants the taking 
outside of the presence of a grand jury of the statement of any witness 
for presentation to a grand jury where that witness is available, is able 
bodied, and is available to the grand jury. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman--
Senator ERVIN. So far I have found nothing to the contrary but I 

will look into that case and see if it reveals any such facts. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You and Mr. Zweig read the statute the same way 

but the second circuit disagreed with him. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, I think that is a different principle. When you 

get on the trial of a case, the trial court does not undertake to review 
what kind of testimony was presented before the grand jury. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, could I ask for the citation of the 
case again? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It is441 Federal 2d at page 114. 
Senator BAKER. And that was from the U.S. Second Circuit Court 

of Appeals? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator BAKER. 414 at page--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 441 Fed. 2d wt 114, it's a 1971 case. 
Senator ERVIN. I might suggest, for the purpose of shedding further 

light on the subject, I request the staff of the committee to communi
cate with the Department of Justice and with the U.S. District Attor
ney for the District of Columbia, and with the assistant district attor
neys who had actual charge of the prosecution of the case, and with the 
special prosecutor, and ask them to furnish to this committee a copy of 
the statement made by Secretary Stans in the Department of Justice 
to the prosecuting attorneys. That would clearly be admissible either 
to corroborate or to contradict Secretary Stans and it would not fall 
within the exemption provision of testimony before the grand jury 
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" because it would be a statement made before third parties and I ask 
the staff to ask for that. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, the other matter that I have-
Senator BAKER. Before I go to Mr. Ehrlichman, do I understand, 

Mr. Chairman, you are asking for a copy of the statement made by Mr. 
Stans to the U.S. attorneys that was subsequently submitted to the 
grand jury? 

Senator ERVIN. I don't know whether it was submitted to the grand 
jury or not. I don't know what was submitted to the grand jury and 
I have no way to find out. 

Senator BAKER. Do we make a distinction between what was and was 
not submitted ? 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Senator BAKER. Thank you . 

. Senator ERVIN. In other words, all I want is the statement made in 
the presence of the prosecuting attorneys. I don't want anything that 
happened before the grand jury. We are not entitled to it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, the other matter I have was in 
supplement to my answer to Senator Montoya on the subject of t-ax 
returns. I have been provided with a copy of the Congressional Record 
for April 16, 1970, pages 5911 to 5924 which is a colloquy bringing 
forth contrasting procedures under the Kennedy administration and 
the Nixon administration with regard to White House access to income 
tax returns and other tax records. 

It appears that the regulations which the Nixon administration im
posed upon such access were a novelty, they had not been in effect 
before. They required requests in writing and they enumerate the 
number of such White House requests up to this 1970 date and it is a 
total of nine requests. I would point out to the committee also the 
practice under the Kennedy administration where 6 days after in
auguration, Mr. Bellino, special consultant to the President, called on 
the Commissioner of Internal Revenue and undertook inspection of 
many, many tax returns for days at a time. There is extensive descrip
tion of Mr. Bellino's examination of the tax return of various individ
uals for "days on end" at page 5913. 

Senator ERVIN. Did President Nixon at any time between the time 
that the break-in of the Democratic headquarters in the Watergate 
became public knowledge, down to the 21st day of March 1973 ask you 
to ascertain for his enlightenment how it happened that some of the 
burglars caught in the Watergate had funds in their pockets which 
came from the Committee To Re-Elect the PresidenH 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Ask me to personally ascertain that, Mr. Chair
man? 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. He did not ask me.to personally involve myself 

in any inquiry or investigation in this matter until March 30. He did 
ask me, and the only request of me that might bear on this was a 
request he made to me about the 6th of July, a matter of 3 weeks 
after the break-in where he asked me to direct Pat Gray, the Director 
of the FBI, to make an unlimited investigation, and to take no instruc
tions from anyone as to the scope of the investigation, but Mr. Gray 
alone was to determine that scope and I did convey those instructions 
"to Mr. Gray. 
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Senator ERVIN. Now, I may be wrong but I construed your testimony 
at the moment that the President ,asked you to talk to General Walters 
about :funds that had been sent into Mexico? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not specifically, no, sir. · 
Senator ERViIN. Well, were those :funds mentioned to you by General 

Walters? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Those :funds were mentioned in the meeting 

and I can't recall who raised the question, but those-that circum
stance, not the :fund themselves, but the circumstance o:f there being a 
Mexican source o:f money, somehow came up in the meeting by one 
o:f the participants using that as an example o:f the kind o:f thing 
which might involve a CIA activity. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, did you not later learn that those :funds :found 
their way into the bank account o:f Bernard L. Barker? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir, ,as I understand it, the CIA about 6 days 
later determined that there was no connection with any CIA activity 
and they so informed the FBI on the 29th, I believe it was, and that 
letter o:f July 6 between the CIA and the FBI gives the date by, I think, 
it was about 6 days later the CIA told the FBI there was no so-called 
Mexican checks. 

Senator ERVIN. That is not an answer to my question. 
My question was i:f you didn't ascertain after that time that those 

Mexican :funds had :found their way at least temporarily into the bank 
account o:f Bernard L. Barker, one o:f the burglars caught in the 
Watergate? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I didn't have any special knowledge. I 
believe I read that in the newspaper, Mr. Chairman. 

Senator ERVIN. And you also :found out that some o:f those :funds that 
were withdrawn :from the Barker bank account were the :funds in the 
pockets and the bedrooms o:f burglars? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There ,ag,ain, I believe I read that in the press. 
Senator ERVIN. Didn't that suggest to your mind there was some-

thing wrong in the Committee To Re-Elect the President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Certainly. 
Senator ERVIN. And that was way back in the summer o:f 1972. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At just about the time we knew the FBI was all 

out in its investigation o:f this matter. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Baker, I might state that, having finished 

myself, I am going to impose the 10-minute rule on others :for this 
hearing. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I will expedite your 10-minute 
rule somewhat by saying that Mr. Ehrlichman has been on the stand 
now :for his 5th day. We have covered a great amount o:f testimony. I 
am sure there are other questions that would occur to all o:f us, were 
we ,permitted now, ·a:fter a recess, to go over the transcript and derive 
and suggest new lines o:f inquiry. 

I think, however, Mr. Chairman, in the interest o:f time that I •am 
going to :forego any :further questions with the :full understanding, 
Mr. Ehrlichman, that i:f there are other ma:tters particularly within 
so-called phase II or phase III of this operation of this inquiry, hav
ing to do with the alleged "dirty tricks" operation or more in detail 
about the transactions, I understand you, as other witnesses, would be 
willing to return and to testify further on that or any other subject. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would, Senator. I don't believe that I would 
have a great deal of information on either of those phases to assist 
but I would be happy to be available. 

Senator BAKER. The only point I make is if we forego questions 
now, it does not imply we cannot ask you questions later. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Certainly. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Wilson handed a copy of the Congressional 

Record dealing with income tax during the Kennedy and Nixon ad
m~nistrations. Was it your wish that that be examined by the com
mittee or made part of the record or what was the purpose of that? 

Mr. WILSON I just thought it would be made part of the record but~ 
in effect, you want to ask any questions about it, make any statements, 
it is a very long statement. Very long colloquy, rather. 

Senator BAKER. And it is your contention it relates to the testimony 
of the witness, Mr. Ehrlichman, in response to queries put largely 
by Senator Montoya on the examination of income tax returns~ 

Mr. WILSON. That is the purpose of it, sir. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, if there is no objection I would 

like to see the document identified for the record and accepted for 
that purpose. 

I have no questions, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. The document will be identified for the record and 

received as an exhibit. 
[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 105.*] 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Inouve. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, may we now study your April 13, 1973, C.C. and 

Shapiro interview note~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. I will get my copy. 
All right, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Will you please proceed, sir. On the first line, 

executive privilege, I believe it says. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. This-I should say that this meeting was 

held primarily at Mr. Colson's request at the end of the day on the 
13th of April. The first thing that he said was that he had som~ 
some suggestions and points of view that he would like to have con
veyed to the President and that was the purpose of the-the purpose 
of the meeting, but I also conceived of it as some opportunity to 
develop additional information because I was in the course of this 
inquiry. That first line refers to R. K. being Richard Kleindienst to 
the Congress about executive privilege and he simply noted that it has 
the Hill up in arms. 

Senator INOUYE. Please proceed, sir. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Then he said that Mr. Hunt at 2 p.m., on the 

coming Monday would once again be testifying both from the stand
point of hearsay and firsthand. He said his sources were both within 
the Government and Mr. Bittman, Mr. Hunt's attorney, that he would 
testify that funds had traveled-- , 

Senator INOUYE. What funds are we talking a:bout ~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN .. Well, we are talking about these funds for the 

defendants in the criminal case, that fund from Parkinson and
traveled from Parkinson and O'Brien to Hunt to the Cubans and on 

*See p. 2978. 
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other occasions from O'Brien to Hunt to Mrs. Hunt, and I have down 
the sum of $10,000 in the latter-in the latter category. He said all of 
this transmittal of funds information will be coming out. 

Then he said with relation to Mr. McCord, as I recall the setting of 
this was that McCord was coming up with all sorts of wild stories. Risi 
later story was that Hunt and McCord, and he didn't know whether 
Liddy has been involved in this or not, has made a trip to Las Vegas. 
They landed. They had an airplane standing by. They were going to 
break into the safe of Hank Greenspun who was a publisher in Las 
Vegas and that McCord was saying that this was a maneuver master
minded by Charles Colson. Mr. Colson vehemently denied that he had 
any knowledge or acquaintanceship with such a maneuver or that he: 
had anything to do with it, and he cited this simply as an example of 
the far out kind of allegations that McCord was making at that time. 
I said, well, where does such a thing all fit in this whole-in this whole 
Watergate business and he said, well, I don't think that it does fit and 
McCord said that it was some kind of a Howard Hughes operation 
allegedly. . 

Now this, SenaJtor, I hasten fo point out, is kind of hearsay and I 
do not 1assert the truth of any of this, but I am simply describing what 
Mr. Colson was describing as Mr. McOord's rather extreme charges at 
that point. 

Then he went on to tell another version of the inception of Water
gate which he termed "Liddy hearsay" which was to the effect that 
Howard Hunt opposed the ·watergate break-in, the second break-in, 
that Hunt characJterized it as stupid, that Liddy told Hunt that it 
could not be oalled off, that Mr. Mitchell had ordered it and that it 
must g,o ahead. 

Now here 'again, Senator, I do not vouch for ,any of the reliability of 
that but that is simply hearsay second- or third-hand. 

Mr. Colson said he was also picking up the rumor that Mr. Mitchell 
had a. "blood oa;th" to Mr. Liddy that there would be a Presidential 
pardon for Mr. Liddy. 

He said that he thought tha;t there was a possibility of Liddy cor
roborating McCord-pardon me, of Hunt corroborating McCord and 
you would have a sitU1ation of two people testifying to hearsay, so
called double hearsay. He then repo11ted to me on information that they 
were hearing and 1again this is in the rumor stage, about two grand 
juries who were investigating Mr. Mitchell. In addition to the New 
York grand jury looking info the Vesco matter, that there was a sec
ond gmnd jury in Washington, D.C., which was looking into money 
which passed from a man named Klein to Mr. Mitchell in considem
tion of Government contracts for Klein. 

Mr. HUNDLEY. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. I do feel I must break in. 
I discussed this with Mr. Hunt's and Mr. Mitchell's attorney and note 
for the record in response to a question, Mr. Ehrlichman has now men
tioned the Vesco grand jury in New York, he is touching upon another 
matter that is completely unreJ,a;ted to this hearing 1and I would urge 
,the chairman to rule 1at this time that there should not be any more 
evidence taken ,about this April 13 meeting. 

Senator ERVIN. This committee agreed ,at the start 1as I understand 
it, 1at least 1agreed when Mr. MitcJhell was here and ,also when Mr. Stans 
was here, tha;t we could not go into the Vesco matter. While the com
mittee undoubtedly has authority to investigate ,all campaign contri-
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butions, the committee Ull'animously felt that out of fairness ,to Secre
tary Stans ,and Mr. Mitchell ,and in view of the faot that there was •an 
indictment pending about rthis, that we ought to refrain from going 
into it. I would, therefore, request t:hat you omit any stiatement rn re
gard to the Vesco matter. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chaivma:ri, may I say that I entirely agree with 
you. It really is pra!lably not a matter of law but a sense of fair play 
that would rndicate when there is a criminal oase pending, when there 
:is ·an indictment, when there is a trial impending, that not only the 
witness who may be the named defendant in this case ought not to have 
to testify on that subject, but I think other witnesses should be cau
tioned to avoid it as well. I think the statement is well taken and I 
commend you for urging that precaution in the interest of fairness. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator ERVIN. And without objection, the committee will strike 

from the record any testimony thus far given in reference to the 
Vesco matter. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, I might say for myself, I do not 
feel comfortable about perviewing second- and third-hand hearsay 
and a great deal of this I cannot, I cannot assert to be true but it is 
simply my notes of a meeting and what someone else asserted to me. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. I think it is unfortunate that all those of us 
who interrogated witnesses do not confine our questions to elicit from 
the witness what he has personal kp.owledge of or in reference to 
statements made by parties involved with him. But unfortunately, 
it seems impossible to enforce that kind of a rule in congressional 
hearings. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. If I may skip, then, down to the name Mardian, 
toward the bottom of that page-

.Senator· INOUYE. Mr. Chairman, in view of the possibility that the 
rest of this interview might inadvertently touch upon the Vesco trial, 
I would like to forego any inquiry at this time •and go into something 
else. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, could I put something in perspective on 
the last page of these notes? Somehow or other these notes have ap
peared in the press and there are a number of adjectives which have 
been speculated in the press very unfairly to Mr. Mitchell, and I wish, 
if I may, simply to make clear that these six or seven references to 
Mr. Mitchell on the last page were Mr. Shapiro's secondhand charac
terization and did not in any way constitute an evaluation either by 
Mr. Colson or me of Mr. Mitchell, either as an individual or as a poten
tial witness, and I am afraid some very cruel inferences have been 
derived from this last page that are totally unjustified and unfair; 

Senator ERVIN. Thank you. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Ehrlichman, in the last few minutes remaining 

I have a few questions here which may be a bit repetitious but just for 
the record, sir, did the President ever ask in your presence prior to 
March of this year for information on exactly how the Watergate 
break-in came ·about? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. In this sense, that on repeated occasions 
the President asked that a oomplete and definitive statement of the 
whole Watergate matter, how it was planned, how it was executed, 
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the whole picture, be set down on paper and released, and I have gone 
through my notes of meetings at which this subject was discussed, and 
can say that on at least eight occasions the President made that 
request. 

Senator INOUYE. Did the President ever receive satisfaction? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir, and, I think, one of those occasions was 

just prior to his sending John Dean to Camp David and set all this 
down in March of this year, but he asked Clark MacGregor to do this 
back in September, he asked for a statement on a narrow part of 
this, on Segretti, in November. In November later in the month, 
around Thanksgiving time he ,asked that, in response to a letter that 
he had received from a friend about this expressing real concern about 
it he said that, he wanted this cleaned up before the Congress came 
back, that a complete definitive statement go out. He did the same 
thing ,again on December 8 where he instructed John Dean to do a 
Wiatergate summary. He did the same thing on December 11 and said 
he wanted that statement by Christmas. Again he did it prior to our 
meeting in La Costa on February 10 and one of the major purposes 
of that meeting w,as to impress upon Mr. Dean the urgency for such 
a statement. He did it again in my presence in a conference with 
George Bush on March 20, and again on March 22 in this meeting 
that Mr. Mitchell, Dean, Haldeman, and I had with the President 
where he said that he, wanted John Dean to complete such a state
ment by that weekend. 

Senator INOUYE. Were you aware, when did you become aw.are of 
the President's request to Mr. MacGregor? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. On September 13. 
Senator INOUYE. Didn't you know at that time Mr. MacGregor 

hadn't any information to give? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the information had been given in Mr. 

MacGregor's presence and in the President's presence by the Attorney 
General, Mr. Kleindienst on the previous day, at which time Mr. Klein
dienst assured the Cabinet and Mr. MacGregor and others assembled 
that in point of fact no one in the White House was involved, that 
the investigation had been extremely vigorous by the Department of 
Justice, that the seven persons responsible had, in fact, been indicted, 
and he gave a total endorsement to the method of investigation, and 
the results of that investigation. 

The President felt that there were ample facts available at that 
point for Mr. MacGregor to do a definitive statement. 

Senator INOUYE. How do you respond to Mr. MacGregor's state
ment that he was "lied to" by you. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think that what Mr. MacGregor has 
done, I saw that in the press over the weekend, Mr. MacGregor has 
said, "Yes, they asked me to make a statement back in July, August, 
and September but I should have known about the CIA and I should 
have known about the special unit, and I should have known about 
other things that were happening in the White House." It seems to 
me that, if I may say so, that is an irrelevancy. In point of fact, back 
in the convention and immediately -after the convention days, and fol
lowing up on the Attorney General's complete report on September 
12 to the President, Mr. MacGregor and others, that Mr. MacGregor 
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was in an excellent position to step out, based upon this extensive 
Department of Justice investigation, and make a very full and com
plete statement of the facts as we believed them at that time. 

Senator INOUYE. Would not that have been repetitious; didn't the 
Attorney General himself give the President a report? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Why should Mr. MacGregor, who was listening in, 

give another report? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the thought here was there should be two 

reports, one with regard to the White House and White House involve
ment which in fact the President did gm in August, but the other part 
and the important part was the involvement or noninvolvement of the 
various Committee To Re-Elect personnel and that was the report 
which the President was pressing for from Mr. MacGregor in Sep
tember. 

Senator INOUYE. My final question in this round, sir. 
Mr. Mitchell in his testimony suggested that he withheld informa

tion from the President, and in fact he lied to the President because 
he didn't want the lid to be blown off. 

Did you ever keep information away from the President or lie to 
the President? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have certainly never lied to the President, Sena
tor, at least I hope I never have. Certainly not told him intentionally 
anything that was not true. 

Now, as far as keeping things from the President, a great deal of 
my time was spent trying to evaluate what should and should not be 
considered a matter for Presidential attention, and certainly I did not 
indiscriminately just shovel everything that came on my desk to the 
President. I have made dozens and I suppose hundreds of judgments 
over the 4 years that matters of information and even matters for de
cision need not go tio the President. That in the hierarchy or priority 
of how he should devote his time, that this was, whatever it was, was 
a matter which would need necessarily occupy his attention or that 
could better be decided by someone else, and so I have on literally hun
dreds of occasions been involved in a decision of that kind. 

Senator INOUYE. Did you consider the break-in of Dr. Fielding's 
office important enough for Presidential notification? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not. 
Senator INOUYE. That was not important? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It was a-it was -an event, it had occurred. There 

wasn't anything that the President could do about it. There wasn't 
anything that he was called upon to do about it. It was in a continum 
of investigation, and I simply made the judgment that it would un
necessarily tax his attention under circumstances that really it was 
something that he could do nothing about. 

_Senator INOUYE. Didn't you consider the meetings involving Mr. 
Liddy, Mr. Magruder, Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Dean, and the office of the 
Attorney General and later in Key Biscayne were important enough 
for Presidential notification? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Certainly, and I did notify him of that. within 
an hour or two of having learned of it. 

Senator INOUYE. When did you learn about this? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I learned about that in my interview with Mr 
O'Brien in Key Biscayne-or in San Clemente, in the early part of 
April of this year, on April 5. 

Senator INOUYE. Didn't you know about this in June of 1972 ~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. You mean to say you were kept in the dark until 

April of this yead 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Strachan never discussed this with you~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, indeed. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Dean never discussed this with you~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Haldeman never discussed this with you~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. «' 

Senator INOUYE. Weren't you curious when reports were being 
made in the press about these meetings~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. When reports were being made in the press~ 
Senator INOUYE. Suggesting that these meetings had been held. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think those reports-I don't know h1st 

wl)-en those reports appeared, Senator, but I don'! think they.were very 
much previous to my having talked to Mr. O'Brien here. 

Senator INOUYE. I thank you very much, sir. 
Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, my periscope indicates that the Zweig 

opinion has been brought to you and to save some time it is the last 
footnote on the last page of the opinion. You don't have to read any
thing else. 

Senator ERVIN. I was intrigued by this statement in the opinion in 
requiring Zweig to come before them. It says on page 121: 

Indeed in investigations such as the grand jury was conducting here, the 
grand jury and the gov,ernment would have been subject to proper criticism 
if the grand jury had failed to indict Zweig's attendance as a witness. It is 
altogether in ,the public intel'est that grawi juries should inquire with care and 
thoroughness before they file formal charges against anyone. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I might make a statement, if I may. 
Since I indicated when I remarked on this situation on the previous 
examination of Mr. Ehrlichman that I, too, thought it was improper 
to conduct the hearings other than before the grand jury, I freely 
confess I was not aware of the case that you have now presented to 
me. I also note that footnote 70, page 121, liists some five or six other 
cases to the same effect, and that the Shepherd citations compilation 
shows that in this case certiorari was denied by the U.S. Supreme 
Court, which, of course, has the effect of affirming the second circuit 
court of appeals' decision. The operative language is footnote 7, 
which says: 

One such contention, 

That is, that indictment was defective--
is that the indictment should have been dismissed because the grand jury received 
testimony from Speaker McCormack in an unlawful way. Instead of calling 
McCormack to testify in person the grand jury sent three assistant U.S. attorneys 
to interview him on two occasions, once in the presence of his nephew. 

And to make a long story short, the court of appeals held, and the 
Supreme Court concurred inferentially by denying certiorari, that was 
the appropriate way to proceed. 
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Now the question still presented, I suppose, and which this commit
tee ought to reserve, Mr. Chairman, is whether or not the test of in
convenience applied to Speaker McCormack would similarly be ap
plied by the court to Mr. Stans and, of course, we do, or at least I do, 
reserve that question; but I think counsel for the case--

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman--
Senator ERVIN. Just one observation. When the Supreme Court 

denies application for a writ of certiorari, it makes no decision. It 
does not express an opinion that the opinion of the lower court is good 
or bad, wise or foolish, or unsound, it just refuses to take the case. 

It says here that Speaker McCormack was excused because it was 
difficult and inconvenient for him to come. That is not the testimony 
here. The testimony is that it was to spare him the humiliation of hav
ing to be confronted by the press. But this is beside the point that I was 
making, and the point that I am making ris : Without regard to the 
good intentions of the President in requesting Mr. Stans be excused 
from a personal appearance, and without regard to your action in com
municating the President's request to Mr. Petersen, the fact is that in 
the absence of an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Stans the grand 
jury might have been denied evidence which would have justified the 
grand jury in considering whether there should be some indictments 
returned in respect to persons who were officers of the Committee To 
Re-Elect the President. It goes to the wisdom of action. I am not too 
much concerned about the illegality. I think it is very unfortunate 
for the President of the United States for even the best of motives to 
undertake to make a request which has the effect of obviating an or
dinary feature of the judicial process; that is, the appearance of a wit
ness before a grand jury and according to the grand jury an oppor
tunity to question the witness. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I want to say only one more thing. I 
do not want to belabor the point. I said as far as I was concerned, I in
dicated on the record it was unlawful to do that. Now, I find it is at 
least arguably lawful to do that. It was at least in this factual situa
tion when Speaker McCormack was not required to appear before 
the grand jury to give his deposition. I think the committee will 
reserve, to the incoming of the report, the evaluation of the wisdom 
or lack of wisdom of doing it that way, but I apologize and that was 
the reason for my interjection, of the witness and Mr. Wilson to 
previously expressing my impression that that was an irregular pro
cedure. Apparently, that is not, on its face at least, an irregular pro
cedure and I have nothing further to say about that. 

Senator ERVIN. I think it is irregular in the sense that it is not 
regular--

[Laughter.] 
Senator ERVIN [continuing]. And I think it is very unfortunate. We 

can maybe clear up the matter if we ever get a statement of what he 
told the prosecuting attorneys and I certainly agree with the Senator 
from Tennessee that this is a matter to be weighed and considered by 
the committee later 'and not on the spur of this moment. I was merely 
suggesting some misgivings of rm~ne. 

Senator BAKER. Thank you. 
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Senator ERVIN. And I have legal misgivings as well. Notwithstand
ing the fact my experience has been, in the long years of practicing 
law, that I can find a Federal decision in one of the circuits that will 
sustain any point on any side of the question. 

Senator BAKER. It has been my experience practicing law too, when 
the Supreme Court denies certiorari I am out of business. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes; and so is the Supreme Court. 
Senator BAKER. That is up to them to decide. I have argued long and 

hard with them and sometimes I won and sometimes I lost, and I like 
it better winning but that is not always the way it goes. 

Senator ERVIN. Senator Gurney. 
Senator GuRNEY. Mr. Ehrlichman, on April 14 you gave your report 

to the President on Watergate. On April 30 you resigned from the 
White House staff. Now, in the 2 weeks in between you had several 
meetings with the President of the United States. I presume some of 
these were on Watergate and conversations that led up to your resig-
nation. . 

Will you tell the committee what you said to the President and 
what the President said to you at these meetings? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, notwithstanding Watergate, the business 
at the White House went on during those 2 weeks and quite a few of 
these meetings were with regard to the business at hand, and I will-

Senator GURNEY. I am not interested in that, only Watergate matters. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. Quite a bit of the conversation during this 

period of time had to do with John Dean's status in the White House. 
Henry Petersen became the President's confidant and righthand man 
on Watergate, following April 15. The President decided that he 
would work with Mr. Petersen personally. He did. He had a number 
of meetings with Mr. Petersen who gave him a good deal of addi- · 
tional information which I did not have and to which I am not privy. 

One of the first things that Mr. Petersen apparently asked the 
President to do was fire Mr. Haldeman and me. 

Senator GURNEY. When was that, do you know? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it must have been very early in the game, 

shortly-on or shortly after the 15th. 
The President pressed him for the basis of this request. Mr. Petersen 

acknowledged that there probably was no legal liability but that he 
felt that as a matter of appearances that this is the step that the Presi
dent should take. 

At the same time Mr. Petersen was urging the President not to fire 
Mr. Dean until such time as the prosecutors had had an opportunity 
to perfect their negotiations and their interrogation of Mr. Dean. And 
so there was a lot of conversation between us over this period of time 
both as to what our status should be in the White House and what Mr. 
Dean's status should be. 

On Monday, the 16th, I believe it was, the President telephoned me 
and said that he was going to see Mr. Dean that morning. He had 
decided that Mr. Petersen's desires to the contrary notwithstanding, 
he was going to request that Dean either take a leave or resign. 

He asked that letters be prepared that would be appropriate to both 
of these alternatives and he more or less dictated what should be in 
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those letters. I say more or less. He literally did dictate what he wanted 
in them. I had my secretary type them basically from the notes that I 
took from that conversation of the President and I understand that 
later on he did present them to Mr. Dean and Mr. Dean refused to sign 
either one. So he reported that to me later on in the day. 

There were those kind of-those kind of questions that were going 
on in discussion. At a point in time he asked Mr. Petersen--

Senator GURNEY. Stop right there. Did the President tell you why 
he wanted to fire Mr. Dean or have him resign? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, he felt that since Mr. Dean was continuing 
to come to the-come to the White House and apparently had access to 
his files and to other files presumably, in the central files of the White 
House, that it was-they had then basically an-adversary relationship 
and that it was an unhealthy situation, there ought to be a clean 
termination. 

This obviously did not take place. Mr. Petersen, I gather from talk
ing with the President, Mr. Petersen strongly urged the President 
following that, to make no move where Mr. Dean was concerned and 
the President acquiesced in that. . 

We became-that is, Mr. Haldeman and I-became the targets of 
newspaper and other media attention about the 22d, about Easter, and 
from then on through the 30th, very vigorous newspaper attack, is the 
only thing I can say. The Los Angeles Times printed a totally dis
honest and false story about my intervention in some Middle East ac
tivity. We were continually finding-I was continually finding myself 
laying aside the work of the day to prepare press statements or to 
research documents, things of this kind. 

What I am leading to, Senator, is-
Senator GURNEY. Just a moment. At that point I think we should 

strike from the record-Mr. Chairman, I think we should strike from 
the record mention of this Vesao case .. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Senator GURNEY. We are trying to keep this-
Senator ERVIN· Yes; it can be stricken from the record. 
Mr. HUNDLEY. Mr. Chairman, I just want to state for the record, you 

know, the witness is being responsive and he has mentioned this case 
twice this morning. It just does not suffice for Mr. Mitchell's purposes 
every time it happens to strike it from the record. 

,Senator ERVIN. Well, we are glad to have the interjection about the 
Vesco matter stricken but I believe that is as far as we can go at this 
time. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In any event--
Senator ER.VIN. And I will ask the witness to--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sorry. That--
Senator ERVIN [continuing]. Any refrain from further refer

ence--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had a personal interest in that one, I am afraid, 

Mr. Chairman, and this was the instance, however, that directly led to 
my realizati?n that I simply could not do my job there and continue 
with the demals and harassment and all that that was goin~ on. 

We began discussing very seriously with the President the need for
and this was separate-'£ began discussing and I understand Mr. Hal de-
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man began discussing with the President the need f?r a le~ve of ab
sence about this point in time. And as we progresse~ mto th1_s wee~ of 
April 23, that was the subject that was under serious conside~atl?n, 
alternatives, who could pi'Ck up for me and carry on the domesti~ side 
and work the policy questions, move ~he information to the Pr~sident, 
and so on. And by the time the President went to Camp David on, I 
think the 27th, after we returned from Mississippi-from Senator 
Stennis' ceremony in Mississippi-I think the President was. sch~uled 
in his own mind, and it was my impression from talking with him on 
the airplane, that he had settled in his own mind that we should take 
a leave of absence at that l)Oint. 

Mr. Haldeman and I discussed this on the 28th and it was our mutual 
feeling at that point that even a leave of absence thing would be mis
understood and that we should simply make a clean break of it. The 
President invited us to Camp David on Sunday, the 29th, and w.e 
separately discussed with the President our point of view on this at 
that time. We both had extended private meetings with him and the 
upshot of that was we submitted our resignations. 

Senator GURNEY. Then, in summary, between April 12 and April-30, 
in these meetings where you discussed Watergate, it was mainly a dis
cussion of how more and more you were becoming ineffective because · 
of the media exposure to Watergate, including vou and also Mr. Halde
man. And those were principally the discussions that led up to tlie 
resignation? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There were other points obviously being raised. 
Mr. Petersen was pressing the contention, for instance, that I had 
urged Hunt to get out of the country and I had urged Mr. Dean to 
dcstrov the contents of the safe and he was playing back to the Presi
dent in justification of his argument that we should be fired-testi
mony that was being picked up bv the prosecuting attorneys. So I in 
turn was trving to gather such evidence as I could on those points and 
as I said before, I talked to the people who were at the meeting of .June 
19 and I reported to the President what they had said. 

Likewise, during this period of time we consulted counsel and laid 
out the facts for counsel and took his opinion as to whether or not we 
were guilty of any legal wrongdoing and made that report to the Presi
dent. So we were very much personally involved in trying to indicate 
to the President what our point of view was, our recollection of the 
facts, where the truth of this matter lay. 

Senator GURNEY. Let me put it this way: In any of these meetings 
did the President say to you, "John, it has come to my attention that 
you were involved in the coverup in such and such a fashion and I can
not keep you on because of that?" Did any of the conversations go in 
this vein? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. They went in the vein, "this fellow is making 
accusations against you," being John Dean. "These are serious allega
tions. I have confidence that what you are telling me is true but let us 
face it, the prosecuting attorney 'through Mr. Petersen is strongly 
urging that I put you on leave of absence and I have to listen to that 
advice." 

Senator GURNEY. Did the President ask you to resign? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
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Senator GURNEY. That is all, Mr. Chairman. In the interests of time 
I am not going to take my full 10 minutes. 

Senator ERVIN. Thank you. 
Senator Montoya. 
Senator MONTOYA. I just have one question, Mr. Chairman. 
The other day we brought out that the .President in two press con· 

ferences, the press conference of April 17 and the press conference of 
April 30, 1973, had alluded to the date of March 21 which was the date, 
significant da;te in his mind, when he had really ordered an intensive 
investigation. Then in your opening statement you indicated that you 
had been commissioned by the President to start an investigation or 
an inquiry, as you called it, on March 30. 

Now, can you tell me what information was given to the President 
as a result of the intensive investigation which began on March 21 and 
up to the time that you assumed your own inquiry on March 30? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was never presented to me, Senator, in any 
sort of capsulized or organized form. In other words, I didn't sit down 
with the President and-in a situation where he said to me, now, here 
is everything I have learned in the last 9 days. So-but at the same 
time in his reaction to this narrative report which I gave him, it was 
evident to me that he had information or impressions, at least, about 
this matter which were independent of anything that I was advancing 
to him. So tha~and I know that during the time that I was working 
on this, on and after the 30th, that the President was not limiting his 
sources of information to just what I had told him. I said the other 
day that in this meeting of March 22, the President must have been 
doing one of two things, either proceeding without any information 
gained on the 21st or else he was playing a very cool game and setting 
traps for people. 

In my own mind I am convinced it was the latter, that the President 
had picked up enough information to begin to get started on this and 
that he was-he was checking a lot of people through a lot of other 
people. I know, for instance, he had me check on Bob Haldeman and 
I am sure he didn't tell Haldeman that I was doing it. 

Senator MoNTOYA. I assume when he made the statement at the 
press conference, to wit, "On March 21, as a result of serious charges 
which came to my attention, some of which were publicly reported, I 
began intensive new inquiries into this whole matter." 

I interpret this statement to mean that he received serious charges 
personally and also through the press. 

Are you aware of any communication by anyone to the President 
with respect to serious charges which came to his attention? 

Mr. EHRLICRMAN. Well, I have heard the testimony here that Mr. 
Dean had this conversation with him on the 21st, Mr. Haldeman was 
in some of that meeting. 

At the same time, or right around this period of time, Mr. McCord, 
of course, was making charges both in the press and through a letter 
to the district judge. I assume that all of those are referred to in that 
statement but I don't know. 

Senator MoNTOY A. Well, you are assuming that he was referring 
partly to the report which Mr. Dean had given him? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume so but I don't know that. 
Senator MoNTOYA. All right. 
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Now, why would not the President come out with this information 
and also the information which you imparted to him on April 14 at 
his April 17 conference~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Just say that this is everything I know. · 
Senator MONTOYA. ·what actually you had imparted to him and you 

indicated that you had really given him some very substantial informa
tion. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think in going through the notes here 
with Senator Inouye and your examination, you see that a lot of what 
I gave him was hearsay once and twice removed. I would have felt it 
very unwise and unfair if the President had simply made a public 
statement of all of this hearsay at that point in time. It would have 
very unfairly raised charges and inferences against people that may 
ultimately prove to be totally false. So I think what it stands for, the 
whole thing stands for, Senator, is that the President was alerted, he 
began to move, that he needed a great deal more information even 
on April 18 than he had in order to say definitely this is what happened, 
this is what happened, and this is what happened, without being ter
ribly unfair to innocent people. 

Senator MONTOYA. That is all the questions I have, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Weicker. 
Senator WEICKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, when did the name of Judge 

Byrne first arise to your knowledge as a possibility for the FBI 
directorship~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believe, Senator, that his name was on the 
original list of prospects, oh, I don't know when. perhaps back as far 
as shortly after Director Hoover's death. I am not sure but it had 
always been one of the names on a list of seven or eight names. 

Senator WEICKER. And you indicated to me in my questioning last 
Friday that around this period of time, March 7 and 8, there was cer
tain disenchantment as to Mr. Gray. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. Would it be somewhere in around that period 

that other names were being considered~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I don't believe-I don't believe as early as 

that. To the best of my recollection, other names were not really con
sidered until about the time that the President went west, which 
would have been about March 30. I could be wrong on that. But that is 
the first that I recall any serious decision of alternatives. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, in their testimony, let's just review certain 
facts. 

In the conversation, the taped telephone conversation, between your
self and John Deain on March 7 or 8, and I am quoting verbatim now : 

Ehrlichman. Well, I think we ought to let him hang there. Let him twist slow
ly, slowly in the wind. 

Dean. That's right. I was in with the boss this morning and that's exactly 
where he was coming out. He said I'm not sure that Gray's smart enough to run 
the Bureau the way he's handling himself. 

Now, in your questioning about this last, and I am reading verbatim 
:from the transcript, your response was: ' 

Mr, Ehrlichman. Well, Senator, I think you will remember those eonfirmation 
hearings and the revelations and the manner in which Mr. Gray responded dur
ing the hearing and I think it is fair to say there was pretty general disenchant
ment in the manner in which he handled himself during that time. 
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What I was looking at while you were reading was the various events that 
took place starting back around the :first of the month in those hearings and 
climaxing on the 23rd of March with Mr. Gray saying that John Dean probably 
lied to the FBI and then later probably recan_ting that charge to Mr. Dean and 
admitting that it was an overstatement and so on. At this point in time there 
was general disenchantment of Mr. Gray's conduct in the process of confirmation, 
there is not any question about it. 

Do you recall having an interview with the Chicago Tribune on 
March 28? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Senator WEICKER. Well, let me go ahead and cite to you your 

responses in that interview. This, mind you, is on March 28, some 20 
days after your comments and Dean's comments, and I think they 
are also-the interview can be taken in the light of what you told this 
committee last Friday. 

Question. Would the President be unhappy if the Senate refused to confirm L. 
Patrick Gray as Federal Bureau of Investigation's Director in light of the Presi
dent's repudiation of Gray's offer of raw FBI :files to the Senate Judiciary Com
mittee and subsequent incidents in which Gray seemed to tacitly agree that John 
Dean might have lied to FBI agents? 

Answer. I don't think that the Administration's position on Mr. Gray is neces
sarily related to those two incidents. The President supports Mr. Gray's nomina
tion enthusiastically and has from the beginning. As far as I know, there is no 
change. 

Question. Is there a backup point? 
Answer. No, no one e1'se is under consideration at alt 
Question. The President made it a point to ask Ron Ziegler (White House Press 

Secretary) to express his confidence in John Dean the other day. Was the absence 
of such an expression from Mr. Gray significant in any way? 

Answer. Oh, no. Ron, I am sure ·has expressed ieonfidenre in Mr. Gray or he 
would if asked. I certainly do and I know the President would want me to. 

Question. He is sttiU the man for the job ais far as you are concerned? 
Answer. Oh,.sure. 

Now, Mr. Ehrlichman, specifically I would like to know what the 
version is. Did the White House support Gray's nomination or not? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We supported Gray's nomination right up to the 
time it was withdrawn. 

Now Senator, I am sure you realize when a nomination is still up here 
and still before the Senate, we support that nomination right down the 
line. What I may say to John Dean privately, the inhouse disenchant
ment with that nomination, certainly would never be reflected in state
ments to the press. Until the President decides that he is going to have 
to withdraw that nomination, then by George, we are going to root for 
the--we are going to root for the team. 

Senator WEicKER. Can we paraphrase "by George, we are going to 
lie to the press"? _ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We are certainly not going to indicate to the 
press our disenchantment, that is right. 

Senator ,V"EICKER. One last question. I just received this document 
and I think it raises some interesting questions I have not done and I 
don't want to impede the committee the necessary background on it 
except as I have the document in my hand now I am going to read it 
to you and I will show it to you. I don't know if we have a copy or not. 
It is from the White House, Washington. It is dated October 2, 1972. 
For John Dean, and it is from John Ehrlichman and it has your initial 
"E" on your name there and I will show this to you. 

Mr. DASH. We have copies. 
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Senator WEICKER. Do you have a copy of it? Will someone please 
give Mr. Ehrlichman a copy? 

The memorandum dat~d October 2, 1972, from the White House: 
For John Dean : Herb Kalmbach, thinking ahead to the possibility of the matter 

of the privilege being raised at some time or another, suggested that there 
should be a written retainer arrangement in existence in advance. 

He has written out this long-hand draft. I'm sure you'll find the basic question 
of whether or not such a letter is advisable to be the first hurdle. 

If you think that one may be inadvisable I would suggest' you talk to Herb 
direct. Otherwise, would you work on a revision? John E. Ehd-ichman. 

Now, the draft which Mr. Kalmbach wrote out reads as follows: 
Dear Mr. Kalmbach: For your files this letter is. to confirm that you have 

been and are now acting as legal counsel to the White House on various assign
ments. In such capacity as our legal counsel, we expect you to treat these matters 
as being entirely confidential. We consider all aspects of these assignments to 
be within the attorney-client privilege and you are therefore precluded from 
making any disclosures with respect to these matters. 

Should yo~ be requested to comment on any of your legal assignments in 
this regard, we instruct you to invoke the attorney-client privilege rather than 
respond. 

[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 106.*J 
Senator WEICKER. Now, this was Mr. Kalmbach's draft which ob~ 

viously you read and sent on to Mr. Dean for his comments and/or 
revision. This was October 2, 1972, when in effect an attorney-client 
privilege was trying to be set up in advance. 

Would you like to explain to this committee as to whether or not, 
No. 1, this didn't arouse any suspicions on your part and why it is 
that we have to set up attorney-client privileges, attorney-client re
lationships in order to assert the attorney-client privilege in advance? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, as you see from the covering memo, Sen
ator, I am simply transmitting :from Mr. Kalmbach to Mr. Dean a 
suggestion of Mr. Kalmbach. I don't relate it to any specific incidents 
or projects at all. I can't-Mr. Kalmbach would come once ever couple 
of months and call on me and we would go down a list of items and 
this was one that I recall he left with me at such a meeting. He said 
that he was concerned about sort of the informality of his arrange
ment and he wasn't vouching for it being a terribly good idea. As 
you see by the covering memo, I wasn't at all sure whether it was 
advisable and I referred it to John Dean. I am not sure what ever 
became of this, whether there was any action taken on it or not. 

Senator WEICKER. Well, all you say is whether it is advisable is the 
first hurdle. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator WEICKER. Inadvisable to talk to him, correct, otherwise you 

would work on a revision? · 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have no-at the time I had no feel for whether 

this was a good idea or not. 
Senator WEICKER. In other words, you felt this was merely an at

tempt of Mr. Kalmbach to formalize his relationships with the White 
House? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That was my assumption, yes. I think that, if you 
take it on its four corners that is what his handwritten draft says, and 
I was in no position to judge as to whether that was or was not appro
priate under the circumstances. 

*See p. 3005. 
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Senator WEICKER. Well, the whole th:i;:ust of his memorandum is to 
set up this relationship in order he does not have to make any dis
closures; is that correct? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. "\Yell, as I say, I think--
Senator WEICKER. It had nothing to do with employment? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The basic question so far as I was concerned here, 

was not whether there was a relationship or not but whether this was 
an advisable thing for the "\,Vhite House to be doing with an attorney 
on the outside. 

Senator WEICKER. But it is your statement, this is your interpreta
tion of Herb Kalmbach's thinking ahead of the matter of privilege 
being raised sometime on the matter, this is what you are saying to 
John Dean? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Senator WEICKER. "\,Vhy would he be thinking ahead? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Obviously, I am not in a position at this time, at 

the time I wrote this, to know what his thought was, as I said. That is 
something that I asked Dean to get into with Kalmbach direct. I took 
myself out of it. 

Senator WEICKER. And it did not, in conjunction with other matters 
that you had discussed with Mr. Kalmbach, it has no relationship at 
all, it is just a matter of formalizing his employment status at the 
"\-VhiteHouse? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN; Well, it may have been in connection with some
thing that we discussed but I would not know. 

Senator WEICKER. I have no further questions at this time, Mr. 
Chairman. 

Senator ERVIN. It could be--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, counsel brings to my attention an 

omission. Senator Montoya asked me a question about Clark Mac
Gregor, and his response to my testimony. There is in the committee 
staff's possession a dictabelt recording of the conversation which Mr. 
MacGregor and I had which bears on this point and I would ask that 
that transcription simply be made a part of the record. 

Senator ERVIN. Now, the evidence before this committee is that the 
only thing Mr. Kalmbach had done in connection with these matters 
was that he had raised money and had the money tmnsferred through 
Ul,asewicz to the defendants and their counsel in the criminal action, 
and that he had disbursed money to Segretti. 

Aren't these documents that Senator W eicker called your attention 
to susceptible of the interpretation that it wa& an effort to cloak him 
with a suspicious pretense of having acted in the capacity of counsel 
so he might invoke the attorney ,and client privilege? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Senator, I think-the first part of your statement 
is exactly correct, you are operating on very limited knowledge based 
on the little bit of evidence that I had here about what Mr. Kalmbach 
did. He did a great many other things some of which he did for the 
"\-Vhite House. Now, I do not conceive that money-raising effort to be 
for the "\-Vhite House, and this attorney-client privilege statement, 
this retainer statement attempts to identifv his relationship to the 
"\-Vhite House, not to the Committee To Re-Elect. So I think just the 
opposite would be true in that this would relate to some of those things 
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which he had done in connection with the San Clemente property 
or something that was germane to a legitimate White House activity. 

Senator ERVIN. There would not have been any necessity for, writing 
out a document to that effect. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I would hope--
Senator ERVIN. With respect to anything he did as a private attor

ney for the President, I never have heard any evidence or heard it 
suggested that he was ever attorney for the White House. I thought 
he was a personal attorney to the President. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I hope you will take the opportunity to 
take that evidence so that you would have this in pro:P.er context. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, in the interest of time, I will-if there is no 
objection on the pa.rt of any Senator-I will have these two documents 
put in the record and marked as exhibits regardless of what the 
explanation was. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, may I ask this other document, 
the telephone transcript, the conversation between Mr. MacGregor and 
me be put into the record? 

Senator ERVIN. Without objection, so 9rdered. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you. 
[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 107. *] 
Senator ERVIN. I have no further questions. 
Senator Baker. 
Senator BAKER. I have no further questions. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator I,iouye? Senator Gurney? Senator Mon

toya? Senator W eicker? 
If there are no further questions of Senators, then under our proce

dures we will turn to counsel. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Ehrlichman, I am going to move on very quickly 

to the main area of our inquiry, which is the Watergate and the 
coverup. But I will just rask a couple of questions to get back to the 
Ellsberg break-in, and not into the break-in itself and not get into 
the legal questions of the legality of the break-in itself, but the sin
cerity of your statement that you felt it was legal. 

Now, the first question that I have to ask in that area-is it not 
a fact, Mr. Ehrlichman, that this is the first time you have asserted 
puJblicly before any investigating body the claim that the break-in of 
Dr. Fielding's office was legal for national security? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think unlike the other investigative 
bodies this one goes far beyond mere fact and gets into these asso
ciated questions. The other investigative bodies, as you call them, 
have been basically grand juries, where we have not gotten into 
questions of law nor for that matter, the surrounding- and sort of 
collateral questions. So that I have never been called upon, I do not 
think, to in any way treat of that subject on an}'." prevf ous occasion. 

Mr. DASH. But you have spoken ,publicly on tlns subJect, have you 
not. on this so-called Ellsberg break-in? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I do not know what you call speaking 
publiclv. I have talked to the press. 

Mr. DASH. And you also appeared on Mike Wallace's program "60 
Minutes." 

*See p, 3007. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. 
Mr. DASH. Do you recall in that interview your statement that there 

was no way to condone that action? Now, if in fact you believed that, 
at that time, that it was legal, and had, as your attorney indicated, 
the section of the Code which gave symbolic basis for the legality, 
would you !he saying there was no way to condone it? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think you will remember my testifying 
here, Mr. Dash, that at the time it was reported to me I did not con
done it. It was simply beyond my contemplation that there would he 
a resort to that particular-to the break-in in order to do this job 
that they were assigned to do, this investigation. 

Mr. DASH. But you have testified and spent quite a bit of your 
time testifying, in answer to questiop.s, that the brsak-in was actually 
a legal act in the interest of national security. Then taking your 
statement that you did not know in advance that is what they would 
do, nevertheless, you indicated that that was perfectly legal under 
the law in the interest of national security. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I believ.e that is a sound position. 
Mr. DASH. Now, did you also testify that you spoke to the Presi

dent in March about it and that he also indicated to you that he be
lieved that national security required it or that it was justified under 
national security? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, he did. 
Mr. DASH. If he did that in March-you are aware of his May 22 

statement. Why would it he necessary for the President in his May 
22 statement to make a public apology actually, and take personal 
responsibility for what he said was illegal means that he was not 
made aware of in advance? Rather, would he not have stated, as 
President, if he thought that this was a legal act and in the interest 
of national security, that all acts of the Plumbers group were legal, 
and in the interest of national security? Why would he feel it neces
sary to apologize to the people of America and take responsibility and 
say he had no foreknowledge of any legal means? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, you are asking the wrong person, Mr. 
Dash, to explain the President's statement of May 22. I was gone 
like 3 weeks at that point, and had no part in the preparation of that 
statement. 

Mr. DASH. Well--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. My statement here with regard to my under

standing of the law is not meant to speak for the President nor any
one except myself. This is my view based on the advice of eminent 
counsel, and I think it is a sound one. 

Mr. DASH. When did you first get that view-you said, based on 
the advice of eminent counsel? Is it not true that you have recently 
been advised by counsel based on the statutes provided for you that 
this was a legal act? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, certainly. 
Mr. DASH. And that, therefore--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had no occasion to brief it until I left the White 

IIouse,Mr. Dash. 
Mr. DASH. Then you never really believed at the time or had any 

viewpoint when the break-in took place that this was legal? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN [conferring with counsel]. Well, I certainly had 
a viewpoint, and I certainly had a strong feeling of the propriety of 
the President's actions in attempting to plug these leaks. 

Mr. DASH. That is not my question. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, it is. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Ehrlichman, that is not the question, the question 

is the break-in. . 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dash, are you going to interrupt my 

answers? 
Mr. DASH. No, and you have used the questioning for making 

speeches throughout the hearing. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Let me give my answer and if you do not feel 

it is responsive why don't you point out where it is not~ 
Mr. DASH. I hope you will give a responsive answer. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I will do my very best. I understand your ques

tion to he whether or not I had a belief or impression that the thing 
that the President had assigned here in creating this special unit was 
legal and proper, and my answer to you is that I had a continuing 
impression that the charge given to Mr. Krogh on July 24 was in all 
respects within the President's constitutional prerogatives. I had 
then a present impression that this was well within the President's 
national security powers, and that has continued to be my impression 
forward. 

Now, since I left the White House and have retained counsel, ob
viously, they have done some intensive briefing on the subject and you 
have seen the fruits of that in the colloquy between the chairman 
and Mr. Wilson. It is a much more refined and precise and substan
tiated position on the law than I had any occasion to make prior to 
this time. 

Mr. DASH. I will not at this point want to retrace the legal argu
ments because that is not the issue I am questioning on. 

Is it also true that you were totally ignorant, Mr. Ehrlichman, of 
the fact that actually the President and Mr. Haldeman had been in
formed that surreptitious entries or break-ins for national security 
purposes were clearly illegal and constituted the crime of burglary 
prior to that break-in? Were you ever aware of that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if you are speaking of the Huston, the Tom 
Huston memos, of course, the subject there was an entirely different 
subject, and that was domestic intelligence, domestic security. Here 
you are dealing in the area of foreign intelligence and national secu-
rity and it is quite another subject. . 

Mr. DASH. Have you reviewed that document, Mr. Ehrlichman? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. Well, Mr. Ehrlichman, the document deals both with 

national security and with internal security and when that document 
was presented by this committee here in testimony, the chairman, 
with the support of the committee, excised out those areas of national 
security. But it dealt with ·a total plan of dealing with intelligence 
gathering both involving foreign countries and national security as 
well as internal security, and let'me read to you--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What is the document, Mr. Dash? 
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Mr. DASH. The document is the so-called Huston plan, and we have 
it here with Mr. Murphy, who has been in custody of the plan and we 
can show you the part that has been put into the record has excised out 
the national security parts. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, before we go on, just to make sure 
that the witness, who I understand has testified that he had not seen 
the document, so the witness is :familiar with it, why don't we supply 
him with either the original copy which Mr. Murphy has here or other 
copies~ 

Mr. DASH. I can supply him with the copy which appeared in the 
New York Times; it has been compared by Mr. Murphy with the origi
nal and it is accurate with the original but we can also show him the 
one Mr. Murphy has. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, to shorten this up, Counsel, I am not ·aware 
that I ever saw--

Senator ERVIN. Just 1 minute. I think Mr. Murphy can show you the 
original. I think it would be better than the other one. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Is it a question whether I am familiar with this 
document~ 

Mr. DASH. No, no, I asked whether or not you were aware whether 
the President and Mr. Haldeman had been ever informed prior to this 
break-in, that such break-ins £or national security were, in :fact, clearly 
illegal and constitute the crime of burglary. Mr. Murphy can show you 
at least that section I am talking about. 

[Witness confers with Mr. Murphy.] 
Mr. DASH. Yes, of course, counsel can see it. 
Mr. WILSON. I should assume so. What are all these pasted pieces 

here~ 
Mr. DASH. The pasted pieces, Mr. Wilson, were pasted on to cover up 

areas which the committee believed involved national security. 
Mr. WILSON. Well, I don't want anything handed up here which has 

expurgated portions of it. 
Mr. DASH. Underneath is the actual document. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, the committee excised those in the interest 

of national security. [Laughter.] 
Mr. DASH. But they deal with national security and I am going to 

read a statement in this report which refers both to national security 
involving foreign powers and internal security which was the ration
ale of the persons who prepared this statement. 

Mr. WILSON. Are you going to leave out any part of that document, 
Mr.Dashi 

Mr. DASH.No, I am reading right from the document now. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Whereabouts~ 
Mr. WILSON. The one Mr. Murphy just showed me i 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. WILSON. Verbatim and complete. 
Senator ERVIN. No, sir, we are not. These documents related to both 

the methods to be applied in gathering international intelligence and 
domestic intelligence-the same thing. We left it out at the instance of 
the security agents of this country, and because of our own conviction 
that we did not want to expose methods of obtaining international 
intelligence, we excised that. 
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Mr. DASH. Mr. Wilson, the content, and I think in the interest of 
national security, the content of what the document says about na
tional security 1s not relevant to the question I am putting to Mr. 
Ehrlichman. The fact that it dealt with national security and in
volving foreign powers is relevant, and I want to read the statement 
that was given to all of the parties who were planning this, and ulti
mately presented to the President of the United States, and I quote: 

"Use of this technique"-meaning surreptitious entry and breaking 
in, either for national security or internal security purposes-"is 
clearly illegal. It amounts to burglary." 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, wait, Mr. Chairman, I object to reading 
portions of this document. I ask for the time it takes for me to read 
verbatim everything that Mr. Murphy holds in his hand before this 
examination continues. 

Senator ERVIN. Well, your motion is denied. This committee has 
some regard for preserving the information that relates to the methods 
of gathering international intelligence. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, Mr .. Dash has just given his own-
Senator ERVIN. Mr. Wilson, your motion is overruled by the com

mittee unless somebody objects. 
Mr. WILSON. But I have a new motion and that Mr. Dash is para-

phrasing this document. 
Mr. DASH. I am not. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You just did. 
Mr. DASH. I am not paraphrasing, I am saying, and I think the com

mittee found, by the very fact that it excised out portions, that this 
provision that I am now reading dealt with both national security and 
international security. But I am not referring to tJhe specific items of 
national security for the reason the committee excised it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Dash, I just looked at what you intend 
to paraphrase, then I must strongly disagree with your description. 

Senator ERVIN. The Chair will have to say the chairman is quite 
familiar with these documents, and the Ohair is not going to divulge 
anything about the methods by which our very security agencies col
lect foreign intelligence, and they were excised from the thing at the 
unanimous consent of the committee. 

Mr. DASH. At the advice, by the way, of tJhe various security agen
cies which reported to this committee that they dealt with national 
security. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't quarrel with their advice. I quarrel with 
your paraphrasing, Mr. Dash. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, could I say a word at this point~ 
I understand the point Mr. Wilson makes to be that he wants. to see 
the document that is the source material from which questions are 
asked. 

Would it be helpful to have a clean expurgated copy of this docu
ment deleting those sections designated as national security interest 
supplied to you so that you can be interrogated on those portions~ 

Mr. WILSON. What concerns me, Mr. Vice Chairman, is that ac
cording to Mr. Ehrlichman's last answer, the paraphrase which 
Mr. Dash gave just now does not fit the text. 
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Senator WEICKER. Why don't we go back one step, and not para
phrase, and I don't want to get into the argument whether you were 
or weren't but why doesn't somebody pick up that document and read 
it and then ask the questions? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I may be able to shorten this up, Mr. Vice 
Chairman. Apparently what Mr. Dash is doing here is charging me 
with somebody's opiniorl in this document without having first laid 
the foundation that I have ever seen the document before or par
ticipated in t!he promulgation of the opinion, and--

Mr. DASH. Mr. Ehrlichman, I asked you a question. 
Mr. WILSON. Let the witness answer the question. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Wilson, plea.se. 
Mr. THOMPSON. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, as I understood it when 

the gavel was used just then Mr. Ehrlichman was in the middle of an 
answer, I do think it's unfair--

Mr. DAsH. No; it wasn't. 
Mr. THOMPSON. Excuse me, Mr. Dash. We ought to let the 

witness answer the question and then if it's inappropriate and 
unresponsive-

Mr. DAsH. Mr. Thompson, I don't want to get into a debate with 
you. So far we have not heard answers but all we have had are 
speeches. 

Mr. THOMPSON. That is your conclusion. 
Mr. DASH. I want an answer and I don't want counsel to interfere 

with the answer. 
Senator ERVIN. Wait a minute, I think the Chair can clean up all of 

this controversy, and we will get along a little faster. 
The Chair has read all of the documents referred to. The documents 

cover the fields of foreign intelligence and domestic intelligence, and 
without disclosing anything they apply the same certain principles to 
both. We excised the references to foreign intelligence in the interest of 
national security at the request of various intelligence gathering par
ties, and the documents relating to both-the same thing-recommend 
the present restrictions should be modified to permit the use of this 
technique, that is: surreptitious entrv. "The use of this technique," the 
document states, "is clearly illegal. It amounts to burglary. It is also 
highly risky and could result in great embarrassment if exposed. How
ever, it is also the most fruitful tool and can produce the type of intel
ligence which cannot be obtained in any other fashion." 

Now that is what it shows. 
Mr. DASH. The question Mr. Ehrlichman was not that I was charg

ing you with knowledge of this nor charging vou with the reasoning 
behind this. I me rel v asked you the question, "Were you a ware that the 
President of the United States had been informed of this plan, that 
this technique was clearly illegal and amounted to burglary?" That 
was the simple question I asked and again you jumped ahead and 
stated that I charged you with a particular thing. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I was not. 
Mr. DASH. Were you aware? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No,sir. 
Mr. DASH. Now I take it also that when such plans are made, and 

these were made through an interagency group involving the CIA, 
the FBI, and other security groups that are ultimately remembered 
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:for the action of the President of the United States, that such plans 
are carefully researched and evaluated. Would that be a fair 
assumption? 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, that is not the way we are going to 
conserve time. I think what we are going through now is evidence that 
this committee is in fact tired. But that is-the question of whether it's 
evidence or not is something that we will pass on, and I frankly am 
not interested in what this witness thinks about whether it is or is not 
evidence. I am interested in what he knows or doesn't know. I re
spectfully recommend that we move on to hard evidence. 

Senator ERVIN. The witness has stated that he knew nothing about 
these documents, and the documents are in evidence and the committee 
can draw such conclusions from the documents. I don't believe that the 
witness ought to be compelled to testify about matters that he said he 
knew nothing about. 

Mr. DASH. But you did testify, Mr. Ehrlichman, that in March of 
this year you spoke to the President and discussed this particular entry 
and he said that he knew that it was legal and justified for national 
security. Did he mention to you that he had received any kind of a con
trary advice at any other time? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well now, that question makes an assumption not 
in evidence, Mr. Dash, that the President said he knew it was legal. I 
don't believe I have ever testified to that. Maybe some other witness 
has, hut I don't know where you got that idea. I could not answer the 
question with that assumption in it. 

Mr. DASH. I thought that was your testimony. I asked you the ques
tion earlier whether or not in March you talked to the President and 
the President said that he believed it was legal and justified for 
national security and I thought you answered in the affirmative. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I certainly would not want to give you the 
impression that the President had given me a legal opinion on this at 
that time. But what the President said was that he felt that it was 
important, and it was necessary, that in the context of the massive 
thefts, the turnover to the Russian Embassy and all the context of that 
operation that he certainly could not criticize the men who had under
taken this in good faith believing that they were responding to the 
urgency of the circumstances. 

Mr. DASH. All right. The testimony you do leave with the committee 
is that your own personal evaluation as to its legality was a recent one 
after advice of counsel? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I certainly would not want to leave that 
impression either, Mr. Dash, and I would simply stand on my actual 
answers. 

Mr. DASH. Well, the record will so show. 
Now, you testified that you met and in effect your log shows that you 

met twice with Mr. Dean on June 19, 1972, which was 2 days after the 
break-in at the Watergate, once at noon, alone, and again at 4 p.m. with 
Mr. Clawson, Mr. Colson, and Mr. Kehrli. Now at the noon meeting 
~ith Mr. Dean, can you g-ive us your recollection as to what that meet
~ng: was about and whether you were discussing the Watergate break
m? 

~r. EHRLICHMAN. Yes; I believe we were, and I believe that it was 
basically to determine between us the inquiries which I felt he ought to 
make in order to try to determine what had taken place. 
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Mr. DASH. Did he not at that time report to you that he had spoken 
to Mr. Liddy i 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I don't believe so. 
Mr. DASH. He made no report at that time to you as to any of the 

investigations he had made during the day of the 19th? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have the impression that Mr. Dean hadn't been 

at work very long at that time, and that he was just getting started. 
Mr. DASH. All right. 
Now, at 4 p.m., what was the purpose of the meeting with Mr. Dean, 

Mr. Clawson, Mr. Colson, and Mr. Kehrli? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The principal purpose, as I rooall, was to be in 

a position to answer inquiries which, I guess, Mr. Clawson was get
ting or the press people were getting, about Hunt's White House 
status, of whether he was still an employee of the White House, if not 
when he had terminated and under what circumstances, and so forth. 

Mr. DASH. And isn't that when Mr. Kehrli was brought up to check 
the record? Would Mr. Kehrli have the record of that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Kehrli was the staff secretary and would 
have to be involved in any discussion of that kind. There was another 
subject or two discussed at the time but as I recall, that was the pre
cipitating question. 

Mr. DASH. Well, aside from Mr. Hunt on the payroll, wasn't the 
focus at that meeting on the question of Hunt himselH Hunt's status 
at the White House and also the question that Mr. Hunt had a safe 
in the White House and that the safe ought to be opened? 

Wasn't that part of the discussion? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, it was, as I previously testified. 
Mr. DAsH. Yes. 
And actually that safe was. opened at that time on the evening of 

the 19th? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't know. I think it must have been either 

that evening or the next morning. 
Mr. DASH. Now, what was the concern and who brought up the con

cern of what the contents of Mr. Hunt's safe would show? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't recall, Mr. Dash. Somebody at the meet

ing. 
I think the way it came up was not so much a personal concern as 

it was an inquiry by the investigation-either the MetrJ:>politan Po
lice and/or the FBI, as to whether Hunt ha,d any belongings in the 
White House. 

Mr. DASH. Now, on June 20, 1972, you met at 9 o'clock with Mr. 
Haldeman and Mr. Mitchell joined by Mr. Dean at 9 :45, joined by 
Attorney General Kleindienst at 9 :55, and then at 10 :30 you had a 
meeting with the President. 

Was that also a followup to find out what was going on in terms 
of Watergate? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think this was the process of trying to get 
everybody together who might know anything, to try and get a pic
ture of what the investigation was going to be, whether there might 
be other people involved, just what the-to try and get the campaign 
director and the head of the Department of Justice ·and everybody 
together in one place to ask questions. 



2823 

Mr. DASH. Now, by that time Mr. Dean had testified that he inter
viewed Magruder, Liddy, and he also ,testified that he told you about 
Liddy's activity, about the :faot that Liddy had stated that Magruder 
had pushed him into the break-in and he also testified that he briefed 
you on the earlier meeting in Mr. Mitchell's office on January 27 and 
February 4, 1972. 

Did Mr. Dean give you all o:f that information at that time i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, he did not give me all o:f that information. 

He gave me some o:f it. 
Mr. DASH. What part o:f it do you acknowledge that he gave you~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. By ,the time he came in at 9 :45 that morning or 

at what time? 
Mr. DASH. During that meeting. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, during that meeting. I don't believe that 

Mr. Dean contributed. very much affirmative information at that 
meeting. I think that meeting was more for the purpose o:f hearing 
from Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Kleindienst, what the progress o:f the in
vestigation was and that was known at the time. My impression is 
that Mr. Dean told me about his conversation-part o:f his conversa
tion with Mr. Liddy at some other time. 

Mr. DASH. Do you know when? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I don't, but the best recollection I have is 

that it was at some time more remote to his conversation with Liddy 
than this i:f in :fact it occurred when you say it did. 

Mr. DASH. Now, the meeting at 10:30 that you had with the Presi
dent, did you report to the President what you had learned :from the 
parties who attended the earlier meeting? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I told Senator Baker, I believe, the other day that 
Watergate was not discussed at that meeting and since then I have 
rechecked what sketchy notes I have and I find I was in error on that. 
I am sure there must have been some discussion o:f the Watergate with 
the President on that occasion on the 20th. 

There were three principal subjects covered 1at tha,t meeting. One 
o:f them was Government wiretapping ,and it is obvious to me that 
there must have been some Watergate discussion that led into this 
discussion in which I took an assiµ:nment :from him to get some sta
tistics for him about the incidents o:f Fede ml wiretapping in domestic
foreign situations, that is, situations involving U.S. citizens and 
foreign governments which was a statistic he did not have and which 
he wanted. 

Now, I ,am surmising and reconstructing beoouse I have no direct 
ndtes on this, but I am just-I am just certain that we did discuss 
W wtergiate at the outset of that meeting. 

Mr. DASH. Well, now, on the 23d there is no indication that you met 
with the President between June 20 1and 23. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. I met with the President in the company of 
otJhers on the 21st at 12 :38 1and 1at 5 :20 on the 22d. 

Mr. DASH. Did you meet with him long on the 22d? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DAsH. I mean by yourself. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I see. 
Mr. DASH. And the reason I ask ,that is that on it:he 23d you did have 

your meeting with Mr. Haldeman ,and Mr. Helm •and Mr. Walters and 
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since the President, in his May 22 speech specifically says he told both 
you and Mr. Haldeman that he was concerned about the CIA problems 
•and ,asked you to see to it that the investigation did not uncover these 
things, on the 20th when you met with the President 1 did the President 
give you sMh instructions or raise these questions with you? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. Those instructions-came through Mr. Halde
man and were given to me I think the morning of the day of the meet
ing which would have been the 23d. 

Mr. DASH. So actually the President's statement on May 22 that he 
instructed Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Haldeman, really should have 
been, he instructed Mr. Haldeman? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, no, because he instructed me to attend the 
meeting but he instructed me through Mr. Haldeman •and a great 
many of my requests from the President would come either from the 
staff secretary or from Mr. Haldeman or possibly someone else. It 
was not •always fiace to :face. 

Mr. DASH. Now, Mr. Hunt's safe was opened on the evening of 
June 19 •according to the testimony received and Mr. Dean met with 
you on June 21. Mr. Dean has testified that prior to that meeting he 
'had exiamined the contents of the safe which were placed in his office 
and •at this time, did he inform you of the contents of the safe on the 
21st? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, your question, of course, assumes that Mr. 
Dean knew the contents of the safe. I have heard him testify both ways. 
Maybe I am wrong, but I thought his testimony was that he did not 
know the contents of the safe, but that Mr. Fielding had inspeoted 
the contents of the safe. 

I rooall only one conversation with Mr. Dean about the contents of 
the safe in any sort of descriptive terms and I am sorry I oannot tell 
you whether it was on that oooasion or the following week, but what 
he described for me was simply that there had been papers, •a gun, some 
electronic equipment of some kind which I have heard described 
variously as ,a tape recorder •and other kinds of electronic equipment, 
and that he reported to me that Fielding felt that some of the papers 
were very politically sensitive. 

Now,that was the full report, and when he gave that to me, whether 
it was the end of the week of the 19th or some time at the beginning of 
the week of the 26th, I am not able to tell you. 

Mr. DASH. Did he not, when he reported to you about the contents of 
the safe, indicate it also included a forged cable involving President 
Kennedy and the so-called Diem assassination? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; he did not. 
Mr. DASH. Now, Mr. Dean has testified, and whether it was on this 

day when he repo~ted to you on the contents or at a later day, that when 
he told you about the contents with regard to the briefcase, which ap
parently had some electronic equipment in it, that you said or told 
him to deep-six the contents. 

Now, did you tell him to deep-six tihe contents when he gave you a 
description of the contents of the safe? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I testified in response to Senator Gurney's 
question on that. In point of fact, Mr. Dash, what Mr. Dean testified 
to here, you are confusing one of his-one of his press leaks with his 
testimony, I think. He testified here that I told him to get rid of the 
briefcase, not the contents. 
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You probably read in one o:f the news magazines the other version, 
but the :fact is that I never gave him any suggestion or direction to do 
either one. 

Mr. DASH. I think Mr. Dean did testify to deep-six the briefcase 
and certainly not take the contents out before he deep-sixed it. But 
you say you never gave him that instruction? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No,sir. 
Mr. DASH. Do you use the term deep-six? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Do I use it? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I used it quite a bit since it was suggested 

tome. 
Mr. DASH. Prior to that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Prior to that I do not think that was a :familiar 

part o:f my lexicon. 
Mr. DASH. Apparently Dean did not seem to understand either what 

you meant and when asked, is it his testimony that you mentioned the 
:fact he goes over the bridge and he could drop it into the water. Do 
you recall that testimony? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I recall some testimony-oh, do I recall the 
testimony? 

Mr.DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. I recall hearing him say that here. 
Mr. DASH. And do you recall having told him that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I did not tell him that. I do recall a conver

sation with Mr. Dean rubout the river because just at this time Mr. 
Dean's house was in the process o:f being flooded by the Potomac, and 
we had quite a bit o:f discussion about the :fact that he was away :from 
work several days, sandbagging his house and moving the :furniture, 
and so on, and we were discussing that in the context o:f his having held 
this material :from the FBI :for what he was concerned might be con
sidered to be an inordinate period o:f time. 

Mr. DASH. And so he may have gotten mixed up in your question 
about the house and the river-

[Laug-hter.] 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. With the contents? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I do not think that Mr. Dean is at all mixed 

up. I think he knows exactly what he is trying to do. 
Mr. DASH. He is trying to testify. 
Now, Mr. Fielding testified in the depositions in the Democratic 

National Committee suit on May 15, 1973. It was Mr. Dean's testimony 
before this committee that after he alleged--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Fielding testified that it was Mr. Dean's 
testimony? 

Mr. DASH. No, no. I have not finished my question, please. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I am already mixed up. Could we start 

over? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. Mr. Dean testified after you had instructed him to 

deep-six or drop the briefcase in the water, that he went to see Mr. 
Fielding and reported back to Mr. Fielding that that was the instruc
tion they were concerned about, primarily because too many people 
had actually seen what had come out o:f the safe. 
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Now, Mr. FieldinS'. has given his deposition in the Democratic Na
tional Committee smt on May 15, 1973, and let me read you what Mr. 
Fielding states in that deposition. · 

In a question concerning the conversation he had with Mr. Dean, his 
answer was: 

I would say it was closer to the 20th than the 27th. I am afraid I cannot really 
pinpoint it much more than that. In the course of the conversations that we had, 
John indicated that there was a lot of concern about this material and we had 
a discussion about it. I would have said this is not a quote, that it would be 
unfortunate if some of this stuff leaked out or is revealed to the press. By the 
same token, it all has to be turned over. It is all evidence, even though obviously, 
some of it is totally unrelated to the break-in. In the context of that kind of con
versation, Mr. Dean indicated to me that Mr. Ehrlichman had suggested to him 
this was in the context of a conversation about a briefcase, that he deep-six the 
briefcase. 

Now, this is Mr. Fielding's deposition recalling what Mr. Dean told 
him. 

Now, I just raise that to you on the basis that Mr. Dean testified 
that he had gone back to tell Mr. Fielding that you had told him that 
and Mr. Fielding has so deposed that he has. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Dash, it is perfectly silly to suggest 
that I would go to the elaborate lengths that I did in making sure that 
the Secret Service and Kehrli and the GSA and somebody from Dean's 
office was present at the opening of the safe and that I would give in
structions for taking custody of the contents and then make a sug
gestion like that. I mean, I think you have to give me credit for un
derstanding the importance of evidence in a case of this kind and I did 
understand that and on the 19th made darn sure that that evidence was 
preserved in a way that if there were a subsequent trial, the evidence 
could be identified and placed in evidence carefully. 

Mr. DASH. It was Mr. Dean's testimony that he had to so instruct 
you that that was the problem, that so many people had seen it that 
it would be inadvisable to do it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, why don't you ask Mr. Colson, Mr. Kehrli, 
and Mr. Clawson, who were also at that meeting, who it was that estab
lished the process by which the integrity of that evidence would be 
preserved, and then perhaps you will get some independent view of it. 

Mr. DASH. Is it not true that you did seek to ask Mr. Clawson and Mr. 
Colson certainly by a telephone call concerning whether or not you 
had made such a statement to Mr. Dean? And you have copies-I am 
now referring to a transcript of a telephone call that you had with Mr. 
Clawson which your attorney has provided under subpena to us. There 
is no date on this transcript. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There is a date on mine. 
Mr. DASH. No date on mine. What date do you have? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. April 17. 
Mr. DASH. April 17 does appear on the Colson transcript.Now-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. For some reason they excised the date from your 

copy. 
Mr. DASH. Now, I will read this telephone conversation and ask that 

it be made part of the record. It is short and I can .read it but I will 
refer primarily to where you were asking Mr. Clawson to recall being 
at a meeting and where the question of Hunt's safe had been discussed 
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and at which Mr. Kehrli and Mr. Colson and Mr. Dean were present. 
Now, that meeting took place clearly on June 19. 
Senator ERVIN, Without objection, it will be marked as an exhibit. 
[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 108. *] 
Mr. DASH. It is interesting because he says he has a vague memory 

and he does not recall the details and you say at the bottom. [Reading:] 
Well, it is interesting because Dean who as you know, has tralked to the U.S. 

attorney at great length, cites some comments of mine in that meeting as 
evidence of corrupt attitude on my part and I'm looking for anybody who can 
help me to recall what took place there. 

CLAWSON. That's a helluva note, John. 
EHBLICHMAN. I agree. 
CLAWSON. If you want me to be forthwith and straightforward with you, I'll 

recollect anything you want me to. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. That is what I testified to the other day. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Ehrlichman says: 
Well, no, let me, let me tell you what my problem is and then you can ... I've 

got to tell what I recall and what I don't recall. He alleges that I said two 
things at that meeting. One, that we ought to deep six the contents of the safe, 
quote, unquote. And, two, that we ought to get Hunt to leave the country. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Go on. 
Mr. DASH. I will read it. 
Oh, I could ... listen, John, if anything like that. If either one of those two 

things were said that would be vivid in my mind. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think the word is "recollection." Vivid in my 
whaH 

Mr. DASH. "Vivid in mv mind" is what I have here. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is funny. Mine says "recollection." 
Mr. DASH. I wonder why we have a different transcript. This is 

all we got from your attorney. We did not retype this. 
Let me read on and see if we have any other differences. 
Mr. EHBLICHMAN. I would think so. I would think so. 
CLAWSON. And that's objectively. 
EHRLICHMAN. Now, in point of fact, Dean phoned Liddy and asked Liddy to 

have Hunt leave the country, 
CLAWSON. That's new news to me. 
EHBLICHMAN. Yeah, but you see this ... and what he's doing_is. saying well, 

I was just being a good German and carrying out orders. 
CLAWSON. No, I would have absolutely no trouble in remembering either one 

of those two things had that been said. 
EHRLICHMAN. Well, OK. 
CLAWSON. I would just remember that. 
EHRLICHMAN. Yeah, that's a fairly dramatic ev·ent. OK, thiank you very much. 

Awfully sorry to have bothered you. I just don't understand. 
CLAWSON. If there's anything I can do in this thing, please let me ... 
EHBLICHMAN. I will. I will. Thank you, Ken. 

All right. Now, why-if the only meeting that Mr. Clawson attended 
with you during that period of time was on June 19, during the day 
prior to the time the safe was opened-why would you be asking Mr. 
Clawson if he could recollect whether you had said anything to Mr. 
Dean about deep-sixing anything about the safe? It was obviously at 
the meeting on the 19th, when the safe was not yet open, such a conver
ation could-have occurred then. 

*See p. 31009. 
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Mr. EHRLIOHM'AN. Well, this was the version that was reported to 
the President as having taken place at this meeting on the 15th or 16th 
by Mr. Petersen who in turn was reporting what Dean was alleging 
to the U.S. attorneys, so the President confronted me with this and I 
said, "when was this supposed to have happened," and he said, "well, 
what they tell me is that it happened at this meeting where you all 
discussed Hunt and this safe and all this business." So that is why I 
focused on that meeting as the time that Dean alleged this was sup
posed to have happened. That is the best information I had at the time. 

Mr. DASH. All right, but it is quite obvious that since the safe had 
not been opened yet, and taking what you say to be true, Dean cer
tainly would not be claiming that you were telling him to deep-six 
something on that day. 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Mr. Dash, Mr. Dean has had so many versions 
of these stories that I do not think you can assume that any one of 
these would be more reasonable than any other. I appreciate your situ
ation vis-a-vis Mr. Dean and the committee, but I think you have to 
recognize that there are. many, many versions of this story that have 
been floated to you and the prosecutor and all in the interests of 
immunity. 

Mr. DASH. Mr. Dean has testified that whatever discussions took 
place about deep-six took place after the safe was open and, 
therefore-

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Well, not-I submit
Mr. DASH. He has testified to this under oath. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Well,here. 
Mr. DASH. And, therefore, what I suggest to you is that Mr. Clawson 

would not be a person who might have recalled that even though yon, 
may have recalled that was the date that was relevant at the time. 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. 'If you accept that version at that time. Now, the 
thing that I said to you, Mr. Dash, was you get Mr. Clawson and ask 
him who it was that hedged the. contents of this safe about with several 
witnesses and with a procedure to guarantee the integrity of the evi
dence in that safe and I think he will tell you that I was the one who 
insisted upon that procedure at the meeting on the 19th. 

Mr. DASH. All right. You again called Mr. Colson on April 17 in 
which you made a similar inquiry-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. Concerning that. 
No~, your conversation with Mr. Colson is you say, "Two quick 

questions", after the preliminary introduction when you said "hello." 
Senator BAKF,R. What ·are you reading from, Mr. Dash i 
Mr. DASH. The transcript of April 17, conversation between Mr. 

Colson and Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Senator ERVIN. Without objection, it will be marked as an exhibit. 
[The document referred to was marked exhibit No. 109.*] 
Senator BAKER. Does the witness have a copy? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I have a copy. I have found that the transcript of 

the other conversation I had did not jibe with Mr. Dash's. 
Mr. DASH. When I was reading, were there any other items? 

*See p. 3010. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not know, Mr. Dash. I was more interested in 
your assertion than anything else. 

Mr. DASH. I was just reading. I was not inserting. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. Assertions, not insertions. 
Mr. DASH. I said I was reading, not asserting. 
You say: 
COLSON. Two quick questions. 

I think it is the first time you get into the subject matter. 
One thing I should tell you is that our great find last night really started ac

celerating. Something coming out this morning. Dean involved. Now I notice 
the LA Times has it this morning but the people that Shapiro has been getting 
information from, you know, the town is buzzing with, is alive with the story, 
so I don't think we have a helluva lot of time. 

Can you tell us what that great find was last night that was coming 
up in the LA Times? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No,sir, I sure cannot. 
Mr. DASH. All right. Mr. Colson says: 
I just thought I would let you know that. 
Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. I appreciate it. . 
COLSON. Did he, when he went over there, was ·he given any immunity? 
EHRLICHMAN. Not yet. What they've done, apparently--
COLSON. They shouldn't give it to him. 
EHRLICHMAN. I know it. What they said to him is that unless he turns up 

corroborated evidence against Haldeman and me-
·CoLsoN. Is that who he's trying to make? 
EHRLICHMAN. Sure. 
COLSON. Who, Dean is? 
EHRLICHMAN. Yep. 
'CoLsON. That's John Mitchell again. 

I guess I'll read this-
Son of a bitch. 
EHRLICHMAN. Unless he •does that he doesn't get immunity. Now my grapevine 

tells me that you are going to be summoned over there today. 

Who was the grapevine, by the way, Mr. Ehrlichman? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At that point in time I do not know. I do not 

know who that would have been. 
Mr. DASH. Would it have been Mr. Petersen? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. Mr. Petersen was not my source for anything 

at that time. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Colson says: 
Oh, really? 

And you say, 
Yep. And that they're •going to ask you about a meeting .in my office which 

Dean has highlighted as the central gemstone--

Interesting term there. Any purpose for using it?--
in the case against me and so just in case you get hauled over there before 11 
o'clock, maybe I'd better tell you about it. It was a meeting that Kehrli, Clawson. 
you, Dean and I had here. 

COLSON. I wasn't there. 
EHRLI;CHMAN. In my office. 
COLSON. I was not there. Dean tried this one out on me Friday night, and I 

said the only thing I can ever recall, .John, is I once told you I thought it was a 
stupid, god-damn thing for Hunt to be unavailable. 

EHRLICHMAN. Well, that's the meeting where supposedly I ordered him to tell 
Hunt to leave the country. 
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COLSON. Never heard that. And I will so state under oath. 
EHBLICHMAN. Or that I admonished everyone that we ought to figure out some 

way to deep-six the contents of Hunt's safe. 
OoLSON. No. No way. I was the one who said go get Hunt's safe and be sure 

it's preserved for the FBI. 
EHBLICHMAN. Right 
COLSON. A, and I think A is the earlier answer, and B, it's stupid to get an

other country. But that was in my office, not yours. And you weren't present. 
I can handle that one easHy. 

EHRLICHMAN. But you were not in a meeting here? 
CoLsoN. WelJ.l, I may have been but I ,sure don't remember that. 
EHBLICHMAN. That's the way. OK. 
COLSON. Alright? I can handle that. 
ElHRLICHMAN. Thank you. I'll see you at 11. 
COLSON. There's a couple of things "you and I need to do to :protect each other's 

flank here but we'll talk about that, but no, I'm serious. 
EHBLICHMAN. Fair enough, 
CoLSON. Let's get U clearly understood that oon of a bitch doesn't ,get immunicy. 

I want to nail him. 
EHBLICHMAN. Well, I'm doing my best. 
COLSON. No. I want to nail him. I'il:l take immunity first. 
EHRLICHMAN-

[Laughter.] 
Senator BAKER [now presiding]. Just a minute. Mr. Dash, if you 

will suspend for just a moment. 
The chairman admonished me before he left to take care of other 

business to tell the audience and all those present that he is entirely 
serious about maintaining decorum in this hearing room. It is inappro
priate for the audience to respond in any way to the statements made 
by the witness, by counsel, or to anything else. On the express and ex
plicit instructions of the chairman I caution the audience that the 
committee will not permit demonstrations. 

Mr. DASH. I think you say "OK." He says, "All right," and there 
is a thanks at the end. 

Now, Mr. Colson in that discussion indicated to you that he did not 
recall being at least at the meeting with Mr. Clawson, Mr. Kehrli, 
you, and Mr. Dean. But it is true he recalls that a discussion concern
ing getting Hunt out of the country was in his office and you were not 
there. But again, Mr. Colson claiming not being present at the meeting 
or on the 19th. Could Mr. Colson in any way verify for you that you 
had not said to Mr. Dean to deep-six the contents? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I am satisfied. Mr. Colson was present. I 
have an office log system that logs people in and out of my door on an 
actuality basis, so to speak. 

Only the people who actually go in and out are logged and they are 
logged at the time that they do go in and out. So, it would be-you 
know, there is always room for some error, but I think it a practical 
certainty that he was there in fact. And I was much more interested 
in whether or not he had any recollection of such a conversation. 

I think there are two important things in that conversation, Mr. 
Dash, that you kind of skipped over. One was the fact that Mr. Dean 
tried this story out on Mr. Colson which goes to my answer to Senator 
Gurney the other day that at a point in time, right around this second 
or third week in April, Mr. Dean was very busily engaged in planting 
stories here and there as he attempted to plant this story with me that 
I supposedly ordered him to have Hunt leave the country. 
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The second thing is on the matter of immunity, I had been c~n
sistently taking the position since March 22, that no one in the White 
House should seek immunity in any form whatsoever, that it was ex
tremely inimical to the interests of the President and the White House 
for someone in the White House staff to, in any way, seek to be excused 
for his actions under any circumstances. And my efforts--and I should 
have said this in response to Senator Gurney's question of a few min
utes ago with respect to what we were talking about during the days 
April 15 to 30-one of the things that we were talking about was the 
public policy that might be involved in anyone in the White House 
seeking to be immunized from the consequences of his act as an induce
ment to testify, and I felt strongly then and I was continuing to feel 
strongly at this time that that was wholly an improper procedure. 

Mr. DASH. I just have this followup on that, just one or two quick 
questions on the immunity. 

Is it true, Mr. Ehrlichman, that you called Mr. Kleindienst sometime 
before April 14 and expressed the same view that nobody should be 
offered immunity? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Prior to April 14? 
Mr. DASH. Prior to April 14, yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I recall-I recall calling Mr. Kleindienst on 

about March 28, and inquiring of him about the procedures involved 
in securing immunity, and then at some point in time I conveyed to 
him the President's decision that no one in the White House should be 
extended immunity. 

Mr. DASH. The question is whether you personally-
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I conveyed? 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. Urged not the President's position but you 

personally suggested to Mr. Kleindienst--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As a personal point of view? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it is not out of the question because I was 

strongly stating that point of view consistently through this period 
of time. 

Mr. DASH. Right, and did you participate in the preparation of the 
President's statement of April 17? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. 
Mr. DASH. In which he stated there was nobody in the White House 

that will be offered immunity in criminal investigations. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. 
Mr. DASH. At this point, Mr. Chairman, as I see the time-but I 

have a number of other questions, I suggest it is time to recess. 
Senator ERVIN. I would suggest we run 10 minutes more and recess 

at 12 :30. 
Mr. DASH. Now, Mr. Mitchell has testified that on June 21 he was 

debriefed by Mr. Mardian and Mr. LaRue on their talk with Mr. 
Liddy and that was the first time that he heard about Liddy's opera
tions which he referred to-I mentioned earlier to you-what he called 
the '\Vhite House horrors. They included the Ellsberg break-in, .the 
Diem cable, the spiriting- out of Dita Beard from ,town, and certain 
wiretapping activities. He listed a number which he called White 
House horrors and I had had them as so-called Liddy operations and 
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this is the first time that he learned about them. He said on the 21st----JI 
know you have testified that maybe Mr. Mitchell's memory isn't cor
reot, but are we really agreeing on the same thing? I think your testi
mony-when you referred to your diary and had certain meetings with 
various persons concerning the operat10n of the special investigative 
unit-at that time did you, when you had those meetings, discuss with 
them, especially Mr. Mitchell, the break-in of the Ellsberg psychia
trist's office? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is a very complicated--
Mr. DASH. All right. Let me put it much more clearly. You have 

testified-
Mr. EHRLICHM.AN. All right. · 
Mr. D.AsH [continuing]. That Mr. Mitchell's statement to us, that 

the first time he heard of the White House horrors and the Plumbers' 
activities involving Mr. Liddy, was the 21st, was in error because you 
had reported sometime earlier to Mr. Mitchell on this special investiga
tive unit. Is that not correct? 

Mr. EHRLICHM.AN. Well, you see, we get into problems now, just for 
instance in that question. The first time I discussed the so-called 
Plumbers' activities and Mr. Liddy with Mr. Mitchell would be quite 
different than the first time I heard of or discussed these other things. 

Mr. D.AsH. Right. That was the question I was trying to clarify be
cause the question--

Mr. EHRLICHM.AN. You see, what I testified to, in answer to a ques
tion, was that the existence of the special unit and its function, its 
purpose, as the President conceived it and the charter which he gave 
to Mr. Krogh on July 24, was discussed with several agency heads and 
Cabinet officers almost immediately thereafter. 

Now, I don't think I was asked the question whether or not I ever 
discussed the Ellsberg break-in as such with Mr. Mitchell. I don't recall 
ever doing so. 

Mr. D.AsH. Well, the question that came out was Mr. Mitchell's tes
timony that he learned of the Plumbers on the 21st when Mr. Mardian 
debriefed Mr. Liddy. He learned of Liddy's operations involving the 
break-in, the Diem cable, and the other things, and he said he first 
learned of that, what he called White House horrors, on June 21. 

Now, on the next day, on June 22, you met with Mr. MacGregor, Mr. 
Colson, Mr. Mitchell at 9, and then you had a second meeting with Mr. 
Mitchell alone at 11 :45. I know you have been asked about that meet
ing at 11 :45, because apparently there was a phone call in between, and 
the question I put to you is whether or not Mr. Mitchell, at that meet
ing, told you about what he learned from Mr. Mardian. He has so 
testified that he did report to you what he heard, and he reported 
about the so-called White House horrors and talked to you about the 
need to keep the lid on to protect the election. 

Mr. EHRLICHM.AN. As I told Senator Gurney, I can't recall specifi
cally the reason that Mr. Mitchell called or I called him. We got to
gether at 11 :45 on the 22d. I can say this, though, with great assurance; 
I ~ever knew until the other day when it was testified to here, that 
Gordon Liddy had had some part in the Dita Beard business. I just 
never heard that from anyone. Nor had I heard about this cable until 
it was-whether discussed in the press as a leak from your staff or else 
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in the testimony here, one or the other, but contemporaneous with all 
of this, I was not aware of either of those events at all. 

Mr. DASH. Mr. Mitchell never informed you of that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Mr. DAsH. By the way, if in fact Dita Beard had been spirited out 

through the help of Mr. Liddy or Mr. Hunt, and if in fact Mr. Liddy 
had something to do with the Diem cable forgery, and they were not 
Plumbers' work, who else had access to Mr. Hunt and Liddy's time and 
services while they worked for Mr. Krogh under you? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, of course, they ceased to work for Mr. 
Krogh under me on the special unit around September 20, and I don't 
know the dates of those events, but my hunch is that they were later 
than that, and I would just be speculating then. I don't have any idea. 

Mr. DAsH. Mr. Hunt still was working at the White House at that 
time, during these periods of time. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I can't tell you that of my own knowledge. 
Mr. DASH. Do you recall when you were attempting on the 19th to 

fix a time when Hunt had left, what time you did fix? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. As a matter of £act, on the 19th I don't think 

we fixed any time. There was still a lot of confusion and I think Mr. 
Kehrli was going to go back and check some records. 

Mr. DASH. Now, despite vour claim, Mr. Ehrlichman, that you had 
so many things to do that ·w atergate was really not central in your 
focus, you do seem to have been busy on Watergate matters since on 
the very next day, June 23, you and Mr. Haldeman met with Mr. 
Helms and General Walters and we have had-and I am not going 
over that testimony because I think it's been fairly clearly covered, 
but you did meet with Mr. Haldeman, Mr. Helms, and Mr. Walters, 
and the topic of the conversation there was the question of whether 
CIA involvement was involved, was that not so? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dash, I would like to go back to the pre
amble to your question, because any answer that I might give might 
seem to adopt its assumptions. There isn't any dispute in the evidence 
that in the 12 days before I left Washington and went to California, 
that I had a number of meetings with regard to Watergate, both with 
Mr. Dean and on this occasion with Helms and Walters. I have never 
put a contention to the contrary. 

But if you will look at my log, and you will look at the other record, 
you will see that once June 26 came and I left town, or whatever that 
date was, let's see, June 29 came and I left town, that my frequency 
of contact with this subject dropped off practically to zero. So I would 
not want the little lead in to your question to give anybody the false 
impression that you apparently have entertained. 

Mr. DASH. Well, the impression at least I want to leave and you are 
leaving also, is that right after the break-in you were heavily involved? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I testified to that two or three times, and the 
reason that I was, I think you know. 

Now, once we get to this Helms-Walters meeting, again I think you 
know that meeting was convened by the President because of a very 
strong concern he had about the jeopardy of the CIA's integrity, 
secrecy of its operations. And he wanted to be absolutely sure that this 
all-out FBI investigation could go forward without jeopardizing that 
secrecy. 
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Mr. DASH. You have characterized, at least so testified, concerning 
that it was a meeting at which you were making an inquiry as to 
whether or not there was CIA rnvolvement and that actually Mr. 
Helms and Mr. Walters were going to make a check on that. As a 
matter of fact, Mr. Walters had testified, and Mr. Helms that they 
had already, especially Mr. Helms, had had a meeting the day before 
with the Acting FBI Director, Mr. Gray, in which he told them 
there was no CIA involvement and he was being ordered--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I hope you get a chance to ask him about that 
CIA letter of July 6 and why it was that it was not then for another 
6 days until the CIA give firm assurance to the FBI that there was 
no CIA exposure. 

Mr. DASH. Well, do you know, as a matter of fact, the reason for 
that is that after Mr.--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Are you going to testify now, Mr. Dash~ 
Mr. DASH. No. There is testimony which will come forward from 

Mr. Walters and that, as a matter of fact, based on your direction 
or Mr. Haldeman's direction, he did, in fact, go and tell Mr. Gray 
something different than what Mr. Helms had told him the day 
before. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You are confusing--
Senator BAKER [interrupting]. Just one minute, Mr. Ehrlichman. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You are confusing two things. 
Senator BAKER. We are going to continue these hearings past 

August 3, it would appear and that is going to be over my firm 
objection and maybe even beyond the scope of my energy and re
sources. But we are not surely going to serve the purpose of trying 
to expedite this thing if we not only do not inquire of the witness 
about what he has testified to, or what other witnesses have, but what 
future witnesses may testify to. 

I have not heard Walters' or Helms' testimony and if it is neces
sary to call this witness back and to ask him questions about the 
Helms and Walters testimony, I think •we ought to do it. But just 
in the pure interest of time, Mr. Chairman, I would like to suggest 
that our inquiry, all of us, including me, that we limit our inquiry 
to what this witness has said or what other witnesses on this record 
have said on the same subject matter. 

Mr. DASH. Mr. Chairman, I agree with that, of course, but it was 
this witness who has constantly referred in his testimony to Mr. 
Walters' July 6 statement, and it was in response to that this ques
tion was put. 

Senator ERVIN. I would just suggest that counsel rephrase his 
question and ask the witness to testify what he said and what Mr. 
Walters said. I think that would be perfectly relevant. 

Senator BAKER. I think that would be perfectly proper. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Chairman, I think just at the time Senator 

Baker spoke I was in the process of pointing out to counsel you have 
two different subjects, one is direct CIA involvement in the break
in, and the other is possible unrelated CIA activities which might 
be disclosed by a vigorous FBI investigation. 

Now, I think you have to be very careful in defining what it was 
Director Helms and Mr. Gray discussed the previous day, and what 
it was we discussed at this meeting, and how the things narrowed down 
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at this meeting, and what it was General Walters was going to go and 
talk to Mr. Gray about. 

Senator ERVIN. I think this may be an appropriate time to recess 
for lunch. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, may I inquire about the schedule. Mr. 
Haldeman is our next witness and I would like to ask would you 
suggest that he be here at 2 o'clock? He has a statement which would 
take no longer than 2 hours to read and I would suggest that he read 
it the same day. 

Senator ERVIN. I would suggest that he come in at 3 o'clock. I think 
we can finish with Mr. Ehrlichman at that time. I don't know whether 
we can or not. 

[Whereupon at 12 :30 p.m., the committee recessed to reconvene at 
2 p.m. on the same day.] 

AFTERNOON SESSION, MONDAY, JULY 30, 1973 

Senator ERVIN. The committee will come to order. 
Counsel will resume the interrogation of the witness. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Ehrlichman, following the meeting that you had 

on June 23 with Mr. Walters, Mr. Helms, and Mr. Haldeman, did 
you instruct Mr. Dean to contact Mr. Walters and follow up on the 
June 23 meeting? 

Mr. EHRUCHMAN. No, sir. I simply notified Mr. Dean that there 
had been a meeting, that General Walters was going to be talking 
with Mr. Gray, and that we had indicated to General Walters that 
Mr. Dean would be his contact from that point forward. 

Mr. DASH. Did there come a time when General Walters did call 
you and tell you that he was going to have a meeting or that Dean had 
contacted him and was it all right for him to speak to Mr. Dean? 

Mr. E;s:RLICHMAN. It either happened that way or I told him at 
the time of the meeting on the 23d that Dean would be his contact, 
one or the other, but I am quite sure that I indicated to General 
Walters that Dean was the White House man who was looking after 
this whole subject. 

Mr. DASH. Were you aware that Mr. Dean did in fact meet with 
General Walters on June 26? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I was not aware of those meetings. 
Mr. DASH. There were a series of meetings? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I understand there were, and I was not 

aware of that series of meetings until just recently. 
Mr. DASH. And Mr. Dean did not report to you on them? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, he did not. 
Mr. DASH. Now, on June 28, 1972, you met with Mr. Dean and Mr. 

Gray, and we have had some testimony on that, and on that same day 
you had two earlier meetings with Mr. Dean. Do you recall what the 
two earlier meetings were about before the meeting with Mr. Dean and 
Mr. Gray? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not specifically. I surmised that one of them was 
simply an informational meeting knowing that I was about to leave 
town for an extended period of time. As I recall, there was a conversa
tion and whether it was by meeting or whether it was by telephone, 
I cannot recall, but on the same day that we met with Pa,t Gray I am 
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quite sure we had a conversation about turning over the contents of 
Hunt's safe to Mr. Gray. 

Mr. DASH. All right. 
Then, you had your meeting with Mr. Gray and I think you have 

already testified to the circumstances under which a particular packet 
or envelope was turned over to Mr. Gray. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Right. 
Mr. DASH. I think we have had full testimony on that. 
Now, by the way, did you know at the time the packet of materials 

was turned over to Mr. Gray what was contained in the packet? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. Had you been told by Mr. Dean they were sensitive ma

terials, politically sensitive materials? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. I think you testified in response to a question of Mr. 

Gurney on page 5438 of the testimony, Senator Gurney asked you: 
"Did you ever have any communication with Mr. Gray about these 
documents after this meeting?" and referring to the June 28 meeting 
and you answered, "Yes, sir." And Senator Gurney said, "And recount 
it to the committee," and your answer was: 

That was in April of this year that we had a conversation. The President asked 
me to telephone Mr. Gray. It was a Sunday night and it was the 15th of April 
about 10 :15 p.m. I was in the President's EOB office, and he had a meeting that 
day with Mr. Kliendienst. The subject of these documents came up at this 
meeting. 

Then, you were asked to call Mr. Gray. You referred to that tele
phone call. You said : 

I told him at that time that the delivery of the documents to him 

toMr.Gray, 
had been the subject of this conversation between the Attorney General and the 
President that Mr. Dean apparently had told the prosecuting attorney about 
the fact that he had made the delivery. Mr. Gray said, "Well, he cannot do that." 
and I said "well, he did say that," and he said "if he says that I will deny it," 
and I said "well, Pat, it isn't a subject for denial. Obviously, iit is not something 
you can deny. I recall the episode very clearly," and well, he says "You have got 
to back me up on this," and he went on to say "I destroyed the documents." 

I think at that point you said you were nonplussed about it and you 
hung up. Then you decided, after talking to the President, that per
haps you had not made it clear that you were not ~oing to back him 
up and you called him back and without my readmg the testimony, 
you made it very clear to him that if you had to go to testify you 
would tell the truth about that. 

Now, is it not true, Mr. Ehrlichman, this was not the next time that 
you had a conversation with Mr. Gray about those documents? That 
at the April 15 meeting, did not Mr. Gray--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN [interrupting]. The next time--
Mr. DASH [interrupting]. The question put by Senator Gurney that 

after the June 28 meeting, did you have again occasion to talk about 
'those documents with Mr. Gray, and your answer was--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN [interrnpting]. I see. 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. The April 15 phone call. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You are referring to the rather oblique reference 

in Mr. Gray's phone report to me about his confirmation hearings per
haps, and that is correct. 
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Mr. DASH. On Mareh 7 and 8 i 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. We discussed it in a much less specific way, in 

terms of what he was testifying to in the confirmation hearings, about 
whether he had delivered all-whether Dean had delivered all of the 
documents to the FBI in a package or in parcels. 

Mr. DASH. Well, Mr. Ehrlichman, actually, although it was as you 
put it perhaps from a more oblique way but the conversation really 
was pretty much the same. Only this time Mr. Gray in his telephone 
call, and I am referring to the transcript of the telephone call that you 
had with Pat Gray on March 7 or 8, 1973, and that is the one that you 
testified at length with Senator W eicker about. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. And what I am referring to is that at this time wasn't 

the conversation somewhat different, and let me just read-Mr. Gray, 
toward the bottom of the first page of that transcript, says: 

Another thing I want to talk to you about is that I am being pushed awfully 
hard in certain areas and I am not giving an inch and you know those areas that 
I think you have got to tell John Wesley to stand awfully tight in the saddle and 
be very careful about what he says, and to be absolutely certain that he knows in 
his own mind that he delivered everything he had to t:tie FBI and don't make any 
distinction between but that he delivered everything he had to the FBI. 

And you say "Rif,ht." 
Then he says, ' And that he delivered it to those agents, this is 

absolutely imperative," and you say, "All right." And he says, "You 
know I have got a couple of areas up there and I am hitting hard, I am 
just taking them on the attack," and you say "OK." "I wanted you to 
know that," and you sa7 "Good, keep up the good work, my boy. Let 
me know if I can help,' and he says, "All right, he can help by doing 
that," meaning, I take it, John Dean, and you say, "Good, I will do it." 

At that time, in your telephone call with Mr. Gray when he suggests 
that to you, this is before Mr. Dean has gone to the U.S. attorney's 
office and made any statement that such a delivery was made to Mr. 
Gray. 

You did not, then, tell Mr. Gray as you did when you were calling 
from the President's office, "That didn't just happen that way, Mr. 
Gray, I was there and I saw that it was delivered to you. It wasn't all 
turned over to the FBI," why didn't you tell him then instead of saying 
"OK," or "All right," why didn't you then catch him up there and say, 
"Well, the truth is, Pat, you did get them." 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, the conversation with Gray, as I read it, 
that you have just quoted was Gray saying to me, "I am saying that 
the FBI got all these documents, which is true but I am not making 
any nice distinction about the fact that it came in two parcels." Now, 
I suppose that from a hindsight standpoint there was a hint there that 
he had some other problem with these documents but I didn't pick up 
that hint. I didn't understand what he was concerned about, and so I 
took it that what that was all about was simply Mr. Gray saying to me, 
that that is the matter in which he was testifying and that he certainly 
would not want Dean to volunteer anything that in any way would 
disrupt that testimony. It would keep 'integral, or protected the fact, 
that in fact that they had come to the FBI in two parcels instead of one 
parcel. 

Mr. DASH. As a matter of fact, Mr. Ehrlichman, didn't you really 
pick it up and you didn't file it because you called Mr. Dean shortly 
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afterward, immediately following according to the transcript, and 
the conversation is as follows with Mr. Dean: 

Mr. DEAN. Hello. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Hi. Just had a call from your favorite witness. 
Mr. DEAN. Which is? 
Mr. EHBLICHMAN. Patrick J. Gray. 
Mr. DEAN. Oh, really. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. And he says to make sure that old John W. Dean stays very, 

very firm and steady on his story and he delivered every document to the FBI 
and he doesn't start making nice distinctions between agents and directors. 

Mr. Dean then says: 
He is.._a little worried,· isn't he? 

And you say: 
Well, he just doesn't want there to ·be any question. 

He says: 
He is hanging very firm and tough and there is a lot of problems around; 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Probing around. 
Mr. DASH. Probing around, excuse me. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is just exactly what I said. 
Mr. DASH. What you are doing is you actually carried out Mr. 

Gray's request. Far from telling Mr. Gray when he called you that as 
a matter of fact there were two deliveries, he did receive something 
personally as he was trying to tell you later in his discussion when you 
were calling from the President's Office, you did call Mr. Dean and you 
did carry that message to Mr. Dean, and you did tell Mr. Dean that Mr. 
Gray wants Mr. Dean to be sure to stand tight and make no distinc
tion between FBI agents and directors, that all went to the FBI and, 
therefore, weren't you, in fact, participating in the covering up of 
that situation in which a packet was given to Pat Gray which later 
was destroyed? 

Now, you didn't know it at that time? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Didn't know it? 
Mr. DASH. You didn't know it at that time? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. So far as I was concerned it was a perfectly 

proper way to go about delivering these documents to the FBI. Having 
the concern that we did that either the field office or the lower echelon 
of the FBI was leaking this stuff all over, to put it in the hands of the 
Director was a perfectly appropriate device. There was no coverup in 
that and I don't apologize for it for a minute. 

Mr. DASH. But why--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The coverup that I was invited to participate 

in, in the call from the President's office, was of quite another nature 
and this was Pat Gray suggesting to me, "I never got them" and "I 
will deny I ever got them" and that kind of thing which I just 
couldn't countenance. 

Mr. DASH. Isn't he saying the same thing in the earlier call? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. He is saying let's not make a distinction and let's make 

it clear that it went to the FBI so that no one would ever think I ever 
got them. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No; I don't think you can read that into it, Mr. 
Dash. 
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Mr. DASH. Did you ask him-did you ever say anything to him, 
such as, what is the problem, Pat? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I wish I had. 
Mr. DASH. What is the problem? Why would Mr. Gray ask you to 

tell John Wesley, "To stand tall and make no distinction," what came 
into your mind that it would be concerning him? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, if he had testified "It came in two parcels 
and I have the one, I have the one parcel and it has nothing to do with 
Watergate but I am holding this one parcel" that they would zero in 
on that as they had zeroed in on other aspects of this thing and at
tempt to open it up and get at the political embarrassing documents 
and exploit it. 

Mr. DASH. To that extent you were assisting him in preventing that 
from happening? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would hope so-that was the whole idea of de
livering it in two parcels so far as that was concerned. 

Mr. DASH. Then you were carrying out, well, again, you may dis
agree with my term by carrying out, at least a coverup of delivering 
to Mr. Gray the separate sensitive political documents so it wouldn't 
ho exploited. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, there was no intent here to, in any way, do 
away with those documents or keep them from persons who had a 
proper right to them. 

The thing that disturbed me in the April conversation, of course, 
was his invitation to me to side in with him in the story that he never 
got the documents in the first place, against the background of his 
having destroyed them, and after hanging up the phone I thought, 
well, I have got to just make this as clear as possible to him that I am 
not in this. 

Mr. DASH. But at that point Mr. Dean had already been to the prose
cutors and cut you out of the packet. It was clear that Mr. Gray 
had got the packet. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it did not--it did not come to the President 
from the U.S. attorney that the documents had been destroyed. So 
far as I know, that was discovered in this phone conversation with 
Mr. Gray for the first time. 

Now, I heard testimony here to the effect that I knew back in Jan
uary or sometime, that these documents had been destroyed and that 
is totally incorrect. In point of fact, had I known anything about the 
destruction of the documents back at that time, I dare say that my 
recommendation to the President, with regard to Mr. Gray's nomina
tion, would have been very strongly negative. 

Mr. DASH. Well, my question to make it very clear does not go to 
your knowledge of the destruction of the documents at that time. It 
goes to tlhe question of your knowledge that he did receive the packet 
and that you did, in fact, carry out Mr. Gray's request to tell Mr. Dean 
to stand tight in such a way that he shouldn't make a distinction be
tween FBI agents and directors and--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Just as it says. 
Mr. DASH. Just as it says there as you have indicated to keep any 

politically embarrassing matters from.being exploited. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Leaked. 
Mr. DASH. Or leaked. 
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Now, on July 26 your diary shows you met with Mr. Kalmbach and 
by that time, you already OK'd, I take it, Mr. Dean's use of Mr. Kalm
bach for raising funds for legal defense of the Watergate defendants. 

Now, how did that come about~ Did Mr. Dean come to you and say 
that he wanted to be able to contact Mr. Kalmbach -for this purpose~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I wouldn't want to answer this question 
in any way that might seem to adopt the lengthy preamble that you 
just delivered. I have testified a couple of times about the conversation 
that I actually had with Mr. Dean in this connection and very simply, 
as I recall, it was a phone call or it may have been one of these in
formation meetings, he said, "I wish you would back me u:p. John 
Mitchell feels very strongly that he has got to try and recrmt Herb 
to do this defense fundra1sing and I am going to ask him to do that." 
It wasjust-just about that much. 

Mr. DASH. And on that alone you allowed Mr. Kalmbach, at least 
Mr. Dean to go to Mr. Kalmbach and ask him to do it? 

Mr. EimLICHMAN. I didn't allow anybody to do anything. I mean, 
it wasn't up to me to grant permission to anybody to do anything under 
those circumstances. 

Mr. DASH. Well, I think Mr. Kalmbach has testified that, and I 
think you used the term during your interview, that you had sort of a 
lock on Mr. Kalmbach and I thmk your testimony is that, in order to 
protect Mr. Kalmbach from being imposed upon, that you would say 
that after he had done his original work that they couldn't come to 
him and ask him to do other fundraising without getting any approval 
through you or Mr. Haldeman; isn't that right? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I couldn't possibly agree to that very long 
question, Mr. Dash. There are so many things wrong with it. What 
actually happened, as I again testified a couple of times to you, is that 
when the April 7 campaign financing law was coming into effect, 
Mr. Kalmbach let us know or let me know that he didn't want to do 
any more fundraising in the campaign. Morrie Stans was pressing 
him hard to help him, very tough job. Herb wanted to be relieved of 
that and he wanted to do some other kind of chores in the campaign 
that he would find more interesting. And so we agreed that if either 
Mr. Mitchell or by then I think it was-let's see, I guess it was 
Mr. Mitchell still then, and Mr. Stans approached Herb that Herb 
could use me and Bob Haldeman as an excuse, that he was working 
for us and that we would back him on that. 

Mr. DASH. That is what I thought I had asked you. Maybe my ques
tion wasn't that clear. I thought I said that you had made an arrange
ment with Herb to protect him. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You have a way of festooning your questions, Mr. 
Dash, with :facts that apparently are only in your knowledge. 

Mr. DASH. Well, we won't go back and forth on this. I will :follow up 
the questioning. 

Now, did you know at all how much money would be involved? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. You didn't inquire? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DAsH. Did you know how the money was going to be raised? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. Did you inquire~ 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH.Now, you knew--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You are speaking now as of the time of my con

versation with Mr. Dean. 
Mr. DASH. With Mr. Dean, yes. You knew, of course, by that time 

that Mr. Hunt and Mr. Liddy were among the defendants who would 
be assisted by this. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume so. I am not certain of that but I assume 
so. 

Mr. DASH. I think the newspapers and public record would have 
brought that out. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I can't relate the two. 
Mr. DASH. Now, again, didn't you have a special purpose to assist 

in the paying of their legal defense fund? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I didn't have any purpose, general or special. 
Mr. DASH. Well, in other words, you are saying Mr. Hunt and Mr. 

Liddy, who had been involved in the Plumbers' activity and the Ells
berg break-in now and being involved here, were you not concerned 
that unless they were paid their legal defense fees that they might well 
cause some trouble? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. As I recall, the context in which this was dis
cussed was primarily a Cuban emigre stimulated defense fund which 
John Dean told me about, that was being created in Florida and would 
be the vehicle for this, and so if anything, my focus would have been 
on those participants in this in that particular conversation. 

Mr. DASH. Well then, why did they need Mr. Kalmbach? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. To bring money in, I assume, and this was 

again-again, I did not question this at all. It was something that was 
just brushed over in passing. 

Mr. DASH. In other words, you did not think at this time that this 
money would go to pay Mr. Hunt's lawyers or Mr. Liddy's lawyers? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It just was not a question that I addressed my
self to one way or the other, either affirmatively or negatively. 

Mr. DASH. And this is the kind of thing that you did treat that 
lightly? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DASH. Now, having, as you indicated, just treated it as lightly 

as you did when Mr. Dean came, you did meet Mr. Kalmbach on the 
26th. I know there is a dispute in your testimony concerning what the 
purpose of that meeting was. Mr. Kalmbach has testified here and 
he testified that because of the clandestine manner in which he was 
being asked to have this money disbursed, he really became concerned 
and that he really wanted to check on Mr. Dean;s authority and he 
trusted you so much that he came to you. I think we have had his testi
mony of his dramatic confrontation with you, which involved, look 
into my eyes and I will look into yours, do I really have to do it, and 
at a later telephone call which spoke about that meeting. 

Now, is it still your testimony that Mr. Kalmbach did not come to 
you and express deep concern about his carrying out this activity
this defense raising money and wanted to come back and ask you 
whether or not it was proper and should he really do it and do it 
secretly? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Would you restate the question? 
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Mr. DASH. Well, on July 26, did Mr. Kalmbach come to you and, 
as he has testified before this committee, express his deep concern about 
the propriety of his continuing and raising this money and ask you to 
tell him it is all right? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dash, I have no recollection of any con
versation with Mr. Kalmbach, be it on this date or on the 14th when 
we met and I believe discussed this same subject in which he asked me 
to vouch for the propriety of what he was doing. 

As I explained before to Senator Gurney, I would be very, very 
slow to assure Herb Kalmbach of the propriety of any undertaking 
unless I myself were satisfied of it, because Herb is the last fellow 
in the world that I would want to involve in something that was im
proper. So I just do not recall that happening and I doubt very seri
ously that it ever did happen in those kind of terms. 

Now, your previous question or attempt had something in it about 
John Dean's authority and that is the reason that I wanted you to 
repeat the question. 

I am not aware of any possible question of John Dean's authority 
to ask Mr. Kalmbach to do something as being an issue between us 
at any time. It does not make sense. It does not-it is not related to 
our true relationship in any way. In other words, for someone to come 
to me and say, "Does John Dean have authority ito ask me to do it?" 
is out of whack with what was our real relationship, which was Herb 
Kalmbach could do anything he wanted to do, but that if he wanted 
an excuse, we would /be his excuse not to do it. And it developed he 
agreed to do this and he was well down the road, you see, starting 
back in June ,and here we •are talking about the third week in July, 
and he has been doing this all this time. That is more characteristic, 
it seems to me, of our true relationship which was that he was a free 
agent to do anything he wanted to do, but if he was looking for 
an excuse, we would be his excuse not to do it vis-a-vis Mr. Mitchell or 
Mr. Stans. So this business of John Dean's authority is what really 
got me kind of doubtful about your other form of question. 

Mr. DASH. Well, the question was based on Mr. Kalmbach's testi
mony under oath here in which he testified that he had come to you 
to check on that authority. When Mr. Dean, he said, asked him to do 
something, or you, that he felt such people so high up in the White 
House, it was like ooming from the President ·and that he would fol
low these instructions because he wanted to be of service. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, let me comment on that, if I may, Mr. 
Dash. 

Our relationship with Herb Kalmbach was never one of principal 
and agent where we simply issued instructions to him when we wanted 
him to help out. It was always very much on a peer relationship where, 
if there were a project that we were interested in having his help on, 
of one kind or another, be it legal work of anything else, we requested 
him and if he did not feel comfortable with it or he had an adverse 
relationship in the office, his private practice, or if he just did not like 
the sound of it, he felt very free to sav no, thank you, and this business 
of his marching to orders from the White House does not-it just does 
not rin,g-true to me. 

Mr. DASH. May I refer you to your telephone conversation with ~r. 
Kalmbach on April 19, 1973, and ask you to look at page 4. And I will 
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read whatever you want me to read but let me start with Mr. Kalm
bach's statement or I can begin with you, Mr. Ehrlichman, somewhat 
down the line: 

But I think the point which I will make in the future if I am given the chance, 
that you were not under our control in any sort of slavery sense but that we had 
agreed that you would not be at the beck and call of the committee. 

Mr. KALMBACH. And, of course, too, that I act only on orders and, you know, 
on direction and if this is something that you felt sufficiently important and that 
you were assured it was altogether proper, then I would take it on because I 
always do it and always have. And you and Bob and the President know that. 

Then, you reply-
Yeah, well, as far as propriety is concerned, I think we both were relying en-

tirely on Dean. 
KALMBACH. Yep. 
EHRLICHMAN. I made no independent judgment. 
KALMBACH. Yep. Yep. 
EHRLICHMAN. And I'm sure Bob didn't either. 
KALMBACH. Nope and I'm just, I just have the feeling, John, that I don't 

know if this is a weak reed, is it? 
EHRLICHMAN. Who, Dean? 
KALMBACH. No, I mean are they still going to say well, Herb, you should have 

known. 

Now, you testified, one, that it was not on orders, that he did not act 
that way, and, two, that the question of propriety never came up, but 
here is Mr. Kalmbach talking to you and you are certainly not dis
agreeing with him, that he is saying that-

I act only on orders and, you know, on direction and if this is something that 
you felt sufficiently important and that you were sure it was altogether proper, 
then t would take it on because I always do it. 

Now, at that point you say that the propriety issue, you based upon 
Dean's judgment and made no independent judgment, and neither did 
Bob Haldeman make any independent judgment. 

Now, I take it that this is where the testimony rests. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. What is your question, Mr. Dash 1 
Mr. DASH. Well, the question is that when Mr. Kalmbach called you 

on this particular date, on April 19, he was reminding you that he was 
acting on orders? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Or did I remind him, Mr. Dash? 
Mr. DASH. You were reminding him then that you relied on the 

propriety issue? 
Mr. EHRLicHMAN. No. What I am reminding is that "You were not 

under our control in any sort of a slavery sense." And that is-
Mr. DASH. Not a slavery--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Precisely what I am testifying here, principal 

agent or servant or whatever you want. 
Mr. DASH. Not a slave but he says "I take orders and if you direct 

me, I do it?" 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You have been highly selective, Mr. Dash. I will 

stand very :flatly on all four corners of that conversation. 
Mr. DASH. I think you have and it is obvious what you are telling 

Mr. ~almbach now is you made only independent judgments on the 
propriety. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is what I testified to you. 
Mr. DASH. I know, Mr. Kalmbach has come and testified to us that 

he counted sb much on your reassuring him that it was proper, and 
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important that he do it and that had to be secreted and that if they 
did not do it that way they might have their head in their lap. The 
record will show it so. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. As you see, my recollection before he testified is 
the same as it is now. 

Mr. DASH. Now, in August 1972, we have had testimony on this, but 
I am just raising this. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. "\-Ve had testimony on all of that. 
Mr. DASH. Well, I know, but right now it is a question of bringing 

some of this down to a little more finiteness than we have had it. You 
oalled Mr. Petersen and asked that Mr. Stans not go to the grand 
jury. You did that in August 1972. I think we have had plenty of 
testimony on that. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Do we know that? I was not able to fix that date. 
What date do you have for that? 

Mr. DASH. Sometime in August of 1972. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not able to say. 
Mr. DASH. I do not have the specific date. , 
Now, do you recall meeting Mr. Kalmbach again on August 8? It 

is in your diary that you did. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not with regard to any specifics that were dis

cussed in the meeting. I see it on the log and I have no doubt that it 
took place. 

Mr. DASH. All right, now Mr. Kalmbach's recollection was that 
after he had that meeting with you, he then went out and he obtained 
some private funds from a private contributor, $75,000, and that when 
he saw you on the 8th, that he just reported to you that he was iable 
to raise $75,000 from a private campaign contributor for this defense 
fund. Do you recall his reporting to you that he was able to raise 
that money at that time? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I had the impression that that was what he wras 
telling me July 14 out in his office because we discussed his use of 
Tony ffiasewicz to carry money, ,and my impression was that he was 
carrying.that from the west coast to the east coast. I never did know 
the ,amount that he raised until I talked to Mr. Kalmbach in April 
of this year while I was conducting this inquiry, and I don't recall 
his ever telling me who it was that he raised the money from, although 
I heard him testify to the e:ff ect that-

Mr. DASH. Did he tell you how much he raised? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think in April he did, yes. I think he told me 

$70,000. 
Mr. DASH. Well; I mean earlier. I ,Q,m talking about some time in 

August. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I don't think I knew about it before April 

of this year. 
Mr. DASH. Did you know at all that he raised it from a private 

campai.g-n contributor? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Campaign contributor? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. Somebody who had been giving campaign funds for 

the reelection of the President. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think he described to me that it was a business
my impression was it was two people and they were in California and 
that was all the description that I think I had. 

Mr. DASH. Did that raise any problem in your mind that maybe Mr. 
Kalmbach was going to campaign contributors for defense funds? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. I didn't connect the two, I don't believe. 
Mr. DASH, All right. Now, after June 17, the date of the break-in, 

what information did you have, Mr. Ehrlichman, about Mr. Magru
der's involvement in the Watergate? Shortly after. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There was a lot of-there was a lot of suspicion 
shortly after and I would put this in, say, the first 6 weeks after the 
break-in, a good deal of suspicion of Mr. Magruder largely based on 
what Mr. Sloan was saying to people, and so there was a good deal of 
speculation that I can recall during that-during that period of time 
and it culminated in the conversation which Mr. Dean and I had with 
the Attorney General on July 31, where this was specifically discussed; 
that is, Mr. Magruder's involvement. The Attorney General said based 
on the FBI interviews and prosecuting attorneys' examination into Mr. 
Magruder's involvement, that it appeared that any involvement that he 
had related to money and there was a square dispute between Mr. 
Magruder and Mr. Sloan as to the truth of the assertion about 
Mr. Magruder's involvement, and that the Attorney General antici 0 

pated that Mr. Magruder might possibly be going to take the fifth 
amendment before the grand jury. · · 

Now, that remained the open question, so far as I knew, until Dean 
or someone told me that Magruder had in fact testified to the grand 
jury, and then as matters unfolded, he testified at the trial and he was 
iCOnsidered to have told the truth and he came out, sort of the-out of 
the shadow at that point. 

Mr. DASH. All right. But were you aware that during this period of 
time, the end of June, July, and August, that Mr. Mitchell, Mr. LaRue, 
Mr. Mardian, Mr. Magruder, Mr. Dean, were in frequent meetings, 
daily meetings, discussing the fact that Magruder's involvement-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. And the fact that Magruder was going to 

tell a particular story to the grand jury? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I was not. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Dean has testified he acted as a liaison and he did 

inform you. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, well, that is not correct. 
Mr. DASH. As a matter of fact, if he had, it would not be inconsist

ent with the meeting in the presence of the Attorney General, where 
the Attorney General reported there was nothing of Mr. Dean's being 
silent, if in fact, Dean was involved in a coverup, I take it he would 
not let the Attorney General know about it. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Would you repeat that question~ 
Mr. DASH. I was saying, you said the only time you had any clear 

understanding, at least the Attorney General's understanding of Mr. 
Magruder's involvement, was when he met with you and Mr. Dean 
and told him there was no involvement. Is that true? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Magruder and-
Mr. DASH. The Attorney General. 

96-296 O - 73 _ pt. 7 _ 13 



2846 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. Mr. Magruder and the Attorney 
General met with Mr. Dean and me. 

Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't recall any such meeting. 
Mr. DASH. You did say the Attorney General reported to you con-

cerning Mr. Magruder, did you not 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. And what did he tell you 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Just what I just testified, that they considered 

it an important conflict in the evidence as between Sloan and Ma
gruder, and the way it looked to the Attorney General at that point in 
time. Mr. Magruder might take the fifth amendment. 

Mr. DASH. Now, you were aware that on September 15 the indict
ment came down on the so-called seven defendants 1 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. You had a meeting with Mr. Haldeman on September 15. 

Did you discuss the indictment at that time 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I did not have any extraordinary meeting 

with Mr. Haldeman on the 15th. That would have been just the early 
morning staff meeting, I assume, which would have included all of the 
department heads in the White House. 

Mr. DAsH. What time was that meeting 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. 8 or 8 :15 in the morning. 
Mr. DASH. I think the diary we have on you shows a meeting of 11 in 

the morning. Does your diary show that 1 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Let me check. You are correct. I do not know the 

purpose of that meeting, Mr. Dash. I have no idea. The indictments, 
however, the market around the White House sort of discounted that 
September 15 action, so to speak, by reason of the Attorney General's 
announcement of September 12 to the President and the Cabinet, to 
some of us assembled, that the seven suspects were the only ones who 
would be indicted. So I do not think the announcement on-the formal 
announcement on the 15th was in fact any news to discuss. 

Mr. DASH. When did you first learn of Mr. Segretti's activities and 
the possible role of Mr. Chapin in those activities? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think that was at the time it first began to be 
talked about in the press. I had not heard of Segretti as an individual 
prior to that time. 

Mr. DASH. Then, did you hold any meetings involving that incident? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Involving what incident? 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Chapin's role in the Segretti matter. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. There were a number of meetings to determine 

what the White House news position or press position should be on 
that,yes. 

Mr. DASH. Did you, as a result of those meetings, learn about Mr. 
Cha pin's role with Mr. Segretti? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure that I learned about them in those 
meetings as such, but I did begin to learn more at the end of October 
and the first couple weeks of November, yes. 

Mr. DASH. Did you participate in the preparation of the public 
statements concerning Mr. Cha pin's role? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, Yes,Idid. 
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Mr. DASH. Is it not true that those statements did not, in effect, ac
knowledge Mr. Cha pin's role in either employing Mr. Segretti or hav
ing Mr. Segretti work for the campaign? 
· Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You say did not in effect, acknowledge? 

Mr. DASH. Did not acknowledge. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Did not acknowledge? Well, I was under the im

pression that the material that was being worked on-and you have 
an exhibit and I think·has my handwriting on it--

Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. Had a couple of depositions that 

were, or affidavits that were, proposed to be attached which did make 
rather full and complete acknowledgement. Unfortunately, those were 
not released, but that would have been the form of release that I would 
have preferred. 

Mr. DASH. But you recommended there be a full release of Mr. 
Chapin's involvement? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DASH. Do you recall in September 1971 traveling with the 

President, I think you indicated you traveled with the President to 
Japan at that time. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, sir. 
Mr. DASH. When did you go to the President in Japan? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The President went to Hawaii to meet the 

Japanese Prime Minister in September. Is that what you mean? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. 
Mr. DASH. Did you accompany him? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DASH. Did you stop on your way at the Benson Hotel in 

Portland? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, we did sometime, and I cannot remember 

whether it was on that particular trip or not. My recollection is we 
went-let us see-no, we went right straight out and right straight 
back to Hawaii, went out on the 30th direct to Hickam, and we 
came back from Hickam direct to El Toro on September 1. _ 

Mr. DASH. When, Mr. Ehrlichman, did you first become aware 
that Mr. Hunt was seeking Executive clemency? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am not sure that I was ever aware in the 
terms that you have just framed your question, that Hunt was seeking 
Executive clemency, in those flat terms. 

Mr. DASH. When--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I became aware after Mr. Colson had had his 

conversation with Mr. Bittman-Mr. Bittman had attempted to open a 
conversation with Mr. Colson on that subject which Mr. Colson says 
he refused to engage in. 

Now, that is as far as that ever went in beha'lf of Mr. Hunt, so 
far as I know. 

Mr. DASH. And you do not know of any assurances that Mr. 
Bittman or Mr. Hunt received from Mr. Colson concerning an Execu
tive clemency? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, Mr. Colson stated to me precisely the 
opposite, that he had been very careful in not making any assurances 
to him. 
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Mr. DASH. Now, I think, your diary shows you did meet with Mr. 
Colson and Mr. Dean on January 3, and then you met with the Presi
dent and Mr. Haldeman on January 4 and again with Mr. Dean and 
Mr. Colson on January 5. This is approximately the time that Mr. 
Dean had testified that the request or the issue came up concerning Mr. 
Hunt's desire for Executive clemency. Mr. Colson and Mr. Dean, ac
cording to Mr. Dean's testimony, spoke to you about it and that you 
said, according to his testimony, that you would check with the Presi
dent and came out and said that no commitment should be made, but 
that some assurance should be given to him. Do you recall that, not 
the testimony, but do you recall him doing that? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Doing what, Mr. Dash? 
Mr. DASH. Being asked by Mr. Colson and Mr. Dean to raise the 

question 0£ Executive clemency £or Hunt with the President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, stop right there. They did not do that. 

Now, go ahead. 
Mr. DASH. All right. 
You are checking with the President whether or not it would be pos

sible to give Mr. Hunt Executive clemency. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That would be on the 4th of January in the com

pany of Dr. Kissinger and Mr. Haldeman; is that right? 
Mr. DASH. Sometime around that. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That meeting at 3 :02 on the 4th. Is that the meet

ing you are suggesting? 
Mr. DASH. You met with the President a couple 0£ times during that 

period 0£ time but on the 4th you did meet with the President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not, as a matter 0£ £act. I met with the 

President one time on the 4th at 3 :02 in the company of Mr. Halde
man and Dr. Kissinger. Is that the time you are suggesting that I 
asked the President i£ we could give Mr. Hunt Executive clemency? 

Mr. DASH. Did you meet with the President on January 5? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not according to my record. Oh, excuse me, Dr. 

Kissinger and I had a 10-minute meeting with the President at 4 :55 
on that day. 

Mr. DASH. Did you at any time meet with the President and dis-
cuss Executive clemency? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. When? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. In July 0£ 1972. 
Mr. DASH. Now, why in July 0£ 1972 would you be discussing Exec

utive clemency with the President? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because it occurred to me as an organizational 

proposition that sooner or later somebody was going to raise this issue 
and I thought it would be a very good idea to talk it through with the 
President before it came up in any specific context, and find out exact
ly where we stood. 

Mr. DASH. By that time the indictment had not come down? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. 
Mr. DASH. It was shortly after the break-in. Why would it even 

come to your mind that any of the defendants would have raised the 
question of Executive clemency? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because you had a defendant who was an em
ployee of the Committee To Re-Elect the President and it seemed to 
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me just a very natural thing that inferences would be raised at some 
time in the future. We had a long walk on the beach on that particular 
day and we talked about a lot of subjects and this was one of the sub
jects we talked about. 

Mr. DASH. Had you had any discussion with Mr. Colson or Mr. 
Hunt at that time about it? · 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. At that time? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not that I can recall. 
Mr. DASH. It would seem unlikely that you would and it just is 

somewhat surprising that so early after the break-in you would even 
be talking about Executive clemency with the President. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Who did it surprise, Mr. Dash? 
Mr. DASH. I said it does seem surprising. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. To you? 
Mr. DASH. To me, that you in July, shortly after the break-in, before 

any indictments, that you would be discussing Executive clemency, but 
that is your testimony, that you did. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. All right, that is what happened. 
Mr. DASH. And you never did after having any discussions with Mr. 

Dean later on in ,January? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I am sorry, I did not hear the question. 
Mr. DASH. And you never again discussed that with the President 

after talking with Mr. Dean about Executive clemency? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Never again? No, I think there were discussions 

in March and April of this year about the allegations that Mr. Dean 
was making. 

Mr. DASH. I am referring back earlier to the January period be
cause, to put the point in time accurately, just before Mr. Hunt pleaded 
guilty is when Mr. Dean--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dean's original story was, of course, that I 
jumped up from the meeting and ran downstairs and popped into the 
Oval Office which, of course, was nonsense. So then, he qontrived this 
other story and neither one of them are true, Mr. Dash. 

Mr. DASH. On February 10, 1973, you, Mr. Haldeman, Mr. Dean, and 
Dick Moore did meet in La Costa, did you not? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes,sir. 
Mr. DASH. Could you tell us what the purpose of that meeting was'l 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, that meeting was called because the Presi-

dent had asked who was handling the preparation of the White House 
case for the Senate Select Committee hearings, and what planning 
was being done, and what was the White House position going to be 
on matters like executive privilege, and there were no answers to 
those questions. We had just come from the inaugural, everybody 
had been very busily occupied up to that point, and frankly, there 
was not anybody handling that, and so one of us, and I forget who, 
called .T ohn Dean and asked him to come out, and sit down and talk 
through this whole subject of White House response, so to speak, 
to the upcoming hearings of the Senate Select Committee. 

Mr. DASH. Well, did the discussion include just-not only the White 
House resnonse in general on executive privilege issues, but did it also 
include what steps you might take in terms of affecting the resolution 
authorizing this committee? What steps you might take in obtaining 
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a minority counsel that would be helpful, and evaluation of members 
of the committee as has been testified by Mr. Dean before this commit
tee¥ 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Well, there were-it was a little bit like attorneys 
meeting before a trial to talk about the upcoming trial and what 
the selection of the jury would be like, and the kind of jurors that you 
would prefer to have in a case of this kind, and what opposing counsel 
was like and so on and so forth. It was sort of a general brainstorming 
session on the subject, and all those subjects that you mentioned 
came up, as did a whole raft of other subjects relating to these up
coming hearings. 

Mr. DASH. Now, are you aware of then what assignments were given 
to anybody to follow up on this discussion¥ 

Mr. EHRLIOHMAN. Yes, Mr. Dean was given an assignment to at
tempt to prepare a general statement of Watergate in its broadest 
aspects, money, Segretti, planning and discussion of the break-in, 
the widest kind of a preliminary statement because it was decided that 
rather than to die by inches in terms of having questions asked and 
tiny bits of fact come out in answers through the process of the 
hearing, it would be much better if the entire story were laid out 
in a comprehensive statement in advance. So Mr. Dean was given that 
assignment. 

After a number of hours of discussion, it was sort of the consensus 
of the meeting, that the best possible management entity would not 
be the White House or Government people but would be the Committee 
To Re-Elect, and so the thought was that the Committee To Re-Elect 
with John Mitchell stepping back into the management of it, would 
be an ideal focal point for all kinds of the various management 
problems associated with these hearings. 

Dick Moore was going to go and talk with John Mitchell about this 
idea. I heard the testimony about Dick Moore going up to talk to him 
about money, that had to do, as I recall, with a specific aspect of this. 
Mr. Dean raised the point that these defendants in the break-in case
many of them either had cases that were pending sentencing, were on 
appeal, or in some kind of an interlocutory stage and that they might 
have the right to have their rights protected by seeking a judicial delay 
of the committee hearings. It was recognized in the course of passing 
that was going to obviously require the services of attorneys and the 
attorneys would have to be paid and so that was, as Dick Moore testi
fied, a rather passing subiect but nevertheless it was noticed as a money 
problem that could not be satisfied out of campaign funds and that 
he should also talk to John Mitchell that-

Mr. DASH. But why would you, Mr. Ehrlichman, and Mr. Halde
man, and Mr. Dean, with your positions in the White House concern 
yourselves over the criminal defense lawvers case that might have 
some imnact on delaying this committee.Was it a strate~ issue i 

Mr .. EHRLIOHMA~. It was in the nature ofa strategy issue and it was 
a passmg strategy I!'lsue. I wouldn't want it to get out of proportion 
and have you focus on it. 

Mr. DASH. I am not trying to focus on it. 
Mr. Emn,ICHMAN. Being sort of a central strategy issue hP-re, it was 

merely a glancing blow or passing reff',rence to an aspect of this which 
Mr. Dean raised as a legitimate part of the strategy questions. 
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Mr. DASH. All right. . 
Taking it as a passing blow -0r something, and not certamly a cen-' 

tral theme, it was considered as a strategy to keep this committee from 
going forward with its hearings. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. This meeting covered dilatory tactics, it covered a 
wide variety of subjects, including dilatory tactics, but certainly not 
limited to them. 

Mr. DASH. What did you have to be afraid of? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Sir? 
Mr. DASH. What did you have to be afraid of the committee getting 

started? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I think it was conceived that the attack would be 

highly partisan, that it would be strongly antiadministration, and anti 
the President. Senator Ervin was then believed to be a very partisan 
man, and T think there was strong concern that this whole process of 
this Select Committee would have worked to the serious disadvantage 
of the administration. There was no-there was certainly no acceptance 
of the thought that the. undertaking was totally benign. 

Mr. DASH. This was on February 10, the La Costa meeting we are 
talking about. 

Then, I take it, have you had an opportunity, and I don't want to 
take any time on it, to see the agenda items that Mr. Dean testified that 
later went in to the President concerning the discussion with Senator 
Baker and also minority counsel issues? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. I think that the suggestion that that 
somehow relates to the La Costa meeting is badly overdrawn and 
fanticized. I think Mr. Haldeman is your better witness on this, but 
from what I know of what took place at the La Costa meeting, the 
relationship between the two is much more tenuous than Mr. Dean 
attempted to draw out. 

Mr. DASH. I agree with you Mr. Haldeman is, but in a followup of 
La Costa rather than La Costa. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. Even there I think the proximate relationship 
is doubtful. · 

Mr. DASH. Let's go back briefly to perhaps your diary which is not 
as accurate as the White House log. On January 4, 1973, you indicated 
that you perhaps wouldn~t take up in the presence of Dr. Kissinger the 
issue of Executive clemency. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I didn't say that. I just asked you if that was 
the meeting you were relating to. 

Mr. DASH, On January 4, 1973, does your diary show that you met 
with the President from 3 :02 p.m. to 4 :44 p.m. and that you were with 
Mr. Haldeman in that meeting from 3 :02 to 4 :44 which is the full 
period, Mr. Collins from 3 :04 to 3 :05, and 4 :18 to 4 :49, and Mr. Kis
singer-Dr. Kissinger 4 :30 to 5 :15. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I don't have all those refinements in my 
diary but I show that Dr. Kissinger was in the meeting I was in for 
approximately 45 minutes of a total of about 1 hour and 40 minutes, 
something of that kind. · 

Mr. DASH. There was a time when you were with the President and 
Mr. Haldeman and yourself alone? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I assume so. 
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Mr. DASH. In March 1973 did you become aware-and I think you 
so testified-of the increased demands of Hunt for money, so-called 
Hunt's blackmail? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I wouldn't use the word increased because 
I think-I didn't have any frame of reference in which to identify this 
as an increase. I certainly am familiar with the blackmail. 

Mr. DASH. Of a demand, of the blackmail. Who informed you of 
this? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dean. 
Mr. DASH. Did it raise a question in your mind at least at this time, 

again having recall that money was paid for defense, of the propriety 
of paying this money when such a demand was being made? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Oh, certainly-,---well, let me separate out all of the 
testimony that you have just inserted in that question and maybe you 
could restate the question without all the embellishments. 

Mr. DASH. I will ask just the same question: You had found nothing 
wrong and, as a matter of fact, just beforehand, on the February 10 
meeting, again had discussed making certain payments or going up to 
Mitchell-having Mr. Moore go see Mr. Mitchell about raising some 
funds for the defendants, and now in March 1973, some time in March 
you become aware of a demand, Mr. Hunt's, of what you just called 
blackmail. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN, The difference between the two is dramatic. There 
was no suggestion at La Costa that any money be paid in consideration 
of anybody's silence or anything of that kind. The money we were 
talking about at La Costa was to compensate attorneys who would file 
motions in behalf of the defendants, and as far as I am concerned that 
would have been a completely legitimate undertaking, privately raised 
funds for that purpose. This was a flat out blackmail attempt, if money 
was not paid then Hunt would say so-and-so, but if money were paid 
he would not say so-and-so. That is the first time I encountered any
thing of that sort in this entire-what would that be, 10 months? 

Mr. DASH. Well, were you aware that back in November Mr. Hunt 
had a telephone conversation with Mr. Colson, and Mr. Colson taped 
that conversation with regard to Mr. Hunt wanting money and being 
very unhappy that he wasn't getting the kind of money he was 
requesting? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I have heard testimony about that 1,1,nd that 
I am supposed to have heard that tape. 

Mr. DASH. Did you hear that tape? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I don't recall ever hearing that tape. I recall Mr. 

Dean coming to Camp David on one occasion during the 2 months we 
were up there. We have repeatedly-since he testified to that effect
we have repeatedly tried to get a transcript or a copy of that tape 
without success from your staff but I would certainly like to see it 
because I--

Mr. DASH [interrupting]. Have you--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN [continuing]. I just draw a blank. 
Mr. DASH. Mr. Wilson, have you made a request? 
Mr. WILSON. Neither I nor Mr. Strickler asked Mr. Hamilton for 

that. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, in any event, the answer to your question 
is that I just really draw a blank on that. It doesn't relate to anything 
I can recall. 

Mr. WrLsoN.Maywehaveitnow? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. I have a copy, if somebody would take it for you 

to peruse. · 
Senator ERVIN. If it will refresh your recollection and, if so, I would 

like you to respond. 
Mr. WILSON. May we keep that? 
Mr. DASH. It is my only copy but I will make a Xerox copy for you. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Counsel, I don't recall ever either seeing this 

transcript or--
Mr. DASH. Mr. Wilson, would you like a copy of that? 
Mr. WILSON. Please. 
Mr. DASH. You can return it and we will see that you do get a copy. 
You stated a little earlier prior to my showing you that document 

that Mr. Hunt was making a demand-either I get so much money or 
I will tell this or that. What conceivably could Mr. Hunt have told? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. The way John Dean explained it to me, the threat 
was in terms of he would tell seamy things about what he did at the 
White House for Mr. Krogh and me. Now, I took that to refer to the 
California break-in which is the only thing I could think of that 
would-that he ever did at the White House for me of any kind for 
that matter. And I asked Mr. Dean if he knew what this was about 
and he said he assumed that that is what it was about. 

Mr. DASH. Now, do you recall a meeting with Mr. Dean and with 
Mr. Mitchell, I think, probably on March 22. Did you ask Mr. Mitchell 
whether or not Hunt's demand had been taken care of? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I heard that testified in point of fact, my recollec
tion of that is that that conversation was between Mr. Dean and Mr. 
Mitchell and it was Mr. Dean saying just, is that matter taken care of, 
without reference to Hunt or anybody, and Mr. Mitchell sort of grunt
ing and saying maybe, or I guess so, or something very vague. 

Mr. DASH. Did you learn about that time that in fact Mr. Hunt's 
demand had been taken care of? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. In fact it wasn't until the testimony here 
that I was aware of that. 

Mr. DASH. And did you have any knowledge or awareness of Mr. 
Fred LaRue's role-

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH [continuing]. In making those payments? 
Did you by the way tell the President about the blackmail demand? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. By the time I discussed it with him, he already 

knew of it. 
Mr. DASH. Now, it appears from certainly the White House logs we 

have received, that after the La Costa meeting, some time after Feb
ruary 10, Mr. Dean's meetings with the President increased really sig
nificantly because he had very few meetings prior to that time and then 
they were quite frequent. Could you explain to your knowledge, if you 
have any, why that occurred? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir, I think I can. 
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At our next joint meeting, Mr. Haldeman's and mine, with the 
President, he said, well, how did the weekend go or words to that effect 
and when can I expect that statement, meaning this broad statement 
that Mr. Dean was to prepare. 

One of us, and I think it was I, said I don't think you are going to 
get that statement, and he said, why not? And I said, well, John Dean 
has a lot of reasons why such a statement should not be released, and 
they related to the rights of defendants and to the civil suit that was 
pending and to the problems of executive privilege, and so on. 

And the President expressed considerable patience and began to 
lean on me pretty hard, and I said, well, Mr. President, I am in the 
middle on this and I would be very grateful if you would have a per
sonal conversation with John Dean about these problems, so that you 
would get a firsthand feel for the objections that he is raising to the 
request that you have been making. And he said, all right, I will do 
that. And it was very soon after returning to Washington that he-I 
have a note in one of my meetings with him that he wanted to see John 
Dean immediately that day, and he did, and that was the first meeting 
of this series. But I think it was-and about that same time the Presi
dent said, I want you to stay out of this, to me. He got me started on a 
massive so-called surrogate operation of sending tlie Cabinet and ad
ministration people into the country on questions of impoundment and 
overspending and budget cuts and things of that kind, and I have 
very explicit instructions in my notes to the effect that I am to dis
continue any further devotion of time to the whole Watergate subject, 
that Dean has it, that the President is satisfied that he is in charge 
and from that point forward I am out of it. 

Mr. DASH. Well, did you or anybody in your presence ever recom
mend to the President that it might be a good idea to have a number of 
meetings with Mr. Dean if executive privilege was going to be raised 
with regard to Mr. Dean's appearance? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean attorney-client privilege. 
Mr. DASH. Or executive privilege. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. It came up during the Gray hearings and the issue of 

Mr. Dean being subpenaed down or invited down, that the question 
would be that if he didn't meet with the President very much, whether 
there could be very much executive privilege or attorney-client privi
lege and to your knowledge in only asking whether you advised the 
President or in your presence advised the President that that would 
bean--

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You will remember, Mr. Dash, that I testified 
when I first got into this matter on March 30 again that one of the 
great remaining open questions was this whole business of how at
torney-client privilege worked vis-a-vis the President and counsel to 
the President, and I had to call for a lot of briefing on that. It was 
still an open question but I was not well versed in the subject prior 
to that time and relied entirely on Mr. Dean to preserve that relation
ship in whatever way it should be preserved. 

Mr. DASH. Now we have had testimony from Mr .. Dean--
Mr. WILSON [interrupting]. Mr. Dash, may I interrupt you a mo

ment to address the Chair? 
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Mr. Chairman, again on the question of scheduling, it is obvious 
that the examination of Mr. Ehrlichman will not be completed as we 
had hoped in time, and I want to mention again that Mr. Haldeman's 
statement will require at least 2 hours to read. I wouldn't like him 
to start it this afternoon and not complete it. If Mr. Dash-and I 
didn't want to limit Mr. Dash-if he goes for another hour, could 
I either have the assurance of the committee that Mr. Haldeman 
could read his whole statement before we recess this evening or that 
we will begin in the morning~ 

Senator ERVIN. Mr. Dash has just assured me that he has only about 
15 minutes more. There will be a question of the other interrogator, 
being Mr. Thompson. 

Mr. DASH. I am about finished, Mr. Wilson. 
Senator ERVIN. We can certainly read his statement today because 

the committee decided this morning to start the meeting at 9 :30 in 
the morning and run to 5 or 5 :30 and to expedite these things be
cause I think the country would like to get the investigations over, 
particularly this phase. 

Mr. WILSON. I would be in favor of night meetings. 
Senator ERVIN. Well, we will certainly see that Mr. Haldeman 

gets to read his entire statement today and I hope that we can com
plete the examination, notwithstanding the fact that I am just a 
little tempted to confess that at the time Mr. Ehrlichman was testi
fying about a while ago, I ·a.m sorry the conclusion was drawn that 
I was so partisan. I was partisan to the Constitution because I was 
fighting for the congressional view in respect to impoundment and 
also for the idea that the Constitution requires the confirmation of 
such important officers as Director and Deputy Director of the Office 
of Management and Budget. I was also calling attention a:bout that 
time to the fact that the Supreme Court had held when a witness was 
subpenaed to appear before congressional committees, if they didn't 
appear they could be arrested and brought before the Senate, and that 
was in direct opposition to the theory that there was an executive 
privilege that entitled a former, or resident, or White House em
ployee, or aide from appearing before a congressional committee. I 
am sorry that caused a feeling that I was sort of partisan, because I 
doubt whether there is a Democrat in the Senate who voted more to 
sustain the President's position on economic issues and on war issues, 
and just the other day I voted against the war powers bill because I 
thought it encroached on the constitutional domain of the President. 

Excuse the interruption. We will finish it. [Laughter.] 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, it ought to be noted that that time 

will be deducted from counsel's time. 
Mr. THOMPSON. Not minority counsel. 
Mr. DASH. I think we have had testimony on the March 21 meet

ing of Mr. Dean and Mr. Dean testified that he gave a full story to 
the President concerning who might be involved in the Watergate, 
either in the break-in or the coverup, and that you did have an after
noon meeting with Mr. Haldeman, Mr. Dean, and the President on 
the 21st. Mr. Dean's testimony is that at that meetin,g he stated to all 
three of you, Mr. Dean, Mr. Haldeman, and Mr. Ehrlichman, rwere 
indictable. 

Did Mr. Dean so state 1 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I have no recollection at all, Mr. Dash, of that 
being said at that time. As a matter of fact, it was several weeks 
after that, before we had a conversation with Mr. Dean, in which he 
finally alluded to my relationship with Mr. Kalmbach as presenting 
some embarrassment to me but certainly nothing that would be in
dictable, but back on March 21, I don't believe that Mr. Dean's theory 
of the case had crystallized yet. 

Mr. DASH. Well, of course, on March 22, I think you have already 
testified, you met with the President, Mr. Haldeman, Mr. Dean, and 
Mr. Mitchell? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. All right. Let the record stand as the actual testimony. 

anything at that time, your guess was that he probably was not letting 
it out because he was still in the midst of his investigation. 

It appears from your testimony and Mr. Mitchell's testimony, Mr. 
Dean's testimony, that the President did not confront any of the 
parties at that meeting with any of the charges, is this true? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. Now-
Mr. DASH. On March--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct without adopting all of the pre

ceding 11 sentences in your question. 
Mr. DASH. Well, I took your testimony--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I knew you paraphrased and I do not adopt 

your paraphrase. 
Mr. DASH. All right. Let the record stand as was the actual testi

mony. 
On March 28 you called Mr. Kleindienst. Now, certainly on March 

21, the President has referred in his May 22, and I think his April 17 
statement, that he learned new facts, serious facts. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Charges, I believe he states. Charges is, I think 
the word. 

Mr. DASH. Charges, on March 21. And Mr. Dean has testified as 
to what at least so far as he. was concerned, what charges he made. 

Now, you weren't at that mooting, to be sure, on March 21, and yet 
when you called Mr. Kleindienst, you stated in that call that: 

The President said to me to say ,to you that the best information he had and 
has in this, is neither Dean, nor Haldeman, nor Colson, nor I, nor anybody in the 
White House had any prior knowledge of the burglary. 

Then you went on and that he was to get more information. 
Now, I take it that if the President had received information from 

Mr. Dean, for instance, say Mr. Strachan had information on March 
21, he would not be instructing you to call Mr. Kleindienst to give that 
message, would he? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I certainly am not going to respond to that 
question, Mr. Dash. It involves your own personal hypothesis and it 
invites me to join you in it which I am not willing to do. I have stated 
what my hypothesis is with regard to the President's conduct after 
March 21 and I don't happen to agree with yours. 

Mr. DASH. Well, I take it, perhaps maybe the best evidence of what 
occurred on March 21 between Mr. Dean and the President might be 
the tapes that recorded that conversation. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Or someone else who was present, like Mr. Halde
man. 
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Mr. DASH. We could still have the tapes also that might corroborate 
that discussion. 

Now, did Mr. Dean ever show you a list, a handwritten list, aotually, 
on his part that he made up after he had gone to the prosecutors, in 
whic,h he had listed various people, who he claimed, based on informa
tion he was getting from the prosecutors and information he was giv
ing to the prosecutors would be indictable for criminal charges~ 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Is that this exhibit that you have in your hand? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. Exhibit--
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. He never showed that tome. 
Mr. DASH. Did he ever show you that? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. He has so testified that he did and I guess that again you 

would say would be untrue on his part? ' 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. That is correct. 
Mr. DASH. You have also testified that you were asked to make an 

inquiry on March 30 by the President. ' 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. And you reported to the President on April 14~ 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. And the President came out with a statement on April 17. 
Now, in between that time, on April 15, were you aware of the fact 

that Mr. Kleindienst and Mr. Petersen met with the President and 
reported fully to the President as to what information they were 
getting in the grand jury investigation? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I precipitated that meeting, yes, Mr. Dash. 
Mr. DASH. How did you precipitate it? · 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. By calling Mr. Kleindienst at 5 :15 on the after

noon of the 14th at the President's request, and advising him of my 
report 1to the President that morning, and also my interviews with 
Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Magruder. Then after that call, as you know, 
the Attorney General had an all night meeting with his U.S. attorneys 
and his prosecuting attorneys. He then made arrangements to see the 
President after church on the morning of the 15th. 

Mr. DASH. And would you say that actually the President's state
ment on April 17 was based on the meeting with Mr. Kleindienst and 
with Mr. Petersen? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean exclusively? 
Mr. DASH. Not exclusively but to a large part. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. How large? 
Mr. DASH. Well, you have testified frequently to questions put to 

you concerning your inquiry and you have indicated that you wouldn't 
call it an investigation. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I am very modest about it. 
Mr. DASH. All right. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Because I don't consider it to be ,a total investiga

tion. 
Mr. DASH. Right, and you said it was hearsay on hearsay and dif

ferent people were coming in and you were taking notes. Mr. Klein
dienst and Mr. Petersen at least, were able to give the President a 
fairly complete report on whait they were getting in the grand jury 
which was testimony under oath probably and also information they 
were getting from .the prosecutors' office. 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, as I testified I think to Senator Montoya's 
question, there were really a number of converging lines at this point 
and I certainly didn't intend and, as a matter of fact, I hope I ex
pressly disclaimed any credit for cracking the case or anything of that 
kind, but you had the g:i:and jury effort, you had the prosecuting attor
neys working along with the grand jury on the one hand. You had the 
Department of Justice effort and then you had this sort of subsidiary 
inquiry that I was making, all of which could be contributed to the 
President's fund of knowledge on this subject. 

Now, the statement on the 17th was not intended by any means to 
cap it. The inquiry went on after that, and so I think you have to see 
this as a convergence of a number of different efforts that finally has 
brought this thing into the open. 

Mr. DAsH. I thmk you testified that you participated in the prepara
tion of that statement on the 17th. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DASH. By the way, although you had left the White House, did 

you participate in any way in the statement of May 22 of the 
President? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. 
Mr. DASH. By the way, Mr. Ehrlichman, have you ever received 

either directly or indirectly, since the 1st of January 1969, any cam
paign funds for any purpose? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Any oampaign funds for any purpose? 
I had some expenses reimbursed at the convent10n which were not 

legitimate Government expenses and which were reimbursed to me 
by the Committee To Re-Elect, and I have forgotten what those were. 
They were quite nominal as I recall. 

Mr. DASH. They were nominal. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DASH. Would that be the extent of it? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, it is possible that I was still receiving re

imbursement of expenses :from the 1968 campaign in January 1969. 
I am not prepared to say without--

Mr. DASH. But if so, would that be a nominal amount or would 
it be a large amount? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, it would be, I think, fairly extensive because 
at that time, you know, in the 1968 campaign I was the tour director 
and I was racking up a fair amount of personal expenses in that 
process. 

Mr. DASH. I am not asking. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. But I am just not a:ble to recall whether those 

kept coming in that late or not. They were pretty slow. 
Mr. DASH. I ,am just talking •about ,after the 1968 campaign, 1969, 

thereafter. I am not •asking questions. 
Mr. WILSON. Mr. Ohairman, I want rto raise a question of relevancy 

with respect to this drute that Mr. Dash is relying upon. Mav I say 
~ith great respect, I think your resolution does not reach this fur, 
Sir. 

Senator ERVIN. I do not think the resolution reaches •anything ex
cept the Presidenti,al eleci,ion of 1972 ·and any campaigns which pre
ceded that which were relevant to ,t/he selection of candidates to run in 
1972. 
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Mr. WILSON. Which would be the primaries. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes, sir. ]t would be primaries or the campaigns of 

the oandidaJtes prior to rthe primary. I do not think it would reach 
1969. 

Mr. DASH. Well, the day 1after the 1968 election, weren't the funds 
that were received in 1969 used for the 1972 campaign? Of course, the 
campaign began the day after tJhe 1968 election. 

Mr. WILSON. That was not your question but I want to address my
self to that question also. 

Mr. DASH. All I 1asked was, 1and rthink I received an 1answer, whether 
or not from 1969 onward Mr. Ehrlichman received any campaign 
funds. 

Mr. WILSON. Well, I say--
Senator ERVIN. I do not believe we oan go back, if you received any· 

funds that were collected in the 1968 campaign that were turned over 
to the committee for use in 1970. I think that would be valid but

Mr. WILSON. Let the question include those primaries then, sir. The 
way tJhe question is asked--

Senator ERVIN. I do not think what he received in 1968 would be 
within the purview of our resolution. 

Mr. WILSON. You and I agree. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, there is one other point, and I do 

not mean to belabor it sinc,e rthe Chair has ,alrea;dy ruled, but if there 
is informaJtion which the staff has on some aspect of the matter in some 
respect, I understand it has not been brought to the attention of mi
nority, so I would like to request tliat majority staff might do that be
fore they pursue the questions. 

Mr. DASH. I a;m not pursuing the question any further, I just asked 
the question. . 

Senafor BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I reiterate my request 1and I am sure 
the chairman will agree. 

Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Senator BAKER. The understanding is that the information will be 

equally shared so if there is a point l would like to have it. 
Senator ERVIN. In other words, my tentative ruling, unless it is upset 

by the committee, is that we have no jurisdiction to investigate any
thing connected with campaign funds which were left over from the 
1968 election unless those funds were used in connection with the 1972 
election. 

Senator BAKER. The Chair has ruled and I agree with him, for what
ever that is worth, and I think we ought to go ahead. 

Mr. DASH. Right. 
Now, in preparation for your testimony, Mr. Ehrlichman, have you 

had access to your records at the White House? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. It is what I suppose you would call limited access. 

I can go in and look at records but I cannot copy, I cannot take notes, 
and I am not allowed to take them from the room. 

Mr. DASH. How long did you stay in the White House after April 30 
when you tendered your resignation? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. About 21/2 weeks. 
Mr. DASH. Did you have access at that time to your records? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Yes, I did. I had-well, no, excuse me, I did not 

have custody of my records at that time. My custody ceased on April 
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30, so that then I was subject to the limitations which were then im
posed by the office of the counsel there from that day forward. I liter
ally, physically gave up custody and possession of the records on 
April 30. 

Mr. DASH. Now, based on the President's latest statement concern
ing our efforts to get what might be relevant documents that are not 
covered by executive privilege as considered by the President, that 
we would have to ask for it specifically, and describe the records 
specifically, would you be willing to assist the committee in identify
ing certain of your records still in the White House which we might 
feel necessary to ask for by description and with specificity? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I would want to take counsel on that before I 
responded to that. 

Mr. DASH. Now, have you prior to your testimony before this com-
mittee, discussed your testimony with Mr. Haldeman? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Discussed my testimony with him? 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. You mean how I was going to answer questions i 
Mr. DASH. Yes. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No. We discussed the subject matter very exten

sively but I have not discussed my testimony. 
Mr. DAsH. In other words, you discussed the subject matter of your 

answers but not the testimony as such? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Not the subject matter of my answers but the 

subject matter that is at issue here, I have discussed with him both 
during and since. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Dash, Mr. Chairman, may I ask, would you permit 
Mr. Ehrlichman to describe how the preparation for this hearing was 
pursued and the preparation of their individual statements? 

Senator ERVIN. Yes, if he wishes to make a statement on it. 
Mr. DASH. That is my last question and if he wants to finish with 

that I have no further questions. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, as you know, several weeks ago, I would im

agine 5 weeks ago or so, Mr. Haldeman moved. I have seen him to con
sult since then, except for perhaps a total of 20, 30 minutes maximum. 
My opening statement in this matter was prepared personally and 
without ,any consultation with Mr. Haldeman, as I assume his was, be
cause I have certainly not had any consultation with him on his. I 
have spent virtually every day since my termination at the White 
House 2% weeks after the 30th in attempting to get straight the dates, 
the places, the times, the persons present, the subject matters covered, 
and to go back into the White House records and take a look at my 
records, to try to refresh my recollection as to what has taken place in 
the premises. From time to time, prior to his departure, Mr. Halde
man and I have discussed aspects of this matter, but certainly not in 
terms of testimony here, only in terms of what actually took place in 
that research effort. 

Mr. DASH. I take it that those times you did discuss it it was in an
ticipation of both of you appearing before this committee? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Dash, you are not the only girl in town. There 
are lots of other inquiries going on. 

Mr. DASH. In anticipation of testimony to all the other girls. 
[Laughter.] I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman. 
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Senator ERVIN. Mr. Thompson. 
Mr. THOMPSON. Mr. Chairman, I believe Senator Weicker has a 

question on this very point and I would like to yield to him at this 
time. 

Senator WEICKER. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Ehrlichman, do you assume that your testimony is in complete 

accord with that of Mr. Haldeman when he appears before this com
mittee, and that there exists no conflict between both of you :with re
gard to all the events that this committee has covered? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. No, I do not assume that, Senator. 
Senator WEICKER. Well, under those circumstances, may I ask then: 

how it is possible that you are both being represented by the same 
attorney? Is there not a potential conflict of interest in the event 
Mr. Haldeman does not agree with your recollection of the events? 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, may I answer that question? I am the 
one who is the subject of that question and I would like to answer it 
for Mr. Weicker. 

Senator WEICKER. I would like to hear the answer because I think 
Mr. Ehrlichman's answer is quite clear, there . is potential conflict 
between the two of them. 

Mr. WILSON. There is no potential conflict at all. 
Senator WEICKER. Your client has answered that there is. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not assume there is a coincidence. 
Mr. WILSON. Senator Weicker, let me say something to you, sir. To 

suggest that I am involved in a matter where there is a conflict be
tween two clients is the same as to suggest to me I am not sensitive, 
that I am guilty of some fraud when I sit here. 

Senator WEICKER. I would have the reporter reread the question 
that I asked to Mr. Ehrlichman and have Mr. Ehrlichman's response 
to my question. 

[The reporter read the question and answer requested.] 
Mr. WILSON. Is that your testimony? 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I do not make an assumption on that. 
Senator WEICKER. In other words--
Mr. WILSON. May I continue now? 
,Senator WEICKER [continuing]. The same question your client 

answered. He said "No," in other words, there possibly could be a 
conflict? 

Mr. WILSON. He did not say that at all. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I did not. I said I had made no assumption, 

that was the question you asked me. 
Senator WEICKER. In other words, that it could be in conflict. 
Mr. WILSON. It could be no conflict that I am aware of, sir. 
Senator WEICKER. I asked your client the question. 
Mr. WILSON. No; but I am entitled to answer the question because 

you are assailing my integrity. 
Senator WEICKER. I am not assailing your integrity. I am question

ing your client, and I question-let me get an answer from him again. 
Let me ask him the same question. Do you assume that your testimony 
is in complete accord with that of Mr. Haldeman when he appears 
before this committee? 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. I make no assumptions, Senator. I have no way 
of knowing whether his testimony is going to coincide with mine or 
not. 
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Senator WEicKER. So that it is possible that there would be a 
conflict~ 

Mr. WILSON. I say there is not. . 
Senator WEICK.ER. I am asking Mr. Ehrlichman. So, it is possible 

there would be conflict~ 
Mr. WILSON. Wearetheones
Senator ERVIN. Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. WILSON. No, Mr. Chairman, you know, you parliamentarians 

have a phrase that I want to use, I want to rise to a point of personal 
privilege. I am a very sensitive person about this, and I don't want 
Senator Weicker or anybody else to insinuate that I am representing 
two clients who have conflict. 

Now Mr. Strickler and I know definitely there is no conflict between 
these two gentlemen. I want to say also that the-

Senator ERVIN. I was proceeding on the theory that Senator Weicker 
was merely addressing- this particular question to your client and not 
to you. Now, he did address one question to you and you denied there 
was any conflict of interest, and I don't bel1eve that this is a matter 
that the committee ought to pursue as to the conflict of interest of 
lawyers. 

Mr. WILSON. Thank you. Otherwise I would like to speak for about 
a half hour. [Laughter.] 

Senator WEICKER. In other words, Mr. Ehrlichman, there is no con
flict, I am asking your client, not you, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Ehrlichman, 
in other words, there is no conflict between your testimony and the 
testimonv of Mr. Haldeman~ 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, you told me earlier that you could 
control--

Senator ERVIN. Wait a minute. Let Senator Weicker complete his 
question including putting a question mark after it. [Laughter.] 

Mr. WILSON. Where does that leave me~ 
Senator ERVIN. We will let your client answer it first and then if you 

want to address a statement to the Chair, I will be glad to receive it. 
Mr. WILSON. I will address it at great length. Go ahead, Senator 

Weicker, ask my client a question. [Laughter.] 
Senator WEicKER. That there exists, and I am asking you the ques

tion as to whether or not there exists, or could exist a conflict between 
both of you, you and Mr. Haldeman, with regards to the events that 
this committee is covering as far as testimony is concerned. Or let me 
repeat the question right from the outset and again from the reporter, 
that I have it in front of me, do you assume your testimony is in com
plete accord with that of Mr. Haldeman~ 

Senator ERVIN. Well, Senator, I don't like to make rulings on ques
tions but I don't see how the witness can possibly answer that until Mr. 
Haldeman testifies. 

Senator WEICKER. But unless he has talked to Mr. Haldeman. 
Senator ERVIN. Yes; it would be quite evident if he and Mr. Halde

man got together and compared notes and agreed to testifv in like 
manner, or whether they got the witness to consult with Mr. Haldeman 
for the purpose of refreshing his recollection in that matter, you can 
go into the whole area-but until Mr. Haldeman testifies I don't believe 



2863 

the witness could say whether his testimony conflicts with Mr. Halde
man's testimony, which has not yet been given, but you can certainly 
ask him whether or not they got together and compared notes and 
agreed on what testimony he is going to give. 

Senator WEICKER. I will be glad to ask that although I must confess 
that I ·am completely satisfied with the statement made by counsel, 
that there is no conflict between the testimony o:f Mr. Haldeman and 
Mr. Ehrlichman. 

Mr. WILSON. I say that without qualification on the basis of more 
years o:f practice o:f law than any one o:f you sitting on that committee, 
including the chairman. 

Senator WEICKER. That there is no conflict between the testimony 
o:f Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichman. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Well, I think you are operating here on really 
two levels. 

Senator ERVIN. Senator, I think that is prophetic power and I will 
have to admit we lawyers sometimes acquire some little prophetic 
power as to what our clients are going to testify. 

Mr. WILSON. O:f course, we know what the two are going to testify 
to and we are not aware o:f any material conflict. 

Senator ERVIN. Yes. 
Mr. WILSON. I mean there may be a little variance in incidents 

just like two people seeing an accident on the street. But there is no 
material conflict to my knowledge. I give you my professional as
surance o:f that, Senator W eicker. 

Senator W EICKER. That answers my question. 
Mr. WILSON. Thank you. 
Senator ERVIN. Mr. Thompson. 
Mr. THOMPSON. I don't think there is any way that I can pursue a 

couple o:f lines o:f questioning I had in mind and still get on with the 
business at hand as we all want to, so I will :forgo any questions o:f 
Mr. Ehrlichman at this time. 

I would like to say this, and I don't know whether it is appropriate 
but I :feel compelled to say this: That I am a lawyer and I am used 
to courtroom procedure, and this witness has been the subject o:f 
moans and groans :from the audience, hisses, applause, sustained ap
plause on some occasions and other demonstrat10ns and, as :far as I 
know, he is the only witness who has been subjected to all o:f these 
things. I think it's unfair to the witness and I don't think it does the 
work o:f this committee any good. 

It's not that you, Mr. Ehrlichman, are to be treated any better than 
any other witness but you shouldn't be treated any worse. It doesn't 
go to the weight o:f your testimony or its credibility or whether we 
believe it or not, but I think it just goes to a matter o:f common decency 
and courtesy to which all witnesses are entitled. I think that situation 
has been rectified now, at least I hope it has, and I just wanted to 
state that :for the last :few days' testimony, I have regretted this situ
ation and find it personally -embarrassing. Thank you. 

Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you. , 
Senator BAKER [presiding]. Are there other questions o:f this 

witness? 
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Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Mr. Vice Chairman, I think under the rules I 
am entitled to make a brief closing statement and I would like to 
avail myself of that privilege. 

Senator BAKER. You are indeed and you may proceed. 
Mr. EHRLICHMAN. Thank you. 
Mr. Vice Chairman and members of the committee, I prepared for 

this hearing with just two objectives: First to state the truth as nearly 
as recollection and research could enable me to do and thereby to 
establish the falsity of the charges made against me by your star 
witness. For nearly 5 days I have submitted to your cross-examination 
to permit a test of the truth of my testimony. In my opening state
ment I listed a number of questions which I asked you to inquire about 
because I believe they are central to this matter and because I have 
some information about them. 

In the past 5 days a great deal of time has been spent mostly on a 
few of them. As a result, there is now remaining one matter which I 

' believe is important enough to mention in passing to the committee. 
I did not have an opportunity to review with the committee my notes 
of my second interview with Gordon Strachan. I think it is important 
to the committee to know that as you read those notes the questions 
which I continually put to Mr. Strachan all the way through were: "Is 
there anything else? Are you giving me the whole list? Are these all the 
people in the White House who are involved, and have you told me 
everything you know about their involvement?" In other words, the list 
you see in the Strachan notes is intended, as I recall the interview 
with Mr. Strachan, to be an exclusive list, and that does not appear 
on the face of the notes, and I think it's important for you to have 
that. 

My secondary objective here was to he prepared to raise a voice 
for the President, who is unrepresented here. As your questions devel
oped, I had no opportunity to do so as his advocate, I only shed SQme 
light on facts which disproved a few of the false allegations which have 
been advanced against him here. I do not apologize for my loyalty to 
the President any more than I apologize for my love of this country. I 
only hope that my testimony here has somehow served them both. 

I could not close without commenting on Gordon Strachan's answer 
of the other day to the question, "Do you have any advice for the young 
Americans who are expressing their disenchantment with government 
and the political process?" Gordon said, "Stay away." And your gal
lery laughed. But I don't think many other Americans laughed at that 
answer, I certainly didn't, nor do I agree with Gordon's advice. Our 
political system and our real governmental institutions are not just the 
buildings and the laws and the traditions that one sees here in the city 
of Washington. Our government and our politics are only as idealistic 
as honest as the people in those buildings who administer the laws and 
run the campaigns and fulfill the traditions. If some young Americans 
know that their ideals or ideas or motives are sounder or purer than 
those of the people now in politics or government, then I think Gordon 
should have said to them, "Come and do better. Don't stay away." 

Somehow, in politics and government it seems that there is always 
someone to fill the job. If you don't take it, you can be sure that some
body else will. We are either going to have highly motivated able peo-
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ple running the political campaigns and filling the offices in govern
ment or we will surely have seat-warmers and hacks who will fill these 
places and the country will be the worse for it. People must be attracted 
who will come here to fight for what they believe in and to work long 
hours to get things done. I hope that young people don't stay away. I 
hope they come here and apply their idealism and their enthusiasm and 
their high moral principles. I hope they come and test their ideas and 
their convictions in this marketplace. I hope they do come and do 
better. 

:With young Americans: If you come here, come with your eyes wide 
open. If you go to work for the President and the executive branch 
there are very few in the Congress or the media that are going to throw 
rosebuds at you. If you favor change in what our government is, and 
what it does in our society, you will have to fight for it. No such thing 
has been won here by default, at least not recently, and be prepared to 
defend your sense of values when you come here, too. You will en
counter a local culture which scoffs at patriotism and family life and 
morality just as it adulates the opposite, and you will find some people 
who have fallen for that line. But you will also find in politics and 
government many great people who know that a pearl of great price 
is not had for the asking and who feel that this country and its herit
age are worth the work, the abuse, the struggle, and the sacrifices. 
Don't stay away. Come and join them and do it better. 

Mr. Vice Chairman, this Select Committee has an awesome re
sponsibility to find the truth. Such a search cannot be made by one 
whose eyes are clouded by preconception or partisanship, it can only 
be found by those with open mind, free of bias and unfairness. I am 
confident that the truth is there to be seen. It only needs the see-ers. 

Thank you, Mr. Vice Chairman. 
Senator BAKER. Mr. Ehrlichman, thank you very much. As with 

other witnesses, I express the gratitude of the committee for your ap
pearance and testimony. I am sure you understand as other witnesses 
do, that the functions of this committee are manifold, but that one of 
the functions of this committee is to develop what I have referred to 
as a definitive statement on Watergate and the other matters that were 
mandated to us in the Senate to inquire into. 

We will take your testimony, we will weigh it against the testi
mony given us by other witnesses, against circumstances, against docu
mentation, and against whatever relevant information we can find in 
order to arrive at the truth. As I have also indicated, as the chairman 
has indicated, from time to time we are not here dealing with defend
ants. We are going to find no one guilty or innocent of specified crimes 
but we are going to try to find what happened, when, and who knew 
about it. 

You have given us a great volume of information and we thank you 
for it. If I may take the brief privilege of adding an addendum to 
your advice to young people, I, too, was concerned about Mr. Strachan's 
advice. I feel very certain that one of the gravest consequences of 
Watergate, so-called, or of these hearings would be that young people 
drop out or that the citizens of America are disillusioned and drop 
out of the political system. I very much hope they drop in and that 
the next and succeeding elections we have more people participating 
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the system of government in the United States is examining itself and 
that it approve of its strength and not of its weakness. 

Are there other questions of this witness i Thank you very much. 
Would counsel call the next witness@ 
Mr. DASH. It is Mr. Haldeman and we understand, Mr. Chairman, 

that the statement is just coming up now. It was given to us yesterday 
evening and we were just able to start reproducing it and we have part 
of it on its way. 

Senator BAKER. Would you prefer to have a recess i 
Mr. DASH. Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, you could call a short recess. 
Senator BAKER. In light of that situation and in light of the fact 

the chairman has not yet returned from the last rollcall vote, the 
committee will stand in recess, subject to the call of the Chair. 

[Recess.] · 
Senator ERVIN. The committee will come to order. 
Mr. Haldeman, wait a minute. Is your counsel coming in here i 
Mr. HAwEMAN. Yes, sir, he is on his way. 
Senator ERVIN, Wait until counsel comes in. 
Mr. Wilson, 1I am sorry I was over on the Senate floor voting at the 

time Mr. Ehrlichman finished testifying because I would like to have 
thanked him for his testimony in behalf of the committee. 

Mr. WILSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Mr. Haldeman, will you stand up and hold up your 

right hand~ 
Do you swear that the evidence that you shall give to the Senate 

Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities shall be the 
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God@ 

Mr. HAWEMAN. I do. 
Senator ERVIN. Suppose you give us your full name and your address 

for the record. 

TESTIMONY OF HARRY ROBINS HALDEMAN; ACCOMPANIED BY 
J'OHN J'. WILSON AND FRANK H. STRICKLER, COUNSEL 

Mr. HALDEMAN. My name is Harry Robins Haldeman. My current 
address is 24 Harbor Island, Newport Beach, Calif. 

Senator ERVIN. Mr. Wilson, suppose you state your name and ad
dress again for the record. 

Mr. WILSON. I thought it was no secret that Mr. Strickler and I are 
representing Mr. Haldeman, too. The address of both of us-we are 
partners-is 815 15th Street Northwest, Washington, D.C. 

Senator ERVIN. Now, as I understand it, Mr. Haldeman, you have 
a prepared statement which you would like to read before any interro
gations are made, is that right i 

Mr. HALDEMAN. I do, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. You may proceed. 
Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, may I say-
Senator ERVIN [interrupting]. Yes, sir. 
Mr. WILSON [continuing]. What I said with respect to Mr. Ehrlich

man. Let the record show that he is here pursuant to a subpena. 
Senator ERVIN. That is true. He is here under compulsory subpena 

process issued by the committee. 
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Mr. HALDEMAN, Mr. Chairman and members of the Senate Select 
Committee, as you know, I met voluntarily with the Senate committee 
staff on two occasions for lengthy interviews to answer any questions 
they might want to ask of me; and I requested nearly 3 months ago an 
early opportunity to appear before this committee. 

I have also appeared before, and cooperated as fully as I could with 
another committee of the Senate, a committee of the House of Rep
resentatives, the U.S. attorneys, the grand jury and the attorneys tak
ing depositions for the Democratic National Committee in their civil 
suit, all in regard to the matters before this committee. In all of these 
appearances I have never taken the fifth amendment and I have never 
sought immunity or any other kind of deal. 

During the 3 months since I resigned from the White House staff, I 
have scrupulously avoided discussing any substantive aspects of the 
Watergate case or related matters in the press, despite enormous pres
sure. I have carefully avoided leaking any information, expressing 
any opinion or conclusion, answering any charges or commenting on 
any testimony by others. As I have stated countless times to reporters 
and to the TV cameras, I will cooperate fully with the appropriate 
judicial and legislative bodies involved in this case. I feel they are the 
proper and appropriate forums in which to present complete explana
tion and answer fully all questions. 

On each of these occasions, I have further stated to the press that 
I have full confidence that when the entire truth is known, it will be 
clear to the American people that President Nixon had no knowledge 
of or involvement in either the Watergate affair itself or the subse
quent efforts of a coverup of the Watergate. It will be equally clear, 
despite all the unfounded allegations to the contrary, that I had no 
such knowledge or involvement. 

I had the rare privilege for 4 years of serving on the White House 
staff under one of America's greatest Presidents and with the most 
outstanding, dedicated, and able group of people with whom I have 
ever worked. Those who served with me at the White House had com
plete dedication to the service of this country. They had great pride 
in the President they served and great pride in the accomplishments of 
the Nixon administration in its first 4 years. 

I cannot imagine anything more satisfying than to have had the 
opportunity to play a part in the first Nixon administration-which 
brought about the end of America's longest and most difficult war; the 
end of the cold war which had been a fact of life for as long as many 
of us can remember; the opening of communications and dialog with 
the leaders of the Soviet Union and the leaders of the People's Repub
lic of China; the building of a structure that can well lead not to just 
one but many generations of peace ; the start of the return of the power 
of Government to the people by revenue sharing and Federal reorgani
zation; the whole new approach to domestic programs designed to 
bring those programs into line with the real needs and desires of the 
people. We all felt and still feel that the first 4 years was a time of lay
mg the groundwork for even greater accomplishments in the second 
term and we have complete faith that that promise will be met. 

One of the great tragedies of our time is that, for the moment at 
least, a cloud hangs over the accomplishments of the past 4 years and 
the promise of the next 4 years because of Watergate, its aftermath, 
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and related matters. This has spawned an unceasing barrage of charges 
and countercharges, allegations, innuendo, hearsay, rumor, specula
tion, hypothesis, which I devoutly hope these hearings and the concur
rent work of the Justice Department and the special prosecutor will 
bring to an early and definite conclusion so that the Nation and its 
leadership can again turn their thoughts and their efforts to more pro
ductive enterprises. 

During this period with its intense concentration on every aspect of 
the Watergate and everything related to it, the sense of proportion re
garding the time period under study becomes grossly distorted. In 
looking at the year 1972, it is important-especially now during these 
hearings-to try to keep a sense of perspective as to where things fit. 
The harmless eye of a fly viewed under a microscope can become a 
terrifying object in spite of its actual insignificance. Likewise, the 
Watergate viewed under the microscope of this hearing and the inten
sive coverage of all of its aspects can become a terrifymg sight if one 
loses track of the perspective in which it should be viewed. This is in 
no way an aittempt to minimize the importance of the problems posed 
by the Watergate or the necessity to get to the truth and to take the 
necessary actions to deal with the facts and prevent a recurrence. 

THE NIXON PRESIDENCY 

During the transition period in 1968 I had the opportunity to 
meet with and receive some very valuable advice regarding the Office 
of the Presidency from a man of great experience on that subject, 
President Dwight Eisenhower. He made the point to me very 
strongly that the greatest responsibility I would have over the next 
4 years would be to make sure that President Nixon had the time and 
the opportunity to concentrate on the few overridingly important 
matters that would come to his attention during that time, and that 
he be spared the interruptions and temptations to divert himself to 
day-to-day trivia that would get in the way of the really major ac
complishments. President Johnson gave me exactly the same advice. 

President Nixon was a]so a man with strong views on the Office of 
the Presidency, having observed the conduct of that Office for 8 years 
from one step away as Vice President of the United States. 

Our concern was to try to set up the staff and the operation of the 
White House Office so that President Nixon would have the oppor
tunity to achieve the goals that he had set for himself, to concentrate 
on the painstaking step-by-step actions that were required in order 
to achieve those goals, and to avoid being diverted by matters which 
could be handled as well or better by others. The staff system for the 
White House was set up with this objective in mind and was developed 
with the President's full concurrence. 

The decision facing the President was whether to watch all the 
details, see whoever wanted to see him, read everything that was 
sent to him; or to delegate that authority and, by the exercise of 
major self-discipline, spend his time on the largest issues that con
fronted the people he was elected to represent. The easy decision 
would have been to follow the first course because that course would 
have made him popular and accessible and show what has been called 
charisma or the nice guy. President Nixon elected to follow the second 
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course. Some have called it isolation, but he viewed it as doing what 
he was elected to do. He had pledged to the American people that he 
would search for a, generation of peace which, des~ite the ~ff9rts <?f 
many people, is a goal that had never been accomplished w1thm this 
century. President Nixon took that pledge seriously and he has come 
a long ways toward achieving it. If his time during the first term 
had been obscured by partisan political matters, or by visiting with all 
of the people who wished to see him, or by reading the entire content 
of all of the multitude of memos written to him, there would have been 
no beginning of a road to a generation of peace because the one irre
placeable thing that the President had available to him-his own 
time-would have been taken from him. 

This in no way implies that President Nixon spent 100 percent of 
his time on matters relating to international affairs. He carefully 
planned and divided his time so as to cover all of those matters that 
required his attention, but he carried out an extensive delegation of 
authority to other members of his administration and his staff to see 
that all matters were handled properly and thoroughly, but only those 
which the President himself had to deal with actually came to the 
President. 

President Nixon also was very much concerned that he receive a 
wide range of views, opinions, and information as to what was being 
reported in the press and in the news media. Consequently, he did not 
limit himself to reading one or two newspapers but directed that a 
comprehensive summary of all news media be prepared for him on a 
daily basis. He read this carefully each day in addition to reading a 
number of newspapers. He insisted that when a matter was brought to 
him for decision, the full range of options and the full range of view
points regarding those options be presented to him rather than just 
the arguments of the exponents of one particular side. He saw the 
staff's responsibility as being that of insuring that this was always 
the case. 

In the selection of his personal White House staff, the President em
phasized the qualities of integrity, intelligence, and initiative. He 
urged that we bring in young people, men and women with the great 
energy and enthusiasm of youth to provide those qualities along with 
the wisdom and experience of the more senior members of his admin
istration. 

As the first term progressed, many changes were made in the staff 
i::.tructure and in the staff system, constantly adapting to the ongoing 
needs of the Office of the President. The atmosphere at the White House 
was one of great enthusiasm, great dedication, great cooperation, and 
great satisfaction as progress was made toward many of the President's 
goals. At the same time, there were, of course, many disappointments, 
and many frustrations as the progress wasn't as fast as all of us would 
have liked in all directions; but a review at the end of the first term 
provides the basis for the conclusion that the whole thing worked very 
well. 

As we started the year 1972, the year in which the President would 
be up for reelection, we also approached the critical time of culmina
tion or at least of major steps toward the accomplishment of several of 
the President's major goals, the end of the war in Vietnam, the opening 
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of relations with the People's Republic of China, the achievement of 
agreements to limit nuclear arms and other agreements with the Soviet 
Union. President Nixon's concentration was, of course, on these ex
tremely important matters. He started the year concentrating on the 
planning for tJhe trip to the People's Republic of China which took 
place in the latter part of February and which, because of the enor
mous amount of painstaking plannmg ahead of time, was a tremen
dously successful trip. 

Following that trip, there were several months of intense concentra
tion on steps to try to bring the war in Vietnam to a conclusion and to 
plan for the negotiations with the leaders of the Soviet Union. The 
months of March and April were almost totally dedicated to those two 
efforts with a number of other activities intervening, such as a trip to 
Canada to meet with the leaders of that Government. 

On March 8 the President announced one of the most difficult deci
sions he had had to make-the decision to mine the harbors and to 
bomb targets in North Vietnam, and that announcement preceded by 
less than 2 weeks the departure for the meetings with the leaders of the 
Soviet Union in Moscow. Most of the month of June was occupied in 

· activities following up on the Soviet trip, and then the iPresident spent 
a good part of July at the Western White House in San Clemente 
where he had the opportunity for long and detailed meetings with 
Henry Kissinger on foreign policy, and on the negotiations to attempt 
to end the Vietnam war and with John Ehrlichman on initiatives in 
the area of domestic policy. 

The first part of August was spent mostly at Camp David preparing 
for the acceptance speech the President was to give at the Republican 
Convention later that month and on developing plans and positions 
for the campaign that would follow. Immediately after the conven
tion, the President went to the Western White House in San Clemente 
to prepare for his trip to Hawaii to meet with the leaders of the Japa
nese Government. He returned to Washington right after Labor Day 
and concentrated during September on the ongoing business of the 
Government with a few brief trips to various parts of the country for 
campaign appearances. 

As the Vietnam negotiations intensified in October, they required a 
great amount of the President's time and attention, although he had 
many appointments and meetings on domestic matters in that month 
also; and made two or three trips for campaign appearances. Much to 
the consternation of the opposition and the press, he did not drop the 
business of Government and turn to the political campaign, but rather 
made the decision that he would concentrate his attention on the con
duct of the office of the Presidency with confidence that the voters 
would make their decision on the basis of his conduct of that office. 

November, December, and January were probably the 3 most de
manding months of the entire time that I served in the White House. 
The Vietnam negotiations were up and down, on and off; and the need 
for daily concentration on developments in that area was intense. 
In addition, this was the period in which the President and a number 
of the key staff people were engaged in a total reorganization of the 
structure of the Office of the President and of the executive branch 
of the Government, as well as a complete review of the staffing of the 
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entire executive branch. There was, of course, also the need to pre
pare for the activities of .the inaugural and for the President's in
augural address on January 20. 

After the Vietnam cease-fire in late January, there was still a 
need for considerable attention to that area; and the work of re
structuring and restaffing the executive branch of the Government, 
as well as developing new program approaches in the domestic area, 
continued at an intensive pace. 

It was not until late February that President Nixon devoted any 
substantial amount of attention to the Watergate case and matters 
related to it. In the last few days of February he started a series of 
meetings with his counsel John Dean, originally concentrating pri
marily on the problems of separation of powers and executive :priv
ilege that were raised by the creation of the Senate Select Committee, 
and a few weeks later by the request of the Judiciary Committee, 
that John Dean testify "in connection with their hearings on the 
nomination of Mr. Gray to be Director of the FBI. From mid-March 
through the month of April the President spent a considerable amount 
of time and attention on Watergate, in spite of the fact that he was 
also dealing with the restructuring of his branch of Government, 
with serious matters in the domestic economy, and meetings with a 
number of foreign leaders, including President Thieu of South Viet
nam and Prime Minister Andreotti of Italy. 

I have reviewed this picture, Mr. Chairman, as a means of pointing 
out to this committee, and the American people, the fact that the 
specifics of Watergate and the activities of the investigation follow
ing Watergate were not a principal focus of interest in the White 
House or by the President during the period from June of 1972 
up to March of 1973. My own notes on meetings with the President 
during that period indicate very few and very brief references to 
Watergate. It was not only the principal matter occupying the atten
tion of the President and his senior staff, but it was a matter which 
rose only occasionally and only briefly. 

In my role as the President's chief of staff, I concentrated my at
tention and activities each day on those matters on which the President 
was concentrating his attention and activity. I did not maintain an in
dependent schedule of appointments or activities on my own. I 
traveled with the President when he was out of Washington and I 
concentrated on those matters that were of concern to the President 
at any given period of time. The fact is that the Watergate case was 
not a matter of concentration on the part of the President at any time 
until March of 1973 and, therefore, was not a matter of concentration 
on my part either. 

And the atmosphere at the White House through this period was
as it had been for the entire first term-not one of fear or repression, 
but one of excitement, extremely hard work, dedication and ac
complishment. 

· WHITE HOUSE STAFF 

At the outset of the Nixon administration in 1969 it was our general 
intention to have a group of Assistants to the President who would 
all function as generalists with no specific areas of responsibility, each 
available to move into whatever area had a need at any given point 
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in time. Inevitalbly, however, the requirements of the office caused a 
more specific delineation of areas of responsibility. 

My role as White House Chief of Staff was administrative rather 
than policymaking. I worked directly with the President in the 
plannmg and execution of his daily schedule, in providing for him the 
information he wanted from the members of his staff and the rest 
of the administration, and in disseminating from him to those people 
his instructions and opinions. Henry Kissmger served as ,Assistant to 
the President for National Security Affairs and was responsible for 
the development and implementation of White House policy in the 
area of foreign policy, national defense and national security. John 
Ehrlichman, as Assistant to the President for Domestic Affairs, had 
similar responsibilities in the development and implementation of 
domestic policy. At various times during the first term there were 
other principal assistants to the President for specific responsibilities. 

There was a very substantial difference between the roles of Dr. 
Kissinger in the formulation of and implementation of foreign policy 
and Mr. Ehrlichman in the formulation and execution of domestic 
policy versus my role in the administration and operation of the White 
House staff and the President's personal activities. 

They were each department heads with areas of policy responsi
bility. They worked directly and frequently with the appropriate 
Cabinet officers and agency heads. They worked directly and fre
quently with the President. By delegation from the President, under 
clear guidelines, they acted for the President in the process of de
veloping policy and carrying it out. 

On the other hand, I worked only very rarely with anyone outside 
the White House staff. I spent a great deal of time with the President
and the rest of the time preparing for meetings with the President, 
transmitting his instructions and guidance to others for implementa
tion, and when necessary following up on performance. 

My working days were totally unstructured. I had no independent 
schedule. I was at the call of the President at all times. 

HALDEMAN BACKGROUND 

I was born, raised and spent most of my life in Los Angeles, Calif. 
After serving 2 years on active duty in the Navy V-12 program, I 
completed my college education at UCLA and then joined the J. Wal
ter Thompson Co. Advertising Agency. I was with J. Walter Thomp
son for 20 years in their Los Angeles, San Francisco, ,and New York 
offices and in 1961 beca,me a vice president of the company and 
manager of the Los Angeles office. 

In addition to my business career and my participation in politics 
and government service, I spent a great deal of time in work with a 
number of educational and community organizations in California. 
Included among these activities was service as chairman of the board 
of trustees of the California Institute of the Arts, member of the 
board of regents of the University of California, member of the Cali
fornia Coordinating Council for Higher Education, vice president of 
Junior Achievement, trustee of the Coro Foundation, member of the 
board of directors of the Better Business Bureau and president of the 
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UCLA Alumni Association. Even after joining the Federal Govern
ment I had the opportunity to serve as a trustee ,and member of the 
executive committee of the Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts 
and as vice president of Ford's Theater Society. 

My association with Richard Nixon began in 1956 when I took a 
3-month leave of absence to be an advance man in his campaign for 
reelection as Vice President of the United States. I performed a similar 
function in 1958, when Vice President Nixon traveled the country on 
behalf of candidates for the House and Senate. In 1960 I took a year's 
leave of iabsence to serve as chief advance man and campaign tour 
manager in Vice President Nixon's Presidential campaign. In 1962 I 
again took a year's leave of absence-this time to manage Mr. Nixon's 
campaign for Governor of California. 

In 1968 I wias chief of staff :for Mr. Nixon in his campaign for the 
Presidency and then joined the White House staff as Assistant to the 
President. These opportunities for community service and political 
participation have been very gratifying to me. The high point of my 
life, of course, has been the opportunity to serve for 4 years as Assist
ant to President Nixon and to have had a part in the truly outstanding 
accomplishments of his first term. 

MY NOTES 

Mr. Chairman, my statement and testimony before this committee 
will be based on my best recollection after a careful review of logs, 
notes, et cetem, to try to reconstruct the facts as best I can. 

I am severely limited in this effort because, despite the intense flocus 
of attention today on each minute event of last year, at the time they 
happened most of these things were not of great importance and were 
not recorded in any detail, if at all. This is especially true for the period 
prior to March 1973. From that time on my presidential notes regard
ing the Watergate case are much more voluminous because the Presi
dent was then directing a great deal of his attention to the Watergate 
matter, whereas he had not done so earlier. 

I have had access, under the supervision of a Secret Service agent, 
to my handwritten notes regarding conversations with the President 
which are in the President's files. I have not been permitted to make 
copies of them or to take notes :from them. I have been under exactly 
the same restrictions as Gordon Strachan described. My files are in 
the same room as his. I kept no records o:ll my own; all my records are 
in the President's file. 

I might mention that my handwritten notes on sheets of yellow 
paper :from June 1972 and through February 1973, make a stack about 
8 inches hi,gh. All of the pages on which there is any reference or any 
note regarding Watergate during that period add up to less than one
eighth of an inch. In other words, my Watergate notes amount to no 
more than 1 percent of my total notes during the period. 

Until March I made very :few notes regarding conversations with 
John Dean because these conversations were not reported to the Presi
dent, except in a general summary form. They consisted of details re
garding his investigation which were o:f no concern to the President ex
cept, of course, the assurance always that no one in the White House 
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was involved. Through the period of March and April of 1973, I have 
9.uite detailed notes regarding Dean conservations because at that 
tune he was giving me information for the President. 

SECURITY PROBLEMS 

Turning to the question ofsecurity problems, it has been alleged that 
there was an atmosphere of fear at the White House regarding security 
matters. I can state categorically that there was no climate of fear at all. 
There was, however, a healthy and valid concern for a number of mat
ters in the general area of national security and for a number of other 
matters in the general area of domestic security. This was a rational 
concern, and· it was of sufficient import to require that considerable 
thought be given to steps to combat the actual problems and potential 
dangers that existed. 

With regard to leaks of information, especially in the national secu
rity area, it became evident in 1969 that leaks of secret information were 
taking place that seriously jeopardized a number of highly sensitive 
foreign policy initiatives that had been undertaken by the administra
tion, including the ending of the war in Vietnam, the Middle East 
crisis, nuclear arms limitation, and the establishment of new relation
ships among the great powers. These initiatives were closely inter
related; leaks about any one of them could seriously endanger all of 
them; and such leaks were taking place. 

In order to deal with these leaks, a program of wiretaps was in
stituted in 1969 and continued into early 1971. The President has stated 
that each of these taps was undertaken in accordance with procedures 
that were legal at the time and in accord with longstanding practice 
in this area. This program was authorized by the President of the 
United States and the wiretaps were determined by coordination be
tween the Director of the FBI, the President's Assistant for National 
Security Affairs, and the Attorney General of the United Sta,tes. 

In 1970 the domestic security problem reached critical proportions 
as a wave of bombings and explosions, rioting and violence, demon
strations, arson, gun battles, and other disruptive activities took place 
across the country-on college campuses primarily-but also in other 
areas. 

In order to deal with this problem, the President set up an inter
agency committee consisting of the Directors of the FBI, the CIA, the 
Defense Intelligence Agency and the National Security Agency. This 
committee was instructed to prepare recommendations for the Presi
dent-which they did. The report they submitted included specific 
options for expanded intelligence operations and Mr. Huston, the 
White House staff man for this project, was notified by a memorandum 
from me of the approval of the President. 

As has been reported, Director Hoover expressed opposition to parts 
of this program and as a result, the agencies were subsequently notified 
that the approval had been rescinded. This approval was withdrawn 
before the plan was implemented so the net result was that it never 
went into effect. 

Instead of this program, an Intelligence Evaluation Committee was 
created in December of 1970 that included representatives of the White 
House, CIA, FBI, NSA, and the Departments of Justice, Treasury, 
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and Defense, and the Secret Service. The mission of this committee was 
to improve coordination among the intelligence community and to 
prepare evaluations and estimates of domestic intelligence. 

In mid-1971 the New York Times started publication of the so-called 
Pentagon Papers which had been stolen from the sensitive files of the 
Departments of State and Defense and the CIA and which covered 
military and diplomatic moves in a war that was still going on. The 
implications of this security leak were enormous, and it posed a threat 
so grave as to require, in the judgment of the President and his senior 
advisers, extraordinary action. As a result, the President approved 
creation of the Special Investigations Unit within the White House 
which later became known as the Plumbers .• Tohn Ehrlichman was 
responsible for supervision of this group. Mr. Krogh and Mr. Young 
of the Domestic Council and National Security Council staffs were the 
two principal staff members. While I was aware of the existence and 
general purpose of this unit, I was not familiar with any of its specific 
activities or assignments. 

Also in mid-1971, to deal with the general problem of leaks through
out Government departments .and agencies-the President directed 
me to set up a program of spotting these leaks and reporting them to 
the department head involved. He announced this in a Cabinet meet
ing and unfortunately dubbed me with the dubious honor of lord high 
executioner, that was his phrase, not mine. The purpose of this pro
gram was to make department heads throughout the Government con
scious of the leak problem and aware of their responsibility to deal 
with it in their departments. This involved no investigations on the 
part of the White House. 

THE 1968 SURPLUS FUNDS 

Turning to the 1968 surplus campaign funds, during the interim 
period between the 1968 elections and the start of the 1972 campaign, 
Herbert Kalmbach was custodian of a large cash fund which I under
stand was a surplus from the 1968 primary elections. In addition, he 
undertook to raise funds from supporters of the President to aid con
gressional and senatorial candidates in the 1970 elections. Also, in 
1971 Mr. Kalmbach raised a substantial fund as the "start up" for the 
1972 campaign. 

I am not familiar with all the specifics of sources, amounts, or dis
bursements of these funds, although Mr. Kalmbach did keep me peri
odically posted on his activities in this area. As he has indicated, he 
looked to me-as well as to other people from time to time-for direc
tion or approval as to the disbursement of the 1968 surplus funds. 

I requested or approved use of these funds for such purposes as 
the continuing polling that we did during that period; for campaign 
support to a candidate for Governor in Alabama; and for funding 
Donald Segretti. It is my understanding that these funds were also 
used for other purposes, such as the funding of Mr. IDasewicz-opera
tions with which I was not familiar. 

The Alabama campaign funds were in support of the candidate for 
the Democratic nomination for Governor who was opposing former 
Governor George Wallace. It was the belief of some of the President's 
friends and advisers on the southern political scene that Mr. Wallace 
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might very well become a third party candidate in 1972 and thus 
raise again the potential problem of an indecisive election that might 
be turned to the House of Representatives. They felt that the best way 
to avoid this eventuality was to defeat Governor Wallace in his bid 
for the ~bernatorial nomination in Alabama. This was the reason 
for providing campaign financial support to his opponent. 

SEGRETI'I 

Turning on the Segretti matter. Early in the precampaign period I 
agreed with an idea that was suggested to set up a man functioning 
independently of the White House, the Committee To Re-Elect and 
the National Committee for the purpose of generating for our side 
the same kind of campaign activities that were so ably carried out 
over tne years for Democratic candidates and in 1972 for Senator 
McGovern by Dick Tuck, a man who has been widely praised by politi
cal writers as a political prankster, whose basic stock in trade is em
barrassing Republican candidates by activities that have been re
garded as clever and acceptable parts of our political tradition. 

The repertoire of the political prankster includes such activities as 
printing up embarrassing signs for the opponent, posing in trainman's 
clothes and waving the campaign train out of the station, placing an 
agent on the opponent's campaign train to produce witty newsletters 
mocking the candidate, distributmg opposition signs at rallies for use 
by members of the crowd, encouragmg band leaders to play rival songs 
at rallies and so forth . 

.The activities we had in mind, and for which we drew careful 
boundaries, specifically excluded anything remotely connected with 
the w,atergate type of activity. 

Moreover, the pranksterism that was envisioned would have specifi
cally excluded such acts as the following: Violent demonstrations and 
disruption, heckling or shouting down speakers, burning or bombing 
campaign headquarters, physical damage or trashing of headquarters 
and other buildings, harassment of candidates' wives and families by 
obscenities, disruption of the National Convention by splattering din
ner guests with eggs and tomatoes, indecent exposure, rock throwing, 
assaults on delegates, slashing bus tires, smashing windows, settting 
trash fires under the gas tank of a bus, knocking policemen from their 
motorcycles. 

I know that this committee and most Americans would agree that 
such activities cannot be tolerated in a political campaign. But un
fortunately the activities I had described are all activities which took 
place in 1972-against the campaign of the President of the United 
States by his opponents. Some of them took pla.ce with the clear 
kno~ledge and consent'of agents of the opposing candidate in the last 
election; others were acts of people who were clearly unsympathetic 
to the President but may not have had direct orders from the opposing 
camp. 

So far there has been no investigation of these activities and very 
little publicizing of them, either those which were directly attributable 
to our opponent or those which certainly served our opponent's interest 
but did not have his sanction. 
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There is no question that the 1972 campaign was not a classic in 
decorum- for either side. In any event, having agreed to the suggestion 
of a "Dick Tuck for our side," I was told by Dwight Chapin and 
Gordon Strachan that they had a former college friend they felt would 
be a good man for this project. They may have told me that his name 
was Don Segretti, but it would have meant nothing to me. I have never 
met or had any personal communication with Mr. Segretti. 

I agreed that if this man wanted to take on this activity, Herbert 
Kalmbach should arrange for his compensation and expenses from 
the 1968 campaign fund surplus. 

It was my clear understanding that Segretti would act independently 
and on his own initiative within the broad guidelines outlined above. 
It was also my clear undei;-standing that he was to engage in no illegal 
acts. Mr. Strachan has told me that he was so advised and that he 
understood that. I had no specific knowledge of Segretti's activities 
or the details of how or with whom he worked. I do not believe that 
there was anything wrong with the Segretti activity as it was conceived. 
I have only limited knowledge, and that acquired only lately, as to 
how it was actually carried out. 

If, as alleged, he or those under his direction were responsible for 
the letter which falsely defamed Senators Muskie and Humphrey, 
then, on behalf of everyone associated with the Nixon campaign, I 
would like to and do apologize to both of those men. That act was 
clearly outside the bounds within which he was to work. 

THE CAMPAIGN 

The President and all of us at the White House were determined 
that the campaign organization and operation should be set up outside 
of and independent of the White House and this was the reason for 
the development of the Committee To Re-Elect the President. The 
committee operated autonomously under the direction of John Mitchell 
and later Clark MacGregor but, of course, with close liaison and com
munication with the White House at many levels. 

The President looked to me as his basic contact with the campaign 
organization, and I maintained communication with John Mitchell 
in this regard until July 1972, and then with Clark MacGregor. 

I did not function as the White House liaison with the Committee 
To Re-Elect the President. This function was handled by various 
people at various levels with regard to specific areas of projects. For 
example, John Dean on legal matters, John Ehrlichman and his staff 
on substantive domestic policy, Chuck Colson on group support, et 
cetera. I had no official relationship with or position on the Committee 
To Re-Elect the President or the finance committee. 

Gordon Stracihan on my staff handled the day~to-day liaison with 
the committee for _me and virtually all my contJact with the committee, . 
except for that with Mitchell or MacGregor, was through Strachan. 
He received copies of committee mat.eri,als and memomndums, sat in 
on many of their meetings 1and stayed in touch with key people. I met 
wiith Strachan only about once every week or two during the campaign. 

Stmchan periodically sent me general information on campaign 
planning, orgianiz,a;tion 'and ,activities. He sent me from time to time, 
the overall budget 1and v·arious campaign materials. This was primarily 
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:for information purposes and usually took the form of ·1:1, summary 
memomndum, backed up by •a huge •amount of supporting mwterial 
which I rarely read. 

In the specific oase of 1advertising 1and promotional materials ithe 
standard procedure required a final signoff by me before the ads or 
materiials were considered approved. Thus, in this pal'lticuliar 1area I 
did, in effect, exercise approvial ·authority but even here I did not have 
control over either the personnel or the policies involved in developing 
the material. I only had a final signoff on the end product. 

Strachan also routed these maiterials to others in the White House 
who were concerned with them. 

I 1also had a particul 1ar interest in polls and in scheduling and paid 
more detailed attention to these areas. 

I think it was very clear to ,all concerned that the committee was 
running the campaign, notthe White House. 

I do not believe I had control over any funds at the committee nor 
did I exercise •any ,authority or direction '.as Ito the utili~ation of funrls, 
except in a general sense. I never signed a campaign check. 

I was, to some degree, involved in the decision process regarding 
funds to be used for ,advertising and polling. The committee also 
allocated funds to pay for expenses incurred by the President or the 
White House that were clearly campaign expenses 1as contrasted to 
Government expenses. This would include such things as cost of cam
paign travel, ,advance men, et cetera. 

Some indication of my role in the campaign may be found in the 
fact that I visited the committee headquarters only once during 
the entire oampaign period ·and that was on the occasion of the Presi
dent's visit to see the headqwarters ·and meet the campaign workers. 

Also, I had very few meetings with any members of the staff of 
the Committee To Re-Elect the President, except those with John 
Mitchell which were on a frequency of 1about once a week during the 
time he was campaign director. In •addition to that, I did sit in the 
semiweekly campaign review meetings held in John Ehrlichman's 
office ,and, of course, as has been indicated, Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Mac
Gregor sat in the regular morning White House sbaff meeting so that 
there could be full coordination between the White House 1and the 
committee on overall strategy. . 

My contact with the campaign, in other words, was through fairly 
infrequent meetings with Mr. Mitchell and fairly infrequent meetings 
with Gordon Strachan of my staff; but I kept in general touch with 
campaign activities through 'Strachan's summary memorandums and 
the meetings described above. 

THE $350,000 

Prior to the April 7 date on which the new campaign spending leg
islation took effect it was agreed by Mitchell, Stans, I believe Mr. 
Kalmbach and me that $350,000 of the 1968 surplus cash funds should 
be set aside to cover possible needs for special private polling by the 
White House apart from the regular polls conducted by the commit
tee. This was in anticipation of a possibly hard-fought close election. 

I understand from Gordon Strachan that he received the cash from 
Hugh Sloan on April 6. He, in turn, arranged to have this cash held 
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in a safe deposit box or safe by another individual outside the Gov
ernment. It is my understanding from Strachan that this transfer was 
made immediately and the entire $350,000 was placed in safekeeping 
outside the White House. 

I did not feel we should keep such a large amount of cash at the 
White House, nor did I feel it was a good idea for it to be in the physi
cal custody of a member of the White House staff which was why 
these arrangements were made. I never at any time saw or handled 
the currency, and I must rely on Strachan's reports to me as to how 
it was handled. 

I have been informed by Strachan that there was one withdrawal 
in April or May of 1972 of $22,000 to pay for some advertising not 
directly related to the election campaign. This was at the request of 
Dick Howard of Chuck Colson's office. I think Strachan said the 
money was delivered directly to the advertising agency. 

The balance of $328,000 was not used. I instructed Strachan after 
the election in November to turn over the unused funds to the commit
tee since the White House had no further need for them. I told him 
to work out with John Dean the means of doing this. Strachan has 
informed me that the funds were turned over in January 1973, al
though he incurred some difficulty in doing so after he took possession 
of the funds on November 28, 1972. 

In December I became aware, probably via Dean, that there was 
some difficulty in turning over the cash to the committee, presumably 
because it posed reporting problems. 

At a later time, Dean mentioned to me the committee's need for 
funds for legal and family support for the Watergate defendants. I 
suggested to Dean that he try to work out a way of solving both the 
problems of our desire to deliver funds to the committee and the com
mittee's need for funds. 

Dean later told me that he had worked this out and that part of the 
cash, I believe $40,000, could be delivered immediately to the commit
tee via Fred LaRue. He had Strachan do this, I am told, and several 
days thereafter, Dean had Strachan deliver the balance to LaRue. 

To sum up: After my original instruction to Strachan to transfer 
the money to the committee, my involvement in the transfer of the 
funds was entirely through John Dean. He told me of the problem in 
transferring the $350,000 to the committee. He told me he had worked 
out the problem. He told Strachan how, when, and to whom to 
make the transfer. He told me the transfer had been made. 

He did not, at any time in this sequence, advise me or imply that 
the transfer itself or the purpose of the transfer was to buy the 
:Watergate defendants' silence or that it was in any way illegal or 
improper. 

It is my understanding, that all this took place in the period of 
November to January, but I am not sure of the timing. 

I have no recollection of any knowledge of the reported transaction 
on November 28 when Dean had Fred Fielding of his office pick up 
$22,000 in cash from Mr. Stans, ostensibly for the purpose of repladng 
the $22,000 that had been expended from the $350,000 in April. 

I do recall that one of Dean's problems in the process of transferring 
the $350,000 to the committee was the fact that $22,000 had been 
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disbursed. So it is quite possible that he did have it replenished 
prior to having the cash turned over to LaRue, but I do not believe that 
he ever reported this fact to me. 

In fact, Gordon Strachan's report to me in April of 1973 was that 
the $22,000 had not been replaced and that he had delivered only 
$328,000 to Mr. LaRue and not the full $350,000. However, Strachan 
also told me after his grand jury appearance that he had told them, 
the grand jury, that he had delivered $350,000. I said that was con
trary to what he had told me and he said he had made a mistake at 
the grand jury. I urged him to correct it, if that was the case. He 
told me later he had called Mr. Silbert about the mistake and was 
told he could correct it before the grand jury. When he appeared at 

· the courthouse to do so, the U.S. attorneys would not let him do it, 
and instead warned him he had committed perjury, was in serious 
trouble, should start preparations to go to jail, and should hire a 
lawyer. 

WATERGATE 

I had no knowledge of, or involvement in, the planning or execu
tion of the break-in or bugging of the Democratic National Com
mittee headquarters. 

To the best of my knowledge, I did not see any material produced 
by the bugging of the Democratic headquarters. 

After tho June 17 break-in, I asked Gordon Strachan whether 
he had had any knowledge of such ·an operation. He said he had not; 
but that he realized in thinking back that there had been three "in
telligence reports" received by him identified by the code name "Sedan 
Chair" that said something to the effect that "confidential sources 
report that * * *". He said he did not at the time know the identity 
of the confidential sources. He realized after the June 17 break-in, 
thinking back, that these reports could have been based on the Water-

. gate or some other wiretap source. 
I have a)bsolutely no recollection of seeing any such report and it 

is quite likely that I did not see it even if it was included in a Strachan 
transmission to me since I rarely, if ever, read through or even looked 
at all of the materials that he sent in to me in these reports. 

I do not recall ever seeing any material identified by the name "Gem
stone." 

I have no recollection of giving Mr. Strachan instructions to 
destroy any materials, nor do I recall a later report from Strachan 
that he had done so or that the files were clean. 

Mr. Strachan has made clear in his testimony that he destroyed 
materials not because he thought the contents concerned criminal 
activity, but because he felt if they ever became public they would 
be politically embarrassing. He confirmed that he had reread the con
tents many times and ,that they did not suggest any illegality or crim
inal activity; they suggested matters which, if they became public, 
would be politically embarrassing. 

I should point out that on two occasions in April 1973-once to me, 
before his grand jury appearance and the other to John Ehrlich
man-Strachan listed the areas of what he considered to be tough 
questions or trouble spots, On neither of these occasions did he men-
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tion to either of us that he had been instructed to destroy any ma
terials or make sure fi1es were clean. 

I think the effort to bring in my April 4 meeting with John Mitchell 
as in some way significant with regard to intelligence is a little far
fetched. By his testimony, Strachan doesn't know what was discussed 
at that meeting. All he says is that, in routine fashion, he put an item 
on the talking paper regarding the adequacy of intelligence. As a mat
ter of fact, the meeting with Mr. Mitchell that day was in connection 
with a meeting of Mitchell and me with the President. My notes taken 
at the meeting with the President indicate the discussion covered the 
ITT-Kleindienst hearings and a review of Mitchell's plans for as
signing regional campaign responsibilities to specific individuals. 
They indicate no discussion of intelligence. 

DEAN INVESTIGATION 

John Dean, in his Camp David report-which is now exhibit 34-43* 
before this committee-says that when he arrived in Washington on 
Sunday afternoon, June 18, he realized that the President would have 
to know everything that he could find out. He realized at that point 
that he would be asked to assemble all of the facts so that the White 
House could be fully informed as to what had transpired and how it 
would affect the President, but having been on an airplane for ap
proximately 25 hours he did nothing further that evening. 

The next morning, after reading all of the news accounts of the 
Watergate incident, he spoke with John Ehrlichman, who instructed 
him to get the facts together and report to him. He then called the At
torney General to get what facts he knew. He called Gordon Liddy 
and met with him. Dean asked Liddy if anyone at the White House 
was involved and he told him no. 

During the days and weeks that followed, Dean discussed the in
?ident with everyone who he thought might have any knowledge or 
mvolvement. 

~he source of these facts is John Dean's report, or the start of it, 
which he wrote at Camp David in March of this year. 

There is absolutely no question in my Jnind, or, I'm sure, in the minds 
of anyone at the White House, or at the Justice Department, that John 
Dean was in fact conducting an investigation for the White House 
!egardi~g the Watergate as it might involve the White House. It is 
mconce1vable to me that there could be any doubt in Dean's mind. 

Dean moved in immediately after the incident as sort of the Water
gate project officer in the White House. This was in keeping with our 
usual procedure; the responsibility was his and he had the authority to 
proceed. Dean kept Ehrlichman and me posted from time to time on 
developments and, through us, the President. He apparently did not 
keep us fully posted and it now appears he did not keep us accurately 
posted. 

The President, Ehrlichman and I were very much involved in 
many other vital matters through this entire period and we mrude no 
'attempt to get into the details of, or in any way take over, the Water
gate case. 

*See Book 3, p. 1263. 
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The view of all three of us through the whole period was that the 
truth must be told, and quickly; although we did not know what the 
truth was. Every time we pushed for action in this direction we were 
told by Dean that it could not be done. His concern, as I understood it, 
was.that the case was complex, it involved rights of defendants and 
other legal complexities, the facts were not clear, and that nothing 
should be done publicly. 

As long as we were confident that the facts he told us were correct, 
we had to agree with this, since there was no proof of any involvement 
of higherups at the committee, and any premature speculation regard
ing any such involvement would have been unfair and damaging. Espe
cially since the top officials at the committee had · denied any 
involvement. 

Thus, as it now appears, we were badly misled by one or more of the 
principals and even more so by our own man, .for reasons which are 
still not completely clear. 

At no time did I give Dean any instructions to cover up anything in 
this case. I did, however, occasionally receive his verbal reports of the 
facts and his intended actions and relayed these to the President. None 
of these reports concerned a coverup. 

I had no personal motivation to cover up anything because I had no 
personal involvement and I knew the President had no involvement. I 
understood and believed that no one else in the White House was 
involved in the Watergate planning and break-in, and I still under
stand and believe that. It was obvious that some people at the com
mittee were involved, but I had no idea who, or how far up, and I still 
don't-because I don't know now whom to believe. I may add that 
until the recent period both J 6hn Mitchell and J eb Magruder denied 
any Watergate involvement. 

The President raised questions as to the facts of Watergate from 
time to time during the period of June through the election. His in
terest consistently was to get the facts and get them out. He had some 
concern, especially in the early stages, regarding the possibility of 
compromising national security ,and an interest, therefore, in seeing 
that the investigation was thorough with regard to Watergate, but 
that it was limited to Watergate and not extended into earlier un
related national security activities of some of the people involved. 

Throughout this period, Dean assured us that there was absolutely 
no evidence that anyone in the White House had been involved in 
Watergate in any way. He was sitting in on FBI interviews; review
ing FBI reports; he was in constant communication with officials of 
the Justice Department and the reelection committee; and was clearly 
staying closely in touch with all facets of the investigation and related 
matters. 

On or about August 27, the President. instructed me to ask Mr. 
Ehrlichman to give to Pat Buchanan the information that Buchanan 
would need for preparing the President's !briefing book for an up
coming press conference on any questions that might arise regarding 
1Vatergate. I passed this request on to Ehrlichman ·and assumed that 
he carried it out. On August 29 the President had a press conference 
at which he stated the Dean investigation indicated that no one in 
the White House or in the administration presently employed had 
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been involved in Watergate. I wa;s not at all surprised to hear the 
President say this ,at the press conference since it was thoroughly 
consistent with everything that Dean had told me, and I, therefore, 
find it hard to understand why Mr. Dean now professes to have had 
such great surprise when he heard this statement. 

COVERUP 

In these hearings and in the general discussion of Watergate, the 
word "coverup" h.as come to have a broad and very ill-defined me!1n
ing. As John Dean said, the coverup had •a broad range. Anythmg 
that might cause a problem came within the coverup. 

Definition by usage has now come to connote illegal or improper 
activities-although some steps were taken to contain the Watergate 
case in several perfectly legal and proper aspects. 

One, as the President has stated, was to avoid the Watergate investi
gation possibly going beyond the facts of the W wtergate affair itself 
and into national security •activities totally unrelated to Watergate. 

Another was to a void or at least reduce adverse political and public
ity fallout from false charges, hearsay, and so on, arising from various 
activities in connection with Watergate, such as the Justice Depart
ment investigation, the Democratic N aitional Committee suit, the 
Common Cause suit, the Patman hearings, and the Ervin committee 
hearings. 

A third was concern for distortion or fabrication of facts in the heat 
of a political campaign that would unjustly condemn the innocent or 
prevent discovery of the guilty. 

The containment effort, as I would use the term, did not contemplate 
or involve any acts in obstruction of justice. To the contrary, while 
hoping to contain the Watergate inquiry to the facts of Watergate, 
there was a concurrent effort to try to get the true facts of Watergate 
and get them out to the public. The President frequently cautioned 
against any coverup of Watergate or even the appearance of a cover
up. 

On the basis of testimony now before this committee, it appears 
that there also was an effort to cover up, as well as to contain. This 
coverup appears to have involved illegal and improper activities, 
such as perjury, payments to defendants for their silence, promises 
of Executive clemency, destruction of evidence, and other acts in an 
effort to conceal the truth regarding the planning and commission 
of crimes at the Watergate: 

The critical question then becomes the determination of who com
mitted these acts, who directed them, who was aware of them. 

I committed no such acts and directed no such acts and I was aware 
of no such acts until March of this year, when the President intensified 
his personal investigation into the facts of the Watergate. I am con
vinced that the President had no awareness of any such acts until 
March of this year. . 

The question is asked: "How could the President not have known?" 
Very easily. Reverse the question. How could the President have 
known? 

Only if he were directly involved himself or if he were told by 
someone who was either directly involved or had knowledge. The fact 
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is that the President was not directly involved himaelf and he was 
not told by anyone until March, when he intensified his own investiga
tion. Even then, he was given conflicting and unverified reports that 
made it impossible to determine the precise truth regarding Water
gate or the coverup and, at the outset at least, he was relying primar
ily on one man, John Dean, who has admitted that he was a major par
ticipant in the illegal and improper coverup, a fact unknown to the 
President until March 1973. 

Any attempt on my part at this time to try to identify those who 
participated in, directed, or knew of the illegal coverup would of ne
cessity be based totally on hearsay. 

CONTAINMENT 

There was a concern at the White House that activities which had 
been in no way related to Watergate or to the 1972 political campaign, 
and which were in the area of national security, would be compromised 
in the process of the Watergate investigation and the attendant pub
licity and political furor. The recent public disclosure of the FBI 
wiretaps on press and NSC personnel, the details of the Plumbers 
operations, and so on, fully justifies that concern. 

As a result of this concern and the FBI's request through Pat Gray 
to John Dean for guidance regarding some aspects of the Watergate 
investigation, because of the possibility of CIA involvement, the Presi
dent directed John Ehrlichman and me to meet with the Director and 
Deputy Director of the CIA on June 23. We did so and ascertained 
from them that there had not been any CIA involvement in the Water
gate affair and that there was no concern on the part of Director Helms 
as to the fact that some of the Watergate participants had been in
volved in the Bay of Pigs operations of the CIA. We discussed the 
"White House concern regarding possible disclosure of non-Watergate
related covert CIA operations or other nonrelated national security 
activities that had been undertaken previously by some of the Water
gate participants, and we requested Deputy Director Walters to meet 
with Director Gray of the FBI to express these concerns and to 
coordinate with the FBI, so that the FBl's area of investigation of 
the Watergate participants not be expanded into unrelated matters 
which could lead to disclosures of earlier national security or CIA 
activities. 

Walters agreed to meet with Gray as requested. I do not recall 
having any other communication, or meeting, with Walters, Helms,.or 
Gray on this subject. I did not, at this meeting, or at any other time, 
ask the CIA to participate in any Watergate coverup, nor did I ever 
suggest that the CIA take any responsibility for the Watergate break
in. I believe that the action I took with the CIA was proper, according 
to the President's instructions, and clearly in the national interest. 

There were a number of newspaper stories and allegations raised 
during the period following the Watergate break-in that posed new 
questions regarding the facts of Watergate or related matters. When
ever any such questions arose, the President would again ask that the 
facts be ascertained and made known publicly as completely and 
quickly as possible, but there always seemed to be some reason why 
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this could not be done. There was no effort on my part to direct my 
personal attention or take any personal action on these matters because 
the FBI and the Justice Department were responsible for, and were 
conducting, an extremely extensive investigation and because Mr. Dean 
was responsible for White House liaison with all aspects of the investi
gation. I knew John Dean to be an extremely capable, thorough, hard
working, and intelligent man and I had full confidence, as did the 
President at that time, that Mr. Dean was in fact carrying out this 
responsibility diligently and thoroughly. 

There is another aspect to the containment area. It must be recog
nized that this wias the period of a political ciampaign. There were a 
number of attacks on the administration, the President, and the reelec
tion committee arising out of Watergate and allegations in connection 
with it. These attacks were, of course, not helpful to the reelection 
cause and there was ,a continuing effort to avoid any false accusations 
or allegations from being made in the public press and to answer any 
that were. 

There was also frequent discussion of the need for counterattack
the need to point out that while 'Watergate w,as not in any way an 
acceptable or excusable action, it also was not the only improper action 
by the two sides in that particular election campaign. I have cited 
earlier some eX1amples of activities that were carried out against the 
President's reelection effort. Many of the campaign strategists felt 
that 1Vaterg,ate was getting all of the attention and the improper 
activities on the other side were being ignored. 

While there is no effort and no intent to try to impede the legitimate 
investigation of the facts reg,arding Watergate and any other criminal 
or improper activities, there was a concern about the exploitation of 
unproved charges and the sensationalizing of required appearances 
by various people for depositions in the civil suit, et cetera. · 

DEFENSE FUNDS 

I was told seveml times, starting in the summer of 1972, by J ohi'i 
Dean ,and possibly also by John Mitchell, that there was a need by 
the committee for funds to help take care of the legal fees and family 
support of the Waterg!llte defendants. The committee apparently felt 
obliged to do this. 

In March 1973, Dean told me that at some point in 1972 he, at 
Mitchell's suggestion, had asked me if it would be OK for him to 
contact Herb Kalmbach to ask him to raise some such defense funds. 
He says I agreed. He also says that he checked Ehrlichm:an on .the 
same point. I do not recall such a request. I should also point out 
that ,at sometime Dean has said that he checked with both Ehrlichman 
and me on this point and at other times he has said only th!llt he 
checked with Ehrlichman. 

Later in March 1973, Dean raised the point that there was a po
tential problem with relation to the funds for defendants. He described 
this as a possible political embarrassment, and indicated that it 
might even become a legal problem. The problem would arise if it 
was determined that these funds had been used to induce the defend
ants to refuse to testify. 
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I emphiasized my clear understanding that the purpose of the funds, 
as described to me by Dean, was for legal fees and family support; 
,and that I had understood from Dean that both Mitchell and Dean 
felt this was a proper and important obligation to the defendants. 

Since all information regarding the defense funds was given to me 
by John Dean, the counsel to the President, and possibly by John 
Mitchell, and since the arrangements for Kalmbach's collecting funds 
and for transferring the $350,000 cash fund were made by John Dean, 
and since John Dean never stated at the time that the funds would 
be used for any other than legal and proper purposes, I had no reason 
to question the propriety or legality of the process of delivering the 
$350,000 to the committee via LaRue or of having Kalmbach raise 
funds. 

I have no personal knowledge of what was done with the funds 
raised by Kalmbach or with the $350,000 that was delivered by 
Strachan to LaRue. 

It would appear that, at the White House at least, John Dean was 
the only one who knew that the funds were for "hush money," if, in 
fact, that is what they were for. The rest of us relied on Dean and 
all thought that what was being done was legal and proper. No one, 
to my knowledge, was aware that these funds involved either black
mail or hush money until this suggestion was raised in March 1973. 

MAGRUDER 

To the best of my recollection, I had no meetings or discussions with 
Jeb Magruder regarding Watergate after our phone call of June 18, 
1972, which has already been reported, until February 14, 1973. A 
review of my log confirms that I had no meetings at all with Magruder 
in 1973 until February 14. 

We did meet on February 14 for about an hour and a quarter at 
Mr. Magruder's request in my office. The purpose of the meeting was 
to discuss his plans for the future. He felt that the Watergate matter 
was now settled as far as he was concerned ; that his work at the 
inaugural committee was done and that it was time for him to make 
his future plans. He said he was interested in the possibility of run
ning for office in California and he was also interested in the possi
bility of returning to a Government post in Washington. He was 
especially interested in a White House position in connection with 
the bicentennial. I advised him that there was no possibility of a 
Presidential appointment, or a White House position, until all of the 
Watergate matters had been cleared up, including the Senate hearings, 
which were, at that time, about to get underway. 

I believe that, at this time, he had just returned from a trip to 
California where he had taken soundings as to the political possibili
ties and his job opportunities. I urged him, if he was interested in 
California politics, to go to work in private business out there and 
get himself reestabJished in the State and then go into politics at a 
later point. I recommended that he not consider coming back into the 
Federal Government because if his interests were in California he 
now had the need to reestablish himself there. All of this was in the 
nature of political advice to a man who indicated his interests in run
ning for political office. 



2887 

He said, however, that all of the people he had talked wi(h. in Cali
fornia had urged him to go back into Government for a while; that 
he had strong family reasons for wanting to stay in Washington be
cause his children were well established in the schools here; and 
that he had lost some of his interest in running for office in Califor
nia and was more interested in the idea of staying in ·washing-ton. 
Since the Presidential appointment or White House post was out of 
the question, I suggested that he look into other Government possi
bilities and that he work with Jerry Jones and the White House per~ 
sonnel office in that regard. 

I met with Magruder again on March 2 (I believe again at his re
quest), at my office, with John Dean also present, for about an hour. 
At this meeting we reviewed the same general subjects we had dis
cussed on February 14, and I gave him a list of jobs in the Govern
ment that had been developed by the personnel office. He expressed 
interest in one of the jobs on the list, a post at .the Department of 
Commerce, and he subsequently did take that post. 

I do not recall any discussion of any of the particulars of the 
Watergate matter or .the so-called coverup-other than what I have 
already indicated regarding his feeling that the matter was now be
hind him. 

I feel certain that there was no such discussion because had he 
told me the kinds of things that he has indicated to this committee 
that he told me regarding perjury, et cetera, I would have remem
bered them clearly and I would have done something about them. 

Mr. Magruder has stated that he met with me in early January of 
1973, before the inaugural, although he was unable to specify a date. 

Mr. Dean, on the other hand, has indicated in his testimony that 
I met with Mr. Magruder in late January. 

I do have a vague feeling that I talked with Magruder or at least 
knew about his plans prior to his trip to California, which I believe 
was in early February. I cannot recall any specific conversation or 
meeting. My feeling may arise from the fact that apparently John 
Dean talked with me in late January about Magruder's plans for 
going into politics in California and his plans to make a .trip out 
there. Mr. Higby has told me that Mr. Magruder did request a meet
ing in January, but that I was unable to schedule one. I did later 
agree to such a meeting but when he called Magruder to set it up, 
Magruder had already left for California. It is possible that Magruder 
told Higby of his California plans and Higby relayed them to me. 

Magruder's recollection of the substance of the alleged January 
conversation is in many respects. very much along the lines of my 
recollection of our conversation on February 14, and I have the feel
ing that we are dealing here with a simple error in recollection of 
specific dates, which is certainly understandable. 

At no meeting with Magruder did he raise with me a monolog 
as he has described, laying out the true facts or claiming that he had 
committed or was going to commit perjury or that there had been 
any other illegal coverup activities undertaken in connection with the 
"\Vaterga.te investigation. 

I should also explain, Mr. Dash, that my outline of the Magruder 
meetings of February 14 and March 2 is somewhat different than the 
review I gave the committee staff when I met with them late into the 



2888 

evening of June 14. That meeting was immediately following Mr. 
Magruder's testimony before the full committee in which he had 
referred to a January meeting. Having heard that reference for the 
first time, I made an effort to try to recall the facts of my meetings 
with Mr. Magruder as best I could. I knew from my log that I had 
had meetings with him on February 14 and March 2, and I had a gen
eral feeling that I had met with him once before he went to Cali
fornia and once after he came back. So I assumed that that was the 
case and reconstructed the two meetings to the best of my recollec
tion based on that premise. I found out later that Mr. Magruder's trip 
to California was apparently in early February; therefore, our meet
ing on February 14 was a.fter his return from California and the 
meeting on March 2 was a followup of the February 14 meeting. I 
hope this correction is helpful. 

On April 14, 1973, I phoned Magruder at the President's request 
and asked him to meet with Ehrlichman that day. I have turned over 
to the committee a tape recording of this conversation. At the time 
we talked, Magruder had already decided to tell the full truth, and in 
fact, I believe, had done so in a meeting with the U.S. attorneys. 
During the phone conversation, Magruder said that his testimony had 
not implicated me. He also said that one of the problems he was :facing 
was that he had committed perjury when he testified before the grand 
jury and the trial. I responded that I did not know anything about 
that, and he replied that even if I didn't, he did. He did not contra
dict me, thus showing that, at that point in time at least, I did not 
know he had perjured himself. 

SEPTEMBER 15 MEETING 

I was in meetings with the President all afternoon on September 15, 
1972. At the end of the afternoon, the President had John Dean come 
in. This was the day that the indictments had been brought down in 
the Watergate case, and the President knew John Dean had been 
concentrating for a 3-month period on the investigation for the White 
House. I am sure, therefore, that the President thought it would be a 
good time to give Dean a pat on the back. 

There was no mood of exuberance or excitement on the President's 
part at the time the indictments were brought down. He does not take 
joy from the misfortunes of other people, and I don't think he found it 
very pleasant that the people had been indicted. Natura.lly, however, 
it was good news as far as the White House and the administration 
were concerned that when the indictments were brought down, after a 
thorough investigation, it had been established there was not any in
volvement by anyone in the White House. This confirmed what Mr. 
Dean had been telling us, and we had been reporting to the President 
over the period of the past 3 months. 

As was the case with a11 meetings in the Oval Office when the Presi
dent was there, this meeting with Mr. Dean was recorded. At the Pres
ident's request, I recently reviewed the recording of that meeting-at 
which I was present throughout-in order to report on its contents to 
the President. I should interject here that I also reviewed the record
ing of the March 21 meeting of the President, Mr. Dean, and myself 
for the same purpose, and I have made reports to the President on both 
of those meetings. I have not at any time listened to any other record-
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· ings of the meetings in the President's Office or of the President's 
phone calls. 

The President did not open the meeting of September 15 with the 
statement that, "Bob has kept me posted on your handling of the 
Watergate," or anything even remotely resembling that. He said, "Hi, 
this was quite a day, you've got Watergate on the way," or something 
to that effect. Dean responded that it had been quite a 3 months and 
reported to the President on how the press was handling the indict
ments and, apparently, a Clark MacGregor press conference. 

The discussion then covered the matter of the new bug that had re
cently been discovered in the Democratic National Committee head
quarters and the question of whether it had been planted by the DNC 
and the matter of Mr. Nixon's campaign being bugged in 1968 and 
some discussion of whether to try to get out evidence of that. There 
was some discussion about Judge Richey hearing the civil case and a 
comment that he would keep Roemer McPhee abreast of what was 
happening. I don't recall any comment about the judge trying to ac
commodate Dean's hopes of slowing down the suit, but there was some 
discussion about the problem of the civil case depositions interfering 
with the criminal prosecution~apparently as a result of a conversa
tion between Judge Richey and Assistant U.S. Attomey Silbert. 

Dean indicated that the indictments meant the end of the investiga
tion by the grand jury and now there would be the GAO audit and 
some congressional inquiries, such as the Patman committee, but he 
assured the President that nothing would come out to surprise us. In 
other words, there was apparently no information that would be harm
ful that had not been uncovered already. The President did at that 
point commend Dean for his handling of the whole Watergate matter, 
which was a perfectly natural thing for him to do. Dean reported that 
he was keeping a close eye on possible campaign law violations by the 
opposition; said there were some problems of bittemess at the reelec
tion committee between the finance committee and political groups; 
and said he was trying to keep notes on people who were emerging out 
of all this that were clearly not our friends. 

There was, as Mr. Dean has indicated, quite a lengthy discussion of 
the Patman hearings and the various factors involved in that. There 
was some discussion of the reluctance of the IRS to follow up on com
plaints of possible violations against people who were supporting our 
opponents because there are so many Democrats in the IRS bureauc
racy that they won't take any action. 

There was a discussion of cleaning house after the election, moving 
quickly to replace people at all levels of the Government. The meeting 
closed, as I recall, with a fairly long philosophical discussion. 

I totally disagree with the conclusion that the President was aware 
of any type of coverup and certainly Mr. Dean did not advise him of 
it at the September 15 meeting. 

SENATE COMMITTEE 

On February 7, 1973, the vVatergatc\ case moved into a new phase 
with the establishment of the Senate Select Committee. The announce
ment of the plans for the Senate probe was the reason for holding a 
weekend meeting, February 10 and 11, in southem California with Mr. 
Ehrlichman, Mr. Dean, Mr. Moore, and myself. These meetings have 
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been thoroughly reported and I would concur in Mr. Moore's descrip
tion of them as sort of brainstorming sessions regarding the whole 
range of questions of strategy regarding the Senate hearings, a review 
of possible problems, and general discussion of how to deal with a 
number of new factors. 

It was obvious that the Senate hearings would generate massive pub
licity. In calling and hearing a wide range of witnesses one at a time 
on national television there would be a lot of charges and hearsay with 
no opportunity to answer them, in the same news cycle at least, and 
there was of course the real concern that the committee hearings might 
evolve into a very partisan exercise. 

There was a freewheeling discussion of these various possibilities 
and problems and of ways and means of trying to deal with them or 
counteract them. 

I feel that Mr. Dean in his statement to the committee has, in a num
ber of instances, substantially misinterpreted the intent or implica
tions of things that might have been said at the meeting. 

Also I believe he has overlooked one of the principal purposes of 
the meeting, which was a discussion at great length of how to develop 
some way to learn the entire Watergate story-including the other , 
activities that were by then bunched together as Watergate-and get 
it out in its totality and accurately. This was considered as one of the 
best ways to counteract the potential of adverse publicity arising from 
a drawn-out public hearing. The feeling was that putting all of the 
facts out, in one :place, at one time, would give the American people 
a more accurate picture of the truth than would the drawn-out process 
of hearing one witness at a time over an extended period. 

Another objective, which was the President's objective, was to 
try to work out ways and means by which the facts of Watergate or 
any testimony that could be provided by anybody in the White House, 
who had any knowledge, which would be of interest to this committee 
could be provided in the most complete form but without getting into 
the problem of the separation of powers and executive privilege. 

I don't recall any discussion of the question of raising money, but 
I am sure that if there were any, it was in the form that Mr. Moore 
described; that is, a very incidental item occupying only a few minutes 
in a series of meetings that lasted for many hours. It was not a prin
cipal point of discussion. There was no discussion of a coverup of 
Watergate during these meetings. 

Dean put into evidence as exhibit No. 34-34* an agenda he says was 
requested by me for a meeting with the President as a followup to 
La Costa on February 19 or 20. He seems to feel that this is a very 
significant document that is self-explanatory as evidence of a continu
ing coverup. I completely fail to see it that way. 

There were five items on the agenda. First, a meeting of Senator 
Baker with the President which, it was my understanding Senator 
Baker had requested, and which seems to me to be perfectly natural 
as one step to be taken in working out the various problems regarding 
White House staff appearances at the Senate committee hearings, et 
cetera. Second, the question of submitting Maurice Stans' name for 
confirmation to the Senate for a post requiring such confirmation. This 
was a step designed to deal with two questions, first to give Mr. Stans 

*See Book 3, p. 124'3. 
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the opportunity to reenter Government at a suitably high level and, 
second, to provide him with the opportunity in a very short period 
of time to appear publicly and under questioning, to clear up all 
charges regarding his role in the Watergate, if any, and to give him 
a chance to, as he requested of this c9mmittee, get back his good name. 
Third, a question of whether Magruder could have a White House job. 
At that time I had already told Magruder that that would not be 
possible, but I think, the point here was. to check that decision with 
the President to be sure he concurred. Fourth, the question of 
Buchanan sitting in on the hearings as a watch dog of the press
an idea that Dean says I suggested, although it is my recollection he 
suggested it at the La Costa meeting: In any event, this was certainly 
not a coverup move, but exactly the opposite. Fifth, the question of 
the Attorney General meeting with the President. That, too, was a 
logical step because we were into the matters of executive privilege and 
the question of White House staff members going to the hearings was 
important for the President to discuss with the Attorney General. 
As it concurrently or shortly thereafter developed, Senator Baker 
requested that Mr. Kleindienst be his contact with the administration. 

In the latter part of February, as the questions of executive priv
ilege and other matters dealing with the Senate Watergate inquiry 
intensified, the President saw that this was involving a substantial 
amount of time of a number of people in the ,vhite House and particu
larly seemed to be involving Ehrlichman and me in more expenditure 
of time than the President felt was productive. Consequently, he met 
with ,John Dean at the end of February regarding the matters of 
executive privilege, the Senate hearings, and so forth, and he gave 
instructions to me and I am sure to others, that all Watergate matters 
were to be handled by Dean at the White House and by Kleindienst 
at the Justice Department and that no one else was to devote time to 
the subject and that no one else was to get into the matter with the 
President. He was trying to avoid everyone getting into the act, wast
ing time, and diverting attention-which is a real danger when a 
highly publicized and volatile matter such as this comes up. 

This decision of the President's led to the series of meetings that 
he had with Mr. Dean starting February 27 and running through 
March 21, meetings that were primarily concerned, at the outset, I 
believe, with executive privilege matters. That continued to be a 
major point, but as that 3-week period went on, the President's concern 
did grow regarding conflicting Watergate stories and, from what he 
indicated to me, he was intensifying pressure on Dean to find out a 
way to get the full story out. ,Dean at this point was clearly in 
charge of any matters relating to the Watergate. He was meeting 
frequently with the President and he still indicated that he was posi
tive there was no White House involvement. During this time, the 
Gray hearings also became a matter of focus and the executive privi
lege question arose in connection with them, too. I have the feeling 
that during this period the President was gradually getting more of 
~ feel of the possibility that there might be some problems involved 
m the Watergate matter that he had not even dreamed of and that 
that led to the meeting of March 21, in which John Dean was going 
to give the President the full story. 
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I should point out one question that Mr. Dean raised reg,arding a 
comment made by the President in his meeting of February 27. He said 
the President told him he wanted Dean to handle the Watergate matter 
as it was taking too much of Ehrlichman ,and Haldeman's time and 
they were principals in it. Dean indicates that he did not understand 
what it was the President meant by the statriment that Haldeman 
and Ehrlichman were principals. If this statement was made, I think 
it is quite clear in the context in which that meeting was held. At that 
time the major issue was whether the President would permit his 
principal aides to be called up to the Senate committee to testify. At 
that time the President considered it inconceivable that anyone would 
think that the White House counsel would be called to testify and, 
therefore, was not even considering the possibility of Mr. Dean going 
before the Senate hearings. He was concerned about the question 
of Haldeman and Ehrlichman being called. In that sense, I was a 
principal in the matter of executive privilege. It is significant that 
the President, according to Dean's report, also emphasized that he 
would never let Ehrlichman and Haldeman go to the Hill, and I 
think it is in that connection that he would look at us as principals. 

MARCH MEETINGS 

The March 13 meeting Mr. Dean had with the President shows 
on the President's log as having run from 12 :42 to 2, an SO-minute 
meeting, approximately. The President's log also shows that I was in 
that meeting for 12 minutes from 12 :43 to 12 :55. Mr. Dean has testified 
that this was a long meeting, mainly regarding the Gray hearings 
and Dean's invitation to appear there. He says that toward the end 
of the conversation they got into a discussion of Wategate matters and 
the question of money demands being made by the defendants. He 
says that it was during this conversation that Haldeman came into 
the office for a brief interruption but that Haldeman then stayed on. 
It was then, Dean says, that he told the President there was no money 
to pay the individuals; the President asked how much it would cost; 
Dean estimated $1 million; the President said that was no problem and 
looked over at Haldeman and repeated that statement. Dean then 
goes on to describe a conversation regarding Executive clemency and 
then back to the question of money, ending with a laugh from me 
at Dean's comment that next time he would be more knowledgeable. 

The log, however, shows that I was in for 12 minutes at the beginning 
of the meeting and not at the end. 

I have no notes on the March 13 meeting and I have no recollection 
of that meeting at all. I do not recall going into the President's office 
and interrupting the meeting with John Dean, but I am sure that I 
did if the log so indicates. However, I seriously doubt that the con
versation John Dean has described actually took place on March 13. 
I doubt it because of the difference in timing as shown in the Presi
dent's log, but I also doubt it because a discussion of some of those 
matters actually occurred during a meeting on March 21. 

There is also a timing problem regarding the meeting of March 21, 
since Dean has stated that I was only in that meeting for the last 5 
minutes or so when the President called me in to suggest that a meet
ing be set up with John Mitchell. My log indicates that I was in a 
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meeting with the President from 11 :15 to 11 :55 on the morning of 
March 21. I do recall that meeting and I recall being in it for sub
stantially more than the 5 minutes that Mr. Dean remembers. 

I was not present for the first hour of the meeting, but I did listen 
to the tape of the entire meeting-including that portion before I 
came in. 

While I am free to testify to everything which I can recall happen
ing during the time I was present, the President has directed that I 
not testify as to any facts which I learned solely by listening to the 
tape of the meeting. 

My counsel will present a letter* in this respect and I shall obey the 
decision of the committee as to its ruling thereon. Depending on that 
decision, I shall issue an appropriate addendum to this statement con
cerning the March 21 meeting. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman. 
Senator BAKER [presiding]. Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. WILSON. I am obliged to present to the committee a communica

tion which I received this morning from the White House and I would 
like to read it, if I may, and a page carry a copy of it up to you while 
I am doing it. 

Senator BAKER. Would you proceed, Mr. Wilson? 
Mr. WILSON. It is addressed to me by Mr. Buzhardt. 
This concerns your inquiry as to the extent of the President's waiver of ex

ecutive privilege with regard to the testimony of Mr. Haldeman before the Sen
ate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities. Your inquiry was 
directed to Mr. Haldeman's knowledge of the contents of tape recordings of con
versations of meetings in the President's office on September 15, 1972, and March 
21, 1973. 

Under the waiver of executive privilege stated by the President on May 22, 
1973, Mr. Haldeman is not constrained by any claim of executive privilege as to 
conversations at meetings which Mr. Haldeman attended, if such conversations 
fall within the May 22, 1973, guidelines. 

If asked to testify as to facts which he learned about meetings or portions of 
meetings which he did not attend, but of which he learned solely by listening 
to a tape recording of such meeting, the President has requested that you in
form the Committee that Mr. Haldeman has been instructed by the President to 
decline to testify to such matters, and that the President, in so instructing Mr. 
Haldeman, is doing so pursuant to the constitutional doctrine of separation of 
powers. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Vice Chairman, I have no argument to supplement 
that letter. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Wilson, is it your preference that the committee 
act on this at this point or would it be agreeable for counsel to the com
mittee to take that matter under advisement until Mr. Haldeman 
finishes his statement? 

Mr. WILSON. I think, sir, that i£ it is not inconvenient, and in order to 
continue the continuity of, this statement, if the committee could act at 
this time upon that letter, I think it would be very helpful to us. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Wilson, if there is no objection from the commit
tee, and I note that two members of the committee-three members of 
the committee are not present--if there is no objection from any mem
ber of the committee, the committee then will "Stand in recess while 
we confer on this matter. 

[Recess.] 
*The letter was subsequently received and appears in Book 8 as exhibit No. 113. 
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Senator ERVIN. I have read Mr. Buzhardt's letter giving his view of 
executive privilege and I have taken the position all the time-anJ if 
the members of the committee disagree with me they might so state 
and may overrule me-that the matters which this committee is author
ized by Senate Resolution No. 60 to investigate, are not covered by 
executive privilege of any kind. 

Furthermore, I think if Mr. Haldeman has been authorized by the 
White House to hear tapes, even though he was not present when the 
tape was made, that he is authorized to testify about them. I am sorry 
in a way this is not a court of law where you can rule, but the best evi
dence of what these tapes say is the tapes themselves and as a member 
of the committee, I continually pray that the good Lord will give the 
White House guidance to let this committee see the tapes. [Laughter.] 

But as far as I am concerned I overrule the claim of executive privi
lege interposed in the last paragraph of Mr. Buzhardt's letter. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, I think that your observation about 
the best evidence is entirely true, but we don't have the tapes and we 
have to deal with the facts as we find them, and apparently we find that 
Mr. Haldeman does have information derived from the tapes of the 
meeting of March 21. I think, and I continue to think, that we will be 
better served by having the tapes themselves, but we are about to have 
Jitigation over that. So in the meantime, I think, we have got to make 
do as best we can and I concur in the chairman's ruling. 

Senator ERVIN. I am constrained, however, to observe that it is a 
stmnge thing that Mr. Haldeman oan hear the 1Japes but this com
mittee cannot hear them. And I hope that they will eventually be made 
aviailiable to the committee because we have heard •a lot of complaints 
about hearsay testimony and this is hearsay, but if Mr. Haldeman is 
pe:vmitted to hear the tapes, it looks like that the representatives of 
the American people in the Congress ought to be ·allowed to see them. 
So you have got •a ruling ,and you may proceed. 

Mr. HALDEMAN. I •am sorry, Mr. Chairman. What is the ruling~ 
Senator ERVIN. 'Vhe ruling is that the cl,aim of executive privilege 

is not vialid in the view of the committee. You oan tell us what the tapes 
said, or your version of it, notwithstanding we take the position that 
the tapes themselves would be the best evidence of what was actually 
said. So you can proceed to give your testimony as to what you heard 
those tapes say or how you interpret the tapes. 

Mr. HALDEMAN. If I might comment first, ¥r. Chairman, in response 
to your remarks, I would want to emphasize that I have listened only 
to two tapes, the tape of the September 15 meeting, ,at which I was pres
ent for the entire meeting, ,and the 1:Jape of the March 21 meeting at 
which I was present for 40 minutes out of a 105-minute meeting, and I 
have heard that portion of the tape on March 21 when I was not in 
attend,ance. 

Senator ERVIN. When did you heiar the tapes played? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. The Miarch 21 tape I heard in the latter part of 

April. 
Senator ERVIN. And when did you hear the September 15 tape~ 
Mr. HALDEMAN. I heard it in the early part of July. 
Senator ERVIN. Of this vear, of course? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes, sii:. 
Senator ERVIN. Because it wasn't recorded until that time. 
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Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, let me ask one or two other qualify
ing guestions on the statement. As the chairman pointed out, Mr. 
Haldeman, we don't have the tiapes ,and it looks like we are going to 
have a l1awsuit over that, but just for the sake of further establishing 
the value or susceptibility of misinterpretation of the information 
you ,are ,about to give us, did you in fact listen to the tapes, that is, 
physioally listen to them 1as distinguished from reading a transcript of 
the tape? 

Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes. There has been to my knowledge no transcript 
made of any of the tapes•at any time. I listened to the ·actual •tape. 

Senator BAKER. Can you tell us where you did it? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. I did the--I listened to the March 21 tape in my 

office at the White House, and I listened to the September 15 tape 
in my residence. 

Senator BAKER. All right. Can you tell us something of the quality 
of the tape, that is, were voices clearly distinguishable, were there pe
riods when they were inaudible? What was the general quality of the 
recording? 

Mr. HALDEMAN. The quality varies. It's good at times and not good 
at times. It's the kind of tape recording you have in a large room, 
which the Oval Office is, there is a lot of echo and bounce, it's difficult 
to follow the conversation completely but it is not by any means im
possible. 

Senator BAKER. Can you tell us whether or not those two tapes are 
still in existence? 

Mr. HALDEMAN. I do not know, I have no knowledge. They were 
returned by me to the White House custodian and I have no knowldege 
of where they are from that point on. 

Senator BAKER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator GURNEY. Mr. Chairman, can I ask a question? 
Senator ERVIN. One question then. Who permitted you-were you 

authorized by the President to hear these tapes? · 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes, sir; as I indicated in my statement, I heard 

the tapes at the President's authorization and for the purpose of re
porting on their contents to the President. 

Mr. WILSON. Mr. Chairman, may I make a lawyer's reservation 
with respect to your remarks? In some other context before this hear
ing is over, I would appreciate the opportunity to debate with you, 
sir, the question of the extent of the constitutional doctrine of separa
tion of powers, sometimes called executive privilege. In other words, 
you indicated, sir, that you didn't think this was a valid reason, and 
I gathered under all occasions. I just want you to know that maybe 
before we are through here I may take the liberty, if you will permit 
me, of raising the question in some other context. 

Senator ERVIN. Always glad to be wiser today than I was yesterday. 
Senator GuRNEY. Mr." Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Gurney. 
Sencttor GURNEY. Mr. Haldeman, did you take notes as you were lis

tening to these tapes ? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes; I did, Senator. 
Senator GURNEY. And the notes were taken simultaneously with the 

listening to the tapes? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. That is correct. 
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Senator GURNEY. Thank you. 
Senator INOUYE. Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN, Senator Inouye. 
Senator INOUYE. I have a question. Mr. Haldeman, who had physi

cal custody of the tapes at the time of the hearing of them? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. The Technical Security Division of the Secret 

Service. 
Senator INOUYE. What person specifically? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. I don't know. I don't know. I obtained them 

through Mr. Bull, the man who replaced Mr. Butterfield as the Pres
ident's aide._ 

Senator INOUYE. Was he there at all times~ 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Pardon me? 
Senator INOUYE. Was he there at all times when the tapes were 

played? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. No, sir; he was not there at all when the tapes were 

pla.yed. 
Senator INOUYE. We were told that the Secret Service had exclusive 

custody over these tapes and they were left in your care. 
Mr. HALDEMAN, The particular tapes that I listened to, yes, sir. 
Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much. 
Senator MONTOYA. Mr. Chairman. 
Senator ERVIN. Senator Montoya. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Did I understand you to say that you took the 

September 15 tape to your home? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. That is correct. 
Senator MONTOYA. How long did you keep it there? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Overnight. 
Senator MONTOYA. Who was present when you played this tape? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. No one. 
Senator MoNTOYA. Who was present when you played the March 21 

tape? 
Mr. li.AwEMAN. No one. 
Senator ERVIN. I think we subpenaed those notes of yours. Did you 

bring them? 
Mr. HALDEMAN. No, sir; my notes are in the President's files, I don't 

have any notes. 
Senator ERVIN. Oh, the President keeps the notes and he keeps the 

tapes. [Laughter.] 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator ERVIN. Anyway, we have made a ruling and we might ai; 

well proceed. 
Mr. HALDEMAN [continues reading his statement]. I will proceed 

with the addendum on the March 21 meeting. I was present for the 
final 40 minutes of the President's meeting with John Dean on the 
morning of March 21. While I was not present for the first hour of 
the meeting, I did listen to the tape of the entire meeting. 

Following is the substance of that meeting to ,the best of my recol
lection. 

Dean reported some facts regarding the planning and the break-in 
of the DNC and said again there were no White House personnel 
involved. He felt Magruder was fully a ware of the operation, but 
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he was not sure about Mitchell. He said that Liddy had given him a 
full rundown right after Watergate and that no one in the White 
House was involved. He said that his only concerns regarding the 
'White House were in relation to the Colson phone call to Magruder, 
which might indicate White House pressure, and the possibility that 
Haldeman got some of the "fruits" of the bugging via Strachan 
since he had been told the "fruits" had been supplied to Strachan. 

He outlined his role in the January planning meetings and re
counted a report he said he made to me regarding the second of those 
meetings. 

Regarding the post-June 17 situation, he indicated concern about 
two problems, money and clemency. He said that Colson had said 
something to Hunt about clemency. He did not report any other 
offers of clemency although he said he felt the defendants expected 
it. The President confirmed that he could not off er clemency and 
Dean agreed. 

Regarding money, Dean said he and Haldeman were involved. 
There was a bad appearance which could be developed into a cir
cumstantial chain of evidence regarding obstruction of justice. He 
said that Kalmbach had raised money for the defendants; that Halde
man had OK'd the return of the $350,000 to the committee; and that 
Dean had handled the dealings between the ,parties in doing this. He 
said that the money was for lawyers' fees. 

He also reported on a current Hunt blackmail threat. He said 
Hunt was demanding $120,000 or else we would tell about the seamy 
thin~ he had done for Ehrlichman. The President pursued this in 
considerable detail, obviously trying to smoke .out what was really 
going on. He led Dean on regarding the process and what he rwould 
recommend doing. He asked such things as-"Well, this the thing 
you would recommend? We ought to do this? Is that right?" and he 
asked: "Where the money would come from? How it would be deliv
ered?" and so on. He asked how much money would be involved over 
the years and Dean said "probably $1 million-but the problem is that 
it is hard to raise." The President said "there is no problem in rais
ing $1 million, we can do that, but it would be wrong." I have the 
clear impression that he was trying to find out what it was Dean was 
saying and what Dean was recommending. He was trying to get Dean's 
view and he was asking him leading questions in order to do that. This 
is the method the President often used when he was moving toward a 
determination. 

Dean also mentioned his concern about other activities getting out, 
such as the "Ellsberg" break-in, something regarding Brookings, 
the other Hunt activities for Colson on Chappaquiddick, the Segretti 
matter, use of Kalmbach funds, et cetera. 

When I entered the meeting, there was another discussion regard
ing the Hunt threat and .the President again explored in considerable 
depth the various options and tried to draw Dean out on his recom
mendation. 

The meeting then turned to the question of how to deal with this 
situation and the President mentioned Ehrlichman's recommendation 
that everybody should go to the grand jury. The President told Dean 
to explore all of this with Haldeman, Ehrlichman, and Mitchell. 
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There was no discussion while I was in the room-nor do I recall 
any discussion on the tape--0n the question of clemency in the con
text of the President saying that he had discussed this with Ehrlich
man and with Colson. The only mention of clemency was Dean's 
report that Colson had discussed clemency with Hunt and the Presi
dent's statement that he could not offer clemency and Dean's agree
ment-plus a comment that Dean thought the others expected it. 

Dean mentioned several times during this meeting his awareness 
that he was telling the President things the President had known 
nothing about. 

I have to surmise that there is a genuine confusion in Mr. Dean's 
mind as to what happened on March 13 versus what happened on 
March 21, because some of what he describes in quite vivid detail as 
happening on March 13 did, in fact, happen on March 21. The point 
about my laughing at his being more knowledgeable next time, and 
the question that he says he raised on March 13 regarding the $1 
million are so accurately described, up to a point, as to what really 
happened on March 21 that I believe he is confused between the. two 
dates. 

Mr. Dean's recollection that the President had told him on March 13 
that Ehrlichman had discussed an offer of clemency to Hunt with him, 
and he had also discussed Hunt's clemency with Colson is at total 
variance with everything that I have ever heard from the President, 
Ehrlichman, or Colson. I don't recall such a discussion in either the 
March 13 or the March 21 meeting. 

Now, to the question of impression. Mr. Dean drew the erroneous 
conclusion that the President was fully knowledgeable of the coverup 
at the time of the March 13 meeting in the sense: First of being aware 
that money had been paid for silence, and that, second, the money de
mands could reach $1 million and that the President said that was 
no problem. He drew his conclusion from a hypothetical discussion 
of question since the President told me later that he had no intention 
to do anything whatever about money and had no knowledge of the 
so-called coverup. 

I had no difficulty accepting the President's version based on years 
of very close association with President Nixon and on hundreds of 
hours of meetings with him. Having observed the President over those· 
years in many different situations, it was very clear to me on March 
21 that the President was exploring and probing, that he was sur
prised, that he was trying to find out what in the world was going on. 
He did not understand how this all fit together arid· he was trying to 
find out. I was pushing hard for that kind of information from Mr. 
Dean. 

The President, further, was concerned about how this ought to be 
dealt with and he was interested in getting views from Ehrlichman, 
Dean, Haldeman, and Mitchell because he felt that those views might 
be enlightening as to what the true situation was. 

For that reason he asked that the meeting be held with the four of 
us in the immediate future and such a meeting was scheduled the next 
day. 

Senator BAKER [interrupting]. Mr. Haldeman, before you continue, 
is that the end of your addendum i 

Mr. HALDEMAN. Yes, it is. 
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Senator BAKER. Would you supply us with copies or the original so 
that we could have copies I 

Mr. HALDEMAN. I believe--
Senator BAKER. I understand-has a copy been supplied to the com-

~oo I . 
Mr. DASH. It is being reproduced now. 
Senator BAKER. Thank you very much. 
Senator ERVIN. You may proceed with your original statement. 
Mr. HALDEMAN. Thank you, sir. 
Mr. Dean, Mr. Ehrlichman, and I met with the President later that 

afternoon of the 21st. That meeting dealt with the questions of the 
grand jury, the Senate committoo, and executive privilege in connec
tion with gathering the facts and getting them out. I think there was 
some discussion of Ehrlichman's theory that everybody should go to 
the grand jury; and Dean's reaction that that would be fine as long 
as we had immunity. Mr. Ehrlichman, as I recall, very strongly shot 
down that thought from Dean saying it did not make any sense at all. 
Dean has testified that he argued that the way to get the truth out 
would be to send everybody to the grand jury with immunity. That, in 
itself, is rather indicative of the different attitudes. Mr. Ehrlichman 
was arguing for going to the grand jury without immunity in order 
to get the truth out. Mr. Dean was arguing for going to the grand 
jury with immunity to get the truth out. 

I recall an incident after that afternoon meeting that Mr. Dean also 
recalls, but he says it took place before and he sees it a little bit dif
ferently. I remember that Dean and Ehrlichman and I were standing 
on the top of the steps of the EOB, the Executive Office Building, out
side the President's office. Dean said, sort of thoughtfully, that maybe 
the solution to this whole thing was to draw the wagons around the 
White House and let all the chips fall where they may, because that 
would not hurt anyone in the White House, nobody here had a prob
lem-but his question was: 'What would that do in the way of creating 
problems for Mitc:hell and Magruder I The significance of that com
ment was thait it still seemed to be clear in Dean's mind that the prob
lem did not lie in the White House. 

The next step was the mooting of Mitchell, Ehrlichman, Dean, and 
myself the next day with the President. 

The four of us met first in the morning in my office and had some 
discussion of Dean's report to the President, although not in any de
tail. Most of the discussion was regarding approaches to dealing with 
the situation rather than a review of the facts of the situation. 

Mitchell turned the discussion to the problem of executive privilege, 
and he argued very strongly that the position the President had taken 
and was maintaining regarding executive privilege appeared to the 
public to be a coverup on the part of the President and that it was 
bad politics, bad public relations, and a bad idea. Dean at that mooting 
again argued his idea of everybody going to the grand jury with im
munity in order to get the facts out. 

That was the day the news report was received regarding Pat Gray 
accusing Dean of having been a liar in some report he had given to the 
FBI. That interrupted the meeting and there was some discussion 
about it. 
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We met in the afternoon in the EOB office with the President and 
that, too, was a discussion of how to handle the situation rather than 
any further exploration of the facts. At that meeting the grand jury 
argument was ruled out. Ehrlichman again opposed the idea of going 
to the grand jury with immunity and the more discussion there was, 
the more it seemed that it was not a practical thing and probably not 
within our control anyway. 

Mitchell very strongly recommended that the President drop his 
claim of executive privilege, contending that was a bad position for 
him to be in. That view, for the time of that meeting at least, prevailed 
and the decision that came out of the meeting was fur the President to 
waive executive privilege and to permit all White House staff people 
to go to the Senate committee and testify fully in open hearing. But it 
was felt that before that was done, and in order to a void the problem 
that had been discussed earlier of the committee hearings resulting 
in the facts coming out piecemeal, one witness at a time, and being the 

' subject of a major news story, there should first be a complete report 
put out by the White House prepared by Dean covering all of the facts 
so that what all of us would say would already be known in one place 
rather than having bits and pieces come out over a period of time. 

So, as I recall, Dean w&s told at that meeting on the afternoon of 
March 22, to prepare a full written report for public release regarding 
'the facts as they were known to him and as they in any way involved 
anyone in the White House. We talked about including in that, even 
though it was not related to Watergate, all of the facts on the Segretti 
matter so that any question that might arise on that would also be 
answered. . 

There was also at that meeting a question of the Senate committee 
rules and how the committee was going to operate. The President had 
expected Kleindienst to be in contact with Senator Baker, the vice 
chairman of the committee, regarding these matters. We were not sure 
whether he had been or not and the President picked up the phone dur
ing the meeting and called Kleindienst to talk to him about maintain
ing the contact with Senator Baker. 

John Dean was asked how long it would take him to write a report 
and he said it would probably take 2 days. He was told to go ahead with 
that process and the meeting ended on the note that the way this would 
be handled was that all of us would go to the Senate committee without 
any claim of executive privilege but that first there would be a com- . 
plete report put out publicly. · 

Through this period of time, I still had full confidence in John Dean 
and I think the President did. He had not in any way hit himself 
except on the indirect point that there was a possible circumstantial 
chain of evidence leading to a charge of obstruction of justice than of 
legality. If it was his intention to impress the President, Ehrlichman, 
and me with the fact that he and the two of us were heavily involved 
in a coverup program of illegal activities, he did indeed fail to do so 
and it is my very clear impression that that was not his intent at that 
time. He did start dropping some indications that Magruder at least, 
and possibly Mitchell, had serious legal problems and the President 
did become concerned about the problem of Watergate and the new 
information that had been brought to his attention. That was the rea
son for his decision that afternoon, and for some changes in his decision 
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over the following week, regarding the ·white House staff going to the 
Senate committee without executive privilege; but more importantly, 
regarding the assignment to John Dean to prepare a full and co~ple~e 
report on all of the facts of the matter. After the March 22 meetrng rn 
the afternoon, the President left for Key Biscayne. The rest of us 
remained in Washington. I went to Key Biscayne the next morning to 
join the President for the weekend. John Dean went home to write his 
report, but found that he was besieged by reporters as a result of the 
Pat Gray allegation that he had lied, and so the President, in talking to 
him on the phone the next day, suggested that he go to Camp David 
where he would be free from the press and would have an uninter
rupted opportunity to get his report prepared. I am convinced that 
there was a discussion of Dean writing a report, and that when we left 
the meeting on the afternoon of the 22d it was clear in all of our minds 
that that was Dean's assignment and that he was expected to do so over 
the next couple of days. . 

CAMP DAVID 

Over the weekend that Dean was at Camp David I had several 
phone conversations with him. There was a story that Dean and Ma
gruder knew about the bugging and that was a matter of concern 
to Dean with which he was dealing. He had obviously been 'Working 
on the report he was supposed to be preparing and perhaps talking 
to people. He seemed now to feel that Magruder was definitely in
volved. He gave that indication, which he had given before, on the 
phone. He was not at all sure about whether or not Mitchell was 
involved. • 

On the 26th, I had a long phone call with Dean. It is interesting 
because he said there was no communication on that day of any 
significance. 

I had called Dean-this is on the 26th-to ask if he would have 
any problem if the President announced that day that he was request
ing that Dean be called to the grand jury without immunity, and 
I specified that because in the earlier discussions Dean had made the 
pomt of immunity. Dean said, "No, I would have no problem with 
that." Then he said, "I have been working on this whole thing and 
trying to analyze what our problems are." · 

He said there is a problem with Magruder regarding the planning 
meetings, because apparently he has testified as to the number of meet
ings and the content of the meetings and his testimony was different 
than what mine would be if I went to the grand jury now. He said 
there was only one meeting, and it was for the purpose of discussing 
campaign spending laws; while, in fact, there were two meetings and 
they 'Were for the purpose of discussing intelligence presentations 
hy Liddy. 

He said, "In looking over this whole thing, there are several areas 
of concern. One is the blackmail area. Blackmail started way back." 
This was the first time he spelled this out to me. Mitchell was hit 
by Parkinson or O'Brien, who were hit by Bittman, who was hit 
by Hunt, who had been hit by the defendants saying that they needed 
money and if they did not get it they 'Were going to cause trouble. 
It was not spelled out much more than that, I do not think. 
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Mitchell told Dean-this is Dean now recounting to me what his 
report apparently was showing-to tell Haldeman and Ehrlichman 
to get Kalmbach to raise the money and Dean did. Kalmbach raised 
some $70,000, which he gave to LaRue. 

Then, we got to the question of the $350,000 and there was a problem 
there because the $22,000 was spent out of that and there was a 
problem of how to return it and account for the missing $22,000. 

Then there was the problem of blackmail to the White House 
directly. He said there were two instances of that, one-Mrs. Hunt 
called Colson's secretary and said something about a demand for 
money. The other was Hunt's the preceding week. 

Regarding clemency, he said Colson talked to Bittman. He did not 
make any commitment hut tQld him he would help. 

He referred to a letter McCord had written to Caulfield requesting 
a meeting. Mitchell told Dean to have him see him and find out what 
he was up to. 

Another problem area was Dean's delay in turning over the evidence 
in Hunt's safe to the FBI. Another was a call Liddv had made to 
Krogh. Apparently, he had been given a brushoff by Krogh and that 
had made Liddy mad. 

Following that phone call, the President dropped his plan to an
nounce that Mr. Dean would be requesting an appearance immediately 
before the grand jury in order to lay out all the facts as he knew them. 
The problem was that Dean had not really sorted out the facts at that 
point and it was not appropriate for him to go to the grand jury. 

Dean has said in his testimony that there was no discussion in the 
March 26 phone call of his going to the grand jury-yet, that was the 
reason for the call. 

In one of the phone calls from Camp David, I believe on the 27th, 
Dean told me that he had talked with Paul O'Brien who had told him 
Magruder had said that he had gone ahead with the Watergate opera
tion on orders from Strachan, who said Haldeman had ordered it be
cause the President wanted it done. This is the same report, that Dean 
testified he ha~ given to me in early February. Another confusion in 
dates-----but an important one. 

By the 30th, Dean had not delivered any report and he said he had 
not been able to write one; and the President stopped dealing with 
Dean. In effect, he had stopped dealing with him after the 23d. 

I do not believe my attitude toward Dean had changed at that point. 
I was puzzled and maybe Dean was reading some puzzlement; but I 
had been in frequent communication with him in quite lengthy phone 
conversations while he was at Camp David-contrary to the implica
tion he has created that he was practically incommunicado while he 
was up there. I had the feeling that he was telling me quite openly 
what the problems were and what he was trying to work out. 

On March 30, the President made the announcement that nobody in 
the White House would go to the Senate hearings but that all members 
of the White House staff would, of course, appear before the grand 
jury, if called, and would cooperate fully. 

Also on the 30th, the President put Mr. Ehrlichman officially on the 
Watergate investigation and told him to develop the facts in the case 
and try again to get to a final conclusion. 
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APRIL 

From April 1 to 7, I was in San Clemente with the President. 
Despite Mr. Dean's sta:tement that during that period he, under advice 
of counsel, endeavored to avoid any contact with Haldeman, Ehrlich
man, or Mitchell-we talked on the phone daily. The main problem he 
seemed to have during that period was the continuing one with 
Mitchell regarding the discrepancy on the number of meetings. 

It is my understanding that Dean hired a lawyer, Mr. Shaffer, about 
March 30. He had indicated earlier that he might do this so he-and, 
through him, the President-could consult an attorney familiar with 
criminal law on the implications of some of the concerns Dean was 
developing. He told me that his lawyer had told him he should not 
write anything down about the Watergate case and, if he had written 
anything down, he should not show it to anyone and he should not talk 
to Mitchell or Magruder. He did not mention to me that his lawyer 
had told him not to talk to me or Ehrlichman and he did, in fact, con
tinue to talk-fo me, at least. 

He told me his lawyers had met privately with the U.S. attorneys 
on April 4. He told me again on April 7 that his lawyers had met with 
the U.S. attorneys on April 6. This despite the fact that in his testi
mony he has said that his lawyers were meeting with the prosecutors 
but this was unknown to Haldeman or Ehrlichman. 

He further said that the U.S. attorne_vs had told his la\\7yers-and 
he believed that this was the straight information because this was an 
eyeball-to-eyeball meeting-that the U.S. attorneys were only inter
ested in the pre-June 17 facts. They had no concern with post-June 17. 
They only wanted Dean as a witness. They did not consider him a 
target of their investigation. They did not consider Haldeman as a 
target and probably would not even call him as a witness. Liddy had 
told them everything but his lawyers didn't know it; and Liddy com
pletely cleared the White House; that is, in telling them everything, 
~iddy had confirmed that nobody in the White House had had any 
rnvol vement. 

We returned to Washington on April 8. During that week Ehrlich
man continued his investigation-and on Saturday the 14th reported 
his conclusions to the President in the form of a verbal statement of 
his theory of the case based on all of the information he had acquired
still, of necessity, mostly by hearsay. 

There were several meetings with Dean that week and I recall a 
continuing concern on Dean's part regarding the discrepancy with 
Mitchell and the planning meetings. I don't recall any major changes 
in Dean's view of the facts from what he had reported on the phone 
earlier. 

By the end of the week both Dean and Ehrlichman had come to the 
view that Mitchell had approved the Watergate plan and there was 
some discussion that, if that were the fact, and if Mitchell decided 
to step forwa.rd and say so, it would be a major step in clearing up the 
Watergate mystery. This was not discussed in any context of asking 
Mitchell to do this as a scapegoat or to divert attention from others
but as a major step in bringing out the truth. 

Over the weekend, both Magruder and Dean met with the U.S. 
attorneys in private sessions and gave their full accounts of the Water-
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gate. These meetings were reported to the President on Sunday the 
15th by Attorney General Kleindienst and Assistant Attorney General 
Petersen. Their report was not very surprising to the President, since 
it confirmed, with minor variations, the theory that Ehrlichman had 
given him on Saturday. 

Because the Dean and Magruder testimony seriously implicated 
John Mitchell, Kleindienst removed himself from responsibility on 
Watergate and the President put Petersen in full charge. 

By the end of April, it had become apparent to me that, because 
of the increasing intensity of charges and rumors in which my name 
was raised and the need for me to aP.pear before the grand jury and 
this committee, it was no longer possible for me to perform my White 
House duties effectively. After some discussions regarding leave of 
absence vetsus resignation, I concluded I should resign and the Presi
dent a~eed. I resigned on April 30. 

I said then that I was confident that when the full truth was known 
it would be clear I had had no knowledge of or involvement in Water
gate or any "coverup" and I had not failed to meet the very high 
standards of integrity which President Nixon had properly expected of 
everyone on his White House staff and which I have always held for 
myself. 

I have that confidence in full measure today and I welcome the op
portunity to help in the process of making the truth known. 

Senator ERVIN. I think it is appropriate not to take up the exam
ination of the witness until in the morning. I do want to make some 
observations concerning the matter which Fred Thompson men
tioned. 

Unfortuna~ly we did have on several occasions while Mr. Ehrlich
man was testifying some demonstrations, from some members of the 
audience. I deplored those demonstrations and may have been at fault 
in not squelching them more vigorously. 

I want to announce now that no such demonstrations will be per
mitted in the future and if any person who engages in one can be 
identified, the officers should eject him from the committee hearing 
room because I certainly agree with Fred Thompson who has ren
dered very valuable services to this committee that it would be highly 
desirable if we could do exactly the same here as is done in a court
room and conduct an investigation in an atmosphere of judicial 
calm. 

I am going to say, however, that the questions put to Mr. Ehrlich
man were rather robust and the answers given by Mr. Ehrlichman in 
response to those questions sometimes were rather robust, too. I quote 
the King James version of the Bible and I think that the proverb 
says that "Merry hearts doeth good like a medicine," and sometimes 
I think a man personally has a constitutional right to laugh even in 
a solemn hearing room. But I am going to suggest that possibly 
Mr. Ehrlichman invited some of the demonstrations by certain testi
mony. 

For example, when I asked him if he didn't bug the conversations 
of Kalmbach and Kleindienst, I believe, he said, no, he didn't bug 
them. He didn't bug the conversations, he merely, recorded them. 
And I think that that might have invited a little demonstration of 
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the inability o:f the audience to determine exactly the precise line be
tween bugging and recording o:f phone conversations without con
sidering the other party. 

And then one time I was questioning Mr. Ehrlichman and he said 
I had interrupted his answer which I may have done because some
times I get a little impulsive, and he said that I interrupted his answer 
because I didn't want to hear what he was going to tell me. 

Well, I am sure that Mr. Ehrlichman gave as good as he got, 
whether it was tit for tat during the hearings, and that is quite normal 
because I think he is a rather vigorous and emphatic man. 

And another thing-a worse demonstration was probably intrigued 
by me or was my :fault because when I stated that I didn't agree with 
Mr. Ehrlichman on the proposition that the President had no con
stitutional right to suspend the :fourth amendment, Mr. Ehrlichman 
asked me how I knew that, and I said because the amendment was 
written in the English language and that is my mother tongue. So I 
think it produced what I thought was a demonstration, perhaps o:f the 
biggest proportions anyone could have and I would have to say maybe 
I contributed to that mysel:f. 

But I think we gave Mr. Ehrlichman an opportunity to :fully answer 
all o:f the questions that were put to him by the committee members 
or by the attorneys. 

I also think that we gave Mr. Wilson a :fair opportunity to present 
his arguments about the inherent or implied powers o:f the President, 
and I think that on most occasions when Mr. Wilson interposed an ob
jection to evidence that without serious objection o:f any other member 
o:f the committee, I sustained his objections. And I hope that in the 
:future there will be no more demonstrations o:f any kind and I hope 
that when people attempt to laugh, anybody in the audience, that they 
will laugh as inaudibly as possible and I am going to be very-I am 
as mild-mannered a man as ever cut a throat or scuttled a ship and I 
am going to en:force the rule against demonstrations as :fully as I can 
and I certainly do agree with the propriety o:f Mr. Thompson making 
the observations which he did, notwithstanding the :fact that I think 
that Mr. Ehrlichman by his replies, as well as mysel:f by my questions 
and responses to his questions, may have invited a little bit o:f a 
demonstration. 

Senator BAKER. Mr. Chairman, 'l think that probably requires just 
a very brie:f but not too brie:f addendum. I think we have come a long 
way, Mr. Chairman, in these hearings. We have come a long way as a 
united committee, by and large, :free o:f at least the grosser :forms o:f par
tisan political confrontation. We have come a long way in terms o:f 
time, in terms o:f the expenditure o:f emotional traits and energy and 
resources. As I said this morning, we are tired. I have no apology :for 
that, and I find that in attitudes and I am not being critical there. I sim
ply mean that we have got to get about the business o:f finishing these 
hearings. I applaud. Mr. Chairman, :for very effective action in trying 
to establish and maintain decorum in this hearing room. I think it has 
been absent on occasion. I think we are all at :fault. I assume my part of 
the burden. I confess that I can't resist trying to match you story :for 
story which will turn out to be absolutely impossible, but I share my 
part o:fl the burden. But this is a historic and important and significant 
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occasion and it must not be subjected to the charge of being run in a 
cavalier or casual way. So I think we profited from today, and I think 
that the remarks were well taken by you, Mr. Chairman. I think the 
remarks by Mr. Thompson were well taken. I think the audience no 
doubt will cooperate with us in the future and that will merely expedite 
the purpose of this hearing which is to receive £acts and ultimately to 
state conclusions. Thank you, sir. 

Senator ERVIN. I would like to add just a little bit more in this vein. 
This committee had to be appointed from the membership of the Sen
ate, and every Member of the Senate either calls himself a Republican 
or calls himself a Democrat, althougl;i. sometimes on their voting records 
it's hard to distinguish between the two. But I think that every mem
ber of this committee has worked very conscientiously in an effort to 
bring out the truth in these matters. I think that they have tried to be 
as fair as human beings can because human beings do get provoked a 
little bit even when their intentions are the best and I am proud of 
all the members of this committee. 

I am also very proud of the committee staff. Sam Dash has done a 
marvelous job as chief counsel and Fred Thompson has done a marvel
ous job as minority counsel, and they have cooperated as members of 
the committee have, I think, exceedingly well, and I hope that we wi]I 
be able to continue this cooperation, and I hope that we can find what 
the truth is, whatever it may turn out to be. 

Senator BAKER. The healing balm has now been applied, Mr. Chair
man. 

Mr. DASH. Mr. Chairman, before we recess for the day, I have a 
sworn statement which the committee has received from Mr. Bernard 
Fensterwald, who is Mr. McCord's attorney, and I would like to sub
mit it for the record. 

Senator ERVIN. Let the reporter mark it with the appropriate ex-
hibit number. 

[The statement referred to was marked exhibit No. 109A. *] 
Senator ERVIN. We will stand in recess until 9 :30 in the morning. 
[Whereupon, at 6 :15 p.m., the hearing was recessed, to reconvene at 

9 :30 a.m., Tuesday, July 31, 1973.] 

•see p. 3012. 
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EXHffiITS SUBMITIED FOR THE RECORD 

EXHIBIT No. 94A 

THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASH1NOTON 

July 25, 1973 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

White House counsel have received on my behalf the two 
subpoenas issued by' you, on behalf of the Select Committee, 
on July 23rd. · 

One of these calls on me to furnish to the Select Committee 
recordings of five meetings between Mr. John Dean and 
myself. For the reasons stated to you in my letters of 
July 6th and July· 23rd, I must respectfully refuse to produce 
those recordings. 

The other subpoena calls on me to furnish all records of any 
kind relating directly or indirectly to the "activities, partici
pation, responsibilities or involvement" of ZS named individuals 
"in any alleged criminal acts related to the Presidential election 
of 1972. 11 Some of. the records that might arguably fit within that 
subpoena are Presidential papers that must be kept confidential 
for reasons stated in my letter of July 6th. It is quite possible 
that there are other records in my custody that would be within 
the ambit of that subpoena and that I could, consistent with the 
public interest and my Constitutional responsibilities, provide 
to the Select Committee. All specific requests from the Select 
Committee will be carefully considered and my staff and I, as 
we have done in the past, will cooperate with the Select Committee 
by making available any information and documents that can 
appropriately be produced. You will understand, however, 
I am sure, that it would simply not be feasible for my staff 
and me to review thousands of documents to decide which do 
and which do not fit within the sweeping but vague terms of 
the subpoena. 
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Honorable Sam J. Ervin -2-

It continues to be true, as it was when I wrote you on July 6th, 
that my staff is under instructions to cooperate fully with yours 
in furnishing information pertinent to your inquiry. I have 
directed that executive privilege not be invoked with regard to 
testimony by present and former members of my staff concerning 
possible criminal conduct or discussions of possible criminal 
conduct. I have waived the attorney-client privilege with regard 
to my former Counsel. In my July 6th letter I described these 
acts of cooperation with the Select Committee as "genuine, 
extensive ·and, in the history of such matters, extraordinary. 11 

That cooperation ·has continued and it will continue. Executive 
privilege is being invoked only with regard to documents and 
recordings that cannot be made public consistent with the confi
dentiality essential to the functioning of the Office of the President. 

I cannot and will not consent to giving any investigatory body 
private Presidential papers. To the extent that I have custody 
of other documents or information relevant to the work 0£ the · 
Select Committee and that can properly be made public, I will 
be glad to ·make these available in response to specific requests. 

Honorable Sam J. Ervin 
Chairman 
Select Committee on Presidential 

Campaign Activities 
United States Senate 
Washington, D. C. 20510 
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EXHIBIT No. 95 

STATISTICS 

REQUESTS FOR INSPECTION OF INCOME TAX RETURNS 

OR DATA FROM RETURNS 

BY FEDERAL AGENCIES 
I• 

FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD 

JANUARY 11 1972 - JUNE 301 1972 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 

~FPTF.MRF.R 1972 
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TAX CHECKS REQUESTED BY FEDERAL AGENCIES 

January 11 1972 - June 301 1972 

Agency Number 

White House 477 

Department of Justice 407 

Department of Treasury 152 

Department of Comme·rce 64 

Department of State 41 

TOTAL 1,141 



1973 

2911 

. EXIDBIT No. 96 

STATISTICS 

R~QUESTS FOR INSPECTION OF INCOME TAX RETURNS 

OR-DATA FROM RETURNS 

BY FEDERAL AGENCIES 

. FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD' 

. JULY l, .1972 - DECEMBER 31, 1972 

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 
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TAX CHECKS REQUESTED BY FEDERAL AGENCIES 

JULY 1, 1972 - DECEMBER 31, 1972 

Agencr Number 

White House 438 

Department of Justice 365 

Department of Treasury 241 

Department of Commerce so 
Department of State 64 

Ex~ort-Import Bank 9 

TOTAL 1,167 
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EXHIBIT NO. 97 

6 July 1972 

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD 

At 1005 on 6 July I saw Acting FBI Director L. Patrick Gray at hie 
office. We were alone during our conversation. I handed him the 
Memorandum which is attached and said that it covered the entire 
relationship between the Watergate suspects and the Agency. In all 
honesty 1 could not tell him to cease future investigations on the 
grounds that it would compromise the security interests of the U.S. 
Even less· so could I write him a letter to this effect. He said that he 
fully understood this. He himself had told Ehrlichman and Haldeman 
that he could not possibly suppress the investigation of this matter. 
Even within the FBI there were leaks. He had called in the component• 
of his Field Office in Washington and "chewed them out" on this case 
because information had leaked into the press concerning the Watergate 
Case which only they had. 

I said that the only basis on which he and I could deal was- absolute 
frankness and I wished to recount my involvement in this case. I said 
that I had been called to the White House with Director Helms and had 
seen two senior staff assistants. (I specifically did not name Haldeman 
and Ehrlichman.) I said that we had been told that iftiiis case were 
investigated further, it would lead.to some awkward places, and I had 
been directed (the implication being that the President had directed 
this although it was not specifically stated) to go to Acting Director Gray 
and tell him that if this investigation were pursued further, it could uncover 
some ongoing covert operations of the Agency. I had done this. 
Subsequently, I had seen Mr. Dean, the White House Counsel, and told 
him that whatever the current unpleasant implications of the Watergate 
Case were,that to implicate the Agency would not serve the President 
but would enormously increase the risk to the President. I had a loiig ·' ·. ,. 
association with the President and was as desirous as anyone of ·.'::;"''f'•t;,; 
protecting him. I did not believe that a letter from the Agency asking:::' ,:, .. ;,-.:;/;:. 
the FBI to lay off this investigation on the spurious grounds that it . ,,i/: (;;::/,i 
would uncover·covert operations would serve the President. Such a ,)j'.i[,(1\.f~;j;. 
letter in the current atmosphere of Washington would become known :,:::;!((:,:'(_~i,,~· 
prior to election day and what was now a minor wound could become a '·'.:l'::-:.;: 
mortal wound. I said quite frankly that I would write such a letter. :.·:;}/'( 
only on direction from the President and only after explaining to him }\ 
how dangerous I thought such an action would be to him and that, if t:~/./ 
~ere really pushed ~n this matte~, I would be prepared to resign.:._,.:,<:Jfl' 
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Gray thanke8 me for my frankness and said that this opened the 
way for fruitful cooperation between us, He would be frank with me 
too, He could not suppress this investigation within the FBI, He 
had told Kleindienst this, He had told Ehrlichman and Haldeman 
that he would prefer to resign, but his resignation would raise many 
questions that would be detrimental to the President's interests, He 
did not see why he or I should jeopardize the integrity of our 
organizations to protect some middle -level White House figure who 
had acted imprudently. He was prepared to let this go to Ehrlichman, 
to Haldeman, or to Mitchell for that matter. He felt it important 
that the President should be protected from his would-be protectors, 
He had explained this to Dean as well as to Haldeman and Ehrlichman, 
He said he was anxious not to talk to Mitchell because he was afraid 

· that at his confirmation hearings he would be asked whether he had 
talked to Mitchell about the Watergate Case and he wished to be in a 
position to reply negatively. He said he would like to talk to the 
President about it but he feared that a request from him to see the 
President would be misinterpreted by the media, I said that if I were. 
directed to write a letter to him saying that future investigation of 
this case would jeopardize the security of the U.S. and covert opera
tions of the Agency, I would ask to see the President and explain to 
him jhe disservice I thought this would do to his interests, The 
potential danger to the President of such a course far outweighed 
any protective aspects it might have for other figures ill the White 
House and I was quite prepared to resign myself on this issue, 
Gray said he understood this fully and hoped I would stick to my guns, 
I assured him I would. 

_Gray then said that though this was an awkward question, our 
mutual frankness had created a basis for a new and happy relation
ship between our two Agencies. I said the Memorandum I had given 
him described in detail the exact measure of Agmcy involvement or 
non-invclvement in this case, including information on Dahlberg and 
Daguerre. 

He thanked me again for my frankness and confidence and 
repeated that he did not believe that he could sit on this matter and 
that the fa~ts would come out eventually, He walked me to the door, 

2 
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EXHIBIT No. 99 

Conversation with AG Kleindienst, March 28, 1973 

K. Kleindienst. 
E. Ehrlichman. 

E. The P.resident wanted me to cover with you. Are you on an outside line? 
K. I'm at my parents' house. 
E. Oh, fine, OK, so it's a direct line? Number one, he wanted me to ask yoo 

those two things that I did yesterday about the grand jury and about Baker. 
He had me call Pat Gray and · have Pat contact Lowell Weicker to ask 
Weiclrer about this second story that he put out yesterday to the effect that 
he had information about White House involvement. And Weicker told Gray 
that he was talking there about political sabotage and not about the Water
gate. 

K. About the Segretti case? 
E. Yeah, and that he was quite vague with Pat as to what he had. 
K. I called him also, you know, after I talked to the President on Monday. 
E. Well, the President's feeling is that it wouldn't be too bad for you in your 

press conferences in the next couple of days to take a swing at that and just 
say we contacted the Senator because we continue to exercise diligence in 
this thing and we',re determined to track down every lead and it turns out 
he doesn't have anything. 

K. I would really at this delicate point question the advisability of provoking, 
you know, a conf,rontation with Weicker. He's essentially with us, he and 
Baker get along good. 

E. Is he? 
K. Baker has had a long talk with him and told him to shut up and said that 

he would and I talked with him on Sunday after he said he didn't have any
thing but he's kind of an excitable kid and we just might not want to 
alienate him and I think that if he finds himself in a direct word battle with 
the White House and me and loses face about it I think in the long ·run we 
might need that guy's vote. 

E. I see. You don't think that this is evidence of alienation to the point of no 
return then? 

K. No. You mean by Lowell? 
E. Yeah. 
K. No I don't. He's pretty disenchanted with the whole concept <Jf it. Connect

icut politician--
E. Well, use y<Jur own judgment on it, Richard. 
K. On TV ·I guess 7 or 8 times this Sunday when I finished my testimony before 

my appropria·tions committee all three netw<Jrks I referred to the letter that 
I sent to Sirica and I also emphasized and repeatedly said (a) the President 
wants this investigated, let the chips fall where they will but secondly that 
if any,body has any information we not only want it we expect to get it so 
we can investigate it and if necessary indict other people and that anybody 
who withholds inf<Jrmation like that is obstructing justice. But I did not 
refer to Weicker. And my judgment right now is not to do so. 

E. OK,OK. 
K. If he gets to that point, the hell ·with him. 
E. Well, our uneducated and uninformed impression was that he was trying 

,to develop an attack line here on the White House or the President. 
K. If that ... if we would conclude that that is what he's up to that he is 

completely alienated then 'I say we've got to take him on. 
E. Well, keep track of that and you'll •be talking to Baker and you get a feel of it. 

OK, now, the President said for me to say this to you. That the best in
formation he had and has is that neither Dean nor Haldeman nor Colson 
n<Jr I nor anybody in the White House ,had any prior knowledge of this 
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burglary. IHe said that he's counting on you to provide him with any in
formation to the contrary if it ever turns up and you just contact him direct. 
Now as far as the Oommittee to re-elect is concerned he said that serious 
questions are being raised with regard to Mitchell and he would likewise 
want you to communicate to him any evidence or inferences from evidence 
on that subject. 

K. Wi,th respect to them, unless something develops with these 7 people who 
were convicted all those people testified under oath before a grand jury and 
their testimony was not contradictory ,and until something comes along I 
think this fellow 'McCord if he has something besides his own testimony in 
addition to ,that to refute the sworn testimony, then you'd have to do it. 
The comment that I made yesterday about McOord was that it takes-

E. Take him for what he is. 
K. He's facing a long jail sentence and l!e has all kinds of motives to say all 

kinds of things but I also pointed out that most of the people, well, these 
people who were involved were interviewed by the FBI and they testified 
under oath before a grand jury to the contrary of what !McOord is saying. 
But I understand the President's direction. 

E. He's concerned about Mitchell. 
K. SoamI. 
E. And he would want to have a private communication from you· if you are 

possessed of any information that you think he ought to have with regard 
to John. 

K. Now he ought to think about ,John ...... McCord or Liddy or Hunt or any of 
these 7, you know, testify under oath specifically to their knowledge they 
have a basis for saying so that Mitchell or any of these guys knew about it; 
we have a very serious problem. Possible perjury, possibility of going back 
to the grand jury, they have a grand jury determine when anyone should be 
indicted. When you talk about Mitchell and me that really creates the 
highest confiict of interest. And we want to give some thought to having 
in such an event having a special prosecutor. 

E. What is the procedure for that? 
K. Well, I don't know. I think that the President could appoint somebody a& 

a special prosecutor ,to direct the FBI to cooperate with him, giving them an 
opportunity to hire some attorneys, you know, on his staff and then just 
have complete authority to .have his own investigation and if there's evidence 
that comes out that there were acts of criminal behavior have them presented 
to a grand jury then proceed with it. 

E. Could you have somebody brief out how that's done? Just so we know? And 
the question would be whether the President or Sirica or you or you know 
who actually does it? 

K. Well it wouldn't be the j,udge. The judge has no jurisdiction. I think it 
would be the President. 

E. OK. 
K. But it has its own problems that by doing that you in effect say publicly 

well OK the Department of Justice and the Attorney General the U.S. 
Attorney and the FBI all corl'lupt. I've now found that out and have got to 
get myself a new--

E. Of course we've resisted that right straight through. 
K. I think that we have to do it in the event that it appears that Mitchell him

self is going to be involved in any further litigation beca.use all the men who 
are doing this who have worked for him been appointed and I think if it 
came d'OWD to him that that's what I wo,uld seriously start thinking about, 
,recommending. 

E. Also this business of the grant of immunity to witnesses before the grand 
jury, is that peculiarly in the province of the court? 

K. No, that's the Department of Justice. 
E. That is? 
K. In almost every criminal case of any consequence when we convict some

body the next thing to do is haul them back in before a grand jury to find 
out what they know. You have to do it in this case-always going to do it. 
Quite a limitation posed on us John is that-who couldn't cut it (inaudible). 
But you have two ,really distinct situations here. You have the Watergate 
inquiry by Senato·r Ervin, that's the political side of it. And then you have 
the obligation imposed upon us to investigate criminal conduct. Two separate 
distinct operations. They're getting all fuzzed up. 
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E. What progress are they making right now, have you had a ·reading on it? 
K. Well, the last time I talked to Henry Monday because of Sirlca's sentencing 

procedures it got a little boxed up. Sirica is really lousing this thing up. I 
don't know. I'm going to talk to Petersen this morning and I'll call you 
back. 

E. OK, great, that's all I had on my list. 
K. Thanks, John. 
E. Now, he said that there was a possibility he'd like to see you in San 

Clemente Saturday morning first thing. So you might just keep that in the 
back of your mind. Don't rearrange any of your schedules or anything but 
I'll let you know if that materializes. We'd send a chopper up to LA for you. 
Thank you. 

K. OK. 
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EXHIBIT NO. 100 

Nofes of a meeting with Herb Kalmbach, April 6, 1973, 
in San Clemente, California approximately Noon. 

Kalmbach was very con.cerned about the e!lect of his testimony 
with regard to raising money for the Watergate defendants upon 
Kalmbach's reputation and family. · 

It is his recolledion that John Dean telephoned him to ask him to 
do so upon the representation that both Bob Haldeman and John. 
Ehrlichman had OKayed.his doing so. 

Kalmbach assumed that he would not be asked to do anything 
,illegal or improper , he had no occasion to check the law nor to 
inquire into the disposition of the funds, he arranged for a "Mr, Rivers" 
to carry the money from California to Washington and to deliver it · 
according to John Dean's instructions. 

Kalmbach does not know to this day how the money was used. He 
was not willing to disclose to me who he raised the money from but 
my impression is that he raised it from two individuals who paid 
him.. cash and desired passionately to remain anonymous. 

Kalmbach has the impression that the money was to be used for. 
compassionate purposes, that is, the support of the families of 
the imprisoned defendants, and that the money was being furnished 
to them by way of a moral obligation for the well-being of the 
families. He understands .. that some of the money was to be used 
for attorneys' fees for the men either directly or indirectly. Kalmbach 
has retained the services of an attorney named Paul O'Connor of 
Phoenix, a long-time friend, and he asked that I see Mr. O•Connor 
on his first visit to Washington as a courtesy. I agreed to do so. 

*** 
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EXHIBIT No. 101 

28 June 1972 

ME:t,.lORANDUM FOR RECORD lJ 

On June 23 at 1300 on request I called with Director Helms 
on John Ehrlichman and Robe rt Haldeman in Ehrlichman' s office 
at the White House. 

Haldeman said that the "bugging" affair at the Democratic 
National Committ~e Hqs at the Watergate Apartments had made 
a lot of noise and the Democrats were trying to maximize it, 
The ·FBI had been called in and was investigating the matter. 
The investigation was· leading to a lot of important people and 
this could get worse. He asked what the connection with the . 
Agency was and the Director repeated that there was none. 
Haldemc1.n g;,j_d that the whole affair was getting embarrassing 
and it was the President's wish that Walters call on. Acting FBI 
Director Patrick Gray and suggest to him that since the five 
suspects had been arrested that this should be sufficient and 
that H was not advantageous to have the enquiry pushed, especially 
in Mexico, etc. 

Di recto,_. H.:?lms said that he had talked to Gray on the previous 
day and h'!d made pL:d,1 to him that the Agency was not behind this 
1natte1·, that it ._.,as not connected with it and none of the suspects 
,vas wot'ldng for, nor had worked for. the Agency in the last two 
}tOa!~J. Ii<.!. h~cl told Gray that non~ oi his investigation:J ,.,,;13 

_touching any co•,ert projects ot th!<! Agency, currcni: or ongoing. 

l{aldcm11.,1 tlrnn stated tb,at I could tdl Gra•r that I had talkerl 
to the \\'hit·:: Ho:_ts:.~ and sug~;est th.:t.t th-e i.nv-.::sti,~~ation not be ptt8lh?d 
fu 1·thc i'. Grn:r \1.·ould h:..1 recept~vr! as he \vas looking for guidance 
in tilt', rn;:i.tter. 

T1>-' Dit·,.:d.nr ,:cpe,'.'.t<::d 1:l«i.t t:lt: Agency \;::.u; unconne!cted with the 
matter. I then i!jg,·:>·•d to 1alk to G,·;,_,,, a! d11·,,,:U-d. Eh~·tkhn1-in 
i:'\-1,,!i,ad,J.,;..o,.u.f. do this soon.;md Isak,! wo,.tld.:tr:.• to -lo it tmlav. 
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Upon l<'aving the White House I discussed the matte1· briefly 
,·:i !h tlH~ Di t·Pctor. On returning to the office I called Gray, 
indicated lh,1t this was a matter of some urgency, and he agreed 
to see me at 1430 that day, 

Vernon A, Walters 
Lieutenant General, USA 
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EXHIBIT No. 102 

Conversation with Pat 'Gray, March 7 or 8, 1973 
E. Ehrlichman 
G. 'Gray 

E. Been testifying today'/ 
G. Yeah, I'm having a ball. ,!Jet me just tell you an unusual development that 

happened today I think you'll be interested in and it's not a disaster or any
thing, it's just a tota~ surprise I think to everybody including me and all 
the committee members. Over the weekend I had prepared a rather :forceful 
statement saying that this function of the committee was .. the function of 
this committee was to look into my qualifications and to examine my pro
cedural conduct of the Watergate not to get into substance that this had 
been ·assigned to the ·Ervin select subcommittee and they would erect the 
proper safeguards to protect those who were innocent and were just stand
bys in this whole matter here of .this criminal offense and iI talked about 
constitutional due process and the right to privacy and all that kind of stuff. 
What the hell should turn up this morning to the chairman of the committee 
and each member of the committee and then a copy was delivered to me in 
the hall as we were walking into the hearing room but a three page letter 
from ,the ,ACLU practically saying the same damn thing. So what has hap
pened is that we got a state of consternation up there right now with the 
AOLU and the FBI in the same bed. And I don't know what the hell they're 
going to do on that. I wanted you to know that that development occurred 
and I also got another letter today along the same lines from a ,professor 
who's pretty highly respected and I talked with Jim Eastland. We're going 
to throw that letter into the hopper tomorrow, too. I'll read that-that's 
·one of the :first things I'll do tomorrow morning. 

Another thing I want to talk to you about is .that I'm being pushed awfully 
hard in certain ·areas and rm not ,giving an inch and you know those areas 
and I think you've got to tell John ·Wesley to stand awful tight in the saddle 
and be very careful about what he says and to be absolutely certain that he 
knows in his own mind that he delivered everything he had to the FBI and 
don't make any distinction between . . . but that he delivered everything 
,he had to the FBI. 

E. Right. 
G. •And that he delivered it to those agents . . . this is absolutely imperative. 
E. '.All right. 
G. You know I've got a couple of areas up there that I'm hitting hard and I'm 

just ta·king them on the attack. 
E. OK 
G. iI wanted you to know that. 
E. 'Good. Keep up the good work, my boy. Let me know if I can help. 
G. All right. !He can help by doing that. 
E. Good, I'll do it. 

Conversation with John Dean same day immediately following 

E. Ehrlichman 
D. Dean 

D. Hello. 
E. Hi. Just had a call from your favorite witness. 
D. Whicll is? 
E. 'Patrick J. Gray 
D. Oh, really? 
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E. ,And he say,s to make sure that old ,John W. Dean ,stays very very firm and 
steady on his story that he delivered every document to the FBI and that 
he doesn't start making nice distinctions between agents and directors. 

D. He's a little worried, is he? 
E. Well, he just doesn't want there to be any question. He says he's hanging 

very firm and tough and there's a lot of probin' around. 
D. Yeah, he's really hanging tough. You ought to read the transcript. It just 

makes me gag. 
E. Really? 
D. Oh, it's awful, John. 
E. Why did he call me? 'l'o cover his tracks? 
D. Yeah, sure. I laid this on him yesterday. 
E. Oh, I see. OK. 
D. I laid it on him to, you know, to fuse the.issue so I don't have any idea what 

he said up there today. 
E. I see. It was a funny phone call. Said he was going in to object to the juris

diction of the group to get into the substance and that their owh jurisdiction 
was to ... was procedural efforts and his competence and he says the ACLU 
put a letter in to the same effect. 

D. Yeah. Wally picked up an interesting one on the grapevine today that planned 
stmtegy now is to proceed in this one as they did in the Kleindienst. 

E. Down to the point of calling you? 
D. Down to the p,oint of calling me and--
E. Let him hang there? 

Well I think we ought to let him hang there. Let him twist slmvly slowly 
in the wind. 

D. That's .right. I was in with the boss this morning and that's exactly where 
he was coming out. He said I'm not sure that. Gray's smart enough to run 
the Bureau the way he's handling himself. 

E. Well, OK, you're on top of it. Good. 



Oonversation with Pat Gray 

G. Gray. 
E. Ehrlichman. 

E. Hi, Pat. 

2952 

EXHIBIT No. 103 

G. John, I thought I'd better just give you a report. They worked me over 
plenty today but I went on the offensive pretty hard and as I told John 
Dean in my noon report to him to look at the transcript and we may have 
even won some of the public relations battle today. I don't know. This after
noon was easier from the standpoint of questions than this morning but I 
defended vigorously the ,right of the C-Ounsel to the President in his official 
capacity to be present at those interviews. I derended vigorously the right 
of an employer to insist that his counsel be present at interviews of his em
ployees particularly when there were implic!].tions that these employees may 
have been involved in hanky-panky that would ,reflect adversely on the 
employer. 

E. Is that going to make problems ftor the Bureau and other contexts? 
G. No. No. You see, it's a thing where this is happening more and more even 

though I have to say for the record our preference is that this not occur 
and the norm is that it does not occur but in these past few years it has been 
occurring more and more and more and it's just the thing that we have to 
face up to. 

E. People being interrogated having counsel? 
G. Yeah. And we got into the thing, you know, we brought it out and hit it hard 

oh at least three times today with three different Senators. In fact, even 
Jim Eastland hit it for me in his questioning about our investigation of the 
Democrats and the little ,red black box and how many times it took us to 
get O'Brien and all that kind of stuff and the fact that they put their coun
sel in the interview too. 

E. Good. 
G. Now, just from sizing this thing up it looks to me like this probably. Tunney 

said to me today that the last thing he said when he was closing out his 
questioning is that he's going to move in the committee in their executive 
session that John Dean be called and of course I didn't respond in any way 
·at all because that's their business and I told John I wanted the President 
to hang in there on that executive privilege and I told Eastland that in no 
way can I see a man with an attorney-client privilege-the President-
being called on and ·I told John to make sure that you and the President 
understood that he ought to stand strong and tall in that saddle and if this
don't do anything to save me. That's what I'm saying. 

E. I get it. 
G. Of course he's got to make the judgment. I can't. 
E. Do you think that there is enough votes on the committee to hold you 

hostage? · 
G. No, I don't. My feeling right now is that if we can keep those Republicans 

together we'H be alright. We'll probably be able to defeat that kind of a 
motion but you know 1I haven't asked did the White House or the Depart
ment of Justice have anything to do with your confirmation hearings because 
we're trying to keep it nonpolitical hut now I'm ·beginning to think that 
maybe a call to Roman Hruska or however you all do that but I wouldn't 
let it get out among the guys at the lower level at all at the White House 
in making any move or it'll 'backfire. 

E. Do you think on the Dean subject, huh? 
G. :1 think on the fuct that they ought to stay together on this thing and that 

this is the counsel to the President, this is attorney-client privilege-god
damn constitution. What the-,they treat the Berrigans one way and they 
want to do it differently here. ·I said that to some of the Republican Senators 
and to the chairman. 
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E. Good. I ·got a can from the press room a little while ago about whether 
I had had any phone conversations with you about the-they got an inquiry. 

G. I got them exactly, John. I've got the exact accounting of it and I think 
we had five calls during the whole thing and I saw you twice and what I have 
stated, you know, they got to this ,today ,and I said everyone of these were 
procedural. 'I advised both 'Mr .. Ehrlichman and Mr. Dean that we were 
going to conduct this investigation with the full aggressiveness and vigor 
'within the capabilities of the FBI. We were going to run it right to wherever 
it led and J said both of them agreed with me completely, I had no hindrance, 
no. 

E. !How did my name come into it? 
G. Well, they asked me pointblank, just straight out. Did you have a telephone 

conversation at any time with 'Mr. Ehrlichman period. Just straight out. 
You know, those meetings were procedural meetings. 

E. Yeah. 
G. And they asked me who I met with with you and my recollection was there 

was nobody. You and me period. And that's going to be my testilll'ony. 
E. And when you said procedural you meant with relation to how you were 

going to conduct the Watergate investigation. · 
G. Right. And I said this was informative only and I emphasized and repeated 

that I ·got ·no direction, no guidance, no hindrance, no impedance, no l).andi
caps whatsoever from anybody and that there was agreement that this is 
the only way that it could be done. I didn't say, you know, that the President 
came out later and made a public statement on it. That's for one of those 
Republican Senators to--

E. OK. 
G. I counted them today. It's ,5 telephone calsl to you and twice I saw you. 

I'll give you a note on it. 
E. Alri·ght. Did they ask who initiated the calls or anything of that kind? 
G. No. 
E. OK. Very good. 
G. I'll send you over ·a note. You'll have it first thing tomorrow. Date and time. 
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EXHIBIT No. 104 

WILKINSON, CRAGUN & BARKER 

LAW Of"f"ICES 
F"RtiE:ST L. WILKINSON 
-•OHN W CHAC,UN !•10011-1•••) 
f,'. '"N A.Yllll<1NS0N 
n•,"lF.fH W. OAFH<ER 
C!IAlfL!a"S A.H00£15 
Af,C.tLO 4.. tAOAl101.A 
PAUL 5 QUINN 

•

NT.KNAUER 
IIARO A,BAF:NEN 

nn:v C-STRAUS 
~•E.nOERr E. MARKS 
PIU1P.E J. LAFORCE 
F"PANCE5 L.HOAN 
GORDON C. COFFMAN 

" \;,t ndnuti.,l u, t,~• 
~t oft:Jolum.J.,a 

THE OCTAGON BUILDING 

1735 NEW YORK AVENUE.N.W. 

WASHINGTON, D. C, 20009 

(202) 8~800 

CABLI!: Al)DAESS 

"WILCBAR•• 

July 27, 1973 . 

Honorable Sam J. Ervin, Jr. 
Chairman, Senate Select Committee 

on Presidential Election Activities 
United States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 

Dear Senator Ervin: 

A.ANTHONY ROOER9 
PATRICIA L. BPOWN 
WILLIAM R. LOHVS 
STEPHEN R. BELL 
THOMAS J, BACAS 
FOSTER 01:REITZES 
ALAN I. RU81NSTEIN 
JOHN M. FACCIOLA • 
PHILIP A,NACKE 
H. MICHAEL SEMLER 
THOMAS E•WILSON 

This letter is another appeal to your Committee to 
act in a spirit of fairness which requires the clearing up of 
the misleading record made during the appearance of Honorable 
Maurice H. Stans on June 12 ,' 1973, over nation-wide television; 

I addressed a hand delivered letter to you on 
July 5, 1973, together with enclosures. Copies are attached. 
As noted in that letter even though Mr. Stans denied that he 
bad ever seen the Magr1.<Jer memo (copy attached) and stated 
there was no such political fund in the Department of Commerce, 
the media, based upon your hearing record, erroneously re
ferred to a "Million Dollar Secret Fund", which in fact did 
not exist. 

In addition to the letter from Richard Whitney and 
two affidavits from former Secr.etary of Commerce for Adminis
tration Larry A. Jobe, furnished earlier, we enclose here-
with another affidavit from Joseph E. Casson, former executive 
assistant to Mr. Stans at Commerce, stating that he had advised 
lllr. Magruder's office that no such political fund existed or 
was contemplated. Moreover, Mr. Casson has told me that he 
never disct1ssed the fund inquiries with Mr. Stans and that no 
one else did in his presence. 

It is abundantly clear that Mr. Stans had never seen 
the Magruder memo prior to his testimony and that there was 
no such political fund. If he had been asked about the memo 
in staff interviews, he could have clarified the matter, That 
was not done, however, Mr, Stans was asked to identify a memo 
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he had never seen, Later your committee had Mr. Magruder 
affirm he had written the memo but did not pursue any facts 
of the non-existent political fund. As a result, the public 
has been mislead to Mr, Stans' damage and embarrassment. 

Feeling that the only way to correct this matter 
fairly is a clarifying statement in your public and tele
vised hearings, we suggested to staff counsel that the 
record be cleared up without delay in accordance with the 
enclosures, (see proposed statement furnished on July 11, 
1973) 

We again request this action be taken without 
further delay, 

y yours, 

wy, SON, CRA°/9& BARKER 

-'f;~M J.t/ fjP-11~ 
By: Ro'b?rt W. Barker 

cc: Each Member of the Committee 
Hon. Maurice H. Stans 
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THE OCTAGON BUILDING 

1736 NEW YORK AVENUE,N.W, 

WASHINGTON, D. C.20006 

(202) 833•9800 

CABLE ACU)R£8S 

"WILCBAR" 

July 27, 1073 ... ; , . ., '· 

D~.v ic1 Dor::;·on , Ezqu iro 
Conato Select Committee on 

P1·oc;ic'-,ntinl C:unpnic;n Activities 
r.00:.1 l.(.;l~ 
i,c._, Cena.to Office Buildini 
'i:n.::::;lliugton, D.C. 

Doa1· David: 

ROSEL H. HYDE 
DONALD C. GOAMLE¥ 
HERBERT F. 0'£SIM0NE 11 

,.;_-,1 

A.ANTHONY ROG.ERB 
PATRICIA L. BROWN 
WILLIAM R. LOF"T\JS 
STEPrfEN A. BELL 
THOMAS J. BACAS 
FOSTER DEAEITZES 
ALAN I. RUBINSTEIN 
JOHN M. FACCIOLA • 
PHILIP A. NACKE 
H. MICHAEL SEMLER 
THOMAS £-WILSON 

/,s poi· ou1• tnll:, I scad you n co:,y of tho 
moc:t i·ccont lc;ttor we h:l.Yo wi•ittoa on tho Coiillllorco Fund 
pi·o;l lo;;.. 

I bo;_)c i11 fn.irz1c::-J::: ti1n.t :rott can sot th.e record 
:-;tr~i~ht, 'l.1ilo::..·o ,·1::-..::; no ;::~:c;1 occi·o·:; ~jolitical f.unc1. I 
h:-. vo been nn::.:ui"'CG by nu;:~o:..1 Vi.i.:J l?co:.">10 th~ t tho clizcret ionary 
fu~Jd of tho D0~>ai"'·i;1:1:.::at o! Co~-.t:;ierco wan uccd r..ololy fo1• 
:.uti1orizcd [:OVCl'l1L1outal pu1·po1::oz, 

Sincc1·cly ~urs, 

'''I' ,---~;?i:)cr,GUl·T " BAntn,n ,iu7~? ·-~~ 
13y: .:obort VI, Barker 

r:11C lOGUl"'O 

cc: Rufus Edmisten, Esquire~ 
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\llt:.ELO A. IAOAROLA 
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£J.W T. KNAU£:R (202) D33·9eoo GORDON C,COF'F'MAH 

R. ANTHONY ROGCRS 
i RO A DACN(N 
IL ,,Y C· STRAUS 
ICfliJE:RT E.. MARKS 
'IERRE'. .J. LA!"ORCE 
AANCE:S L,HORN 

/.'ot atlmiu.J in tJ.. 
INR1o/GJ-61e1. 

CABLE ADDRESS 

"WI LCGAR"' · 

July 5, 1973 

Honorable Sam J. Ervin, Jr. 
Chairman, Senate Select Committee 

on Presidential Election Activities 
United States Senate 
Washington, D. C. 

Dear .Air. Chairman : 

· PATRICIA L. BROWN 
WILLIAM A. LOFTUS 
STE:PHEN R. El~LL 
THOMAS J. BACAS 
rOST(R 0£RCITZ£S 

"' ALAN LflUBINSTEIN 
•PHILIP A.NACKE 

H. MICHAEL SEMLCA 
1'.HOMAS E,WILSON 

When the Honorable Maurice IL Stans appeared 
before your Committee he was interrogated about a 
memorandum 

0

da ted July 28, 1971 (Committee Exhibit 27) 
from Jeb S. J.[agruder to the Attorney General concerning 
an alleged discretionary fund in the Department of Commerce 
which was reportedly available for activities beneficial 
to the President• s ro-election (Tr. 1638) • E,ven though, 
prior to his testimony, l\lr. Stans had me.t with your staff 
on two,occasions to review the scope and subject matter of 
his testimony .he was asked about this memorandum in the 
public hearing without prior notice or· chance ·to ref-resh 
his recollection concerning the subject matter of the memo. 
He testified tha.t he· had not previously seen the do-cument 
during his administration. He further stated that there was 
no fun-d i'.n the Department of Commerce., apart from authorized 
budgeted funds, and certainly no fund set aside·in the 
Department to help in the election campaign. This unfortunate 
episode occurred, as you:know, civer nationwide television. 

Based on this record, the media referred to the 
"Million Dollar Secret Fund". For example, th(;! New York 
Daily News had front page headlines which referred to the 
"fund" and on page -two, .. the headlines ran "Commerce· 
Department Fund For Nixon is Revealed". Press service 
reports on the nonexistent "Fund" were carried throughout 
the nation, with lit·tle or ·no recognition bei11g given Mr. 
Stans' denial of the existence of such a poli t_ical fund. 
We feel that the "surprise" approach to the inte,rrogation 
in great part contributed to·. this \Ill.fairness. 
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Ha111.>1·able t:iam J, J::rvin, Jr, 
July 5, .1973 
Page Two 

We have now received copies of clai·i.fying infonna tion 
from two persons well acquainted with this matter and who Dmke·· 
clear that there ·was 110 secret political fUlld, I attach 
copies of their communications:. 

1, A copy of a letter from Dick Whitney to 
Alr, David Dorsen of your staff confirming that there- was no 
such fund and that l.lr. Stans had not been made aware of the 
discussions he had with Magruder. 

2. A copy of two affidavits from Larry A. Jobe, 
former Administrative Assistant Secretary of the Department 
of Commerce, indicating that there was no such fund and 
that Mr, Alagruder ha·d been so advised. 

This adverse publicity is very injurious to Mr. 
Stans• reputation and material to his right to a fair trial, 
in the Vesco case in New York., We suggest that this unfair 
and unfo\lllded adverse and damaging publicity be corrected 
to the extent possible, as is usually done in a libel case 1 
by publication of equal prominence. 

"Accordingly, as part of your hearing; on beh;ilf 
of l.!r. Stans, I respectfully request that this letter and 
the co1nmunications referred to above be read into the record 
of your hearings .over nationwide television. This might be. 
done by either (1) myself as counsel for Mr, Stans, or 
(2) the Chai1"Inan, a Committee member or one of its Staff, 

We strongly urge that thls be done at the outset 
of your hearings when they resume. next week, so that there 
be as little time as possible between the unfair and in
jurious suggestions that such a political fund existed and 
this clarifying statement to the contrary, . 

\Ve shall be pleased to discuss this matter with 
you and to cooperate in any way possible to cleai· up this· 
unfortunai;e situation. · · 

Sincerer9"urs, ; 

W.IPON, CMG~·,·-. ARKER 

_£/].? /, I . ),,., , 
/,.1"",:.·U·v'trW/ '=-.;r.A/v/u.._. 
VBY: "i!ober~ W, arker . 

Enclosures 



Hr. David Dorsen 
Assistant Counsel 
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Richard P. Whitney 
21 West Kirke Street 
Chevy Chase, }laryland' · 20015 
June 25, 19n 

Senate Col11l)littee on Presidential Activities 
U. S. Senate 
Washington, D, C, 

Dear Mr. Dorsen: 

Al'though it has been several weeks since I met with you, I did 
. want to confirm in writfng a few of the points·we covered in our 

con~vc1·sation.· Specifically, those points which pertained to the 
July 28, 1971 memorandum from Mr. Magruder to John Mitchell indi
cating the existence of a $1,000,000 political fund in the Depart
ment of Connnerce, 

The memorandum contained three paragraphs. The first paragraph 
indicated that I was the Special Political Assistant to the Secretary. 
In point of fact, I was Executive Assistant to the Secretary and my 
duties were va.ried. · 

'fue second paragraph oi the memorandum indicated that a 
$1,000,000 fund existed in the Department of Commerce for political 
purposes. As I told you, no such fund ever existed or was contem• 
plated. 

The third paragraph implied that Mr. Stans knew about this fund 
and would help other departments to set up their own fund, As no 
such fund existed, I do not know how Secretary ·scans could possibly 
have known about it. I certainly never discussed any such idea with 
Mr. Stans, 

Very truly yours, 

Richard P. Whitney 

RPW:jg 

cc: Mr. Robert W. Barker 



2960 

June 1.8, 1973 

Senator Samuel J, Ervin, Jr. 
Chairman 
Senate Select Committee on Presidential 

Election Activities 
Washington, D.C. 

Dear Mr. Chairm~n: 

My name is Larry A. Jobe and I presently· 
reside at 6247 DeLoache, Dallas, Texas. At this 
time, I am Managing Partner of the Dallas office 
of Alexander Grant & Company, Certified Public Accoun
tants, 

From March 1969 until June .1972, I served 
as Assistant Secretary for Administration in the 
Department of Commerce. In that capacity I had 
responsibility for budget matters for the Department, 
amon~ other functions. 

During the testimony of Secretary Stans on 
Tuesday, June 12, 1973, a memorandum was introduced 
into the record. Secretary Stans was qu~stioned about 
this particular memo and asked whether he knew any-
thing about it, · 

I looked at the replay of this testimony on 
the evening of June 12, 1973. The memo, which was 
read and introduced into the record, was from Jeb 

· Stuart Magruder to John N. Mitchell. This memo, dated . 
July 28, 1971, indicated that Dick Whitney, then Executive 
Assistant to Secretary Stans, had informed Magruder that 
Secretary Stans had at his disposal a discretionary fund 
of approximately Sl million within the Department of 
Commerce. The memo stated that this fund was available 
for use for certain activities which would be helpful 
to the reelection of the President. The memo went on 
to .ask Mitchell whether Secretary Stans should talk 

· with other cabinet officers to assist them in setting 
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. ~1·111 
·up such a fund. At the bottom of the memo, . ...-there was .. 
_a place for Approved, Disapproved or Cbmment. 

I immediately recalled se_e{rig,.this memorand~m 
at the time I was Assistant Secre.tary of Com."'llerce for 
'Adiainistration. Sometime -·o /to i\!r. Whitney's leaving 
the Departiaent in August 1973 t!r. Whitney came into my 
office with the above memor- ndum. 

At that time, I took a great deal of time and 
effort to describe to 1ir. Whitney the various funds which 
we did have available to the Department of Conunerce. I 
told him that we had no funds that could be used for 
political purpo~es. I stated that we were totally con
strained.to use our funds only for those purposes for 
which they had been appropriated by the Congress. Mr. 
Whitney understood this .fully and agreed with this con-
clusion. · 

As I recall, Mr. WM.tney, at this time, requested 
that I then meet with ll!r. 11agruder in order to clarify the 
matter. Subsequently, I did meet with Mr .. 1Iagruder and had 
the si11;ilar discussion with him that I had with Mr. Whitney. 

Mr. ll!agruder did not suggest any further course 
of action. I never heard more of the matter and dismissed 
it from my mind. 

So far .as I am aware, Mr. Stans had never seen 
that memorandum. I never showed it to him. I never 
mentioned the fact that I had seen such a memo. 

The memorandum w·as not brought to Secretary 
Stans' attention because I did not think it necessary 

· to bother him with it. In my mind the matter was properly 
disposed of. 

-· 

In 1971 we did establish a Secretarys' Reserve 
for departmental purposes. As I recall; the reserve was 
set at 1% of the general and administration expenses with-
in the Department. The Secretary had the authority to 
designate the use- of these funds; but for Department a). 
purposes only. I was given the responsibility to administer 
this fund working with the heads of the bureaus and agencies 
involved and the Secretary. As I recall, we did do a number 
of studies with these monies. Funded by this means were 
such projects as a multinational economic study, an analyses 
of the machine tool industry, experimental technology studies 
and establishment of a Patent Office production control 
system.. Much of it was used by Secretary ~tans' successor 
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after he had left the Department. 

. A study describing this fund and reconunending 
its institution was prepared by my staff, competent 
career civil servants. The details of all projects in 

. this fund were handled for me through the Office of !3udget 
and Program Analysis, in the Department. This unit also 

· monitored these projects. 

I presume that this is the fund which was 
misconstrued in conversations between 11lagruder and .l't'hitney. 
I would be pleased to answer any further questions which 
your Committee or its staff m·ay have regarding this matter. 

·· Sincerely yours, 

LAJobe r 
cc: Maurice H. Stans 

Sworn and subscribed to June, 1973. 
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June 29, 1973 

Mr, David Dorson, Assistant Chief Counsel 
·senate Select Committee on Presidential 

Election Activities 
i418 New Senate Office Building 
Washington, D.C. ·· 20510 

Dear Mr •. Dors3n: 

On June 18, 1973, I sent a statement to the 
Committee regarding a matter which it is presently 
investigating. My letter related to a memorandum from 
Jeb Stuart Magruder to John N. Mitchell suggesting that 
Secretary Stans had at his disposal a discretionary fund 
of approximately $1 million within the Department of 
Commerce, My letter of that date fully describes my 
recollection of events surrounding that memorandum as 
I remembered them at that time. 

Since that time, additional information regarding 
this matter has come to my attention and I would like to 
amend my statement to include this information. 

On the second page of my letter to the memorandum 
in the fifth paragraph, I stated that: "So far as I am 
aware, Mr. Stans had never seen that memorandum. I never 
showed it to him. I never mentioned the fact that I had 
seen such a memo." I now find that I had brought this 
matter to his attention, through a memo of my own, dated 
January 19, 1972. The purpose of this state~ent is to 
correct any misleading implication which I may have made 
in my prior letter. 

On Tuesday, June 26, 1973, I received a call from 
!,Ir. Robert Barker, attorney for Maurice IL Stans. Mr. Barker 
informed me that Arden Chambers, Mr. Stans' secretary, had 
been to Minnesota to review certain of his files in connection 

, with another matter·. He explained that in that revie,v she, 
coincidentally, found a memo which I had written to Secretary 
:;,tans which relates directly to the subject· matter of the 
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. Magruder-Mitchell memo. lllr. Barker .stated that. Mr. Stans 
had' also forgotten about the memo I had written and was 
totally unaware of its existence. He read this memorandum 
to me over the phone. I recalled writing the memo and 
receiving an answer written on the face of the· memorandum 
from 11r. Stans, I am attaching a copy of that memorandum 
for the Committee's information. 

This memorandum was· written to Secretary Stans 
on January 19, 1972. I receive.d his reply.on January_26, 
1972. It is significant to note that Secretary Stans had 
already submitted his resignation to the President at that 
time and that he actually left the Department a few days 
after his reply _to me. · 

At this time I cannot explain the reasons for 
the time lapse between the writing of the original memora·ndum 
on July 28, 1971 and my memo to Secretary Stans of January 19, 
1972. 

App·arently· I wrote this memorandum because I 
· felt I had a responsibility to follow-up for Mr. Magruder 
after I had my meeting with him. To follow-up, I wrote 
this particular memorandum. 

As far as I rememb.er, after receiving Secretary 
Stans' reply, I. never discussed the matter with lllr. Magruder 
or others thereafter. I do not recall ever discussing Secretary 
Stans' reply with him. I forgot about the memo after receiving 
his reply and, apparently, let the matte~ drop. 

Again, I think it is important to·point out that 
the one percent Secretary's reserve we had established has 
been misconstrued. This fund was never used for anything 
except activities related to the Department of Commerce and 
for projects consistent with the manner in which Congress 
had appropriated the funds. · 

I have discussed this matter with Messrs. Gray 
and Reissler of the Federal Bureau of Investigation in 
Dallas·. In addition, I have discussed this matter with 
two members of the Select Committee Staff.,. 11r. ll'ayne Bishop 
and l\lr. 11ichael Herschman. 

Coincidentally, the date on the second page 
· of my prior statement referring to l\lr. \Vhi tney' s leaving 
the Department of Commerce should have been August 1971, 
not August 1973. 



2965 

Should you have any further questions regarding 
this matter, please let, me know. · 

LAJobe 
bk 

· · cc: ?,Ir. Robert Barker 

Sworn and subscribed to this 29th day of June, 1973. 
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..... 
.l(Janu~r'y 19, 1972 

Secretary Stans 

Several months ago, Dick Whitney discussed with Chet 
·Magruder the fact that the Secretary of Commerce had 
established a "discretionary fund." Dick indicated that 
such funding availabre to a Cabinet Officer could be 

·very helpful.during the course of the campaign. I 
prestm1e Dick was talking about the 1 per cent reserve 
of S&E which we had each agency estab~ish. 

Apparen·tly, Dick volunteered your services to brief oth~r 
Secretaries so that they would have similar flexibility .' 
to respond to key initiatives and programs during the 
election year. Based on this conversation, Magruder sent 
a memorandum to the Attorney General, who approved your 
proceeding to brief other Cabinet.Officer& on the establish
ment of sucl:i a fund. · · 

The -Committee for the ··Reelection of the President is now 
wondering about the status of this effort. I have two 
questions: 

l. Were you aware of such a commitment 
on your part? 

2. If so, the Committee is interested in 
knowing the status of ·your conversations 
with other Cabinet Officers·. · 

I will be happy to do anything further in this matter that 
you desire. 

h 
Larr~ pC. Jobe 

CONFIDENTIAL 
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AFFIDAVIT of JOSEPH .E, CASSON 

CITY OF WASHINGTON 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
ss. 

Joseph E. Casson, being duly sworn, deposes and says as 

follows: . 

1, I am a member of the Bar of the District of Columbia 

and I am currently engaged in the private practice of law, 

z. From approximately March of 1971 until approximately 

February of 1972 I served in various adzninistrative capacities as 

Assistant and Executive Assistant to Secretary of Commerce 

l\1aurice H, Stans, 

3. During the late Summer and/or ~arly Fall of 1971, I 

received at least two phone calls from individuals at the White 

House asking me to provide information on an alleged "fund" at 

Commerce which was to be used for political purposes, In each 

instance the caller indicated that Mr, Magruder's office wished 

information on the fund for application to other Departments and 
I 

Agencies, My recollection as to the callers· is unclear, but orie 

of the caners may have been a Mr. Porter, 

4. In each instance I informed the caller that no such 

"fund" existed or was contemplated and that his information in 

this regard was incorrect and unfounded, I further explained 

that while certain general purpose monies were included in the 

Co111111,11•co lmclgot, thoy could only be used for Commerce related 
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activities and not for political purposes, I further advised each 

caller that I could ·not envision the practicality 0£ establishing 

budgeted general purpose monies in other Departments where 

they did not already exist. 

5, After receiving each of these calls, I informed Assis-

tant Secretary of Commerce for Administration Lawrence Jobe of 

their occurrence and indicated my feeling that someone in the 

Department's Administrative section should undertake to clear up 

these misconceptions concerning the Department's budgeted £unds, 

At some point during this period he assured me that he intended 

to have a meeting with Mr, Jeb Magruder in order to put a stop 

to the matter, It is my recollection that I was advised that such 

a meeting was held, Thereafter, to my recollection, my office 

received no further inquiries on this matter,, 

6, I never informed Secretary Stans of these events at 

any time prior to June 1973 because I believed that the matter had 

been satisfactorily terminated and also because it became apparent 

to me that the initial misconception arose out of ;m inopportune 

conversation by Mr. Richard Whitney, my co-worker, and I saw 

no purpose in aggravating his embarrassment, 

7. The information herein is based solely on my· personal 

,~.u., ••• ., ..... ""''"· C ~,..__ 
c}¥..phE.Cuoon . 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 
~his.~"'1ta.'y of July 1973. 

· .::· · •. , •• ., t .· /:::/: . '.ft~ .. :?:--~ -.. o 
..... : :·· 

0 Nnl,;,:y '1\a1·,,1;:··-=-/;~)~: 
\,\.1y commission expircs:ry£ 

District ot ColumbJq ··-···---· - 2 -
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St:i.temant for the Record. 

~!r. Chairman, I would 1 ike to make a correcting 

statement for the record. It deals with the testimony of 

l,lr. Maurice H. Stans when he appeared before the coJlllllittee 

on June 12, At that time he was asked to identify a memorandum 

dated July 28, 1971 from Jeb S. Magruder to the Attorney General 

concerning.an alleged $1 million fund available in the Department 

of Commerce for political purposes in 1971. The memo suggested 

that Secretary Stans discuss with other cabinet officers the 

development of such a fund in their departments. At the hearing 

on June 12 Mr. Stans denied any knowledge of the memorandum and 

testified that there was in fact no such_political fund in the 

Department of Commerce. Later when Mr. Magruder was before this 

committee he acknowledged that he had written the memorandum. 

When Mr. Stans and Mr. Magruder were interrogated about 

the memorandum it had just come to the attention of the staff. 

Time had not permitted the verification of the facts alleged in 

the memorandum. Since that time, however, the staff has be.en 

able to investigate the matter further. Its representatives have 

talked with Mr. Richard Whitney, former Executive Assistant to 

Mr. Stans, who is mentiqned in that memorandum, and with Mr. 

Larry A. Jobe, former Assistant Secretary of Conunerce for 

Administration, who had supervision over budgets and funds at 

the time. We have received a letter from Mr. Whitney and two 

affidavits from Mr. Jobe. At this point I ask that the letter 

and the two affidavits be made part of the record. 
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Both 1Ir. Whitney and Mr. Jobe have made clear that 

there was in fact no such political fund in the Department of 

Col1llllerce. They also make clear that Mr, Magruder's memorandum 

was not brought to i\Ir. Stans attention; that I.Ir. lllagruder was 

advise'd that i:here was no fun'd in the Department of Commerce 

which could have b2en used for political purposes. While there 

were discreati::>nary funds in the Departme?t for authorized gov

ernmental purposes, they could not be used in the manner suggested 

by Mr, Magruder. Further, Mr. Whitney and Mr. Jobe make clear 

that the subject of the Magruder memorandum was never brought 

to Mr. Stans attention until a few days before he left the 

Department of Commerce . 

.Mr. Chairman, in fairness to Mr. Stans and in the 

interest of accuracy, the record should re~lect that the committee 

now is satisfied from the evidence presently available to us that: 

1 .• Mr. Stans did not see the Magruder memorandum 

until it was shown to him at the hearing on June 12. 

2. The Magruder memorandum was never.discussed with 

Mr. Stans by Mr. Whitney. 

3, Mr. Magruder was advised by Assistant Secretary 

Jobe that there was no fund for political purposes in the Department 

of Commerce. 

4. Mr. Stans was not informed of the subject raised by 

the Magruder memorandum until six months later, a f.ew days before 

he left tho department and took no action of the kind requested 

in the memorandum 

5. No funds of tho Department of Commerce wore used for 
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activities and not for political purposes. I further advised each 

caller that I could not envision the pr«cticality of establishing 

budgeted general purpose monies in other Departments where 

they did not already exist, 

5, After receiving each of these calls, I informed Assis-

. tant Secretary of Commerce for Administration Lawrence Jobe of 
" 

their occur;ence and indicated my feeling that someone in the 

Department's Administrative section should undertake to clear up 

these misconceptions concerning the Department's budgeted_ funds, 

At some point during this period he assured me that he inte~ded 

to have a meeting with Mr, Jeb Magruder in order to put a stop 

to the matter, It is my recollection that I was advised that such 

a meeting was held, Thereafter, to my recollection, my office· 

received no further inquiries on this matter •. 

·6, I never informed Secretary Stans of these events at 

_any ~ime prior to June 1973 because I believed that the matter had 

been satisfactorily terminated and also because it became apparent 

to me that the initial misconception arose out of. an inopportune 

conversation by Mr, Richard Whitney, my co-worker, and I saw 

no purpose in aggravating his embarrassment. 

7.. The information herein is based solely on my personal 

. recollection of these events, 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 
thi&,{1_"'1tay of July 1973. 

.. ..,, . _,,.7.,, ~·, .,( 
..... ', ,, ·., /t.· ./ ... .,.:~.,::.·. ~~/,:.,\·, ..... f',··:,,.,,_.~ 'i 

.• ·-: _: •... ""' ,; ,:y ··,,.,,,' ,;,· 10tf ,.__., 
~{y commission expires: : '.ft ;j>' 

District ot.~~I~~-
- 2 -

Casson 
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CABLE AOORE':r'>.$ 

"WILCBAR" 

August 3, 1973 

ROSEL H. HYDE 
DONALD C, GORMLEY 
HEROfRT F. DcSIMONE~ 

Gaun.wl 

R. ANTHONY ROG E.RS 
PATRICIA L. BROWN 
WILLIAM R. LOFTUS 
STEPHEN R. BELL 
THOMAS J. BACAS 
FOSTER DEREITZES 
ALAN I. RUBINSTEIN 
.JOHN M. FACCIOLA • 
PHILIP A. NACKE:. 
H. MICHAEL SEMLER 
THOMAS E:,WILSON 

HAND CARRIED 
Honorable Howard H. Baker, Jr. 
Vice Chairman, Senate Select CommHtee on 

Presidential Election Campaign Activities 
Room 3311 
New Senate Office Building 
Washington, D.C. 

Dear Senator Baker: 

In accordance with my telephone conversation 
with Don Sanders of the Committee staff, I forward 
herewith a copy of a letter addressed by this firm to 
Chairman· Ervin on July 3, 1973, which we asked to be 
included as part of the official record of the hearing 
under S. Res. 60. 

We are anxious that this letter be made part 
of the record, but we have had no acknowledgement and 
no indication whether such would be the case. 

Enclosure 

cc: Sam Dash, Esquire (w/enclosure) 
Fred Thompson, Esquire (w/enclosure) 
Don Sanders, Esquire (w/enclosure) 
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July 3, 1973 

The Honorable Sam J. Ervin 
Chairman, Senate Select Committee on 

Presidential Election Campaign Activities 
United States Senate 
Room G-308, Senate Office Building 
Washington, D. c. 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

On behalf of the Honorable Maurice H. Stans I write 
this letter for the record of your proceedings to clarify 
certain impressions which may have erroneously been given to 
your Committee during the testimony of Mr. McCord. · 

Enclosed are pages 429 and 430 of Mr. McCord's 
testimony relating to intelligence material. At page 430, 
Mr. McCord indicates that this material was passed on to 
certain senior staff members, including Mr. Sloan, who passed 
it to Mr. Stans. 

On behalf of Mr. Stans, I wish to advise you for 
the record that neither Mr. Stans, nor his secretary, have 
ever received any such intelligence reports. I have also 
checked through Mr. Sloan's lawyer, Mr. James Stoner, and 
learn that Mr. Sloan had never received such reports for Mr. 
Stans. 

We would appreciate your including this letter as 
part of the record so this matter may be clarified. 

cc: Hon. Maurice H. Stans 
James R. Stoner, Esq. 

Enc. 

Sincerely yours, 

WILKINSON, CRAGUN & BARKER 

By: Robert w. Barker 
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what did you do with it? 

Mr. &"Cord. If it were of suff:i.cient o::o:'.ls<a1.quen;::e, I would 

who would normally want to lo:10.\1 of fo:r:thcc-mi:nq- dem,:,m,tratiom;; 

Senator Weicker. Why did y<m. feel this ,;.,s - .. now• you 

would pass this on t:o Mr. Mitchell at the Cor,l!nH:te0 t:o Re-

Senator Weicker. 

included Mr. Sloan, who passed it to Mr. .St.,;ms, included Mr. 

Liddy, incl\'tded Mr. Odle, included. the pro!ipei:::t:l.va officers 

for Mr. Mitchell•s w.:i.fe, Ml.""S. Mit.cr~ell, an<l t,,;o o:c t:h:~:ee other 

division ehiefs there under Mr. Mitchell. 

Senator Weicker. And this~st on 

Mr. McCord. Yea, s:i.~ 

senator Weicker. And this is material 
• 

self received and you yourself distrihated? 

Mr. McCord. Yes, sir. 

a <iaily basis? 

which you your-

Senator Weicker. Well, Mr. Chairman,! have a lot of 



2977 

other q,:.ieat:.l.o:ms, but. ! am afraid I E.m going to have -to di

gress that one for a few mi21,1.,tes 1u1t'l. I would :U.ke to defq,r to 

you to hav~ other questioni:11g t.a.'<;e pla~,. I would hope that 

there will be an opp,:,rtun:i.ty to proe:esd to :f.urt:.her q1.iestioning 

on thi!1. 

Whe !Chai:1JW.n. I might Bt&te .that Senatox Inouye hae to 

go at f:ou:i:>O'cl.ock av.d. lt. might be advisable fo'JI: -:;.s to rsi!cesz 

at four and l~t 't-b$ witne~s come baok o~ Tue~day. 

S~nator Weick.er. ! beg Senatore ~!c:m.toy.?:s parcll,o,'!. and 

t.'i~ ,... you, Senator. 

Senator Montoya. '!'hank you, Ur. Cha:i.man. 

Mr. McCord, going back to the t:lme that yot, were h:b:ed, 

I would like to ask you if you had a personal acquaintan~ with 

the Pres.i(lent? 

~ir. McCord. Nov sir. 

Senator Montoyi!l. Bad you worked with him in any capacity~' 

Either while he waa Vice President or before? 

Mr.McCord. No, sir. 

Senator Montoya. Had you done any work in his behalf · while 

you were working for the CIA? 

Mr .Nceord. I was a staff member of the CIA while he WAI!' 

Viec President. He may have h~d access to material or reports 

which I wrote. 

Senaj!Or Monto".{a. 

these same times? 

Did you ever ~peak to him during 
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EXHIBIT NO. 105 

. S5911 

PRACTICE BY· EXECUTIVE BRANCH 
OF EXAMINING INDIVIDUAL TAX 
RETURNS 

sonal staff to confidential tax returns of 80 
million Americans," O'Brien said. 

"If this action is not taken voluntarily," 
O'Brien added, "we a.re prepared to initiate 
legal action that will end this practice." 

O'Brien's sta.temen,t was based on a leg,a.l 
opinion signed by Mortimer M. Capiin and 
Sheldon S. Cohen, former commisslonel"S of 

Mr. wn.LIAMS of Delaware. Mr. Pres- tlhe Internal Revenue Service, and Mitchell 
ident, I wish to discuss a matter which , Rogovin, former Assistant Attorney General 
has been raised in the press and the fot Tax Division and former Chief Counsel 
Halls of Congress in the past few days, Internal Revenue Service. · 
and on which there appears to have been · The full text of the legal opinion sub
a certain element of misunderstanding. mitted by Caplin, Cohen, and Rogovin to 

O'Brien is attached. 
I shall, to the best of my ability, review "I asked for, this opinion upon learning 
it from the beginning to show how the of the Internal Revenue Service's practice 
practice -Of examining tax returns by the of turning over confidential income tax re
executive branch has · been conducted turns to Clark Mollenhoff, special counsel to 
during the preceding administrations as the President. on a 'need-to-know' basis " 
well as the manner in which it is being O'Brien said. "The views of these reoogntzed 
conducted under this administration. tax experts leave little doubt as to the llle-

gality of the procedures which now a.re being 
This statement is going to be ·made as followed." 

nearly as possible without trying to pro- ··rt is particularly troublesome to learn ot 
ject the argument into the political this practice when so many millions of Amer
arena. I think such- projections are most leans are ait this moment poring over their . 
unfortunate on a question which is so individual income tax returns and a.re can
vital to so many people. But now that it dldly disclosing personal information of the 
has been projected on a false _basis be- utmost sensitivity," O'Brien said. 

"Only immediate action by President fore the public I think it should be clari- Nixon to stop these mega.I procedures will 
fled. That is the reason I ask the Senate restore the American people's confidence 1n 
to bear with me for just a short period the Internal Revenue Service, as well as dem
o! time, during which time I shall review onstrate the willlngness of the Nixon Admin
the procedure followed by the executive lstratton to obey federal law and regulations 
branch during the present as well as the in the conduct or its own affairs," O'Brien 
past two administrations. concluded. 

This argument started on April 12, :I. repeat one quotation of Lawrence 
1970,. and I am going to read the press O'Brien's release: 
release as it was then given by Mr. "I ca.ll upon President Nixon to terminate 
O'Brien. The press release, dated Wash- immediately this 1llegal aocesa or h1s per
ington, D.C., April 11, 1970, reads: sonal staff to confidential tax returns of ao 
O'BRIEN CHARGES VIOLATION OF FEDERAL 'lAw million Americans," O'Brien said. 

BY NIXON .ADMINISTRATION IN MoLLENHOFF "If this action ls not ta.ken voluntarlly " 
ACCESS TO INCOME TAX RETuRNS O'Brien a.<lded, "we a.re prepared to initiate 

legal action that will end this practice." 
WASHINGTON, D,C., April 11, 1970.-Law- O'Brien's statement was based on a legal 

rence F. O'Brien, Ohatrman of the Demo- opinion signed by Mortimer M. Caplin and 
era.tic National Committee, 

1 
today charged Sheldon S. Cohen, -former commissioners ot 

that the Ni¥0Il Administration's practice of 11he Internal Revenue Service and Mitchell 
turning over confidential federal income tax Rogovin, former Assistant Attorney General 
returns to a White House aide violates fed- for Tax Division and former Chief Counsel, 
eral law and Treasury regulations governing Internal Revenue Service 
the conflden:tiality of tax returns. · 

"Federal law and regulations protect the · I now read the letter which was at
individual taxpayer's ri~t- to i:>rivacy and , tached to Mr. O'Brien's April 11 state
such indiscriminaite access by a political op- ment. The letter is dated April 9 1970. 
:f:!1v!r ~h!~;::g!~US::r ~:!~ vi~\~: It, ~ address~ to Mr. Lawre~ce ~-
zens " O'Brien said. 0 Brien, the chru.rman of the Democratic 

"I' call upon President Nixon to terminate National Committee, 2600 Virginia 
immediately this illegal access of his per- Avenue NW., here in Washington: 
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APRn. 9, 1970. 
Mr. LAWRENCE F. O'BRmN, 
Chairman, Democratic National Committee, 

Washington, D.C. 
DEAR MR. O'BRmN: It has been reported 

that an aide to the President currently has 
access to federal Income tax returns upon his 
written request. You have asked for a legal 
opinion on whether this reported arrange
ment with the Internal Revenue Service com
ports with existing law and regulations. It 
is our legal opinion that such access is not 
in conformity with existing law and regU
latlons relating to disclosures of tax returns. 

Section 6103 of the Internal Revenue Code 
sets up the statutory procedures necessary to 
insure that tax returns and the confidential 
inform.ation appearing thereon are not made 
available to people who have no legitimate 
interest in the return. First enacted in 1910, 
this central provision of our present law pro
vides that returns will be open for inspection 
"only upon order of the President and under 
rules and regulations prescribed by the Sec
i·etary or his delegate and approved by the 
President." The inviolate nature of tax in .. 
formation is fundamental to our tax sys
tem, not only in the name of privacy, but 
also to insure increased and more accurate 
taxpayer compliance. As to the latter, more 
accurate reporting on income tax retµrns ap
pears to bear a close relationsihip to the de
gree of confidence in which the information 
is held by the Internal Revenue Service. 

The regulations promulgated under section 
6103 provides in debail, the ma.nner and cir
cumstances under W'hich tax returns may be 
legally inspected by the public, state tax offi
cials, Treasury officials, Executive Depe.rtment 
officials, U.S. Attorneys and Departmenrt of 
Justice attorneys, Executive Branch agencies, 
and Cnogress1onal Committees. Specific re
quirements for inspection of federal income 
tax returns have been prescribed in the regu
lations to intentionally make it burdensome 
to secure inspection of such returns. This is 
in orde:r to maintain the confidentiality of 
such returns except in unusual c:lrcum
stanoes, melding the legitimate needs of gov
ernment with the right to privacy of the 
individual. For exa.mple, with respect to in
spection of returns by executive departments' 
officials orther than the Treasury Department, 
the request must be in writing, it must be 
made by the head of the Agency requesting 
the opportunity to inspect the return, the 
request must relate to a matter offic1ally be
fore the Agency head, it must specify the tax
payer's name and address, the kind of .tax 
reported, the taxable period covered, the rea
son why inspection is requested, and the 
name and official designation of the person 
by whom inspection is to be ·made. · 

The federal official in the news report is 
· Special Counsel to the President and as sucih, 
he is an employee of the Executive Office of 
the President. Reg. Sec. 301.6103(a)-l(f) cov
ers access to tax returns by such an employee. 

Under this regulation, the President would 
be the only Executive Branch official with 
1ftl.e authority to request the Commissioner to 
make tax returns available to employees of 
the Executive Office of the President. Such a 
Presidential request would presumably have 
to comply with the various requirements of 
the regula.tions detil.iled a.bove. 

It has been suggested that sinoe the em
ployee in question aom a.s agent for the 
President in matters of investigation, no 
written request by the Prellident is required. 
We are unaware of any theory of law wh.tcih 
WOUid support such an argument. Indeed, 
this type ol a.rgwnent has been speeci11.cally 
rejected by the very language of the regula
tion. 

S5912 
The -crl.min.a.l sa.ncrtion relating to the dis

closure of conf!.dential tax information :Is 
found in secrtl.on 7213 Q! the Oode. It makes 
it a misdemeanor for any federal employee 1io 
divulge tax infomia.tion except as provided 
by law. 

If tax returns are made available in a man
ner not in conforni.ity with section 6103 of 
the Code and the regulatiOIDB, it would appee.r 
that such divulgence of tax information is 
not as provided by law. 

A copy of section 6103 and the pertinent 
regulations ue attached for your conven
ience. 

Sincerely, 
MORTIMER M. CAPLIN, 
SHELDON S. COHEN. 
MITCHELL ROGOVIN. 

As I mentioned earlier, Mr. Caplin was 
the Commissioner of Internal Revenue 
under the Kennedy administration; Mr. 
Cohen was the Commissioner of Internal 
Revenue under the Johnson administra
tion; and Mr: Rogovin was an employee, 
first in Treasury and then in Justice, 
under both administrations. 

When this dr0matic statement was 
made by Mr. O'Brien there was under
standably a lot of concern expressed by 
members of the press, by Members of 
Congress, and by millions, I daresay, of 
American citizens as to what was hap
pening here in Washingt9n and whether 
the Internal Revenue Service was being 
turned into a Gestapo, as the allegation -
of the chairman of the Democratic Na
tional Committee would indicate. 

The chairman of the Joint Committee 
on Taxation, the Senator from Louisiana 
(Mr. LoNG), called the Joint Committee 
on Ta.xa tlon together to explore these 
charges, and we asked Commissioner 
Thrower to appear beforil our commit
tee. 
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This meeting was at 3 o'clock on TUes
day of this week. Having read this state
ment I felt we should go .beyond and see 
wlult the precedents were. So I directed 
this wire early on Monday morning, 
April 13, to the Honorable Ralph W. 
Thrower, the Commissioner of Internal 
Revenue, Department of the Treasury, 
1n Washington: 

. In connection· with your meeting tomor
row with the Joint Committee will you 
please have available lnformation regarding 
the number of times tax returns were re
quested by the Executive Branch during each 
of the acinl1nbltrations since 1960. s~. 
John J. Williams, senator from Delaware. 

Later I supplemented thllt and asked 
that he furnish the various regulations 
or l'Qles which were discussed in the. 
committee. 

Commissioner Thrower has furnished 
and I received these yesterday-a series 
of the regulations which have governed 
the executive branch on the handling of 
these tax returns over the years begin
ning with the Kennedy administration. 

I might say first, however, before go
ing to that that I asked the staff of the 
Joint committee, under the direction of 
Larry Woodworth, with whom all of us 
are acquainted, to prepare a memoran
dum as to the various branches of Gov
ernment to whom tax returns are avail
able and the manners in which the re-· 
turns could be examined. I shall read his 
memorandum first. This · is entitled, 
"Provisions of the Statute and Regula
tions Relative to Publicity_of Income Tax 
Returns',: · 

STATUTORY PROVISIONS ON PUBLICITY 

Tbe OOde provides (section lllOS(a)) _ that 
pn.era.lly tncome tax returns are to be open 
to inspection only upon order of the Presi
dent under rules and regulations prescribed 
by the Secretary of the Treasury or his dele
gate and approved by the President. 

Four exceptions are made to the above lim
itation as to the publicity of returns. Income 
tax returns may be made available to: 

(1) State income tax officials for the pur
pose of administering the State income tax 
law or to obtain information to be furnished 
local taxtng authorities. The inspection may 
be made only upon request of the governor 
and only for State tax administration or, 
upon his request, can be made avallble to 
local tax adJ]l!nistrators. · 

(2) In the case of corporate income tax 
returns, to shareholders having an interest 
-of 1 percent or more. __ 

(3). The Committee on Ways and Means,. 
the senate Finance Committee, the Joint 

Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation, 
and any select committee authorized to in• 
vestigate tax returns, and 

(4) · The persons who flied the returns. 

He then lists the various regulations 
regarding disclosure, and I ask unani
mous consent that all of these regula
tions be printed in the RECORD at this 
point. 

There being no objection, the regula
tions were ordered t<> be printed in the 
RECORD, as follows: 

REGULATl'ONS 

The existing regulations (Reg. I 301.6103 
(a)-l(f)) contain a general authority re~ 
gardtng inspection of returns by the execu
tive departments. They specify that 1f the 
head of an executive department (other than 
the Treasury) or any other establishment of 
the Federal Government destres to inspect, 
or have an employee of his inspect, an In• 
come tarreturn he may do so If: 

(1) tt ts In connection with some matter 
oftlclally before him; 

(2) there ls a written appllcation signed 
by the heed of the executive department or 
other Govemment establishment d.e.sl.rlng 
the inspection; and· 

(3) the application states the name of the 
persan tor whom the return was made, the 
1dild of tax, ·the year, the reason why the 
l.nspect1on ts desired, and the name and 
offlcta.l designation of the person by whom 
the inspection is to be made. 

PENALTIES 

If the provisions of the regulations referred 
1,9 above are not fully complied with, Section 
'1213 Oil' the Internal Revenue Qode relating 
to unauthorized disclosure of tnfoirm&tton 
applies. This provides for a ftne of not more 
than •1.000 or imprtsonm.ent for not more 
than 1 year, or both, for improper release of 
infonnatlon on tax returns. Also, 1f the of
fender ts an officer or employee of the United 
States Government the section provides that 
he is to be dismissed from office or discharged 
from employment. 

Mr. Wn.LIAMS of :Delaware. AB I 
stated, I liad asked the Com.missioner to 
go back and outline from the beginning 
Just how this l)roblem had been admin.; 
istered throughout the years by the vari
ous Presidents. 

The first official record was a mem
orandum dated May 23, 1961, addressed 
to .the Honorable Robert H. Knight, the 
General Counsel of the Treasury, and 
the subject Is "Inspection of Returns by 
Congressional Committees." This mem
orandum ls signed by Mortimer Caplin, 
the Comm1ssioner of Internal Revenu.e 
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under the Kennedy anmtntstration and Yes, I am quoting from Mr. Caplin's 
one of the .men who signed the mem- own regulation which was issued under 
ora.ndum which I read earlier and uPon date of May 23, 1961. I would point out 
which Mr. O'Brien based his statement again the significant part of it, that on 
of April 11. , January 26 Mr. Bellino, as President 

I shall put the entire memorandum Kennedy's special consultant, was given 
into the RECORD, but I shall move over to permission to examine any tax return 
page 3 of it first. The first pa.rt of it without any written request. 
relates to the manner in which congre.s- This was 6 days after the administra
sional committees can obtain access to tion took office and this ruling that they 
tax returns; but on page 3, under item c, did not have to have any written request 
Mr.· Caplin outlined the rules under was made by Commissioner Caplin. 
whic_h. a re1;1resentative of the _Kennedy Mr. CURTIS. How many returns did 
admims·trat1on could examine tax, he let Mr. Bellino see? 
returns. 

At this time I am quoting Mr. Caplin,, Mr. ·wn.LIAMS of Delaware. No one 
who was then the Commissioner of Inter- 1, knows. I asked for the number of tax re-
nal Revenue· turns which were requested ~Y each ad-

. ministration. I was advised that there 
c. INSPECTION OF RETURNS AND FILES BY MR. were seven requests under the Nixon ad

ministration signed by Mr. Mollenhoff 
involving nine tax returns. I will later 
outline the procedure fi>llowe(i by the 
Nixon administration, but they were all 
with a written request. 

CARMINE BELLINO 

On January 26 Mr. Bellino, Special Con
sultant to the President. called at my office 
and requested permission to inspect our files 
on -- and others. Although we had no 

, precedent to guide us, we decided that Mr. 
Bellino, in his capacity a.s a representative of 
the President, could inspect our files w!.thout 
a wrttten request. 

I underscore that point-"without a 
written request." 

This -reflect.s the view that Section 6103 
of the C@de specifically provides that returns 
shall be open to inspection upon order of 
the President, and since Mr. Bellino's official 
capacity constitutes him the representative 
of the President, the action taken is regarded 
as conforming to law. Based on this decision, 
we permitted Mr. Bellino to inspect the files 
relating to--. Since that time we have 
also permitted him to inspect tax returns 
and related documents pertaining to other 
persons. 
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The commissioner was asked how 

many returns had. been inspected by the 
previous administration so that we could 
get a comparison, and they said that 
since there were no written requests ap
parently no records were kept or-if 
there were they cannot be found-they 
were unable to answer. However, the 
Commissioner did say that their records 
show that Mr. Bellino was in the Treas
ury Department examining the tax re
turns of various individuals and the lan
guage · he used was ''days on end." 
There must have been a very large num'
ber involved. 

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. President, will the I will continue quoting from Mr. Cap-
Senator yield for a question? lin's May 23, 1961, ruling relating to this 

Mr. wn.LIAMS of Delaware. I yield. subject: 
Mr. CURTIS. Whom is the Senator Further, in a letter dated January 26, and 

quoting? received January 30, Attorney General Ro-
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I am bert F. Kennedy asked that Mr. Belllno be 

· . permitted to review .all files, records, and 
q:u,oting Mortimer Caplin, the Comnus- , documents requested by him 1n order· to co
s10ner of Internal Revenue under the · ordinate the investigation of certain indi
Kennedy administration and the same viduals being conducted by the Internal 
man who signed the letter to Larry , Revenue Service, . the Justice Department 
O'Brien saying that it was a violation and other Government agencies. Permission 
of the law for anybody in the executive was granted for Mr. Belllno to inspect sucb 
branch to examine these returns except files in a letter dated February 1, 1961. 
by written request Additionally, Senator John L. McClel1$1, 

• in a letter dated March 24, designated Mr. 
It is fantastic how some of these bu- Belllno as a staff member of the Senate Per

reaucrats can change positions after they manent Subcommittee on Investigations, a_ 
leave office. subcommittee of the· Committee on Govern-, 
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ment Operations, authorized to inspect re
tlP"llS pursuant to Executive Order 10916. 
As such, he ls authortzed to inspect those 
docuents made available to the Subcommit
tee under requests made pursuant to thls 
Order. . 

In the interest ot providing a .more de
tailed statement there ls attached a Techni
cal Memorandum prepared in the office ·ot 
the Chief Counsel, which sets forth the hls
torieal background of'(l) the requirement of 
a committee resolution, and (2) the execu
tive policy against supplying photocopies of 
returns to Congressional Committees. It you 
should desire additional information please 
let me know. 

Following through on our recent lunch~ 
conversation, I have been thinking a.bout 
ways that we can meet those situations in 
which you may want to inspect tax returns 
Oil' other Internal Revenue Service flles while 
at the same time carrying out our responsi
bilities under the disclosure statutes. 

As you know, the ~ic rules governing 
dlsclosure of tax return information are set 
forth in 26 u.s.c. 6103 et seq., and the penalty 
provisions themselves are in 26 U.S.C. 7213 
and 18 U.S. 1905 

I would suggest that every time you have 
occasion to inspect a tax return, applioo.tion 
f<lll' exem.ptlon, or atber Internal Revenue file, 
you send me a memorandum briefly .setting 
forth the nature ot the request. Naturally, 

- we will infer in every ease that the request 
· Signed, "Mortimer Caplin, Commis- ls either at the dlrectlon of, or in the llllter
sioner of Internal Revenue.''. est of, the President. I have taken the lib-

I move now to-the next letter we have, erty of drafting a suggested tormat that 
sh n..t~N h th · ni t t1 you may wish t.o consider. If you waJJJt to 

o .... "6 ·• ow e Nixon admi s ra on - look at the returns or files of more ~an one 
handled 1t. I do not find any correspond- person or organization, you may 11st all of 
ence or ruling undeF the Johnson ad- them 1n one memorandum. 
ministration thus far which changed this After receiving your request, we wlll make 
practice. However, I find that when the arrangements tor the flies to be assembled 

-Nixon administration took over, this in my immediate suite Of offices here and 
loose practice of the Kennedy a.dminis- we will notify you as soon as they are ready 
tration wherein tax returns were exam- tor inspection. Since most of the matretal in 

. which you will be interested will be located 
ined by White House staff was corrected. in one of our regional or di.strict offices 1t 
What procedure does this administration- wm be necessary for us to obt.e.ln ~t ~d 
follow? brlng it to Washingtc:m. If, after inspection 

Mr. Thrower stated that when he as- ot the files, you want copies ot any of the 
sumed office in 1969 he was advised by material inspect.ed, we will be happy to make 
the White House that Mr. Mollenhoff them for you. 
would be assigned to a position compara- I t.ru.st this arrangement will be satls
ble to tru;.t which Mr. Bellino held un- factory and look torwa.rd to a mutual!f re
der the Kennedy administration, and warding relationship between our respective 
Commissioner Thrower felt that in the offices. 
interest .of orderly procedure the man- Signed, "Randolph W. Thrower." 
ner of allowing anYone from the execu- Mr. GORE. Mr. President, will the 
t1ve branch to examine a tax return of Sena.tor yield? 
apy individual without having a writ- Mr. wn..LIAMS of Delaware. I yield. 
ten request or having it in writing for Mr. GORE. The able Senator has re-
future reference was wrong. The Com- felTed·to the conference with Cornmis
missioner conferred with the White _ sioner Thrower and has now read a 
House, and this is a memorandum of memorandum which was denied to the 
procedure they worked out under date Joint Committee on Internal Revenue. I 
of September 18, 1969. trust that it will be in order to make a 

This is the memorandum addressed to few remarks' about it. 
the Honorable Clark 'R. MollenhoJr, Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. If 'the 
DeputyCounsel t.o the President, signed Senator wm yield for a moment, the Sen
the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, a.tor is in error. This memorandum was 
and the subject is inspection .of iu re- not denied to the joint committee. They 
turns and related flles. These are the have this information, and the Senator 
rules agreed upon at that time: is a member of that committee. It was 

SEPTEMBEK 18, 1969. also sent to me because I was the one 
Memorandum to: The Honorable Clark R. who originally requested it. But I speci

Mollenhotr, Deputy Counsel to the Pres- flcally requested that the full report be ident. · 
Prom: commissioner of Internal Revenue. sent to the joint committee, and it was 
Subject: Inspection of Tax Returns and Re- delivered to them first. They acknowl-

lated Flies. edged receipt of it. Th~ Senator is a 
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member of the committee, and it is I doubt if all of. those men are in direct . 
available; but I have a copy of .it if he -communication with the President any 
wishes to see it; more tha.n they were under 'preceding 

Mr. GORE. I appreciate the correction. administrations. . 
I requested this memorandwn, and I thoUght we should keep the record 

Mr. Thrower said he would have to ob- · clear. I do not think there is any ques
tain permission from the President to tion in the minds of anyone but that 
supply it. Mr. Mollenhoff Is the deputy counsel to 

I had not been advised that it had the President, and he did hold the same 
been supplied to the committee. I am official position that was held by indi
glad that it has. I congratulate both the viduals in preceding administrations who 
President and Commissioner Thrower ha.d access to the tax returns. We should 
upon supplying it. _ glve Commissioner Thrower the credit-

Now, would the Senator from Dela- I also give credit to the Nixon admin-
wa.re yield.further? istration-for recognizing the danger in 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield; the loose manner .in which it had been 
Mr. GORE. To begin. with, I am not handled heretofore under the Democratic 

acquainted with the details of what administratio.ns where they were freely 
happened in previous administrations. examined by White House employees 
It is only recently that I became a mem- without any written requests. Commis
ber of the Joint Committee on Internal ·sioner Thrower arranged that Mr. Mol
Revenue. I am aware of what has hap- lenhoff would sign on the line _the name 
pened here. Commissioner Thrower is of the taxpayer an<i' at the same time 
a fine ma.n and r do not wish in any be ready to justify w~ they n.eeded that 
way· to be unkind to him. return. And I think they should. I ,am 

However, in fairness to the Senate, I amazed that Commissioner Caplin had 
must state that I question the propriety handled this same situation so loosely. 
and discretion, or lack thereof, of his ac- If there is abuse I will join the Senator 
tion in supplying and in agreeing to sup- or anyone else in cleaning up abuses; bu~ 
ply Mr. Mollenhoff in an open ended 
arrangement with tax returns and copies 
of tax returns without a direct com
munication from the President of' the 
United States, either verbally or in writ
ing. 
. Commissioner Thrower testified that 

he had neither from the President. He 
relied entirely upon the representations 
of Mr. Clark Mollenhoff whose veracity 
I do not question. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The 
point I want to get into the record 

· straight 1s that Commissioner Thrower 
did not say--

Mr. GORE. I beg the Sena.tor's par
don? 

Mr. WILLIAMS_of Delaware. I want 
to· get the record straight. Again the 
Sena tor from Tennessee is in error. 
Commissioner Thrower said he did not 
rely entirely upon the statement of Mr. 
Mollenhoff. He said he was told by an 
official representative of the President 
that Clark Mollenhoff was being desig
nated for this position and that the 
arrangement was to be made with Mr. 
Mollenhoff to work out procedures. He 
did not Identify the other individ~. 

S5914 
let us remember that the law provides 
that the President can get these returns, 
and the law provides, and it is intended 
to provide, that· the Ways and Means 
Committee, the Finance Committee, and 
the Joint Committee on Taxation, OP'
erating independently of each other, any 
one of them can request and get a tax 
return. These committees have gotten 
them over the years with or without the 
consent of the President and even over 
the objections of the Commissioner when 
they needed to, 

That is the law and has been over the 
years, and every President and every au
thorized committee has utilized this au
thority. 

Surely the Senator from Tennessee, 
who 'is an able lawYer, was aware of that 
fact, and I cannot imagine just what 
Mr. Caplin was thinking about when last 
week he signed a letter denouncing his 
own decisions made as a Commissioner 
of Internal Revenue as having been il
legal.. 

The President and the congressional 
committees must have this authority, 
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but at the same time we must see that anything dishonest. I want to emphasize 
it is not abused. , that. But at the same time, there was 

I emphasize that we must have this a lot of corruption in his administrati9n 
authority. For example, I go back to which needed cleaning up. 
my experience in the exposure of cor- I found out later why I could not get 
ruption in the Internal Revenue Service an appointment with President Truman. 
in the 1950 period~This corruption was The man I had to go through to get the 
at a high level. The then Senator from appointment was Mr. Matt Connelly, the 
Virginia Mr. Harry Byrd, and the Sen- White House staff· man, and President· 
ator from North Carolina Mr. Hoey, and Truman's representative. I told him I 
myseJf, were app0inted by Senator wanted to talk about the alleged corrupt 
George of Georgia as a subcommittee to situation in the St. Louis revenue office 
exaniine the allegation that certain high and the Washington office. Later, Mr .. 
officials · in the Revenue Service had Connelly himself was indicted. 
abused their public offices. We needed Thus we had the situation where the 
certain tax returns to proceed with this Department of Justice, the Internal 
investigation. Revenue, and the White House aide were 

We hall a situation where the former all involved in a conspiracy to fix tax 
Commissioner of Internal Revenue went cases. · 
to the penitentiary, A Deputy Commis- In a situation such as that, the only 
sioner of Internal Revenue ser\rin:g at other recourse, in order to protect the 
the time was indicted. A chief counsel of taxpayers. was that at least we had some
the Alcohol Tax Unit was also subse- · one or some committee in Congress 
quently indicted. which would act. The Finance Commit-

Therefore, we could not expect co- tee, with the assistance of the Senator 
operation from the executive branch or from Virginia, Mr. Harry Byrd, as well 
from the Internal Revenue. Our commit- as Senator Hoey from_ North Carolina, 
tee had to have that authority. I want took an active interest in this matter, so 
to review this because this is very im- that in spite of-I emphas~ in spite of
portant background as to why we have getting no cooperation from the execu
te> hlWe this authority. The question may tive branch we were able to expose that 
be asked, why did we not go to the De- corrupt regime. We were not getting 
partment of Justice? ! did go to the De- much cooperation from the Treasury in 
partment of Justice during that period the various 64 district offices, the reason 
and tried to get their cooperation. I did being 12 of them were indicted, and eight 
not get it. Later I found out why. · · of them went to the penitentiary at 

One of the chief counsels, an Assistant that time. Altogether, there were 100· 
Attorney General acting in the Tax Divi- some odd revenue employees who went 
sion of the Department of Justice, was to the. penitentiary during that era. 
likewise involved in this conspiracy and Fortunately, we had the situation 
later went to jail. where the congressional committees 

Then one might ask, why did we not could function. We did have access to 
go to the President? I was unable to get these returns, with _or without the per
a conference with President Truman. mission of the executive branch. 
I tried hard at that time to do so. I · Now I want to make a hypothetical 
wanted to report these allegations to the reversal of that situation. Hypothetical 
executive branch and get their assistance .and on the assumption that it will never 
at the time I could hot understand, why happen. But it could happen. 
I was unable to get an appointment with For example, there are three congres-
President Truman. sional committees which can get tax· 

I resented that very. much at the time, returns without any consent from the 
although I understood later why I did Treasury Department. We can get them. 
not get that appointment. The Senator knows that both the Finance 

I want to say here, first, lest there be Committee, of which he is a member, 
any misunderstanding, t'hat. during all and the joint committee, of which he is 
that investigation-and there was a lot also a member, can get the returns no 
of corruption exposed-never was there matter what the-President says and no 
one single instance where one could matter what the Commissioner of Inter- -
paint a finger at Harry Truman or any nal Revenue says because the la~ says 
member of his family as having done that we can get them. · 
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Suppose the tL'Ile ever came-and God nessee has seen one. We have delegated 
forbid that it would - come-when we authority to our staff and we did not 
would have the top echelon of the Fi-- do it in writing. 
nance Committee and the top echelon But that-does not mean there•has been 
of the Ways and Means Committee,· abuse. 
which comprise the joint committee, all Mr. GORE. Mr. President, . will the 
of them went crooked at on_e time. Then, Senator yield? 
without the President's authority where · Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield. 
would there be the check to protect the Mr. GORE. Mr. President, I thank the 
American taxpayers? Senator for his generous references. As 

I want to say that this is hot any sug- the Senator knows, the Senator-from 
gestion as· to what can or will happen. Delaware and I vote together frequently 
I do ·not think it will happen. But I would on matters of tax preference. On mat
not have thought it would happen simul. ters like this we nearly always vote to
taneously before where we would find gether. 
the Bmeau of Internal Revenue here in When the committee met with respect 
Washington, the top echelons of the De- to that matter, it was on the motion of 
partment of Justice, and someone con- the senior Senator from Delaware, sec
nected with the White House, all engaged onded by the senior Senator from TeQ
in this same type of conspiracy. nessee, that ·the President supply to the 

But suppose it did? Then the law committee a copy of the memorandum 
provides that there is a check wherein the w1th respect to individual returns which 
President of the United States could Mr. Mollenhoff requested and also·a re
move in, and he would take action to quest to the President to inform the com-' 
protect the· American people. mittee whose tax erturns had been sup-

These safeguards were included as plied to Mr .. Mollenhoff and why. 
checks. At the same time I full~ realize I will state this to make it perfectly 
and I support the .fear of Senators that plain, that this is no contention between 
there could be abuse in this matter. Cer- the senior· Senator· from Delaware and 
tainly there can be abuse. I recognize the senior Senator from Tennessee. As 
that. I recognize the danger. I said etrlier, I am not referring to the 

But if any man can show me where procedure of previous administrations. 
this privilege has been abused, I do not 
care whether it is in the executive 
branch or the legislative branch, I will 
lead the fight against it. But let us not . 

S5915 

defeat the practice here on a lot of po- Mr. WILLIA!,{S of Delaware. Mr. 
litical innuendoes and assumptions. President, if the Senator will yield, I un-

What I am pointing out is that over derstand that we cannot be in the Cham
the years it has been historical that the ber all the time. I do not think he was 
President could under the law have ac- here when I read the memorandum 
cess to tax returns, and that covers the signed by Mortimer Caplin, Commis
agent he designates. We know that the sioner of Internal Revenue. 
President of the United· States-Jack The memorandum is dated May 23, 
Kennedy, Lyndon Johnson, or Richard 1961. It describes the procedures under 
Nixon-are not personally going to ex- which he operated. I would like to read 
amine the returns. He delegates that that again if I may. 
authority. · · Mr. GORE. I think I heard some of it. 

The senior Senator from Tennessee Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I want 
delegates responsibility in his office. He the Senator to hear all of it. That is what 
has to. The Senator froliCTennessee is we are talking about, but first let me 
a member of the Joint· Committee on · again correct the Senator from Tennes
Taxation. Our joint committee has the see. It was his motion that the committee 
authority to obtain tax returns. We do ask for the names of the tax returns 
get tax returns. We have had access to examined by Mr. Mollenhoff. My motion 
several tax returns in the last 12 months, broadened this request to cover the 

· and we have delegated our chief of staff, names of all taxpayers whose returns 
Larry Woodworth, and his assistants to were examined by all the administra-
examine them. , tions since 1960. 

I do not think that I have seen one. It was Mr. Caplin, the Commissioner 
I do not think the Senator from Ten- of Internal Revenue under the Kennedy 
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administration, who raised this question 
as to the procedure that the Nixon ad
ministration was following, and I pointed 
out that this administration. is insisting 
upon signed letters before any returns 
are made available. 

Now let us see how Mr. Caplin han
dled this when he was in office. 

I again quote from Mr. Caplin's May 
26, 1961, regulation: 

C. INSPECTION OF RETURNS AND FILES BY MR. 
CARMINE BELLINO 

On January 26 Mr. Bellino, Special Con
sultant to the President, called at my office 
and requested permission to inspe<J1i our files 
on and others. Although we had no 
precedent to guide us, we decided that Mr. 
Bellino, in his capacity as a representative of 
the President, could inspect our files without 
a written request. 

I emphasize that. There was no writ-
. ten request for these tax returns by Mr. 
Bellino or the President or anyone else, 
·who was working at the White House 
at that time. 

Commissioner Thrower said he could 
·not tell us how many returns were ex
amined by· the Kennedy representative 
but that they did spend days and days 
examining them. 

I read further from the ·Caplin 1961 
regulation: 

This reflects the view that Section 6103 of 
the Code specifically provides that returns 
shall be open to inspection upon order of. 
the President, and since Mr. Bellino's offlcisll' 
capacity constitutes him the representative 
of the President, the action taken ls regarded 
as conforming to Jaw. Based on this decision, 
we permitted Mr. Bellino to inspect the files 
relating to . Since that time we have 
also permitted him to inspect tax returns 
and related documents pertaining to other 
ped"SOns. 

Mr. Caplin. must have had his tongue 
in his cheek when he signed the O'Brien 
letter last week charging anyone who had 
allowed a White House representative to 
examine a tax return without a written 
request to be in violation of the criminal 
code. 

Mr. President, I ask unanimous con
sent that the entire ruling of Mr. Caplin 
under date of May 23, 1961, be printed 
at this point in the RECORD. 

There being no objection the mem
orandum was ordered to be printed in 
the RECORD, as follows: 

MEMORANDUM-FOR THE HONORABLE.ROBERT H. 
KNIGHT, GENERAL COUNSEL OF THE TREAS
URY 

SUBJEC'l': INSPECTION OF RETURNS BY 
CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEES 

In the Treasury staff meeting on March 
31st ~t was pointed out that Mr. Ca.rmine 
Bellino, Special Consultant to the President, 
had objected to certain regulations and Serv
ice policies affecting Congressional Commit
tees authorized to inspect returns by Execu
tive Orders. Specifically, he objected to (A) 
the regulations requiring the adoption of a 

-resolution by a full Congressional Committee 
before its representatives may obtain permis-
sion to inspect tax returns and (B) the pol
icy against allowing Congressional Commit
tees to obtain photocopies of returns. It was 
suggested that we would submit our views 
concerning possible changes in present rules 
and procedures respecting these matters. 

A. Requirement of a resolution by a full 
congressional committee 

The requirement for a resolution adopted 
by the committee is contained in Treasury·· 
Decisions 6132 and 6133. The decision to re
quire a full committee rl)solution for the in
spection of returns was made by officials of 
the Treasury Department and approved by 
the President. Prior to the issuance of these 
Treasury Decisions in May 1955, a Congres
sional Committee authorized by Executive 
Order to inspect returns was permitted to do 
so solely upon the written request ·of the 
chairman of the committee or Of a subcom~ 
mittee thereof. No resolution of the commit
tee was then required. 

Mr. Bellino objected to the "committee res
olution' requirement of the regu_lations be
cause the task of assembling a quorum of a 
full committee for this purpose is very in
convenient, particularly where the member
ship is large. He stated that this is a burden
some requirement. For example, in April 
1960, the Special Committee on the Federal 
Aid Highway Program, a Subcommittee of 
the House Committee on Public Works, re
quested permission· to inspect certain re
turns. That request was denied because a 
resolution had not been passed by the full 
committee, consisting of thirty-two mem
bers, as required under the regulations. 

Relief from the situation described may 
be provided by amendment of'· the regula
tions to permit, in the alternative, acceptance 
of a resolution adopted by a subcommittee, 
and signed by its chairman. This alterna
tive should eliminate the problem but would 
retain a system of control needed by the 
Service. 
B. The policy against. allowing congre.~sional 

committees to photocopy or obtain photo
copies of returns 
Under our present policy representative_s 

of' Congressional Committees are not sup
plied or permitted to make facsimile or 
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photocopies of returns or related documents. Notwithstanding the above, we would like 
However, they are permitted· to inspect re- to retain the present policy since it provides, 
turns and certain related documents on a degree of protection against Improper and 
premises of the National Office or a field indiscreet disclosures. However, if it is de
office of the Service. Blank returns and other termined that this policy should be liberal
forms are furnished fur transcribing data ized, we shall, of course, be guided accord
contained · in the file ·opened for mspection. ingly. No amendment of regulatioi:i,s would 
Access is · granted not only to returns· but be required to all'ect a change. 
also to administrative files, including rev- c. Inspection of returns and files by Mr. Car-
enue agent and special agent reports, with mine Bellino 
the exception of certain confidential docu- On January 26 Mr. Bellino, Special cons.ul-
ments. tant to the President, called at my office· and 

This policy has been approved In the past requested permission to inspect our files on 
by President Eisenhower, Secretary Hum- __ and others. Although we had no prece
phrey, and Commissioners Andrews•, Har- dent to guide up, we decided that Mr. Bel
rington, and Latham. The reasons for the lino, in his capacity as a representative of 
policy apparently include the fonowing: the President, could inspect our files without 

1. It is essential .. to maintain the. confi- ,a written request. This reflects the view that 
dential nature of tax returns except insofar Section 6103 of the Code specifically pro
as the inspection of such returns is required vtdes that returns shall be open to inspec
in the public interest. Our tax. collecting ' tion upon order of the President, and since 
process depends upon the voluntary re- Mr. Bellino's official capacity constitutes him 
sponse of millions of taxpayers and they are the representative of the President, the ae
entltled to rely on the statutory protection tion taken is regarded as conforming to law. 
which safeguards the confidential nature of i Based on this decision, we permitted Mr. Bel
the information they furnish the Service. i lino to inspect the files relating to -· --. 
The use of photocopies exposes such con- ' Since that time we have al1>0 permitted him 
fidential infOrmation to a greater extent ! to inspect tax returns and related documents 
than present methods of inspection. Im- pertaini~g to other persons. 
proper or indiscreet disclosures could re- Further, in a letter dated January 26, 
duce public confidence in the service and i and received January 30, Attorney General 
have adverse ell'ects on the collection of r€v- i Robert F. Kennedy asked that Mr. Bellino be 
enue. While the use of photocopies might be I permitted to review all files, records, and 
advantageous to a ·.committee, it would not ! documents requested by him in order to· co
appear to be essential to the discharge of : ordinate the Investigation of certain indl
the committee's functions. 1 vlduals being conducted by the Internal 

2. The possible disclosure of tax returns Revenue Service, the Justice Department and 
or related data at committee sessions held other Government agencies. Permission was 
as public heartngs, and the accompanying granted for Mr. Bellino to inspect such files 
risk of disclosures to unauthorized persons, in a letter dated February 1, 1961. 
including the press, have been matters of Additionally, Senator John L. McClellan, 
continuing concern to the Service. in a letter dated March 24, designated Mr. 

3. When a Congressional Committee ex- . Bellino as a stall' member of the Senate 
plres, its fileS' may not be destroyed and the : Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, 
possibility of unauthorized disclosure may· 
be increased. S5916 Howl)ver, our practice of not furnishing 
photocopies of returns to these committees a subcommittee of the Committee on Gov
is difficult to defend for the following ernment Operations, authorw.ed to tnspect 
reasons: returns pursuant to Executive Order 1091S. 

1. Section 6103(a} (3) of the ·code provides As such, he is authorized to inspect those 
that whenever a return is open to inspection documents made available .to the Subcom
a certified copy shall be furnished upon re- mittee under requests made pursuant to 
quest. this Order. 

2. Section 301.6103 (a)-2 (T.D. 6546) of the In the Interest of providing a more de-
related Regulations on Procedure and Ad- tailed statement there is attached a Tech
ministration provides that a copy of a re- nical Memorandum· prepared in the office of 
tu1:1 may be furnished any person who is the Chief Counsel, which sets forth the his
entitled to inspect such 'return, upon' torical background ·of (1) the requirement of 
request. '.a committee. resolution, and (2) the execu-

3. Our present policy provides distinctive tive policy against supplying photocopies of 
tre11,tment to such Congressional Committee returns to Congressional Committees. If you 
requests since taxpayers, States, and Agencies should desire additional information please 
of the Executive branch of the Federal Gov- let me know, 

· · ernment may be furnished copies of returns 
upon receipt of a proper application. 

MORTIMER CAPLAN, 
' Commissioner. 
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Mr. GORE. Mr. President, will the I think it ought to be formalized. I re-
Senatoryield? peat, for a Commissioner of Internal 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I will in Revenue to make ~ open-ended ar
a minute. I am reviewing this record for rangement for an agent, whoever he may 
the benefit of the Senator from Tennes- - be, whatever his name is, whatever his 
see and not to point the finger at the role is, without an instruction from the 
Kennedy administration. I am not rais- head of the agency ~s of questionable 
ing any question of impropriety with re- -legality. . 
spect to the man who was in the White I do not say it is illegal. 
House. I do not think that anyone has I had thought it was, but I am not 
raised a question that Mr. Mollenhoff prepared to say positively that it is. I 
has acted improperly with respect to have an adviser on my staff who says 
handling these tax returns except by that it is. But I am not prepared to say 
implication. so in view of what the Senator says. 

If any Senator knows ,of impropriety Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The Mol-
in this matter let us put our foot on it lenhoff arrangement is not open ended. 
quick. The Senator's criticism can more prop-

If there are any charges of improper erly be directed toward the procedure 
use of these returns by Mr. Mollenhoff under his own administration. Let us be 
speak out, do not just cast doubts by fair with our criticism. 
these wife-beating questions as to what Mr. GORE. Mr. President, will the 
could happen. Senator yield? 

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, will the Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. In just 
Senator yield? a moment. The only open ended arrange-

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield. ment that I know of around here in the 
Mr. GORE. Neither two wrongs nor a matter of tax returns involves the com

multiplicity of wrongs constitute a right. mittee of which he and I are members. 
I do not wish to allege any illegal act. We voted open ended authority to our 

I have not researched this law to that staff. The Joint Committee staff can ex
extent. But I say to the Senator in all amine the returns. That is open ended 
seriousness that I think it is indiscreet, authority. We do. not put it in writing. 
injudicious, and unwise, and I will go Perhaps the Senator and I should look 
so far as to say improper for the Com- at our inner selves and see if we are 
missioner of Internal Revenue to make operating properly. 
an open-ended arrangement with a poli- Mr. GORE. Mr. President, I agree. 
tical operative without direct orders or Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I think 
instructions from the President himself. we should face the facts. 

It throws uneasiness into the minds of The suggestion was made in Mr. 
millions of Americans concerning the O'Brien's statement that there was an 
confidential nature of the tax returns. indiscriminate examination of tax re-

If nothing else comes from this, re- turns under the Nixon administration. 
gardless of what may have occurred in That is not true. The President has 
past or present administrations, I will said that no such use has been made. I 
join with the senior Senator from Dela- would certainly hope that this would be 
ware in trying to formalize protection to the basis of the examination of tax re
preserve the privacy· of the American, turns in all administrations; namely, in 
citizen in his tax return. situations where questions are raised as 

This is not to question the right of a to the propriety of conduct of some pub- · 
congressional committee with a need to lie official or someone in the adminis
know, with a need to have access to tax tration. 
returns. Certainly, if he considers appointing a 

The Senator from Delaware wondered · member to the courts he can, or at least 
if I had ever seen one. I do not think I he should, get that person's tax returns 
have seen but one tax return in the 12 and have them examined before he sends 
years I have been on t;.\le Finance Com- the nomination to the Senate for con
mittee. And this was requested -by the firmation. If, on the other hartd, an al. 
committee emblematic of a question on legation comes in that Joe Doaks, who is 
legislation, not with respect to the already a member of the executive 
wrongdoing of a taxpayer. branch or maybe even on the White 
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House staff, is doing something improper Doe. When I was working with the Sena
the President should examine it, and if tor from Virginia allegations came in 
it is true, take the appropriate steps. If with respect to many Joe Does. We would 
he needs the man's tax returns to get this get his tax returns and we would find 
information he should have the au- nothing to substantiate those allegations. 
thority. This is a very delicate matter and must be 

The Senator is well aware of the fact handled with discretion. 
that the Commissioner said he knew of _The very suggestion that the tax re
no instance where this authority has turn of Joe Doe has been requested by a 
been abused. I am going to cite one case congressional committee or by the execu
to point out why I think this authority tive branch in itself constitutes a damag
is important. ing indictment against the individual. It 

Mr. GRIFFIN. Mr. President, may we is unfair to publish these names unless 
have order? guilt is established. 

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The Sen- The Senator knows that he and I and 
ate will be in order. _ every other member of the Joint Com-

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr. mlttee were assured by Commissioner 
President, I am going to cite one case to Thrower that no request had been re
point out why I thdnk this authority is ceived from this administration since he 
important. I am not going to reveal has been in office involving an elected of
the name; however, this is not a hypo- . flcial, nor any on the basis that they were 
thetical case. In this instance the alle- going .to be examined to determirie if 
gation was received from some fellow John Doaks had paid the proper income 
who had been before the courts, and he tax. The amount of taxes to be paid is 
had received what he thought was an ex- the job for the Commissioner of Internal 
ceptionaly heavy sentence. He was angry Revenue and· not the job of a congres
and his complaint was, "Why should sional committee or the White House. 
this judge be so rough on me as a delin- Mr. President, as a Senator I often 
quent taxpayer"-not that he was in- have had. people write to ·me that Joe 
nocent-"when he is more guilty than Doaks is not paying his income tax. I 
I am." Certainly that situation needs in- have one standard form letter which 
vestigation. It was· referred to proper states; If you have any information in 
channels at the White House. What did that regard, you should write directly 
they find? They found that for '8. out to the Director of Internal Revenue in 
of the 9 years prior to the time this man your area or to the Commissioner and 
was appOinted to the Federal bench he send him that information. To handle 
had not filed or paid his Federal income, these otherwise would be wrong. I have 
taxes. I repeat that. For 8 to 9 years prior directed my attention toward procedures .. 
to the time he was appointed as a judge I would be . the first to rise in thlc:; 

. and confirmed by the Senate he had not Chamber and criticize the executive 
paid his Federal income taxes or filed any branch or any representative of it if they 
return. Just before being confirmed, ap- indiscriminately started to get tax re
parently thinking he was going to get turns of the average taxpayer. That same 
the appointinent, he filed belated returns statement applies to congressional com
for all those years; and in a matter of mittees. That is the Job of the Commis
months he was nominated and con- stoner of Internal Revenue. If it is ever 
firmed, and he is serving today. 

The only way the President can now 
get rid of him would be to ask him for 
his resignation unless we in the Senate 
say that we will back him in removing 
this particular judge. I am sure the Presi
ent will furnish the name of the man if 
the Senate wishes to act. Why should 
he not investigate such a charge? 

If there are abuses of public trust that 
is what we are talking a,bout. Certainly, 
allegations which oftimes cannot be sup
ported do come in with respect to John 
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departed from under this administration,. 
either at the congressional or at the leg
islative level or if it is shown ·to have 
been departed from .by other adminis
trations I shall be the first to rise in this 
Chamber. 

But they have a responsibility when 
these allegations involve propriety to 
take· some action. Why should they not 
look at them and find out if this charge 
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against some official of Government is 
true? I would not want a judge on the 
Federal bench who might be judging me 
when he has not paid his income taxes 
for 8 or 9 years. 

Mr. GORE-Mr. President, will the Sen-
ator yield? · 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I shall 
yield to the Senator in a moment. 

If this screening process had been in 
practice at that time the nomination of 
that judge would not have been sent to 
the Senate for confirmation. 

Of just what are Senators afraid? 
There seems to be general agreement 

that no instances of impropriety of the 
handling of this authority has as yet been 
cited, yet there seems to be a fear. 

Mr. GRIFFIN. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Mr. -WILLIAMS of Delaware. I Yield. 
Mr. GRIFFIN. Is the junior Senator 

from Michigan correct that under exist
ing law and the law that has been in 
effect the Governors of the several States 
which have income tax laws have the 
right to inspect Federal tax returns? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The 
Governors, or they can delegate the au
thority. 

Mr. GRIFFIN. That is my next ques
tion. Does it have to be the Governor or 
can he designate? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. He can 
and he does designate someone in his 
behalf in practically all situations. Some 
States that· do not have income taxes 
may not use the authority. I understand 
42 Ol'. 43 States do designate. 

Mr. GRIFFIN. Would it not be a pecu
liar situation if the Governors of all 
States can designate someone to examine 
Federal tax returns when they have a 
question, and a question is raised about 
the President of the United States hav
ing designated a representative to do the 
same thing? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Not only 
that, but it would be ridiculous to say the 
Governor has to do it personally or that 
the President has to do it personally, 
Certainly that is ridiculous. 

I commend the Nixon administration 
for having laid down these sounder 
rules. Maybe they need to be tightened 
up more. Maybe Congress needs to ex
amine our own procedures. 

The Senator from Tennessee referred 
to the .fact that the White House is a 

political organization. Congress is a poli
tical organization. I respect that fact. 
There is nothing wrong with that. The 
White House is part of the political arm 
of Government, but by the same token we 
in Congress on occasion have been known 
to be somewhat political. Who. is to say 
a congressional committee is any less 
honorable or any less political than the 
man in the White House? 

As I emphasized earlier, I am not ques
tioning the manner in which the Ken
nedy administration operated, even 
though they had no written request; but 
at the same time let us not put a halo 
around Mortimer Caplin's head on the 
basis that his suggestions apply to every
body else but him. His later position is 
just a little bit ridiculous. I spall be look
ing forward to his comment on his own 
regulations of 1961. 
·· Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I shall 
yield in a moment. 

·But if Mr. Caplin really thinks that 
he was in violation of the law to allow 
examination of these tax returns in 1961 
without written orders and really wants 
to go to the Department of Justice to 
plead guilty maybe they would render 
assistance. I am reminding him of his 
own regulations in a friendly spirit. 

Mr. HOLLAND and Mr. BAKER ad
dressed the Chair. 
· Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield 
to the Senator from Florida. 

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, perhaps 
I can throw a little light on the question 
raised by the Senator from Michigan. 

At the time I served as Governor of 
the State of Florida, we had no State 
income tax and we do not now, but w~ 
did and do have an intangible property 
tax; that is, a tax on the holdings of 
intangible personal property, including 
the securities, of citizens. We have many 
citizens in our State who did own securi
ties and filed an intangible property tax 
return. 

One of the ways of checking against 
the accuracy of those returns was to see 
what they filed in their income tax re
turns ' with the Feqeral Government 
showing the income or dividends from 
their various corporate investments and 
notes or mortgages. · 

The program worked out was that the 
Governor would make the request, but 
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that the income tax returns when sent 
down, as they were in many, many cases, 
would be referred to the comptroller of 
the State of Florida who was the i;ax 
enforcement officer of the State. The 
Governor at that time, for those 4 years, 
did not see any of those income tax re
turns. There was no occasion for him to 
see them. It was simply a cooperative 
effort to see that the laws were obeyed 
and taxes were paid. I think it was help
ful to both governments. I would not 
want anything that comes out here tQ 
jeopardize that procedure in any way, 
because many States that have State in
come taxes and the several States that 
have,intangible property taxes rely upon 
the procedure, which is handled not for 
political reasons whatever, but for prac
tical enforcement of the tax laws of those 
States. 

I hope that this explanation will be 
helpful to the Senator from Michigan. 

Mr. BAKER. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield 
to the Senator from Tennessee. 

Mr. BAKER. Mr. President, I want to 
ma)te sure that the junior Senator from 
Tennessee fully understands the thrust 
of the important remarks made by the 
Senator from Delaware. Do I understand 
correctly, according to the Senator's pre
vious statement, that there have been 
seven instances of requests for tax re
turns by the executive department in 
this administration? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Seven 
was the figure given to us the other day, 
but that embraced the tax returns for 
nine individuals. 

Mr. BAKER. There were. nine tax re
turns, but seven individual requests were 
involved? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Deleware. Yes . 
. Mr. BAKER. Do I understand cor

rectly that the requests. of· the admin
istration have been made in writing, in 
conformity with the requirements of the 
Internal Revenue Code? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. All re
quests under the Nixon administration 
have been in writing, in conformity with 
the regulations issued by Commissioner 
Thrower. The Internal Revenue Code 
states that tax returns will be issued 
upon the basis of regulations worked out 

- by the -Treasury Department and ap
proved by ·the President, which means 
the administration can write them in 

any way he wishes .. Mr. Thrower has 
written regulations and the White House 
has concurred that it would be more or
derly procedure to make the requests in 
writing each time and make the man sign 
for them. I think that is good. The way 
Mr. caplin did it under the Kennedy 
administration, no record was made and 
nobody was accountable, which I think 
was the wrong method. 

It was a loose and dangerous practice, 
yet I hear very little mention of that 
loose practice under the Democratic re
gime. 

Surely they are not advocating double 
standards. 

Mr. BAKER. Mr. Caplin, during his 
tenure as.Commissioner of Internal Rev
enue, promulgated, and the White House 
at that time approved, a regulation ,vhich 
did not require such a request to be in 
writing. Is that correct? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. That is 
right. 

Mr. BAKER. And the White House 
can approve. it? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. It must 
approve it. 

Mr. BAKER. So no written requests 
were made, and there was no way to tell 
how many returns were examined, dur
ing the Johnson and Kennedy admin
istrations? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I do not 
remember any figures being given as to 
what happened under the Johnson ad
ministration, but we were told that under 
the Kenriedy administration they spent 
"days on end" examining taxpayers' re-
turns. · 

Mr. BAKER. If the Senator will yield 
for one further question, the letter which 
the Senator referred to in his remarks 
was written by Mr. 0'.Brien and whom 
else? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I read 
the press release and the- statement 
which Lawrence O'Brien released as 
chairman of the Democratic National 
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Committee. Mr. O'Brien was on the 
White House staff during the Kennedy 
administration. " 

Mr. BAKER. Was Mr. O'Brien, who 
made these charges, on the White House 
staff during the Kennedy administra
tion? 
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Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. During for that matter, should have access to 
the time he was on the staff, and later income ta.x returns, but I am willing to 
he was Postmaster General. I do not be educated in that respect. However, I 
qµite know in which capacity he was at Will point out that I think the illustra
which date. . tions the Senator from Delaware has 

Mr. BAKER. Who else was involved in made point out the necessity for a close 
the press release besides Mr. O'Brien? examinatio_n of these regulations and 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr. Mor- point out, as well, that it is a situation 
timer Caplin. of long standing that we should look into. 

Mr. BAKER. Mr. Mortimer Caplin. Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I wish to 
Was he Commissioner of Internal Rev- point out that it is essential that there 
enue in the previous administration? be some check over both the executive 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Yes. branch and the legislative branch. 
Mr. BAKER. Would Mr. Cohen have 

necessarily been involved in the promul- The Senate Finance Committee and 
the House Ways and Means Committee 

gatlon of the regulations of the Internal have always delegated this duty to our 
Revenue Service with respect to the dis- staffs. I will clte an exaniple. When we 
closure of personal returns? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I would had the tax reform bill before us last 
· December, the suggestion was made that 

think so. There is no report of his chang- a number of individuals as a result of 
ing the orders promulgated under the 
previous Kennedy administration. · loopholes in the tax law were escaping 

Mr. BAKER. Who was the third the payment of income taxes entirely. 
signer? Of course a loophole cannot be closed 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mitchell unless we know what it is. We have 
Rogovin. He was also during that time very high caliber staffs on the joint com
in the Treasury Department and later mittee, a staff that we trust completely; 
moved to the Justice Department. The committee staff examined many re-

turns to see how that avoidance of tax 
Mr. BAKER. Do we have any basis for took place. in that manner we were 

knowing whether or not these three gen- able to close the tax"loopholes. I know 
tlemen were aware of these operations I would not, and I doubt if any member 
at the White House during the Kennedy 
administration..:_the examination of re- of the Senate . Finance Committee or 

· House Ways and Means Committee 
turns without written request? Has the would, examine th!l returns. There is no 
Senator inquired into that, or does he reason why we should. we were getting 
know? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. 1 have. hypothetical cases of how those tax loop-
h~les occur. That is an example of why 

Certainly Mr. Caplin must know beca1.1se it is necessary for committees to have 
he signed the order saying they could · 
get them without written request. I think access to tax returns. 
I know Mr. Caplin well enough to know The Senator from Arkansas (Mr. Mc
that he would not sign a letter without CLELLAN) has done a remarkable job with 
knowing what was in it. One time as his investigation committee in exposing 
Commissioner he said that the White corruption. The McClellan committee 
House could examine tax returns With- needs to examine tax returns, and he.can 
out written request-which I join the get them with the permission of the Pres
Senator from Tennesee in condemning ident. I defend his right to see those tax 
as a rather loose arrangement for I returns. -
think there should be some record. Later Sure there are abuses, but until abuses · 
after Mr. Caplin left office he comes to are shown, let us not stop that, right. 
the conclusion that such requests should Other agencies have the right to ex-
be signed by the President. · amine income tax returns. 

Mr. BAKER. If the Senator will yield Health, Education, and Welfare gets 
further to me, I would like to say I asso- those returns. The. question was raised: 
ciate myself with the Senator from Del- why? A person can collect social security 
aware and my senior colleague in say- benefits, but if his earnings rise beyond 
1ng that this is an area where there is a certain point his payments may be de
great potential for abuse. I personally creased or stopped. So officials in that 
will have to be educated as t.o whY the department occasionally have to spot
executive. department, or the President, check returns. 
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Do not ask me why, but the Depart
ment of Agriculture was listed in 1968 
as requesting permission to examine the 
tax returns of 709 taxpayers. 

The Department of Commerce has ex
amined a number of tax returns. We find 
listed the FDIC. Of course the Depart
ment of Justice naturally would; it would 
be expected. The Federal Home Loan 
Bank Board. The Securities and Ex
change Commission. The Small Business 
Administration. The Comptroller of the 
currency. The Federal Communications 
Commission. The Department of State. 
The Renegotiation Board. The Depart
ment of Health, Education, and Welfare. 
The Department of Labor. The Tennes.
see Valley Authority examined tax re
turns. The DeP11,1"tment of the Army. The 
Veterans' Administrati9n. . 

These are some of the agencies that ex
amined top returns in 1968. 

Several Senators addressed the Chair. 
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I would 

like to finish, if I may. 
The Civil Service Commission. The 

Department of the Air Force requested 
and examined tax returns. The Post
master General wanted to examine the 
returns of four taXPayers. · 

The Secretary of Transportation. The 
Bureau of Accounts. The National Se
lective Service · Appeal Board, and the 
Post Office Department itself. All those· 
are agencies tha.t in 1968 examined tax 
returns. 

Maybe they a.re not properly circum
scribed. If. they are not we as much as 
anyone else should be to blame. But al
together, these agencies examined 1n 1968 
a total of--

Mr. TYDINGS. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? The Senator has been 
holding the floor for some time. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Yes, I 
shall yield. They examined in 1968 the 
returns of 3,393 tQXPayers and this figure 
does not include those requested by the 
White. House. We were told that 1969 
would propably show a comparable fig
ure. 

Perhaps these agencies need these re
turns for various reasons. Certainly U.S. 
attorneys and the various agencies have 
to have them. 

I yield to the Senator from Maryland. 
Mr. TYDINGS. Has Mr. Mollenhoff 

asked for the tax returns for Governor 
Wallace or any member of his family? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I do not 
know. 

Mr. TYDINGS. Has Mr. Mollenhoff 
asked for the tax return of any Member 
of this body? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I do not 
know what returns Mr. Mollenhoff asked 
for. The Commissioner told the joint 
committee that the returns of no elected 
official had been requested. 

Mr .. TYDINGS. Has he asked for the 
return of any U.S. district judge, or any 
judge of a circuit court of appeals? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. As I say, 
I do not know. The Senator can request 
the names of all of them. 

Mr. TYDINGS. Agreed. 
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Com

mis.sioner Thrower told our commit
tee--and that is all I know about it
that under the Nixon administration 
there were seven requests from Mr. Mol
lenhoff involving nine taxpayers, I be
lieve. The Senator from Tennessee is 
nodding his head. That it is nine. 

Mr. TYDINGS. How about that let
ter? Shall we sign it together? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Just a 
moment. A total of nine. And he said 
also .that he felt he could not properly 
tell us the names, but he did say they did 
not involve any elected public offcials. 
That means that Senators would not be 
covered. That was the statement we--

Mr. TYDINGS. How about any sitting 
judge or justice? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I do not 
know. 

Mr. TYDINGS. Wouid the Senator 
from Delaware agree that whether it oc
curred in the Kennedy administration 
or the Nixon · administration, or any 
other administration, to let a political 
operative in the White House, with no 
background in investigative work such 
as having served in any investigative 
agency, have carte blanche access to the 
income tax returns of anyone in the 
United States, would be a very danger
ous thing, and should be corrected by 
legislation? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. That is 
a leading question. The Senator was not 
here when I read the procedure under 
previo1JS administrations so I would like 
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to point out t.o him that the loose prac
tice . has been correc~d. I agree with 
him completely that the manner in 
which it was handled before was very 
dangero~. Since the Senator· was not 
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here, I shall read Mr. CapUn's method 
while he was Commissioner, because I 
do not think it can be pointed out too 
often, the loose manner in which it was 
handled under the Kennedy administra
tion. 

Mr. TYDINGS .. I heard the Senator 
read about the Kennedy administration. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of. Delaware. I read 
also 'the way it has been improved under 
the Wixon administration. 

U there are those who do not like the 
appointees of the President or do not 
like the President himself, that 1s one 
thing. But if this is a case where they 
do not trust Mr. Mollenhoif they ought 
to say so and state why. · 

Mr. TYDINGS. It does not make.any 
diiference who it is. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Does the 
Senator know of any abuse in the man
ner in which the White House is now 
handling this problem? 

Several Senators addressed the Chair. 
The PRESIDING OFFICER (Mr. 

SAXBE). The Senator from Delaware hs.s 
the floor. 

Mr. TYDINGS. When we write to Mr .. 
Mollenhoif, the Senator from Delaware 
and I together, and get the names of 
those persons whose returns he requested, 
we can determine whether or not there 
are any political implications. 

But I recall very well, when I was U.S. 
attorney, nobody saw income tax returns 
unless the Attorney General of the 
United States requested it for a specific 
investigation. No U.S. attorney or anyone 
else. The Internal Revenue Service 
handled them. Whenever income tax re
turns were used in the Government, they 
went through channels that were com
pletely circumspect and outside the pos
sibility of any type of political implica-
tions. •· 

Now, if President Kennedy or any 
other President has a system whereby 
someone,· not through the ordinary 
course of governmental operations, 
could, carte blanche, examine your in
come tax return or mine, I think that is 
a very, very dangerous thing. I think the· 
apprehension of it can be most upsetting. 
We in the United States pay our taxes 
voluntarily. We are one of the few na
tions in the world where the taxpayers 
voluntarlly pay their taxes, and we do it 
because we have confidence that the re
turns are confidentially handled. 

To have it revealed here-that the con
trary has been done, I think, is very dis-

concerting, regardless of the administra
tion, or whether the man's name is Mol
lenhoif, Jones, Smith, or anything else. 
tal, and ought to be. released only under 
specified statutory provisions, completely 
outside political channels. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I would 
agree with the Senator and am glad that 
the Nixon administration has corrected 
the loose practice previQusly followed. 
But when he says "outside political chan
nels" would the Senator say the Senate 
Finance Committee, which has access to 
tax returns under the law, the Ways _and 
and Means Committee, which has access 
to tax returns under tjle law, the Joint 
Committee on Taxation, which has ac
cess to tax returns under the law, the 
Committee on the Judiciary, on which 
the Senator has served-every committee 
of Congress--

Mr. TYDINGS.Right. 
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Just a 

minute. Would the Senator say we have 
to be political in our motivation, or are 
weto-- · 

Mr. TYDINGS. Absolutely not, because 
· we do it under prescribed rules. In the 
Committee on the Judiciary, .when we 
have nominations, no one sees that in
come tax return unless the individual 
member of the committee goes to the 
chairman, and lte sits down alone, with 
no staff member. That is specifically 
within the lines of official work. 

But to give to someone who is not in 
any way working for the Department of 
Justice, whose chief public mission is 
political in nature, the right to examine 
income tax returns, whether it is a Re
publican or Democratic administration, 
or any kind, !think, is a very, vrey up-
setting 'thought. a 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I am 
glad that the Senator is upset, because I. 
too, was upset at what was going -on un
der the previous administration. But I 
want to say--

Mr. TYDINGS. It is a dangerous thing. 
1\/lr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. But the 

point is, the law gives to the President 
the right-they have always had that 
right; that is the law-the President has 
it as President, ·and the U.S. attorneys 
could get these tax returns. They do get 
them. They have to get them. 
. Mr. TYDINGS. To try a case the In
ternal Revenue Service has already made. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Surely 
they do. 
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Mr. TYDINGS. But-they do not instf
gate- it. The case is brought to them by 
an Internal Revenue Service intelligence 
agent, who received the case from a reve
nue agent, who acquired it through an 
audit. That comes in the normal course 
to the Department of Justiee. The At
torney General has the right to ask the 
Internal Revenue Service for an income 
tax return, but that is a part of the day 
to day cmerations of the Department of 
Justice. That has nothing to do with 
someone who has a political background, 
who has responsibilities in political cam
paigns, having the power to i\:O and take 
anybody's tax return and look it over. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr. 
President, let us get it straight. There is 
much being said here hypothetically. 

I said earlier that· President Nixon had 
laid down rules that these tax returns 
were not to be available under any cir
cumstances to Mr. Mollenhoff or any
one merely on the basis of examining 
whether Joe, Tom, Dick. or Harry was 
paying his proper income taxes, but only 
in cases where there may be abuse·-of 
the public trust. 

I am just trying to review the record 
and outline the law, and I do not want 
to · get. into a political discussion of 
whether· Members on the other side of 
the ai&le ~~~ed Mr. Nixon as President .• 
or whet}ler-',ffley would have had more 
coll:ftdence in a man Mr. Humphrey 
would have appointed. That is. not the 
point. The President, not the Senator 
from Maryland, appoints his Chief Coun:.. 
sel. Every President has appointed some'
one to represent him. If some Senator 
feels it is being abused he should spell 
out the charge. But I will say, as I 
pointed out before that the Nixon ad
ministration has laid down rules whereby 
this is done in writing, and that is more 
.than was done before. So let us at least 
give them that much cre,dit. 

If there is still abuse, that is another 
matter. The Commissioner made it clear 
to our ~ommittee. He said that of· those 
that were requested not one of them in
volved an elected public official. That is 
all I know. .. 

Mr. ALI.OTT. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Ml'. WILLIAMS of Delaware. In just a 
moment. There have been seven requests 

for nine returns, each of them putting in 
writing the name of the man. 

There is this danger about releasing 
the na.mes, and I understand it. I point 

· out one case they cited and said we 
could use it, hoping we could do some
thing about it: An allegation came into 
the executive branch that a member of 
the Federal bench-the complaint came 
from someone who thought his sentence, 
perhaps, was too harsh_:but the report 
came in from this individual that this 
judge himself was just as bad or worse 
than the man convicted. 

They called for that man's tax returns. 
They found that in 8 out of · 9 of the 
preceding years before he was nominated 
and confirmed by the Senate he had not 
filed a return nor had be paid his in
come tax. He did file a belated return 
just before his name was~ sent to the 
Senate, and he · was conflrmed by the 
Senate, and he is a member of the Court 
today. The President in power at the 
time should have checked that or the 
committee should have known it. I hope 
we can get that man to resign. If not I 
hope there is enough interest in the Sen
ate that we can take him off the Bench. 
He should not be the judge of his fellow 
man when he himself would not pay his 
own income taxes. · 

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The 
White House -has tried to assure that 
this power is exercised with discretion. 
No business operations are threatened 
with tax investigations, nor has the 
FBI been sent around at late hours in 
thenight. · 

I promised to yield to the Senator 
from Colorado. 

Mr. ALLOTT. I thank the Senator for 
yielding . 

First of all, the Senator has also re
f erred to this: The man who made this 
press release, Lawrence O'Brien, occu
pied a very, very political position with 
President Kennedy during the time that 
these orders were made or access was 
made to the IRS files by Mr. Bellino. Is 
that not true? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Dela.ware. That is 
true. The charges were ma.de out of the 
office of the Democratic National Com-



2996 

S5920 

mittee by Lawrence F. O'Brten, as chair
man of that committee. 

Mr. ALLOT!'. I think it would be in
teresting to have Mr. O'Brien a.tiswer the 
question-perhaps the press would be 
kind enoUgh to put this question · to 
him-perhaps the press would be kind 
enough to put this question to him
as to whether or not he examined any 
income tax returns during the time he 
was with the President in the White 
House. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware: I would 
welcome his answer personally. I would 
doubt very much that he did .. I would 
be surprised. I said earlier that I do not 
question that Mr. Bellino may have kept 
this confidential. I .do not know of anY 
evidence otherwise. But the fact is that 
under that Kennedy administration he 
examined tax returns without writteI) 
request-if we want to use the word that 
the Senator from Maryland used
wholesale, by going in and getting any 
return with no records made. I think 
that was a very loose operation. I think 
the man's name should be on record so 
there would be reponsibility if we found 
they were abusing this and turning it 
into Political persecution-and it could 
be; let us face it. I recognize that danger. 
Then we could go back and see who 
the President's representative was who 
called for the returns, and why. 

Mr. TYDINGS. How would we know? 
Mr. ALLOTT. Mr. President, the Sen

ator yielded to me. 
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware; I do not 

know how we woUld know, any more than 
the Senator or I know, as a member of 
the committee. The only way I know in 
which I could satisfy some people would 
be to say that only the members of the 
Democratic · Party could do this. I am 
getting tired --of this political bickering. 
The Senator asks how we would know 
that some man down there is not going 
to aibuse it. we do not know. We do not 
know that the President of the United 
States is not going to do something 
wrong. We do not know that JOHN WIL
LIAMS or that JOE TYDINGS is not going 
to abuse our public trust. But let us not 
start asking questions and question the 
integrity of a man until we know what 
we are talking about. 

Mr. TYDINGS. We have guidelines. 
Mr. ALLOTT. Mr. President, will the 

Senator yield to me? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I have 
not heard of any case that has been 
abused. 

I yield to the Senator from Colorado. 
, Mr. ALLOT!'. The Senator from Mary
land has had an opportunity to intervene 
in this matter, and I would like an op-
portunity, also. · 

I, together with Senator MAGNUSON, 
who is chairman of the Independent Of
fices Committee, got a real shock in this 
area in the hearings of 1965, and I want 
to refer. to specific pages in thos~ hear
ings, from 1080 through 1105, in which 
will be found a complete discussion of 
the access of the Federal Trade Commis
sion-of all things-to the IRS flies. 

They first denied that they had access 
to them, and I read Paul Rand Dixon's 
answer: , 

What we got off the lncO!l:le tax was names, · 
sir; that's all we get. 

Before we got through examining him, 
we found that they were maintaining a 
staff of three or four people all the time 
at the IRS-all the time. This was in 
1965. Because of the investigation and 
the questioning we subjected them to
both Senator MAGNUSON and I-that 
practice, according to the subsequent 
statement of Mr. Dixon, next year was. 
not reswned. It was stopped. 

Is this not the fact: The very man who 
set up the regulations-which were no 
regulations at all, in effect-for Mr. Bel
lino in 1961 is the man who today signs 
a letter, which the Senator has placed in 
the RECORD or has read into the RECORD, 
which says that this is an illegal act. 

Mr. WILLiAMS of Delaware. That is 
correct. 

Mr. ALLOTT. Mr. Mortimer Caplin, to 
be specific. 

Mr. WILLIAMS o{ Delaware. Mr. cap
lin now says that what he did while he 
was Commissioner was illegal, and he 
said the requests should be in writing. 
They are in writing now. 

I think this is an area in which we 
should be ever cautious. I would have 
appreciated it, and I think I would have 
equally as such respect for Mr. Caplm.'s 
position, had he written the committee 
rather than writing the Democratic Na
tional Committee. I do not know what he 
figured the Democratic National Com
mittee could do about it, except Politics. 
Mr. O'Brien said: 

U this action 1s not taken voluntatlly, we 
are _prepared to initiate lega.l action that Will 
end this practice. 
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He was condemning a loose practice 
that his own administration initiated but 
which has been corrected long ago by the 
Nixon administration. But I guess they 
will not initiate prosecution retroactively 
on themselves. . 

I think this matter should be put into 
proper perspective, and called what it is, 
namely, gutter Politics. They have tried 
to give the impression throughout the 
country thaLIJlese tax returns under the 
Nixon administration have been used in
discrminately. They have not, and that 
is the Point. And the Commissioner has 
said that there has been much less use in 
this administration than heretofore. 
There have been seven requests with nine 
returns. 

Here is another letter which I will put 
in the RECORD, dated August 10, 1964. 
This is addressed to the Honorable Ber
trand M. Harding, the Acting Commis
sioner of Internal Revenue, in Washing
ton: 

checked. If he is right I do not care wh_o 
it is: I will help to correct the abuse. 

Let us not say, "Did he get the return 
of Mr. X," and throw out a lo.t of names. 
I think it is unfair to any man. Merely 
asking such a question indicates s~pi
cion on the part of the man who does so. 
It is unfair. 
. Mr. ALLOTT. Does not the question 

alone, "Did you get the return of George 
Wallace?"-

Mr. WILLIAMS of. Delaware. That 
alone constitutes a semicharge, and I am 
surprised at the man who did it. 

Mr. ALLOTT. Does that not constitute 
a sort of cloud itself? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. It is, and 
it is wrong. 

I would say that if any official in the 
executive branch of the Government-
I do not care if it is Clark Mollenhotf 
or my own brother-is getting tax re
turns of the average citizen, as a mem
ber of the executive branch, not a mem
ber of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, 

DEPARTMENT o:r JusT1cE, for the sole purpose of seeing whether 
Washington, August 10, 1964. or not that citizen is paying enough taxes 

Hon. BERTRAND M. HARDING, or as a political threat, that· is wrong. 
Acting Commissioner of Internal Revenue, If a man has done something wrong as 
Washington, D.c. " a Government official or as a prospective 

DEAR MR. HARDING: In connection with a.n ' 
officia.1. investigation, 1 would appreciate re- Government official, when there is such 
ceivlng uncertified photostatic copies of the an allegation involving a Government 
income ta.x returns for the years 1958 transaction, it is their business to check. 
through 1963 for the enclosed list of tax- I only wish such a check had been in 
payers. force under some preceding administra-

It is also requested that these returns be tion, because then we woQ.ld not have a 
forwaroed to Mr. Walt.er J. Sheridan, 450 Federal judge. sitting today, passing 
Milner Building, :uo South La.ma.r street, · d t Am · t h · Jacksan, MililSl.ssJ.ppi. In the event these re- JU gmen on er1can axpayers, w o m 
turns a.re not located, it is requested that private life did. not pay his income taxes. 
Mr. Sheridan be notified at the above ad· Mr. -SPARKMAN. Mr. President,. will 
dress. :the Senator from Delawal!e yield? 

Your cooperation in this matter is greatl:9 Mr. -WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield. 
appreciated. · Mr. SPARKMAN. I want to seek some 

Sincerely, information because we hope to finish 
HERBERT J. Mn.LEK, Jr., this bill today and we expect a rollcall. 

Assistant Attorney General. I hope that Senators still in the Cham-

I do not know who Mr. Sheridan is. I 
would hope hew~ the U.S. attorney. 

Let us not try to make a mountain out 
of a molehill. I have yet to hear one man 
anywhere speak of a specific example of 
abuse of handling these returns under 
the Nixon administration. 

I recall that years ago a Membel" of 
the Senate was censured for trying to 
condemn his fellow man by innuendo, 
without specific charges. If anyone has 
any question to raise concerning abuse,· 
name the case, and I will help to have it 

ber--
Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I hope so, 

too. I told the Senator that I would not 
be but a few minutes, but I do not want 
to shut off this colloqUY--

Mr. SPARKMAN. I realize that, but a 
good many Senators have asked me when 
they could get away because we expect 
a rollcall vote some time today--

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Well; we 
are dealing with a very important sub
ject here, and I think they are all anxious 
to stay around and get a better under
standing of the law. 
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Mr. SCOTT. Mr. President, if the 

Senator from Delaware will yield, could 
I ask whether he himself intends t.o ask 
for a rollcall on the bill? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I under
stand it will be requesteg.; yes. 

Mr. HANSEN. Mr. President, will the 
Senat.or from Delaware yield? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield. 
Mr. HANSEN. Mr. President, I thank 

the distinguished Senator from Dela
ware. 

I should like to compliment him on the 
job he has done in looking into a situa
tion that, up to now, or rather, before he 
spoke, might very well have been pre
swned, in the minds of a great many 
people, merely t.o reflect upon the politi
cal activities of the present administra
tion. 

I join the other Senators who already 
have. expressed their strong convictions 
that this system is not a reprehensible 
one, that it is defensible, that it has re
sulted in real benefit accruing to the peo
ple of ,thJs country. 

Let me say, Mr. President, that I do 
not think the average taxpayer is too 
much disturbed about having his tax re
turns examined. Obviously, most of us 
would hoPe that those near neighbors of 
ours would not have the pleasure of try
ing t.o make comparisons between what 
we may do and they may do; but so far 
as ·the average taxpayer in this country 
is concerned, I do not think that he fears 
an examination of his return by the 
President, or by anyone else, because I 
happen t.o believe that most of the people 
in this country are honest. 

I do not think it is.lair at all to ailege 
that we will destroy the whole system, if 
we let the cat out of the bag to the effect 
that former Presidents and former staff 
members of Presidents have examined 
tax returns. I do not think that any 
President, insofar as I know of-not a 
single one-has exercised that authority 
capriciously. 

I would ask my distinguished col
leagues on the other side, and on this side 
of the aisle as well, whether the~ are 
concerned, if it disturbs them that 106 
or 108--whatever the number was-per
sons working for the Internal Revenue 
Service who have been convicted, a num
ber of whom are now serving their sen
tences, does that disturb them? It surely 

does not disturb me and I do not think it 
disturbs the average taxpayer at all, that 
in this country of ours the President of 
the United States and certain commit
tees of Congress are going to be looking 
into the returns filed by all taxpayers. It 
does not make one bit of difference if 
they happen to be, at a precise point in 
time, the Collector of Internal Revenue 
for the United States, that they, too, are 
not going to be exempted from the scru
tiny that should be assured all the people 
will be exercised by this Government, by 
the checks to which the Senator from 
Delaware has already referred, which 
constil;utes the best assurance I know of 
that we will be treating all the people in 
this country · alike. I do not know of a 
single taxpayer in this country-are 
there 70 million-35 million? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Eighty 
million. 

Mr. HANSEN. Eighty million taxpay
ers. I should think that when 106 people, 
who have served the Government of the 
United States in the collection of ta~es, 
have been convicted of violations, that 
this was the best way, the best possible 
way I know of, to convince the more 
than 210 million, or however many mil
lions of people there are in this country 
today, that this system is good. We are 
calling upon the people of this country 
voluntarily to tell the Government what 
taxes they owe. 

I, too, resent the questions that were 
put to my distinguished friend from 
Delaware by saying, "Has this person's 
tax return been examined?" 

We could very easily turn around and 
ask our friends on the other side of the 
aisle, "Has that person's taxes been 
examined?" 
· I do not know. 

All I can say is that Mr. Mollenhoff is 
answerable to the President of the United 
States. The President of the United 
States was elected by a vote of the people 
of this country. I recognize his right, and 
I defend him in his right, to name who
ever he wishes to serve as his represent
ative. I leave·it UP to the good judgment 
of the people of this country. When they 
no longer want to extend the mandate 
they granted in 1968, let that judgment 
be made by the people of this country. 

If Mr. Mollenhoff, or whoever may 
serve under any President, those who 
serv~d under President Truman, those 
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who ·served under President Roosevelt-
I do not know· under whom Mr. Noonan 
served, the former Commissioner of In
ternal Revenue who was convicted and 
who served time; but I am· certain it was 
not the intent of the President of the 
United States, whoever he was, under 
whom Mr. Noonan served, to have that 
kind of business going on. I do not think 
it is up to us to say that in our judgment, 
Mr. Mollenhoff is a political operator .. 

There are many people serving in high 
positions in Government today. The im
portant thing is that they have the con..: 
fidence of the President of the United 
States and that their actions be judged 
in the light of the good sense of the peo
ple of this country; and if they do not 
like the way that business is being han
dled, there is provided the opportunity 
every 4 years to change that around. 

I have every confidence Mr. Mollen
hoff will act in a most responsible fashion 
to serve the Presidency of the United 
States. If it just happens that some read 
into his actions a political motivation, 
let it be noted that he has asked for the 
tax returns of only nine individuals and 
that he made seven requests to get the 
ni_ne returns. Compare that, if you will, 
with what was done under President 
Kennedy. But I am not objecting to that. 
I think it is good. I am proud that Sena
tor McCLELLAN has done the great job he 
has in this country. I am just delighted. 
I think that all the people ,of this coun
try are far better ooff, because he had the 
right, as Chairman of the Committee on 
Government Operations, to make the in
vestigation he has. Had he. denied that· 
right, this country would be far worse off 
than is now the fact. 

I do not think there is any validity 
to the charge. It would occur to me that 
if I wanted to be political, that what may 
have started out as an allegation that 
seemed to have some political connota
tion, in the light of the discussions which 
have been made by the distinguished 
senior Senator from Delaware, has now 
been turned right around. I do not blame 
those who complained. It is like the man 
who caught a wildcat and would like 
someone to help him tum it loose. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr. Pres
ident, I shall yield the floor in just a 

moment, but I want to make just one 
point here, in case what has been said 
may be inrerpreted as a criticism of Mr. 
Bellino who was the man examining the 
-returns under the preceding administra
tion without written requests. I knew 
Mr. Bellino when he was serving as the 
counsel of the Committee on Govern
ment Operations. !knew him personally. 
I hap tremendous respect for Mr. Bellino. 
I am confident, based on my knowledge 
of him and on the Senator from Ne
braska who was also on the committee 
and who knows Mr. Bellino, that he did 
not turn this into a political persecution 
operation. I have that much confidence 
in him. I want the RECORD to show that. 
I did not raise the questions, but I do 
think it would have been better to have 
had his requests in writing. 

President Kennedy had the right to 
outline, as the law says, the regulation 
under which it operates, and as the reg
ulations were outlined there would be no 
written request. I wish there had been. I 
am glad that the present administration 
is using written requests only; but, nev
ertheless, I do not attribute to Mr. Bel
lino any suggestion that he was doing 
anything in his capacity other than that 
which he should have done as a repre
sentative of the President. 

At the same time l would hope that -
those who frankly admit they have not 
been able to raise any charge of im
proper handling of these returns as far 
as Mr. Mollenhoff is concerned would ex
tend to him the same degree of respect. 
There is no evidence that I can find 
which would show that Mr. Mollenhoff 
has not acted with discretion. What are 
they scared about? 

If there is something wrong and Sen
ators want to change the law let us get 
to it. We have the same objective no 
matter which side of the aisle we are 
on. We are not going to accomplish any
thing on a partisan basis. We would not 
i:ender any service to our country. 

In the heat of such a political discus
sion we might leave the impression that 
the integrity and the secrecy of tax re
turns are not being properly respected. 
I think that they are. There is no evi
dence to the contrary. And let us not 
make any charge by innuendo. 
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Such low tactics are below the dignity 
of the Senate. 

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. President, will the 
Senator yield? 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I shall 
yield to the Senator from Nebraska and 
shall then yield the floor. 

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. President, I thank 
the Senator. lam sure I speak for many 
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in the Chamber in expressing gratitude 
to the Senator from Delaware for set
ting the record straight. 

It is very clear that the actions of 
Commissioner Thrower, the Office of 
the President, the President himself, 
and Mr. Mollenhoff were in accord with 
both the law and the regulations. 

So far as Clark Mollenhoff is con
cerned, he does not need any defense. 
Clark Mollenhoff is a man of the high
est integrity and character. He is a 
lawyer and is well trained. There is not 
a inan in Washington that has re
searched as many investigations as 
Clark Mollenhoff has. 

People who might wonder about Clark 
Mollenhoff are not those that are afraid 
that he would be a party to something 
wrong, but they are rather afraid that 
he might be pursuing the public interest. 

I again commend the distinguished 
Senator from Delaware for clearing up 
an item that might be disturbing the 
American people. 

I am just politically minded enough 
to want to say a kind word . about 
Lawrence O'Brien. The chairman of a 
Political party has a very tough job. He 
has to build the business day after day. 
And some days business is poor. 

He has to support candidates that are 
strong, and he has to support candidates 
that are weak. 

The chairman has got to stand there 
and push ahead all the time. 

I hope that those who are his superiors 
will not be too rough on him for his 
error in this matter. 

Mr. Caplin and Mr. Cohen particularly 
should have caught the error, because 
Mr. Caplin 1s on record 1n writing for 
a position which is apparently totally 
contrary to what he advised Mr. O'Brien. 

I hope that those who are Mr. O'Brien's 
superiors will be forgiving because the 
burden on the chairman of either party 
is very heaVY. He has to try to supPort 

candidates and some of them are not 
very good candidates. · 

Mr. Wn.LIAMS of Delaware. Mr. Pres
ident, I thank the Senator. I concur in 
that statement. I thought the record 
should be set straight because these ques-
tions have been raised. · 

I have had many Senators who are not 
on the committee ask whether there has 
been a violation of the law. And I thought 
the record should be set straight. 

I want to say that there is no evidence 
to substantiate such a political attack as 
that made by Mr. O'Brien. No suggestion 
has been made in any committee meet
ing that I have attended indicating that 
anything improper has been done 1n the 
handling of these returns by the execu
tive branch under the preceding admin
istration, under this administration, or 
by any congressional committee. 

When the question was raised as to 
HEW, someone asked, "Why do they need 
tax returns?" We found that they need 
them to check the information on social 
security benefits. 

There may be a reason for all of this. 
If abuse is shown anywhere we want to 
handle it, but let us handle it in the best 
interest of the revenue service, not as a 
political issue. 

I thought that we should get the record 
straight from the beginning so that we 
would know that it is not something un
usual when tax returns can be examined 
by a representative of the President. It 
has always been done. It should be done. 
I would not have much respect for any 
man in the White House who did not dis
charge his responsibility when something 
was called to his attention. . 

I have the utmost respect for both Mr. 
Bellino and Mr. Mollenhoff, but there 
can always be something to go wrong. 
We should be on guard for that. 

I think that the chairman of our Fi
nance Committee, who is also the chair
man of the Joint Economic Committee, 
should be commended for calling the 
committee together promptly in order to 
determine the .basis of Mr. O'Brien's 
charges. . 

If someone raises a question of abuse 
tomorrow I would say that we should 
examine it. It should be examin.ed. If 
there is any basis for it we should clear 
it up and correct it. If the manner in 
which the returns are being handled by 
the agencies or by the various divisions 
of the executive branch of the Govern-
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ment or by congressional committees is when that authority is delegated, it ought 
improper let us face it. to be spelled out in writing. The Pres-

I know the chairman will bear me out. ident ought to sign a document saying, 
We were all surPrised when we found the "I designate Mr. Mollenhoff, or whoever 
vast number of executive departments it may be, to be my man to look at cer
that had had access to the returns over tain tax returns for these specified 
the past several years. purposes." 

Mr. LONG. Mr. President, will the Then we would know who the man is 
Senator yield? and why he wanted· to see the returns. 

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I yield. I hope that the Senator will agree that 
Mr. LONG. Mr. President, I am happy when one goes to_look at a tax return, 

that the Senator brought this matter up. he ought to make such a request in writ
It is a matter that should be considered ing and state why he asked to see the 
by the Senate. It should be discussed. return, and whose return it was, so that 

About a week ago, Chairman MILLS, if he is doing this thing in an irrespon
after having heard the story that Mr. sible way, this fact could be expected to 
Mollenhoff had access to income tax re- come back and haunt him, in the man
turns, suggested to me that we should ner in which this Bellino matter came 
meet. I agreed and we would have met back to haunt him. 
perhaps a week sooner had we been able The Senator knows as well as I do that 
to get all the Members together quicker. what we have here might not be as much 

a matter of serious concern as the fact 
Certain things came to my attention that Governors have this tax information 

which I thought we should act on. For available to them, perhaps altogether too 
one thing, it is important for all to un- loosely. 
derstand that no citizen has any right to It seems to me the procedure we spell 
object to the President or to a Govern- out for the President should apply to 
ment agency, such as the Justice Depart- Governors as well. If someone wants to 
ment, taking a look at his tax return on see a tax return, there should be a .rec
a completely responsible basis. For one ord that he wanted to see it, why he 
to look at a man's tax returns for an im- wanted to see it. 
proper purpose, of course, is something · As the Senator from Delaware knows, 
that everyone has the right to object to. members of the Committee on Finance 
. I believe we would all agree that the and the Joint Committee have the right 

Bellino precedent 1s really not very good. to see tax returns. I do not reca.11 of 
It is not good to send someone over with- any case where we asked to see the 
out a written authorization from the actual name of the individual involved 
President and without any written au- or the company. We normally say we 
thorization at all to look at anyone's tax . would like to know if company A did 
returns. Obviously, that is not a good this, and if they did, then how much 
practice. was involved and the other pertinent 

My impression is that this precedent facts. 
did not continue under the Johnson Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The 
administration. Senator is correct. In addition, if a re-

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. The Sen-. tum did have to be examined we had 
ator is correct. Mr. Woodworth or his staff do it as the 

Mr. LONG. Mr. President, it would be case of Mr. John Doe. It would be highly 
fair to say that President Johnson did improper for the Committee on Finance 
not follow this practice at any time. If or any other committee of Congress or 
he had, we would find out, I would think. anyone in the executive branch, wher-

Mr. Wn.LIAMS of Delaware. Mr. Pres- ever it may be, to start examining tax 
ident, I made that statement earlier. returns on an indiscriminate basis. That 

Mr. LONG. Mr. President, in this par- is not what we are here for. We have 
ticular instance, I would suggest that the Internal Revenue Service to do that. 
we should pass a law to say on just In the Committee on Finance we were 
what terms and conditions a person des- examining returns to see if there were 
ignated by the President is entitled to see legal loopholes in the law that needed to 
someone's tax returns. be corrected from a legislative stand-

As far as I am concerned, the Pres- point only. The various agencies should 
ident, himself, is entitled to see every- look at them only in the administration 
_one's tax returns. But I do not think that of their duties and not on. the basis of 
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anything else, and as I understand it 
that is what is being done. 

If there is evidence of violations by any 
agency of government I would be the first 
to rise to oppose it because I would not 
want that to happen. We do have to pro
tect .the American taxpayer. We collect 
this money on a voluntary basis, but at 
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the same time we have to convince the 
A"llerican people that we are on guard 
trying to protect their interests and at 
the same time trying to assure that there 
.is not only secrecy in the tax returns but 
also integrity on the part of the officials 
administering the agency. 

I think' something good may come of 
this discussion here today because, as 
the Senator Pointed out, there can be 
problems particularly as relating to the 
States and other agencies. Maybe we in 
Congress need tighter rules; maybe the 
White House needs tighter rules. But let 
us do it working together with one 
thought in mind, and that is to promote 
a better government. I have no evidence 
that there was improper use made of tax 
returns under preceding administrations 
or this administration, none whatever. 

I have expressed my high regard for 
Mr. Bellino. I have the same high regard 
for President Nixon· and his representa
tive Mr. Mollenhoff, and I hope others 
share that high regard. I am going to 
respect all of them until somebody comes 
in and says that a certain particular case 
was handled wrong. When it· comes to 
that I will examine the matter on its 
merits, and whoever is responsible will be 
held accountable. Meanwhile let us not 
lose respect" for our fellow man nor try 
to discredit him for partisan political 
gain. 

I yield the floor. 

PRACTICE BY EXECUTIVE BRANCH 
OF EXAMINING INDIVIDUAL TAX 
RETURNS 
Mr. GORE. Mr. President, this is a 

very disturbing matter that has been dis
cussed :here. I wish the record to show 
that I have not referred .to any action of 
President Nixon in this regard. 

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, may 
we have order? 

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The Sen
ate will be in order. 

Mr. GORE. A number of statements 
have been made with respect to Presi
dential action with regard to the issuance 
of regulations. 

The committee session which I at
tended did not have any evidence of any 
action on the part of President Nixon at 
all and I do not wish to allege any. I have 
not made reference to any. 

I did make a statement that the pro
cedure appeared to be loose, indiscreet, 
inadvisable, and I will say again im
proper, and as I said it was open ended. 

Here is what we have: A memorandum 
of conversations between Commissioner 
Thrower and Mr. Clark R. Mollenhoff. 
The memorandum states: 

Following through on our recent luncheon 
conversation-

I then come to the sentence: 
I would suggest that every time you have 

occasion to Inspect a tax return, application 
for exemption, or other Internal Revenue file, 
you send me a memorandum briefly setting 
forth the nature of the request. Naturally-

Listen to how tight this is. 
Naturally, we wlll infer in every case that 

the request is either at the direction of, or in 
the interest of, the President. 

The Commissioner testified he had had 
no instructions from the President 01-ally 
or in writing, and yet this memorandum 
stated he naturally asswnes that every 
request will be at the direction of or in 
the interest of the President. What does 
"in the interest of" mean? 

I shall read another sentence: 
After receiving your request, we will make 

arrangements for the files to be assembled In 
my Immediate suite. of offices here and we 
will notify you as soon as they are ready for 
Inspection. 

Real accommodating, is it not? Real 
accommodating. 

If, after Inspection of the files, you want 
copies of any of the material Inspected, we 
wlll be happy to make them for you. 

Mr. President, I say this is an indis
creet way to treat a taxpayer's tax re
turn. Who whispered to the distinguished 
senior Senator from Delaware that a tax 
return of a judge had been pulled a.nd 
examined? Nobody whispered that to me. 
Has anybody whis~red that to the 
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chairman of the committee? Who 
whispers this a:bout? How does it come 
that political :figures are alleged to be in
volved, that hints are being whispered 
about them? This is disturbing. 

I do not say the President had any
thing to do with it. I do not know. I 
would be inclined to think he did not. 
But by what right, by what possession, 
does the Commissioner of Inte1;n~ Reve
nue say that he will itssume that every 
request Mr. Clark Mollenhoff•makes is at 
the direction of the President or in the 
interest of the President? 

If nothing else comes of this, I hope 
we will arrive at a formalized procedure, 
because this is loose. I think it is irre
sponsible and improper. I cannot say it 
is illegal. I had previously thought it was. 
I am not prepared now to say so. But I 
want to make it so it is illegal. 

This is not to question the right of the 
President to have access to a tax return. 
I do not question it. I think he should. I 
think if congressional committees have 
a need to know, it should be made avail
able to them. But this does not go to a 
political operative going on a fishing ex
pedition to find out what he can about 

I have no evidence to indicate and no 
reason to believe that Mr. Mollenhoff 
has abused his discretionary power. On 
the other hand, I fully understand the 
concern of some that such a power could 
be abused if it were used strictly for Po
litical purposes. 

• It occurs to me that our concern about 
possible misuse of power to investiga~e 
tax returns might be more profitably di
rected toward the Internal Revenue 
Service. The possibilities of abuse at that 
source would seem limitless since ms 
has access to all income tax returns. 

For example, on April 13, 1970, a news
paper account indicated that a special 
task- force of Internal Revenue agents 
had been assembled in Alabama and are 
asking questions about eight named po
litical :figures in Alabama, one being the 
brother of a candidate for statewide. of
fice and five of whom are currently cam
paigning for office in the State Demo
cl'atic Party primary scheduled for May 
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tax returns. 5, 1970. These newspaper accounts cite 
Somebody might write a letter about "confidential field reports" and allege.

another judge. Nothing has been alleged' tions made in a confidential report of the 
here with respect to the instance cited. Internal Revenue Service's Audit Dlvi
Who has whispered the facts or the n5ion as source of authority. 
name? I do not know the name or the · Mr. President, no one questions the 
facts, but nobody has alleged that the right of Internal Revenue agents to in
judge did anything wrong. nobody has vestlgate income tax returns if motivated 
alleged any criminal acts. I just do not by the duty to protect the public interest 
know the circumstances. I will not pre- by fair and impartial enforcement of the 
sume what the circumstances are. But if law. On the other hand, if the investl
the contents of one ta:xpayer's files can gation ls motivated by political consid
be whispered about, the contents of eratlons-that is another story. 
every taxpayer's files can be whispered It stands to reason that any publicized 
about. investigation by the Internal Revenue 

We need to formalize a procedure to Service tends to create a suspicion, to 
preserve the privacy and the confidential say·the least, and suggests the possibility 

. nature of the tax returns of every tax- of a violation of law. 
payer. The newspaper accounts state that 

Mr. ALLEN. Mr. President, much at- the mvestige.tion is still in its prelbninary 
tention has been directed today in the stages and ith8lt no charges have been 
Senate to the controversy between the .brought aga4nst anyone. Nevertheless, 
Democratic Party chairman, Lawrence the publicity concerning ifJhe investiga.".' 
F. O'Brien, and Republican chairman, tlon was allegedly based on informaJtlon 
Rogers Morton, concerning the wisdom obba.ined from· the Internal Revenue 
of a discretionary power in Mr. Clark Service. The election 1s less than 3 weeks 
Mollenhoff to investigate income tax re- hence. The cand1dwte.s named in tJhe 
turns of private citizens. publicity a.re placed 1n a grossly un:ta4r 
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pasition of 'being compelled ;to refute tM 
lmplioa.tions of the annowieed investiga-
tion. , • 

The tiril1ng of lthis investigiatlon has 
created questions 1n tb,e minds of many 
Al'llbamians. They want to know if the 
investigation 1s Politically motivated and 
w'ho is responslble for the timing e.nd for 
the release of supposedly confidential in
formation if any such mforme.t1on waa. 
in illaot, released. D seems to me that 
these a.re valid questions. 

Mr. President, I campaigned for the 
office of U.S. Senator, from Alabama em
ph11&Zing emong Qther things 'my sin
cere conviction thait the Federal Estab
lishment should not widerta.ke 1io inter
fere 1n Smit.e political mces. I hold :flnnly 
to that conviction. 

I hope sincerely that we have not wit
nessed in Alabama a pa'btem for future 
political actlvities of this or any other 
administration. 
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EXHIBIT NO. 106 

THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASHINGTON 

Herb Kalmbach, thinking ahead to the possibility of the 
matter of privilege being raised at some time or another, 
suggested that there should be a written retainer arrangement 
in existence in advance. 

. / . 

He has written out this long-hand draft, I'm sure you'll 
find the basic question of whether or not such a letter is 
advisable to be the first hurdle, 

If you think that one may be inadvisable I would suggest 
you talk to Herb direct, Otherwise, would you work on a 
revision? J _, . //" ~ :::>··· -.., 



3006 

. . •. . ... ·, 

' . . - .. :/ : 00 2!16~ \· ... · ~':::'(: \'rd. '. 
_ ...... --.. ·----·;----- - ~-· 

·····::• :z;2:•.·····.········· .... ~2·.·. :···.·:(;~ .. ~~·.· .. · ... 



3007 

EXHIBIT !No. 107 

Conversation ,with Clark MacGregor. 

E. Ehrlichman. 
M. MacGregor. 

El 'Hi, Clark. Gee, you're nice to call back. 
M. Well, you bet, sir, 'I'm sorry I was away. I went to one of those very exciting 

dedication ceremonies of the new ·building and housing with Federal Power 
Commission. 

E. Say I missed that. But !l just want you to know it wasn't because I wasn't 
invited. 

M. I want to give you a detailed report. 
E. That's why I called, really. 
M. We may get around to that someday. Actually, I think that's a great idea

they have a new building in the north capi,tol street area near Union Plaza 
area in that old, it's been torn up so much and they have a federal agency 
in there. I think it's a darn good idea. 

E. It helps the town. I am asking you to plumb your recollection, Mr. Mac
Gregor. Back in the days following the Oonvention we were all at the con
vention and then if you will remember, the President went to San Clemente 
for five or six days and then he went on to Honolulu. 

M. Yes, I remember. 
E. Do you remember a sequence of events where we hatched a plot to have 

Olark ·MacGregor go out and make disclosures on the Watergate case? And 
said--

M. Yes. 
E. And said. wouldn't it be an ideal time when the President is in Hawaii so 

·that he's detached and so on and so forth? 
M. I do recall it. 
E. And we had extensive discussions and •I'm, what I'm trying to track down is 

a memo that was written about that and I can't find any record of it and 
it may be that I am just imagining that there is such a thing. 

M. John, I don't honestly recall a memo. Now, as I think back on that it may 
be that my recollection will change but I recall the circumstances that 
brought me to San Clemente and I think I came with some reluctance but 
not because of Watergate, because--

E. Other things you had to do. 
M. Yes, that's right, and because Bob Haldeman said to me that he felt that 

it was imperative that 1I come out and visit with Bob and with you about 
the question of if you will White 'House oversight of Committee activities 
in certain key states. 

E. Oh, yes, that was the problem we discussed at the convention and so on. 
Yeah. 

M. ,And directly to our discussion which you and Bob and I think Fred 'Malek 
and I had a meeting in your office and that consumed much ·of the morning. 
We were-I think you and Bob and I were on some other matters for part 
of the morning in Bob'~ office: then it seem!" to me we <'onvened rf"il·ll:v in 
your office with Fred ·Malek and then we met briefly with the President; 
then we trooped up to hear the President respond to the questions put to 
him and th<it w~« A11g1rnt 29 in the outdoor, sort of out door give and take 
session he had with the press. 

E. Yeah, yeah, good for you. 
'Well, the thing that I am trying to recall is the details of this concept that 
we should make a clean breast ,of the Watergate right at that time. It 
becomes material in this whole investigation that's going on now only for 
'the question of the part that John Dean may have played in giving advice 
that we ought not to do it at that ,time. 
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M. .Again, I'm going to rely on recollection and :I'll look at home tonight, John, 
because I didn't retain a great many papers. I thought it was no purpose 

· behind, somebody else was going to be the historian, ,but I do recall that 
sometime in advance of that San Clemente discussions which we just covered, 
which took place on August 29, sometime prior to that the idea wa:s voiced by 
Maurice Stans or others that maybe I ought to go before the press and say 
here's the written accounting of what transpired and I'm prepared to answer 
Your questions about this and that although ,I never saw ,a memo I did see 
a draft, a rough draft, which I think was the one filed through John Dean, 
which consf.sted of five to seven double spaced pages on regular 9 x 12 paper, 
non-legal size paper with a sort of a historical summary. That I know, that 
particular paper, I think probably came to my attention in my campaign 
office at 1701 sometime a week to two weeks in advance of the Republican 
Convention and it resided for some time in my right hand drawer of the desk 
where 'I kept papers that I wanted to pick out and look at from time to ,time 
but haven't decided to act on. I don't recall that there was any accompanying 
memo at ,any time or anything in letter form that referred to the question 
of whether Clark MacGregor should make this statement. 

E. We had some pretty heated telephone conversations, as I recall, about your 
doing this. 

M. Well, I think that may 1be Tight. 
E. Yeah. You decided in your own mind that it was not a wise thing to do and 

we went back and forth, back and forth on it. Is that about right? 
M. Yes. Maybe. I think-'! felt one of, well, :I think YoU may be right, but I'm 

trying to probe my own recollection, my own motives. 
E. Yeah. 
M. It seems ,to me 'I felt at that time that certain things that were set forth 

there were things that were strange to me and that I would not be able to 
handle very well in terms of questions. .And I think that rather than the 
question of the issuance of something it was a question of whether I was 
the appropriate person to ... Maury S1Jlms at that time was saying to me 
he wanted to do it. . 

E. Oh, yeah. Yeah, I remember that, and you felt, in fact you said what would 
1 say if. they asked me to vouch for these things ·and at that time you had 
conducted no independent investigation. 

M. Except you should know that what I did was during ,the first week of July, 
that would have been on .Monday, July 3, for the few people who were around 
and then more extensively on Wednesday, July 5. I did ask to come into my 
1701 office Fred LaRue, ,Jeb Magruder, Herb Porter and two or three others 
and simply close the door and put it to them face to face. 

E. One by one? 
M. Yep, did you in any . . . were you in any way involved or did you 

have any prior knowledge before June 17 of the events that are known as 
the Watergate? 

E. And they said no? 
M. Yeah. 
E. OK, if you find it convenient and could rummage around and see if you have 

anything on that particular transaction, I'd be very grateful to you. 
M. OK, I will, John, I'll be looking for that, as I say, that double spaced, I can 

remember it was on white paper and it was on first sheets, not onion skin 
and I don't know that it had any particular title, but it did ·run 5--7 pages. 

E. And it would 1been a sort of a script of what you might have said? Is that it? 
M. Or issued, or handed out to the press. Kind of a white paper. 
E. I get it. 
M. ,J think it was referred to by one or more persons at that time as a white 

paper. 
E. Well, the memo f[ ·had in mind was one that I wrote that was a conceptual 

thing that said this coincidence of event were coming off the convention, 
, McGovern is our opposition, Olark MacGregor is a bright new image, the 

President will be in Hawaii-why not take advantage of that coincidence 
of factors and let's make a clean breast of things. 

M. I recall that what you have just said was presented to me I think partly by 
Bob Haldeman and partly by you but I don't recall ever seeing it in writing. 

E. Yeah, yeah. OK. 
Thank you, Clark, sorry to have bothered you. 

M. Oh, no bother. 
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ExHmIT No. '1.08 

Conversation with Ken Olawson 
C. Clawson. 
E. Ehrlichman. 

E. You called me? 
C. No I didn't call you. 
El. I'm sorry. I got a message at home to call you. I'll be jiggered. Is this Ken 

Clawson. 
C. Unless it was Jim Clawson. 
E. Couldn't have been. Isn',t that strange. Gee I hope I didn't wake you up. 
C. I'm out of it with this damn cold. 
E. Oh, that's too bad. While I have you could I ask you something. I'm awfully 

sorry to bother you. You may recall a meeting in my office which I think 
you :sort of convened to talk about a press report during the Watergate 
aftermath, when it broke, a press report about Hunt's safe being in the 
White House. And you and Chuck and Bruce Kehrli came up here and met 
with Dean and me to talk about what you know what our response should 
be and so forth. Do you remember that? 

C. Vaguely. I remember better an earlier meeting in which the question was 
should we give out Hunt's dates of employment and what Charley's role was 
in hiring him. 

E. Yeah. Well, this focuses particularly on what we ought to do about the 
contents of the safe, what we ought to say to the press, what we ought to do 
about Hunt and so forth. Do you have any present recollection of that? 

C. A vague memory, yeah, but I don't recall any of the details of it. 
E. Well, it's interesting because Dean who as you know has talked to the U.S. 

Attorney at great length, cites some comments of mine in ,that meeting a:s 
evidence of corrupt attitude on my part and I'm looking for anybody who can 
help me to recall what took place there. 

C. That's a helluva note, John. 
E. I agree. 
C. If you want me to be forthwith and straightforward with you, 'I'll recollect 

anything you want me to. 
E. Well, no, let me, let me tell you what my problem is and then you can ... 

I've got to tell what I recall and what I don't recall. He alleges that I said 
two things at that meeting. One that we ought to deep six the contents of the 
safe, quote, unquote. And, two, that we ought to get Hunt to leave the 
country. 

C. Oh, I could ... listen, John, if anything like that. If either one of those 
two things were said that would be vivid in my mind. 

El. I would think :so. I would think so. 
C. And ,that's objectively. 
E. Now, in point of fact, Dean phoned Liddy and asked Liddy to have Hunt 

leave the country. 
C. That's new news to me. 
E. Yeah, but you see this ... and what he's doing is saying well I was just 

being a good German and carrying out orders. 
C. No, I would have absolutely no trouble in remembering either one of those 

two things had that been said. 
E. Well, OK. 
"· I would just remember that. 
ID. Yeah, that':s a :fiairly dramatic event. OK, thank you very much. Awfully 

sorry to have bothered you. I just don't understand. 
C. If there's anything I can do in this thing, please let me . 
E. I will. I will. Thank you, Ken. 
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Exu:mrr No. 109 

Conversation with Chuck Colson, ,April 17, 1973. 
C. Oolson. 
H. Holly Holm (Colson's secretary). 
E. Ehrlichman. 
E. Hello. 
H. Hello, 'Mr. Colson's office. 
E. Yes, this is John Ehrlichman. 
H. '.Hi, Mr. Ehrlichman. 
E. Mr. Colson in? 
H. Yes, just a minute please. 
c. Hello. 
E. Hi. 
C. Hi, John. I'll be over about 11 if that's convenient. 
E. Fine, that's very good. 
C. Two quick questions, though. One thing I should tell you is ,that our great 

find last night really started accelerating. Something coming out this morn
ing. Dean involved. Now I notice the LA Times has it this morning but 
the people that Shapiro has been getting information from, you know, the 

. town is buzzing with, is alive with the story, so ,1 don't think we have a 
helluva lot of time. ·· 

E. All right. 
C. I just thought 'I'd let you know that. 
E. I appreciate it. 
C. Did he, when he went over there, was he given any immunity? 
E. Notyet. 

What they've done, apparently. 
C. They shouldn't give it to him. 
E. I know it. What they said to him is that unless he turns up corroborated 

evidence against Haldeman and me. 
C. Is that who he's trying to make? 
E. Sure. 
0. Who, Dean is? 
E. Yep. 
C. That's John Mitchell again. Son of a bitch. 
E. Unless he does that he doesn't get immunity. Now my grapevine tells me that 

you are going to be summoned over there today. 
C. Oh, really? . 
E. Yep. And that they're going to ask you about a meeting in my office which 

Dean has highlighted as the central gemstone in the case against me and 
so just in case you get hauled over there before 11 o'clock, maybe I'd better 
tell you a,bout it. It was a meeting that Kehrli, Clawson, you, Dean and 
I had here. 

C. I wasn't there. 
E. ·In my office. 
C. T was not there. [)ean tried this one out on me Friday night, and I said the 

only thing I can ever recall, John, is I once told you I thought it was a 
stupid, god-damn thing for Hunt to be unavailable. 

E. Well, that's the meeting where SUPPoSedly I ordered him ,to tell Hunt to 
leave the country. 

C. Never heard that. And I will SO state under oath. 
E. Or that I admonished everyone that we ought to figure out some way to 

deep six the contents of Hunt's safe. 
C. No. No way. :J was the one who said go get Hunt's safe and be sure it's. 

preserved for the FBI. 
E. Right. 
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0. A. and B it's stupid to get another country. But that was in my office, not 
yours. And you weren't present. 

0. I can handle that one easily. 
E. But you were not in a meeting here? 
0. Well, I may have been but I sure don't remember that. 
E. That's the way. OK. 
0. All right? I can handle that. 
E. Thank you, I'll see you at 11. 
C. There's a couple of things you and I need to do to protect each other's flank 

here but we'll talk about that, 1but no, I'm serious. 
E. Fair enough. 
0. Let's get it clearly understood that son of a bitch doesn't get immunity. 

I want to nail him. 
E. Well I'm doing my best. 
0. No, J want to nail him. I'll take immunity first. 
E. OK. 
0. All right? 
E. All right. 
0. Thanks. 
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EXIDBITN0.109A 

*STATEMENT OF BERNARD FENSTERWALD, JR. 
MAY 24, 1973 

MR. CHARIMAN: 

From a lawyer's standpoint, I find it so:newhat unseemly 

to have to involve myself in a public dialogue such as we are 

having today and had yesterday. 

However, Mr. Alch's lengthy statement of yesterday cast 

aspersions on my client's veracity and my personal motivations 

in representing Mr. McCord. A response is necessary to clear 

up the record, hopefully once and for all, so that this Committee 

can proceed with its business. 

My statement is very brief, but I will be happy to answer 

any questions you have either during or after my statement. 

My first interest in the Watergate Affair began, as it did 

for most Americans, on June 19th when we read about it in the 

newspapers. At that time I had some specialized interests in, 

the Affair, in addition to my interests as an ordinary citizen. 

I am a lifelong Democrat. Certainly, as I'm sure the majority 

of this Committee will agree, that is nothing to be ashamed of. 

Nor does it automatically follow that my motivations should be 

suspect because I am a Democrat. If that were true, this Com

mittee should not be in business. 

*Subsequent to the testimony of Gerald Alch in Hearings of May 23 and 24, 1973, 
Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities, the committee received 
this statement to be included in the record. 
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As a lifelong Democrat, it was my suspicion that we were 

only seeing the tip of the iceberg, and that the election was 

about to be lost because of illegal activities. 

The wiretap aspects of the case were of particular interest 

because I had spent three years of my life as a Senate Counsel 

attempting ..• unsuccessfully ... to get a federal law outlwing 

all wiretapping. 

I was also interested as a person who believed most strongly 

that the U.S. Government has lied blatantly in vitally important 

matters when they thought they could get away with it. 

Thus, I had a number of interests in Watergate from the 

outset. 

My interest in Jim McCord began with .a request by a mutual 

friend, Lou Russell, by Mrs. McCord and by Mr. Alch to see if 

I could do something about the $100,000 cash bail set by the 

trial judge. I thought then and I think now that such a bail 

was excessive under the circumstances. Recently, I believe, 

John Mitchell was released on his own recognizance. Further, 

there are many accused and convicted felons walking the streets 

of Washington on a fraction of this bail. I believed that with 

his background and ties with the Community, Mr. McCord was a 

good bail risk. 

-2-
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I went to friends to see if they would help. As I know 

it is important to Minority Counsel Fred Thompson, I will state 

that one of the persons appr~ched was an employee of the Demo

cratic National Committee; ultimately, he said he thought it 

would be counter-productive for him to try to help, and he 

politely refused. Ultimately, the $100,000 was raised by myself, 

Mrs. McCord and some of her friends and relatives. The money is 

now in two accounts at the Riggs National Bank. 

When Jim McCord was before Judge Sirica for sentencing, the 

Court postponed sentencing, suggesting that Mr. McCord give his 

information to both the Grand Jury and to the Senate Committee. 

Apparently knowing of my long Senate experience, McCord asked me 

if I could arrange a meeting with the proper Senate authorities 

and assist him legally in this matter. Such a meeting was arranged 

promptly, and Mr. McCord has spent a good part of his time since 

that date in meeting with the Committee and its staff. 

The country wants to know the truth about Watergate and 

related events. This Committee does. Chief Judge aohn-sirica 

does. And James McCord does. The moment Judge Sirica indicated 

that the length of his sentence might depend on the degree of 

his cooperation with the Grand Jury and the Senate, at that moment, 

McCord's interests, the country's interests, and the interests of 

truth coincided. All that has been done since then, including 

-3-
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cooperation with this Committee, has followed that one single path. 

If having the truth brought out means implicating the President 

or some of his top staff, so be it. As Senator Talmadge said last 

week, let the chips fall where they may. 

I do not apologize for this approach to seeing the truth 

come out, and neither does Jim McCord. 

Yesterday, my motivations in taking on Mr, McCord as a client 

were impugned by Mr. Alch. All I can say in rebuttal is that 

Mr. McCord happens to want me as his lawyer and does not want 

Mr. Alch. If Mr. Alch has any objection about that state of 

affairs there is a proper forum to argue that in, and that is, 

of course, before a Lawyer's Grievance Committee. He and I are 

both members of the Massachusetts Bar and he can take the matter 

up with that Bar's Grievance Committee. I know this Committee 

has neither the time nor inclination to hear lawyers making 

charges and counter-charges against each other. 

I'd be happy to answer any questions which the members of 

this Committee might wish to ask. 

I swear that the preceding is true and correct to the best 

of my recollection. 

B 
Bernard Fensterwald, 

Subscribed before me this 29~day of ---=M-=-a==-..;,Y'-----' 1973. 

/J _M./Yv~ '-1?2. <f2uzJ_ 
My Commission Expires February 28. 1978 Notary Public 

.0 
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